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You should only rely on the information contained in this offering circular and in the applicable Final Terms. Neither 
we nor the Dealers have authorized anyone to provide you with different information. Neither we nor the Dealers are 
making an offer of the notes in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted. You should not assume that the 
information contained in this offering circular or in the applicable Final Terms is accurate at any date other than the 
date on the front of this offering circular or the applicable Final Terms, regardless of the time of delivery of this 
offering circular or the applicable Final Terms or any sale of the notes. 

  

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references to “Sifco,” the “issuer,” “the company,” “our 
company,” “we,” “our,” “ours” and “us,” or similar terms are to Sifco S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries. 

We, having made all reasonable inquiries, confirm that the information contained in this offering circular with regard to us is 
true and accurate in all material respects, that the opinions and intentions expressed in this offering circular are honestly held, 
and that there are no other facts the omission of which would make this offering circular as a whole or any of such 
information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in any material respect. We accept responsibility 
accordingly. 
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We have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained in this offering circular is accurate, to the best of 
our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. 

  

Neither this offering circular nor the applicable Final Terms constitutes an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to 
buy, any notes under the program by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make 
an offer or solicitation. Neither the delivery of this offering circular nor any sale made under the applicable Final 
Terms shall under any circumstances imply that there has been no change in our affairs or the affairs of our 
subsidiaries or that the information set forth in this offering circular or in the applicable Final Terms is correct as of 
any date subsequent to the date of this offering circular or the applicable Final Terms. 

This offering circular has been prepared by us solely for use in connection with the program. Jefferies & Company, Inc. and 
Eurovest Global Securities, Inc. will act as Dealers with respect to the program. This offering circular is personal to you and 
does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public in general to subscribe for or otherwise acquire the notes. You 
are authorized to use this offering circular solely for the purpose of considering the purchase of the notes. Distribution of this 
offering circular by you to any person other than those persons retained to advise you is unauthorized, and any disclosure of 
any of the contents of this offering circular without our prior written consent is prohibited. 

In connection with the issuance of any Series of notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilizing 
Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot 
notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the notes at a level higher than that which 
might otherwise prevail. There is no assurance, however that the Stabilizing Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf 
of a Stabilizing Manager) will undertake stabilization action. Any stabilization action may begin on or after the date 
on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Series of notes is made and, if begun, may 
be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the Issue Date of the relevant Series of 
notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Series of notes. Any stabilization action or over-
allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilizing Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilizing 
Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules. 

You must (1) comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in connection with the possession or 
distribution of this offering circular and the purchase, offer or sale of the notes, and (2) obtain any required consent, approval 
or permission for the purchase, offer or sale by you of the notes under the laws and regulations applicable to you in force in 
any jurisdiction to which you are subject or in which you make such purchases, offers or sales, and neither we nor the Dealers 
or their agents have any responsibility therefor. The notes are subject to restrictions on transferability and resale, and may not 
be transferred or resold except as permitted under the Securities Act and the applicable state securities laws pursuant to 
registration or exemption therefrom. As a prospective purchaser, you should be aware that you may be required to bear the 
financial risks of this investment for an indefinite period of time. Please refer to the section in this offering circular entitled 
“Selling Restrictions.” 

You acknowledge that: 

• you have been afforded an opportunity to request from us, and to review, all additional information considered 
by you to be necessary to verify the accuracy of, or to supplement, the information contained in this offering 
circular; 
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• you have not relied on the Dealers or their agents or any person affiliated with the Dealers or their agents in 
connection with your investigation of the accuracy of such information or your investment decision; and 

• no person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation concerning us or the notes 
other than those as set forth in this offering circular. If given or made, any such other information or 
representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized by us, the Dealers or their agents. 

In making an investment decision, you must rely on your own examination of our business and the terms of this 
offering circular and the applicable Final Terms, including the merits and risks involved. The notes have not been 
recommended by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority. Furthermore, these authorities 
have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this offering circular or the applicable Final Terms. 
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. 

This offering circular may only be used for the purpose for which it has been published. None of the Dealers or any of 
their agents are making any representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of the information 
contained in this offering circular, and nothing contained in this offering circular is, or shall be relied upon as, a 
promise or representation, whether as to the past or the future. None of the Dealers or any of their agents assumes 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this offering circular. 

We and the Dealers reserve the right to reject any offer to purchase, in whole or in part, and for any reason, the notes offered 
by each respective Final Terms. We and the Dealers also reserve the right to sell or place less than all of the notes of any 
particular Series under the program. 

  

NOTICE TO INVESTORS WITHIN BRAZIL 

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE ISSUED NOR PLACED, DISTRIBUTED, OFFERED OR 
NEGOTIATED IN THE BRAZILIAN CAPITAL MARKETS. THE ISSUANCE OF THE NOTES HAS NOT BEEN NOR 
WILL BE REGISTERED WITH THE BRAZILIAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMISSÃO DE 
VALORES MOBILIÁRIOS), OR THE CVM. ANY PUBLIC OFFERING OR DISTRIBUTION, AS DEFINED UNDER 
BRAZILIAN LAWS AND REGULATIONS, OF THE NOTES IN BRAZIL IS NOT LEGAL WITHOUT PRIOR 
REGISTRATION UNDER LAW NO. 6,385, DATED AS OF DECEMBER 7, 1976, AS AMENDED, AND 
INSTRUCTION NO. 400, ISSUED BY THE CVM ON DECEMBER 29, 2003, AS AMENDED. DOCUMENTS 
RELATING TO THE OFFERING OF THE NOTES, AS WELL AS INFORMATION CONTAINED THEREIN, MAY 
NOT BE SUPPLIED TO THE PUBLIC IN BRAZIL (AS THE OFFERING OF THE NOTES IS NOT A PUBLIC 
OFFERING OF SECURITIES IN BRAZIL), NOR BE USED IN CONNECTION WITH ANY OFFER FOR 
SUBSCRIPTION OR SALE OF THE NOTES TO THE PUBLIC IN BRAZIL. 

NOTICE TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS ONLY 

NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN APPLICATION FOR A LICENSE HAS 
BEEN FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B OF THE NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED STATUTES (“RSA”) WITH THE 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY REGISTERED OR A 
PERSON IS LICENSED IN THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE IMPLIES THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED 
UNDER RSA 421-B IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING. NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE 
FACT THAT ANY EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION 
MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR 
QUALIFICATIONS OF,  
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OR RECOMMENDED OR GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSON, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION. IT IS 
UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER, CUSTOMER OR 
CLIENT ANY REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH. 

NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE UNITED KINGDOM 

This offering circular is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons in the United Kingdom that are qualified 
investors within the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Directive (“Qualified Investors”) that are also (i) investment 
professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 
(the “Order”) or (ii) high net worth entities, and other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated, falling within 
Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together being referred to as “relevant persons”). Any investment 
activity relating to the securities the subject of the offering circular is available only to, and will be engaged in only with, 
relevant persons. Any person in the United Kingdom that is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this document or 
any of its contents. This offering circular and its contents should not be distributed, published or reproduced (in whole or in 
part) or disclosed by recipients to any other persons in the United Kingdom. 

  

U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CIRCULAR 230 DISCLOSURE 

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CIRCULAR 230, YOU ARE HEREBY 
NOTIFIED THAT ANY DISCUSSION OF TAX MATTERS SET FORTH IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR WAS 
WRITTEN IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR 
MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN AND WAS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE 
USED BY ANY PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR, FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING TAX-RELATED PENALTIES 
UNDER FEDERAL, STATE OR LOCAL TAX LAW. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD SEEK 
ADVICE BASED ON ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR. 

  

NOTICE TO INVESTORS REGARDING TAX DISCLOSURE 

Notwithstanding anything set forth herein or in any other document related to the notes, you and each of your employees, 
representatives or other agents may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and the 
tax structure of the transaction described herein. However, the foregoing does not constitute an authorization to disclose the 
identity of the company or the Dealers or their respective affiliates, agents or advisors or, except to the extent relating to such 
tax structure or tax treatment, any specific pricing terms or commercial or financial information. 

  

This offering circular has been prepared on the basis that any offer of notes in any Member State of the European Economic 
Area which has implemented Directive 2003/71/EC (the “Prospectus Directive”) (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be 
made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the 
requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make an offer of 
the notes in that Relevant Member State may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the issuer or any 
Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the issuer nor any Dealer has authorized, 
nor do they authorize, the making of any offer of notes in any other circumstances. 
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This offering circular is not a “prospectus” for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and has not been approved as such by 
a competent authority in any Relevant Member State. 

See “Risk Factors,” following “Summary Financial and Other Information,” for a description of certain factors relating to an 
investment in the notes, including information about our business. None of us, the Dealers or any of our or their 
representatives is making any representation to you regarding the legality of an investment by you under applicable legal 
investment or similar laws. You should consult with your own advisors as to legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects 
of a purchase of the notes. 

  

SUPPLEMENTAL LISTING PARTICULARS 

We have undertaken, in connection with the listing of the notes on the Irish Stock Exchange (Global Exchange Market), that 
if at any time while any notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange (Global Exchange Market) there is a significant change 
affecting any matter contained in these Listing Particulars or a significant new matter arises the inclusion of information in 
respect of which would have been so required if it had arisen when the Listing Particulars were prepared, we will prepare and 
make available an amendment or supplement to these Listing Particulars or publish replacement Listing Particulars for use in 
connection with any subsequent issue of notes to be listed on the Irish Stock Exchange (Global Exchange Market). We will 
on an annual basis prepare further Listing Particulars setting out the changes in our operations and financial condition and 
will prepare further Listing Particulars or supplement to these Listing Particulars if the terms and conditions set out in these 
Listing Particulars are amended for all notes issued or to be issued pursuant to the program. Any final terms issued in respect 
of notes listed on a stock exchange will be available free of charge from the office of the Listing Agent or Paying Agent with 
a specified office in the city of such stock exchange. 
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Enforceability of Civil Liabilities 

Brazil 

We are incorporated under the laws of Brazil with headquarters at Av. São Paulo, nº 479 – Vila Progresso, Jundiaí, State of 
São Paulo, Brazil. We are registered with the Brazilian Taxpayer’s Registry, or CNPJ, under number 60.499605/0001-09. All 
of the members of our board of directors and our executive officers reside in Brazil. None of our directors or executive 
officers are U.S. residents. Substantially all of our assets are located in Brazil. As a result, it may not be possible or it may be 
difficult for you to effect service of process upon us within the United States or other jurisdictions outside Brazil or to 
enforce against us judgments obtained in the United States or other jurisdictions outside Brazil. 

Under the terms and conditions of the notes, we will (1) agree that the courts of the State of New York and the federal courts 
of the United States, in each case sitting in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, will have jurisdiction to hear 
and determine any suit, action or proceeding, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with the 
notes and (2) name an agent for service of process in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York. 

We have been informed by our Brazilian counsel, Marcos Martins Advogados Associados, that, subject to specific 
requirements described below, a final conclusive judgment for payment of a determined sum of money rendered by any court 
in the United States in respect of the notes would be recognized in the courts of Brazil (to the extent that Brazilian courts may 
have jurisdiction) and such courts would enforce such judgment without any retrial or reexamination of the merits of the 
original action only if such judgment has been previously ratified by the Superior Court of Justice of Brazil (Superior 
Tribunal de Justiça), such ratification being available only if the judgment: 

• fulfills all formalities required for its enforceability under the laws of the jurisdiction where the judgment was 
rendered; 

• is issued by a competent court after proper service of process on the parties, which service must comply with 
Brazilian law if made in Brazil, or sufficient evidence of the parties’ absence has been provided, as required by 
applicable law; 

• is final and therefore not subject to appeal; 

• is authenticated by the Brazilian consulate with jurisdiction over the location of the court which issued the 
judgment; 

• is translated into Portuguese by a certified translator; and 

• is not against Brazilian public order, good morals or national sovereignty. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no assurance can be given that such ratification would be obtained, that the process described 
above could be conducted in a timely manner or that a Brazilian court would enforce a monetary judgment for violation of 
the U.S. securities laws with respect to the notes. 

We have also been advised that: 

• civil actions may be brought before Brazilian courts based on the federal securities laws of the United States 
and that, subject to applicable law, Brazilian courts may enforce such liabilities in such actions against us 
(provided that provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States do not contravene Brazilian public 
order, good morals or national sovereignty and provided further that Brazilian courts can assert jurisdiction over 
the particular action); and 

• the ability of a judgment creditor to satisfy a judgment by attaching certain assets of the defendant in Brazil is 
governed and limited by provisions of Brazilian law. 

Pursuant to Article 835 of the Brazilian Civil Procedure Code, a plaintiff, whether Brazilian or non-Brazilian, who resides 
outside Brazil or is outside Brazil during the course of the litigation in Brazil and who does not own real property in Brazil 
must provide a bond to guarantee the payment of the defendant’s legal fees as  
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determined by the Brazilian courts (usually fixed between 10% to 20% of the amount under dispute) and court expenses in 
connection with court procedures for the collection of payments under the notes. This requirement does not apply to 
enforcement of foreign judgments that have been duly confirmed by the Brazilian Superior Court of Justice (Superior 
Tribunal de Justiça), nor to the exceptions set forth in certain limited circumstances (enforcement of extrajudicial instruments 
(which does not include the notes) that may be enforced in Brazil without the review of their merits (títulos executivos 
extrajudiciais) and counterclaims (reconvenções)) under Article 836 of the Brazilian Civil Procedure Code. 

We have been advised that, if the notes or the indenture were to be declared void by a court applying the laws of the State of 
New York, a judgment obtained outside Brazil seeking to enforce the collateral (as applicable) may not be ratified by the 
Superior Court of Justice in Brazil. 
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Presentation of Financial and Other Information 

All references herein to the “real,” “reais” or “R$” are to the Brazilian real, the official currency of Brazil. All references to 
“U.S. dollars,” “dollars” or “U.S.$” are to U.S. dollars. 

The exchange rate for reais into U.S. dollars, based on the selling rate as reported by the Central Bank of Brazil (Banco 
Central do Brasil), or the Central Bank, was R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00 as of December 31, 2010 and R$1.741 to U.S.$1.00 as of 
December 31, 2009. The real/U.S. dollar exchange rate fluctuates widely, and its selling rate as of December 31, 2010 may 
not be indicative of future exchange rates. See “Exchange Rates” for information regarding exchange rates for the Brazilian 
currency since January 1, 2005. 

Solely for the convenience of the reader, we have translated certain amounts included in “Summary Financial and Other 
Information,” “Capitalization,” “Selected Financial and Other Information” and elsewhere in this offering circular from reais 
into U.S. dollars using the selling rate as reported by the Central Bank as of December 31, 2010 of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00. 
These translations should not be considered representations that any such amounts have been, could have been or could be 
converted into U.S. dollars at that or at any other exchange rate. 

All references herein or in our financial statements to “foreign sales” are to our sales of products to our subsidiary Westport 
Axle Corporation, or Westport, sales from us to our customers outside of Brazil and sales from Westport to its customers in 
the United States. 

Financial Statements 

The financial information included in this offering circular should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated 
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this offering circular and with the sections entitled “Summary 
Financial and Other Information,” “Selected Financial and Other Information” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” 

We maintain our books and records in reais. All references herein to “our financial statements,” or “our audited financial 
statements,” are to our financial statements included elsewhere in this offering circular. We prepare our financial statements 
and other financial information in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil, which we refer to as “Brazilian 
GAAP.” These practices are based on Law No. 6,404 of December 15, 1976, as amended, or the Brazilian Corporate Law; 
the rules and regulations issued by the CVM; the Brazilian Federal Accounting Council (Conselho Federal de 
Contabilidade), or the CFC, and the Committee of Accounting Standards (Comitê de Pronunciamentos Contábeis), or the 
CPC. 

This offering circular includes our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009, which were audited by our independent auditors, were prepared in accordance with Brazilian GAAP in force as of that 
date and reflect the amendments proposed by Law No. 11,638 and Law No. 11,941 (as described below). 

Brazilian Corporate Law was amended by Law No. 11,638/07 on December 28, 2007, in order to facilitate the convergence 
from Brazilian GAAP to IFRS and, thereafter, the CPC issued several new accounting standards that progressively adapted 
Brazilian GAAP to IFRS. IFRS became mandatory for all Brazilian publicly held companies beginning in the year ended 
December 31, 2010.  We are not a Brazilian publicly held company and, as a result, we are not required to prepare our 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS.  

In addition, during 2009, the CVM and the CFC approved several new standards issued by the CPC, which became effective 
on January 1, 2010. 

Until December 31, 2009, our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Brazilian GAAP in effect 
as of December 31, 2009. We elected January 1, 2009, as a transition date for the full adoption of the CPC standards.  The 
comparative figures in our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009 contained elsewhere in this offering circular in respect of 2009 have been restated to reflect these adjustments.  This 
offering circular also includes our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 
2008, which were audited by our independent auditors and were prepared in accordance with Brazilian GAAP in effect as of 
December 31, 2009, which differ in certain aspects from Brazilian GAAP as in effect as of December 31, 2010.  Please see 
note 29 to our financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 for a detailed description of the 
differences in GAAP.  Accordingly, the financial information for the year ended December 31, 2009 that is presented in the 
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financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 is not directly comparable to that set forth in 
the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

Our financial statements contained in this offering circular differ from those that would be prepared based upon U.S. GAAP 
or IFRS. We have made no attempt to identify or quantify the impact of those differences. No reconciliation to U.S. GAAP or 
IFRS for any of the financial statements presented in this offering circular has been prepared for the purpose of this offering 
circular or for any other purpose. There can be no assurance that reconciliations would not identify material quantitative 
differences as well as disclosure and presentation differences between the financial statements included in this offering 
circular, as prepared in accordance Brazilian GAAP, and the financial statements if prepared under U.S. GAAP or IFRS. 

Potential investors should consult their own professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between Brazilian 
GAAP and U.S. GAAP, and how those differences might affect the financial information included herein. 

Market Data and Other Information 

We have obtained the market data, including market forecasts, used throughout this offering circular from internal surveys, 
market research, publicly available information and industry publications. We include data primarily from reports prepared 
by ourselves, the National Syndicate of the Industry of Components for Vehicles (Sindicato Nacional da Indústria de 
Componentes para Veículos Automotores – Sindipeças), the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (Instituto 
Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística), or IBGE and the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, or 
OECD. All information has been accurately reproduced and, as far as we are aware and are able to ascertain from information 
published by a third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 
misleading. 
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

Some of the information contained in this offering circular may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Many of these forward-looking 
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “expect,” “should,” 
“plan,” “intend,” “estimate” and “potential,” among others. These statements appear in a number of places in this offering 
circular and include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our intent, belief or current expectations with respect to: 

• our direction and future operation, including expected production amounts in future periods; 
• the implementation of our principal operating strategies; 
• our strategic transaction with Dana Indústrias Ltda., or Dana; 
• the payments of principal and interest in relation to intercompany loans; 
• the compliance by our affiliates with obligations guaranteed by us; 
• our ability to pay our tax obligations; 
• our acquisition, divestiture or joint-venture plans and our ability to successfully integrate the operations of 

assets that we acquire; 
• the implementation of our financing strategy and capital expenditure plans; 
• the Brazilian government’s success in implementing its infrastructure development plans; 
• general economic, political and business conditions, both in Brazil and in our foreign markets; 
• industry trends and the general level of demand for, and change in the market prices of, our products and 

services; 
• the performance of the Brazilian and world economies, including the impact of a longer than anticipated 

continuation of the current worldwide economic downturn or further deterioration in world economic 
conditions; 

• existing and future governmental regulations, and our compliance therewith, including tax, labor, antitrust, 
pension and environmental laws and regulations and import tariffs in Brazil and in other markets in which we 
operate or in which we sell our products; 

• possible shortages of electricity and government responses to them; 
• the competitive nature of the industries in which we operate; 
• our level of capitalization, including the levels of our indebtedness and overall leverage; 
• the cost and availability of financing; 
• inflation and fluctuations in currency exchange rates, including the Brazilian real and the U.S. dollar; 
• legal and administrative proceedings to which we are or become party; 
• the volatility of the prices of the raw materials we purchase for use in our businesses; 
• fluctuations in the price of other inputs; 
• other statements included in this offering circular that are not historical; and 

• other factors or trends affecting our financial condition or results of operations, including those factors 
identified or discussed under “Risk Factors.” 

We caution you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties. 
Forward-looking statements reflect only our current expectations and are based on our management’s beliefs and 
assumptions and on information currently available to our management. Although we believe these assumptions are 
reasonable, actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, 
including, without limitation, those identified in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this offering circular. These risks and 
uncertainties include factors relating to the countries in which we operate, particularly Brazil, or in which we sell our 
products, and the businesses in which we are currently engaged, many of which are cyclical in nature and highly competitive.  
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As a result, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements contained in this offering 
circular when making an investment decision regarding the notes. 

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and neither we nor the Dealers undertake any obligation 
to update them in light of new information or future developments or to release publicly any revisions to these statements in 
order to reflect later events or circumstances or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. 

Our independent auditors have not examined or compiled the forward-looking statements, and accordingly, do not provide 
any assurance with respect to such statements. Investors should consider these cautionary statements together with any 
written or oral forward-looking statements that we may issue in the future. 
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Summary of the Company 

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this offering circular. It contains an overview of our business, 
competitive strengths and strategies. This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before 
making a decision to invest in our notes. For a more complete understanding of our business and this offering, you should 
read this entire offering circular carefully, including the information contained in the sections entitled “Presentation of 
Financial and Other Information,” “Risk Factors,” “Selected Financial and Other Information” and “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” as well as our consolidated financial statements 
and related notes and auditor’s reports, included elsewhere in this offering circular. 

Overview 

We are a Brazilian producer of forged and precision machined parts for the automotive industry targeting predominantly the 
truck and bus manufacturing markets. We believe that we are the sole producer and supplier of front axle I-Beams for buses 
and trucks in South America and, based on our market knowledge, that we have an approximately 95% share of the market 
for the production and supply of fully-assembled front axles for buses and trucks in South America. According to Sindipeças, 
we are the world’s second largest producer of front axles for buses and trucks in terms of tons produced. In terms of gross 
operating revenues, we are the largest of the five companies comprising the GBrasil Group, a conglomerate controlled by G 
Brasil Participações S.A., or GBrasil, operating principally in the auto parts market in Brazil and abroad. Our main products 
are forged and precision machined products used in the front suspension of buses and trucks, transmission components for 
trucks, buses, light commercial vehicles, cars and tractors, and engine components for the automotive industry. In 2010, our 
total production was 67,414 tons and approximately 84.5% of our sales were to the Brazilian market, while the remaining 
15.5% were to export customers mainly in the United States and Europe. 

Our customer base has historically included most of the leading participants in the global automotive and truck sectors, such 
as Dana, Mercedes Benz, ArvinMeritor, Volvo, Ford, Caterpillar, MAN Latin America (Volkswagen Trucks), General 
Motors, Scania and ZF. As we operate principally in the OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) and Tier 1 (or Systemist) 
market, the majority of our products are developed together with our customers. In addition, companies operating in the 
OEM and Systemist markets are required to obtain specific quality certifications from their customers. These certifications 
require continued investment in Research & Development (R&D) for our products. As a result of the combination of these 
factors, we typically have long-term relationships with our customers. In February 2011, we entered into a supply agreement 
with Dana under which we will become the sole supplier of front axles to Dana to the Brazilian market and will have an 
ongoing commercial relationship with Dana to market our products both domestically and abroad. See “ — Recent 
Developments — Strategic Transaction with Dana.” 
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The table below sets forth certain selected financial data for the periods indicated: 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010(1) 

 

(R$ millions, 
except 

percentages) 
(U.S.$ millions, except 

percentages) 
Gross operating revenue ............................................................................  948.2 529.2 569.1 
Net operating revenue................................................................................  777.3 434.2 466.5 
Gross Profit................................................................................................  136.7 67.4 82.0 
Net income for the period ..........................................................................  15.2 52.4 9.1 
Other information:    
Adjusted EBITDA(2) ..................................................................................  97.3 43.1 58.4 
Adjusted EBITDA margin(3) ......................................................................  12.5% 9.9% 12.5% 

(1) Translated for convenience only to U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of R$1.6662 per U.S.$1.00, which was the 
commercial selling rate for U.S. dollars in effect on December 31, 2010, as reported by the Central Bank. 

(2) Defined as net income before net financial expenses, income and social contribution taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization and other operating income or expenses. Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure recognized 
by U.S. GAAP, IFRS or Brazilian GAAP and should not be considered as a substitute for net income, cash flow 
from operations or other measures of operating performance or liquidity determined under U.S. GAAP, IFRS or 
Brazilian GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standardized meaning, and our definition of Adjusted EBITDA 
may differ from those used by other companies. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income. 

(3) Defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net operating revenue. 

Recent Developments 

Strategic Transaction with Dana 

This section presents a summary of the terms and conditions of our strategic transaction with Dana and our assessment of 
the expected benefits to be derived therefrom. No assurance can be given that these benefits will be achieved. See 
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Operations — We 
cannot assure you that our strategic transaction with Dana or any other future associations or acquisitions will be 
successful. In addition, we are subject to a number of obligations in connection with our strategic transaction with Dana, 
which could adversely affect us” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations — Principal Factors Affecting Results of Operations — Macroeconomic and Automotive Industry Conditions.” 

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic 10-year supply agreement (the “Supply Agreement”), with Dana, an affiliate of 
Dana Holding Corporation, a U.S.-based company listed on the New York Stock Exchange with a market capitalization of 
over U.S.$2 billion as of December 31, 2010 and one of the world’s leading suppliers of drivelines, driveshafts, sealing and 
thermal products. Dana is also one of the largest suppliers of front axles on a worldwide basis. Under the Supply Agreement, 
we have agreed to become the exclusive provider of front axles, I-beams, arms and knuckles to Dana in the Brazilian market, 
and Dana has agreed to purchase these products exclusively from us in Brazil. The Supply Agreement does not affect our 
sales of loose arms and knuckles to our existing customer base in the international market, so long as such customers are not 
aftermarket customers of the products we sell to Dana. The Supply Agreement is renewable by Dana for an additional five-
year period upon the payment of a renewal fee, among other conditions. 
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We expect the agreement with Dana to expand our sales and marketing capabilities in global markets. Given Dana’s first-in-
class sales team sales along with the prestige of our partnering with a world renowned supplier such as Dana, we believe our 
agreement with Dana will also provide us with a number of additional strategic benefits, including an increased presence of 
our products in the growing international market and the sharing of expertise and best practices. While we believe the Supply 
Agreement will provide us with long-term strategic benefits, in the near future we no longer expect to recognize revenue 
from assembling operations related to the front axles business, which for the year ended December 31, 2010 amounted to 
R$234.3 million. 

In connection with our entering into the Supply Agreement, Dana made payments to us in the amount of U.S.$150.0 million, 
which includes the purchase by Dana of certain of our assembly assets for U.S.$5.0 million. This amount was paid to us by 
Dana on the closing date, February 1, 2011, in the following manner: (i) the amount of U.S.$58.0 million was made in the 
form of a loan to Sifco, which was subsequently assigned to our parent company, Brascom Participações S.A., or Brascom; 
and (ii) the remaining amount was paid in cash to us. We remain as a guarantor of the loan to Brascom. In case Sifco is 
required to repay the loan, and provided that there is no default under the Supply Agreement, Sifco may be able to offset its 
payment obligations against the payment obligations of Dana under the Supply Agreement. The obligations under the loan 
agreement are secured by a pledge over certain of our production assets and certain real property owned by our affiliate, 
Tubrasil Indústria e Comércio de Matérias Primas e Tubos de Aço Ltda., on which a plant operated by our affiliate Vulcan 
Material Plásticos Ltda. is located. Under certain circumstances, including our material noncompliance with our obligations 
under the Supply Agreement, Dana may be able to exercise certain remedies in respect of the manufacturing assets necessary 
to supply products under the Supply Agreement. During the first quarter of 2011, we used R$77.0 million of the proceeds 
paid to us by Dana to reduce our Indebtedness. We still hold a substantial amount of the cash proceeds paid by Dana 
amounting R$95.5 million as of the date hereof, and we expect to use part of such proceeds to repay other outstanding 
indebtedness. 

Dana will be responsible for all marketing, sales and price negotiations with OEM customers in Brazil and abroad, provided 
that Sifco may sell loose arms and knuckles through Dana in Brazil and directly to customers in other countries on a non-
exclusive basis. The Supply Agreement also provides for certain price adjustment mechanisms. 

Our Competitive Strengths 

We believe the following are our competitive strengths: 

• Strong and long-term relationships with our customers in markets with natural barriers to entry. In the 
OEM and Systemist markets, where we operate, the majority of our products are developed together with our 
customers and must comply with specific technical criteria adopted by each customer. During the development 
process, we seek not only to comply with these technical criteria, but also to participate proactively and 
creatively in the presentation of ideas and concepts for the products, designs and production processes under 
development. As a result of the combination of these factors, we typically have strong and long-term 
relationships with our customers. In addition, companies operating in the OEM and Systemist markets are 
required to obtain specific quality certifications from their customers, which demand continued investments in 
R&D and development of new products, production processes, technologies and materials adopted by the 
automotive industry. Our ability to meet the particular requirements of each customer, contribute proactively to 
the development process and exercise strict quality control at every stage of the production process, together 
with our capacity to invest in the development of new products, has allowed us to create and maintain strong 
and long-term relationships with our customers. See “ — Certifications and Awards.” 

• Our Supply Agreement with Dana provides us access to additional export markets and potential cost 
synergies. As Dana’s export clientele is larger than ours, we believe this strategic transaction will  
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allow for greater exposure and sale of our products in international markets, further diversifying our revenues. 
Our relationship with Dana will also result in the sharing of expertise and best practices, which we expect will 
contribute to further efficiencies in manufacturing and R&D, thereby reducing our costs. For more information, 
see “ — Recent Developments — Strategic Transaction with Dana.” 

• Unique position in industry with strong growth potential.  We believe that we are the sole producer and 
supplier of front axle I-Beams for buses and trucks in South America and, based on our market knowledge, that 
we have an approximately 95% share of the market for the production and supply of fully-assembled front axles 
for buses and trucks in South America. As a result of our substantial market share and strong customer 
relationships, we believe we are uniquely positioned to benefit from the expected growth of both the Brazilian 
auto parts market in general and the truck and bus market in particular. We believe that our current and future 
target markets will continue to grow mainly as a result of (i) the continued growth of the Brazilian gross 
domestic product, or GDP, (ii) the expected growth of the automotive, agricultural and infrastructure industries 
and (iii) the expected continued expansion of credit in Brazil. The table below presents the expected growth of 
the Brazilian market for trucks and buses, passenger cars and agricultural equipment in the next five years in 
terms of thousands of vehicles and equipment sold, according to Sindipeças: 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Trucks & Buses..................................................................................................... 234.0 250.4 245.4 267.5 278.2 
Growth .................................................................................................................. 45.0% 7.0% (2.0%) 9.0% 4.0% 
Agricultural Equipment ........................................................................................ 80.0 77.6 83.0 88.0 92.4 
Growth .................................................................................................................. 21.0% (3.0%) 7.0% 6.0% 5.0% 
Passenger Cars ...................................................................................................... 3.6 3.5 3.8 4.0 4.1 
Growth .................................................................................................................. 11.0% 4.0% 8.0% 5.0% 5.0% 

• Integrated business model creates and facilitates synergies.  The synergistic relationship among the 
companies of the GBrasil Group allow for significant cross-selling and optimization of our business, supply 
chain and other operational, logistics and administrative resources. We are able to draw upon the full resources 
of the GBrasil Group to identify and originate new business and pricing opportunities both within our supplier 
and customer base and from other GBrasil Group suppliers and customers. In addition, we believe our mixed 
logistics platform, which relies on a combination of logistics services performed directly by our customers, GB 
Brasil Logística Ltda., or Brasil Logística, a company created in 2006 by GBrasil and certain of its affiliates and 
directors to coordinate operations and leverage synergies among the companies that comprise the GBrasil 
Group, and other companies of the GBrasil Group, reduces logistics expenses, maximizes economies of scale 
and allows for greater control over the delivery of our products. 

• Experienced, professional and motivated management team supported by trained and committed 
employees. Our directors and key managers have extensive experience and in-depth knowledge in the forged 
and machined auto parts industry. Our management team is comprised of seasoned professionals with an 
average experience of approximately 20 years in this industry. In addition, we have adopted a compensation 
system whereby each director and manager receives performance bonuses on an annual basis, if performance 
criteria are met. Performance targets are based upon certain objective criteria, such as projected income and 
Adjusted EBITDA, as set forth in the annual budget defined by our management, and compliance with the 
quality standards required by our customers. We continuously invest in our employees by providing periodic 
instruction courses and seminars to ensure that they are trained in our lines of business. Our employees also 
participate in our profit sharing plan, under which in 2008, 2009 and 2010 we paid approximately R$3,738,181, 
R$954,402 and R$4,993,041, respectively, to our employees. The commitment and  
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experience of our employees is demonstrated by low turnover rates averaging 1.8% in the three-year period 
ended December 31, 2010. See “Management” for additional information. 

Our Strategy 

The principal elements of our strategy include: 

• Strengthen our market position.  We will seek to strengthen our unique position in the Brazilian forged and 
machined truck, bus and passenger markets for OEM and Systemist suppliers by (i) deepening our relationships 
with our customers through investments in R&D and information technology, (ii) the expansion of our offering 
of higher value-added products, (iii) obtaining additional certifications from our customers and (iv) the general 
expansion of our production capacity. We will also seek to implement improvements in our production process 
with a view to increasing our competitiveness in the markets where we operate. 

• Expand our activities through sustained organic growth.  Based on our expected increase in sales derived 
from the Supply Agreement with Dana, we intend to increase our production capacity and scale of our existing 
operations through sustained organic growth in order to meet the expected demand for our products, particularly 
in the domestic market. Our expansion plans include investments in the expansion of our production facilities, 
acquisition of new machinery and updating of existing machinery and information technology. We believe these 
actions will enable us to meet the growing demand for our products and facilitate our diversification into higher 
value-added products. 

• Expand our offering of higher value-added products and increase our market share in the passenger car 
segment. In order to diversify our revenues and reap synergies from our production and logistics infrastructure 
and commercial relationships, we intend to expand our offering of higher value-added products, such as 
transmission and engine systems for buses and trucks. For the same reasons, we intend to target the passenger 
car segment through the offering of transmission and engine components. The production of these higher 
value-added products and additional products for passenger cars are complementary to our current product 
offerings. We intend to pursue strategic investments, including substantial investments in R&D, production and 
machinery, to enhance our capacity to supply these products. We also intend to continue to take advantage of 
cross-selling opportunities among the companies of the GBrasil Group to offer higher value-added products and 
products for passenger cars to customers of the other companies within the GBrasil Group. 

• Consolidate our position as a significant player in the agricultural machines and construction equipment 
segments. We currently supply parts for heavy duty equipment, such as tractors, harvesters and earthwork 
machinery, for Caterpillar and other customers in the agricultural and construction segments. We intend to 
expand our offering of additional products to these customers and have already made significant inroads into the 
undercarriage product segment, including rough forged links, finished machined links, assembled chains and 
other machined products. Near-term R&D and capital expenditures will be allocated towards new methods of 
high technology production for these products. 

• Increase the diversity of our customer base.  During the past two years, a number of existing and potential 
customers have announced plans to either increase their production capacities or initiate activities in Brazil. We 
intend to benefit from our unique position in the Brazilian market and expertise in developing products in 
cooperation with our customers to increase our participation in the production process of existing customers and 
initiate relationships with new customers. In addition, we expect that the Supply Agreement with Dana will 
increase our access to major OEM customers. Dana will service our strong existing customer base and offers yet 
another avenue to reach new customers. 
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Our Corporate Structure 

The following is a chart of the corporate structure of Brascom (including our corporate structure) as of the date of this 
offering circular: 

 

(1) Shares of Tubrasil Sifco are pledged as collateral in connection with a Cédula de Crédito Imobiliário - CCI. 

Our History 

We were founded on October 25, 1958 as a result of an association between Steel Improvement and Forge Company (Sifco 
Industries U.S.), Brake Shoe Co. and the Brazilian family Smith Vasconcellos. Our first exports occurred in 1971, when we 
began to sell truck parts to customers in the United States. In that same year, we conducted an initial public offering of our 
common and preferred shares, which were listed on the BM&FBOVESPA. 

In 1979, we opened our Campinas production facility for the production of heavy forged and machined parts. In 1986, we 
initiated a new production line for front axle parts in our Jundiaí production facility and created Westport with a view to 
supplying the needs of our customers in the United States. In 1994, Acesita S.A. (currently ArcelorMittal) acquired 100% of 
our shares from our original shareholders. 

In 2002, MTP – Metalúrgica de Tubos de Precisão Ltda., acquired 98.95% of our equity capital. In January 2004, we delisted 
our shares and cancelled our registration with the CVM as a publicly traded company. 

In April 2004, GBrasil became our controlling shareholder. 

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic 10-year supply agreement with Dana. See “ — Recent Developments — 
Strategic transaction with Dana.” 
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Additional Information 

Our headquarters are located at Av. São Paulo, nº 479 – Vila Progresso, Jundiaí, State of São Paulo, Brazil. Our telephone 
number at this address is +55 11 4588 1520, and our facsimile number is +55 11 4526 1725. 

Our website address is www.sifco.com.br. Information on our website is not incorporated into this offering circular and 
should not be relied upon in determining whether to make an investment in the notes. 

www.sifco.com.br
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Summary of the Program 

This summary highlights information presented in greater detail elsewhere in this offering circular. This summary is not 
complete and does not contain all the information you should consider before investing in the notes. You should carefully 
read this entire offering circular and the applicable Final Terms before investing in the notes, including our audited financial 
statements contained elsewhere in this offering circular, “Risk Factors” and “Description of the Notes,” which contain a 
more detailed description of the terms of the notes and the indenture governing the notes. Terms that are defined in other 
sections of this offering circular or in the section “Description of the Notes” have the same meaning when used in this 
summary. 

Issuer: Sifco S.A. 
Description: Continuously offered Global Medium Term Note Program. The notes will be issued 

at the option of the issuer and the Dealers and will be subject to market conditions. 
Program Amount: Up to U.S.$300,000,000 (or its equivalent as of the respective dates of issue in other 

currencies), subject to any duly authorized increase. 
Arrangers: Jefferies & Company, Inc. and Eurovest Global Securities, Inc. 
Dealers: Jefferies & Company, Inc., Eurovest Global Securities, Inc. and any other Dealer 

appointed in respect of the program or any particular Series under the Dealer 
Agreement. 

Trustee: The Bank of New York Mellon. 
Issuing Agent, Registrar and New 

York Paying Agent: The Bank of New York Mellon. 
London Paying Agent: The Bank of New York Mellon, acting through its London Branch. 
Principal Paying Agent: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust (Japan), Ltd. 
Irish Listing Agent: The Bank of New York Mellon (Ireland) Limited. 
Collateral: Each Series of notes may be secured by collateral, as specified in the applicable Final 

Terms. Any collateral will be pledged in favor of the Trustee or relevant collateral 
agents for the benefit of the noteholders of the relevant Series. 

Currency: Notes will be denominated in U.S. dollars or such currencies as specified in the 
applicable Final Terms. 

Maturities: The Notes will be issued with the maturities of one month or more as specified in the 
applicable Final Terms, subject to compliance with applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at par or at a discount or premium to par, as agreed between the 
issuer and the relevant Dealer or Dealers at the time of issue, as specified in the 
applicable Final Terms. 
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Interest Rate: The Notes may be issued on a fixed-rate basis or on a non-interest bearing basis, or in 

any combination thereof, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 
Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes may be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount 

and will not bear interest except in the circumstances provided in the notes. 
Final Terms: The Final Terms for each Series of notes shall set forth, among other things, details of 

the terms and conditions of the Series of the notes being offered. Such information 
may differ from that set forth herein and, in all cases, shall supplement and, to the 
extent inconsistent herewith, supersede the information herein. 

Form of Notes and Denominations: Notes of a Series to be issued in registered form and sold outside the United States in 
reliance on Regulation S will be represented by a single global note (a “Regulation S 
Global Note”) in fully registered form and will be deposited on or prior to the 
applicable issue date with (i) a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee 
of DTC (a “DTC Global Note”) for the accounts of Euroclear and Clearstream or 
(ii) a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream. On or prior to the 40th day 
after the completion of the distribution of the series of which such notes are part, 
beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Note that is a DTC Global Note may be 
held only through Euroclear or Clearstream. 

 Notes of a Series to be issued in registered form and sold in reliance on Rule 144A 
will be represented by a single global note (a “Rule 144A Global Note”) and will be 
deposited on or prior to the applicable issue date with a custodian for, and registered 
in the name of a nominee of, DTC. 

 Under certain limited circumstances, interests in a Regulation S Global Note or 
Rule 144A Global Note will be exchangeable for definitive registered notes. See 
“Description of the Notes.” 

 The notes will be issued in denominations as may be specified in the applicable Final 
Terms. 

Taxation: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the notes will be made without 
withholding or deduction for any taxes or other governmental charges imposed by 
Brazil, or, in the event that we appoint additional paying agents, in the jurisdictions of 
those paying agents, or any political subdivision or any taxing authority thereof, 
unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In the event we are required 
to withhold or deduct amounts for any taxes or other governmental charges, we will 
pay such additional amounts necessary to ensure that the noteholders receive the same 
amount as the noteholders would have received without such withholding or 
deduction,  
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 subject to certain exceptions. See “Description of the Notes — Additional Amounts.” 
Ranking: The notes, to the extent not secured by any collateral, will constitute direct, unsecured 

and unconditional obligations of the issuer, and will at all times rank at least pari 
passu in priority of payment with all other present and future unsecured and 
unsubordinated indebtedness of the issuer (unless specified otherwise in the 
applicable Final Terms). 

Covenants: Each Series of notes may contain different financial and operating covenants, as may 
be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Redemption at the Election of 
Noteholders or the Issuer: 

The notes shall not be subject to redemption by the issuer or the noteholder of a note 
except as specified in the applicable Final Terms and in the limited circumstances set 
forth in the “Description of the Notes,” subject to compliance with all applicable laws 
and regulations. See “Description of the Notes.” 

Listing: Each series of notes will be listed on the Global Exchange Market of the Irish Stock 
Exchange or such other stock exchange, as may be specified in the applicable Final 
Terms. 

Further Issuances: The issuer reserves the right, with respect to any Series of notes, from time to time 
without the consent of the holders of the notes, to issue additional notes of a Series so 
that the same shall be consolidated with, form a single Series with, and increase the 
aggregate principal amount of, such Series of notes. 

Clearing Systems: Euroclear, Clearstream and DTC. 
Governing Law: The notes and the indenture will be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of New York, United States of America. 
Use of Proceeds: The net proceeds from each Series of notes issued under the program will be used by 

the issuer as set forth in the applicable Final Terms. 
Indenture: Investors may have access to the Indenture at the address of the Trustee (101 Barclay 

Street – Floor 4E, New York, NY 10286, United States) 

For more information about the notes, see “Description of the Notes” in this offering circular. 

You should refer to “Risk Factors” for an explanation of certain risks related to investing in the notes. 
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Summary Financial and Other Information 

The tables below present a summary of our consolidated financial and operating information as of and for the periods 
indicated. You should read this information in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related 
notes included elsewhere in this offering circular and with the sections entitled “Presentation of Financial and Other 
Information,” “Selected Financial and Other Information” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.” 

Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Brazilian GAAP, which differs in significant 
respects from U.S. GAAP. 

The following financial information is included elsewhere in this offering circular. Our consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, which were audited by our independent auditors, were prepared in 
accordance with Brazilian GAAP in force as of that date and reflect the amendments proposed by Law No. 11,638 and Law 
No. 11,941. 

We have translated some of the real amounts included in this offering circular into U.S. dollars. The exchange rate used to 
translate such amounts as of December 31, 2010 was R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which was the commercial selling rate at 
closing for the purchase of U.S. dollars in effect on December 31, 2010, as reported by the Central Bank. The U.S. dollar 
equivalent information included in this offering circular is provided solely for the convenience of investors and should not be 
construed as implying that the real amounts represent, or could have been or could be converted into, U.S. dollars at such 
rates or at any other rate. See “Exchange Rates” for more detailed information regarding the exchange rate between the real 
and the U.S. dollar. 

Income Statement Data 

 For the Years Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands)(1) 
Net Revenues .................................................................... 777,334 434,171 466,531 

Cost of goods sold ....................................................  (640,627) (366,819) (384,484) 
Gross Profit .................................................................  136,707 67,352 82,047 

Operating Expenses:    
Selling...................................................................  (14,623) (10,104) (8,776) 
General and administrative ...................................  (44,617) (33,434) (26,778) 
Management fees ..................................................  (1,322) (1,353) (793) 
Other operating expenses......................................  (12,437) (68,568) (7,464) 

Operating Income (Loss) before Financial Results..  63,708 (46,107) 38,236 
Financial Results:    

Net financial expenses ..............................................  (32,780) (9,386) (19,673) 
Net exchange variation .............................................  1,900 26,734 1,140 
Results with derivative financial instruments ...........  (4,503) 3,992 (2,703) 

Income before Taxes ...................................................  28,325 (24,767) 17,000 
Income tax and social contrib. ..................................  (13,097) 77,209 (7,860) 

Net Income (Loss) .......................................................  15,228 52,442 9,140 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 
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Balance Sheet Data — Assets 

 As of December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands(1)) 
ASSETS    
Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents .............................................................................. 119,971 85,727 72,003 
Trade accounts receivable............................................................................... 65,332 59,931 39,210 
Inventories ...................................................................................................... 77,515 65,947 46,522 
Related parties ................................................................................................ 86 403 52 
Recoverable taxes ........................................................................................... 8,204 9,585 4,924 
Advances to suppliers ..................................................................................... 2,235 1,985 1,341 
Prepaid expenses............................................................................................. 1,179 673 708 
Other assets ..................................................................................................... 1,469 1,680 882 

Total current assets ..................................................................................... 275,991 225,931 165,641 
Long-Term Assets    

Financial investments ..................................................................................... 2,113 0 1,268 
Recoverable taxes ........................................................................................... 4,035 3,487 2,422 
Related parties ................................................................................................ 379,818 153,475 227,955 
Deferred taxes ................................................................................................. 12,995 22,200 7,799 
Compulsory Deposits – Eletrobrás ................................................................. 57,065 35,201 34,249 
Other assets ..................................................................................................... 2,731 4 1,639 

Total long-term assets................................................................................. 458,757 214,367 275,331 
Investments ..................................................................................................... 861 993 517 
Property, plant and equipment ........................................................................ 307,719 313,791 184,683 
Intangible assets.............................................................................................. 2,712 3,262 1,628 

Total permanent assets................................................................................ 311,292 318,046 186,828 
Total Assets ....................................................................................................... 1,046,040 758,344 627,800 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 



13 
 

Balance Sheet Data — Liabilities 

 As of December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands(1)) 
LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    

Loans and financing........................................................................................ 211,996 87,321 127,233 
Real Estate Credit Note – CCI ........................................................................ 4,510 0 2,707 
Suppliers ......................................................................................................... 61,271 45,022 36,773 
Salaries and provisions for vacations.............................................................. 18,626 12,753 11,179 
Taxes and payroll obligations ......................................................................... 48,393 28,430 29,043 
Advances from customers............................................................................... 558 133 335 
Investment fund in credit rights – FIDC ......................................................... 0 6,425 0 
Related parties ................................................................................................ 10,348 2,534 6,211 
Provision for derivative instruments............................................................... 3,069 2,072 1,842 
Dividends........................................................................................................ 3,617 11,822 2,171 
Other liabilities ............................................................................................... 3,777 3,883 2,267 

Total current liabilities............................................................................ 366,165 200,395 219,761 
Long-Term Liabilities    

Loans and financing........................................................................................ 173,935 176,454 104,390 
Real Estate Credit Note – CCI ........................................................................ 46,790 0 28,082 
Taxes payable ................................................................................................. 244,483 178,503 146,731 
Deferred taxes ................................................................................................. 3,508 0 2,105 
Provision for contingencies ............................................................................ 7,491 8,759 4,496 
Provision for derivative instruments............................................................... 979 1,331 588 
Other liabilities ............................................................................................... 6,458 7,087 3,876 

Total long-term liabilities ....................................................................... 483,644 372,134 290,268 
Shareholders’ Equity    

Capital......................................................................................................... 105,000 75,000 63,018 
Treasury shares ........................................................................................... (36,360) (36,360) (21,822) 
Other reserves ............................................................................................. 71,322 76,061 42,805 
Revaluation reserve..................................................................................... 33,404 47,054 20,048 
Equity valuation adjustments...................................................................... 30,364 30,364 18,224 
Accum. Conversion adjustment .................................................................. (7,499 (6,304) (4,501) 

Total shareholders’ equity....................................................................... 196,231 185,815 117,772 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity .................................................... 1,046,040 758,344 627,800 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 
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Other Data 

 For the Years Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 

(in R$ thousands, 
except 

percentages) 

(in U.S.$ 
thousands,(1) 

except 
percentages) 

Depreciation and Amortization.........  21,180 20,597 12,712 
Adjusted EBITDA(2) .........................  97,325 43,058 58,411 
Adjusted EBITDA margin(3) .............  12.5% 9.9% 12.5% 
Capital expenditures .........................  13,690 17,366 8,216 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 

(2) Defined as net income before net financial expenses, income and social contribution taxes, depreciation and 
amortization and other operating income or expenses. Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure recognized 
by U.S. GAAP, IFRS or Brazilian GAAP and should not be considered as a substitute for net income, cash flow 
from operations or other measures of operating performance or liquidity determined under U.S. GAAP, IFRS or 
Brazilian GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standardized meaning, and our definition of Adjusted EBITDA 
may differ from those used by other companies. 

(3) Defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net revenues. 

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands)(1) 
Adjusted EBITDA ....................................................................................................  97,325 43,058 58,411 
Less:    
Other operating expenses............................................................................................  (12,437) (68,568) (7,464) 
Depreciation and Amortization...................................................................................  (21,180) (20,597) (12,711) 
Net financial expenses ................................................................................................  (32,780) (9,386) (19,673) 
Net exchange variation ...............................................................................................  1,900 26,734 1,140 
Results with derivative financial instruments .............................................................  (4,503) 3,992 (2,703) 
Income before taxes ..................................................................................................  28,325 (24,767) 17,000 
Income tax and social contribution .............................................................................  (13,097) 77,209 (7,860) 
Net income .................................................................................................................  15,228 52,442 9,140 
 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the commercial selling exchange rate as of 
December 31, 2010, as reported by the Central Bank. 
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Risk Factors 

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information in this offering circular 
before making an investment in the notes. The risks described below are not the only ones facing our company or investments 
in Brazil in general. Our business, financial condition or operating results could be materially and adversely affected by any 
of these risks. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business 
operations. This offering circular also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See 
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results could differ materially and adversely 
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the risks facing our 
company or investments in Brazil described below and elsewhere in this offering circular. 

For the purposes of this section, when we state that a risk, uncertainty or problem may, could or will have an “adverse 
effect” on us or “adversely affect” us, we mean that the risk, uncertainty or problem could have an adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, operating results, cash flow, prospects, and/or the trading price of our notes, except as 
otherwise indicated. You should view similar expressions in this section as having similar meaning. 

Risks Relating to our Operations 

A decline in the sales to or a loss of important customers could adversely affect us. 

In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, our six largest customers represented approximately 71.8% of our net revenues, 
and our largest customer, MAN, represented approximately 24.7% of our net revenues. From 2011 onwards, we expect that 
revenues from Dana will represent a significant majority of our gross revenues. We may not be able to maintain our most 
important customers. 

Our success depends on our ability to maintain our most important customers and maintain or increase the level of our 
revenues deriving from these customers. We may lose customers due to mergers and acquisitions and business failures. As a 
result of the decrease in business or due to other commercial reasons, we may become subject to a reduction in the volume of 
purchases of products by our customers. If we lose one or more of our most important customers or several other customers, 
we could be adversely affected. 

Our business assumes long-term relationships with customers and a continuous participation in the development of 
new products. In general, however, we do not enter into long-term agreements with our customers. 

We continually interact with our customers to develop new products and technologies, and our business is subject to long 
periods required for the development of products, obtaining of returns on investments and conclusion of operational cycles of 
products. Our competitiveness depends on our capacity to maintain a continuous and fruitful relationship with our customers 
and to offer products with costs, quality and terms that are compatible with the demand of our customers. If we are unable to 
maintain a healthy relationship with our customers or a competitor is able to offer products that are more competitive or of 
higher quality than our products, we may face difficulties in finding new markets in a short period of time in order to avoid 
an adverse effect on us. 

Additionally, suppliers to the automotive industry usually do not enter into long-term agreements with their customers. 
Accordingly, we generally do not enter into agreements with our customers for their periodic acquisition of our products, 
since each acquisition is made through an individual purchase request from each customer. Therefore, we do not have full 
control over whether our main customers will continue to acquire our products. 
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Our results are directly related to the performance and development of the automotive industry, which depends on 
the national and global economic environment, and, in particular, the demand for trucks and buses. 

Due to the fact that we develop and produce parts for trucks and buses, our results are directly related to the performance and 
development of the automotive industry, especially sales of trucks and buses. In the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 
and 2010, our sales to the automotive industry represented approximately 100% and 100%, respectively, of our net operating 
revenues. The performance of the automotive industry is highly related to the performance of the Brazilian and global 
economies, due to its strong dependence on the general level and distribution of income, its cost of financing and consumer 
demand. A downturn in the global or Brazilian economies may adversely affect the demand for and sales of trucks and buses 
causing a reduction in the level of production and development of these vehicles. As a result, a decrease in growth of the 
automotive industry, particularly that of trucks and buses, may adversely affect us. 

We have a significant amount of indebtedness and tax obligations, which may affect our financial condition and our 
ability to repay the notes. 

As of December 31, 2010, we had total consolidated indebtedness of R$447.6 million, of which R$355.9 million was secured 
by certain assets and guaranteed by certain of our affiliates. In addition, as of that date, we had guaranteed related party debt 
totaling R$130.1 million and we had recorded provisions of R$1.7 million in respect of R$85.9 million of this amount. The 
indenture governing the notes limits our ability to incur additional indebtedness, but the “Limitation on Indebtedness” 
covenant contains a number of exceptions which allow us to incur a significant amount of additional indebtedness. In 
addition, our guarantee of indebtedness of third parties is only considered indebtedness under the indenture if and to the 
extent the guarantee is recorded as a liability on our balance sheet in accordance with Brazilian GAAP. Furthermore, as of 
December 31, 2010, we had consolidated tax obligations of R$292.9 million. 

Our high level of indebtedness and tax obligations could have significant consequences to us. For example, it could: 

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay interest and principal on our 
indebtedness and tax obligations, thereby reducing the amounts of cash flow available for working capital, 
capital expenditures and other corporate purposes; 

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry; 

• increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions; 

• place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt and tax obligations; and 

• limit our ability to borrow additional funds or refinance existing indebtedness on favorable terms. 

Any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business and on our ability to repay the notes. 

We cannot assure you that our strategic transaction with Dana or any other future associations or acquisitions will be 
successful. In addition, we are subject to a number of obligations in connection with our strategic transaction with 
Dana, which could adversely affect us. 

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic 10-year supply agreement with Dana (the “Supply Agreement”), one of the 
world’s leading suppliers of drivelines and driveshafts. For more information, see “Business — Recent Developments — 
Strategic Transaction with Dana.” We cannot assure you that this strategic transaction, or any other future associations or 
acquisitions, will be successful. Moreover, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in realizing any of the anticipated 
benefits of our strategic transaction with Dana or any other association or acquisition that we might enter into in the future. If 
we do not realize these benefits, we could be adversely affected. In addition, the integration of new businesses  



17 
 

may be difficult for a variety of reasons, including differing culture, management styles, systems, infrastructure, records and 
internal controls. 

Additionally, under the terms of the supply agreement entered into with Dana, we must comply with obligations related to 
quality of products, delivery conditions and non-competition, among others. Furthermore, under the terms of the Supply 
Agreement, Dana has a right of first refusal with respect to any transfers of our shares held by our direct or indirect 
controlling shareholders or any transfers of the assets related to the supply of the products covered by the Supply Agreement. 
In the event we do not comply with any of these obligations, certain provisions contained in the Supply Agreement may 
apply to us, such as the termination of the agreement by Dana, indemnification provisions and step-in rights allowing Dana, 
upon a default by us, to temporarily take control of all of our operations related to the production of the products covered by 
the Supply Agreement. If we do not comply with any of our obligations under the Supply Agreement and, as a result, any of 
these provisions apply, we may be adversely affected. 

In connection with the strategic transaction with Dana, we agreed to pledge our production facility located in 
Campinas as collateral to secure our obligations to Dana. Once this collateral is pledged with respect thereto, our 
Campinas facility may be subject to foreclosure if we are unable to comply with our obligations under the agreements 
entered into with Dana. 

Our Campinas production facility accounts for a substantial part of our total production. In accordance with the agreements 
entered into with respect to our strategic transaction with Dana, we have agreed to grant Dana a perfected mortgage over our 
Campinas facility in order to secure our obligations towards Dana resulting therefrom once the regularization of the 
ownership rights of our Campinas facility has been concluded. Once our Campinas facility is pledged as collateral in favor of 
Dana, if we breach certain of our obligations towards Dana, our Campinas facility may be subject to foreclosure and, thus, 
may no longer be available to us, which may adversely affect our relationship with our other customers, our activities and 
results, as well as our capacity to supply our customers’ demand. 

We have significant loans outstanding to related parties, and income resulting from the timely payment of interest on 
such loans is a material component of our cash flow. 

As of December 31, 2010, the balance of the loans granted by us to related parties amounted to R$379.8 million. These loans 
carry interest with rates that range from the Interbank Deposit Certificate rate (Certificado de Depósito Interbancário), or 
CDI rate, to the CDI rate plus 0.5% per month. For the year ended December 31, 2010, interest received by us relating to 
these loans amounted to R$28.2 million, and we expect that similar amounts will be paid to us in the near future as the loan 
amounts outstanding will remain at similar levels. If there is any change to the financial condition of the related parties to 
which we have extended loans, and their ability to remain current on interest due or to repay these loans to us deteriorates, 
this could have a material impact on our ability to meet our financial obligations. For more information, see “Related Party 
Transactions”. 

We may be adversely affected if there is a loss of synergy among the companies of the GBrasil Group or the business 
strategy of our affiliates is unsuccessful. 

We rely on the synergistic relationship among the companies of the GBrasil Group to originate cross-selling opportunities 
and optimize our business, supply chain and other operational, logistics and administrative resources. A loss of synergy 
among the companies of the GBrasil Group may adversely affect us. 

In addition, we have from time to time provided intercompany loans to subsidiaries and affiliates of GBrasil and given 
guarantees in relation to certain obligations of GBrasil and its subsidiaries and affiliates. If GBrasil or any of its affiliates or 
subsidiaries does not repay such intercompany loans or fails to honor its respective financial obligations with respect to 
transactions guaranteed by us, we may be adversely affected. For additional information, see “Business — Our Strategy”, 
“Related Party Transactions” and  
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“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Related Party Loans.” 

Changes in our management or the inability to attract and maintain new executives may adversely affect us. 

Our business demands that our managers be highly qualified in the automotive metallurgy industry and have solid 
relationships with customers and suppliers. The loss of our key executives or the inability to attract new executives with the 
same expertise may adversely affect us. 

Fluctuations in the price of steel may adversely affect us. 

The main input used by us is steel. Steel represented approximately 44.9% and 41.3% of our cost of sales in the fiscal years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively. As a result, our operations depend on our ability to acquire steel at 
competitive prices. The price of steel used in the automotive metallurgy sector has been subject to continued increases in 
recent years, due mainly to the increase in global demand, in particular from China. If the price of steel increases significantly 
and we are not able to factor such increase into the price of our products or reduce our operating costs to offset such an 
increase, our operating margin will be reduced and, consequently, we may be adversely affected. 

Our production and revenues may be adversely affected if our suppliers delay or do not comply with their obligations. 
Additionally, in the Brazilian market, the production of steel, the main input of the automotive metallurgy sector, is 
concentrated with a few suppliers, which do not enter into long-term agreements for the supply of this input. 

Our production depends on a small number of suppliers. We cannot assure you that delays or defaults of contractual 
obligations by our suppliers will not occur and adversely affect our production, sales and revenues. In addition, we cannot 
assure you that we will be able to obtain inputs from other suppliers if any of our suppliers no longer is willing or able to sell 
inputs to us, which could adversely affect us. 

Additionally, in Brazil, the production of steel, the main input of the automotive metallurgy sector, is concentrated with a 
small number of suppliers. For example, in the market for forging steel bars, which are the raw material for the production of 
forged products, the only local producer is the Gerdau Group. The demand for steel has been increasing continually in recent 
years. None of the suppliers in the Brazilian market enters into long-term agreements with its customers, including us, and 
the supply of steel depends on our relationship with these suppliers. Additionally, local technical and quality standards 
required by Brazilian manufacturers of vehicles, together with transport expenses and high import tariffs, makes importation 
of steel not viable as an alternative source of supply. 

If the demand for steel continues to grow, we may not be able to purchase steel sufficient to support our production needs. 
Additionally, in the future, we may be unable to purchase steel on commercially reasonable terms. In any of these situations, 
our production capacity, revenues and profitability may be adversely affected. 

Our insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover damages resulting from our activities, which may lead to 
interruptions in the operation of our production facilities and, consequently, reduce our operating results. 

We have two production facilities in Brazil and, through Westport, three in the United States. If there are any unpredictable 
events or emergencies, due to the high degree of technical details of the products produced or handled in each facility and the 
machinery necessary to produce them, it may not be possible to quickly change the existing production at our facilities. Any 
unplanned interruption or any suspension of a substantial part of the production of any of our facilities, or any damage in our 
production facilities as a result of unpredictable or catastrophic events (such as fires or floods), interruptions or losses of 
energy, or other similar events, may adversely affect our production volumes and, consequently, our operating results.  
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In regards to any other production facility that we might have in the future, we expect to contract insurance coverage similar 
to our existing coverage. We cannot assure, however, that we will be able to obtain such insurance coverage on commercially 
reasonable terms. If we are not able to obtain insurance or renew our existing insurance policies or if we suffer any damages 
that are not fully covered by our policies, we may be adversely affected. 

We are subject to operational risks related to the use of our products with critical applications. 

Some of the products manufactured by us, due to their nature or application, carry an inherent and substantial civil liability 
risk with respect to damages that might be suffered by third parties. For instance, our automotive parts are used in the 
manufacturing of trucks, buses and other products produced by large Brazilian and multinational companies. A failure in the 
operation of these parts may cause large damages to our customers and our corresponding obligation to indemnify them. 
Consequently, if our customers suffer any damages as a result of a failure or defect in one of our products and such damages 
are not fully covered by our existing insurance policies, we may be adversely affected. 

Our products may have defects that are difficult or even impossible to correct. Such defects may result in sales losses, 
additional costs and losses of clients. 

We offer complex products which may have defects that are difficult to detect and correct. The existence of defects and 
delays in correcting them may result in negative consequences, including: (i) cancellation of orders; (ii) additional expenses 
related to products’ warranties; (iii) delays in collecting receivables; (iv) returning of products; (v) loss of marketability of 
our products; (vi) diversion of research and development funds to cover such expenses and losses; (vii) inventories reduction; 
and (viii) loss of any certification required to sell products. 

Even though all of our products are tested, new defects may be identified after the products are delivered. Correcting the 
defects may be a long, costly and difficult task, which may adversely affect our business and financial condition. 

We cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with all of the financial and other obligations contained in our 
financing agreements and obtain all the necessary waivers related thereto from our respective lenders. 

Under the terms of our financing agreements, we must comply with certain financial and other covenants contained therein. 
Financial and other covenants under our financing agreements may limit our ability to incur additional debt, including 
secured debt, and may restrict our ability to invest in our businesses and allocate the funds needed to increase our production 
capacity, which may reduce our future sales and adversely affect our revenues. We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
obtain all necessary waivers from our creditors with respect to any failure to comply with our existing obligations under our 
financing agreements. In addition, in the event we are required to grant a perfected mortgage over our Campinas facility prior 
to the repayment in full of certain financing agreements that restrict our ability to create liens on our properties, a default may 
occur under these agreements if we have not obtained waivers from the lenders thereunder. See “— In connection with the 
strategic transaction with Dana, we agreed to pledge our production facility located in Campinas as collateral to secure our 
obligations to Dana. Once this collateral is pledged with respect thereto, our Campinas facility may be subject to foreclosure 
if we are unable to comply with our obligations under the agreements entered into with Dana.” In the event we are unable to 
obtain any or all such waivers, and we are unable to prepay in full our obligations under these agreements, an event of default 
may be declared by our lenders, which may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 
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A substantial portion of our assets is subject to liens in favor of our creditors. 

A substantial portion of our assets (which includes inventory, fixed assets, receivables and financial investments) has been 
pledged to a number of financial institutions as collateral under the terms of loans incurred for working capital, equipment 
purchases and the repayment of other indebtedness and to Dana as collateral under the terms of our strategic transaction with 
this company. We cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with our obligations under these agreements and retain 
the pledged assets. In addition, in any bankruptcy or similar proceeding involving us, our secured creditors would have 
priority over noteholders with respect to these pledged assets. 

Fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates may adversely affect us. 

As of December 31, 2010, 12.8% of our outstanding indebtedness was denominated in foreign currency and substantially all 
of our foreign currency outstanding indebtedness of U.S.$34.3 million was subject to fluctuations in the applicable interest 
rates, in particular the Libor rate, after giving effect to our swap transactions. Fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest 
rates result from factors that we cannot control. If foreign exchange or interest rates increase significantly, our financial 
expenses will increase and our capacity to obtain financing at acceptable terms or at all may be reduced, which may adversely 
affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the appreciation of the real in relation to the U.S. dollar 
and other foreign currencies could adversely affect our sales to export markets and, eventually, to the local market, as the 
prices of our products may become less competitive than those of our competitors in other countries and lead to imports by 
our local customers. 

We hedge some of our financial transactions, which could cause substantial losses. 

We use swap agreements in order to protect us from adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates and to reduce 
our total financial costs. Our hedging strategies, however, may not be effective to protect us from fluctuations in foreign 
exchange and interest rates, which may adversely affect us. In addition, our hedging strategies may involve a high degree of 
risk, which could cause substantial losses to us and, consequently, adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations. 

The levels of default by our customers may increase substantially in a short period of time and may adversely affect 
our business. 

The receipt of payments from our customers depends on their payment capacity and our ability to collect such payments. The 
payment capacity of our customers may be negatively affected, and their levels of default may increase substantially in a 
short period of time, as a result of several reasons outside of our control. If this occurs, we may not be able to collect certain 
receivables from defaulting customers. If we do not recover a substantial part of these credits, our cash flow and our financial 
results may be adversely affected. 

Our exports are subject to risks related to transactions in the global market. 

In the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, our sales in international markets represented approximately 18.5% 
and 12.4%, respectively, of our net operating revenues. Our main foreign markets include the United States and certain 
European countries, where we are subject to some of the same risks described below in “— Risks Relating to Brazil.” Our 
future financial performance will depend on, among others, the economic environment and on the political and social 
conditions existing in our main foreign markets. Our ability to conduct business in these foreign markets in the future may be 
affected by factors that we cannot control, such as: 

• fluctuations in foreign exchange rates; 

• deterioration of the economic environment; 
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• increase in anti-dumping tariffs, general tariffs and other commercial barriers; 

• strikes or other events that can affect ports and other means of transportation; 

• requirements imposed by different legal and regulatory regimes; and 

• tampering with our products. 

In addition, potential strikes by employees of the ports and customs authorities in Brazil, or the Brazilian Internal Revenues 
Service, may affect the delivery of our products to our customers. Brazilian ports are subject to occasional strikes, including 
from employees of the ports and employees of the customs agencies. This could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

The automotive metallurgy sector is highly competitive and characterized by significant pressure on prices. 

We face strong competition from local and international participants in the automotive metallurgy sector. The market for 
products directed to the automotive industry has been growing significantly in the past few years, with a corresponding 
increase in the companies that operate in this sector. Our competitors may offer better prices or quality of their products. Our 
market share may be reduced if we are not able to remain competitive, in particular with respect to prices. This highly 
competitive environment may restrict our growth capacity and result in additional pricing pressures, thereby reducing our 
revenues and, consequently, adversely affecting us. 

The automotive metallurgy sector requires the obtaining of quality certifications and constant technological 
innovation. 

Companies that operate in the automotive metallurgy sector are required by their customers to obtain quality certifications 
from certain certifying entities. Additionally, we expect technological innovations and changes to occur in the production 
process of the automotive metallurgy sector. These innovations and changes may cause our existing technology to become 
obsolete or less efficient. Therefore, our results depend on our capacity to continue to improve our internal processes and 
products and to offer to our clients innovative solutions that respond to the fast technological changes and to the expectations 
of the market in general. Since production technology in the automotive metallurgy sector is quickly and constantly evolving, 
if we are unable to adopt technological improvements, our efforts to reduce production costs and update our technology could 
be negatively affected, which could impair our competitiveness. In addition, any technological improvement may require 
substantial investments and the suspension of our operations for a significant period of time. If we fail to obtain future quality 
certifications required by our clients in a timely manner, keep pace with technological changes or retain qualified personal, it 
may adversely affect our position in the market and the operation of our facilities, which may adversely affect our business 
and results of operations. 

Our business is subject to environmental regulation, and the imposition of new legislation may require significant 
investments, which will increase our need for additional funds. 

Companies operating in the automotive metallurgy sector are subject to environmental legislation in Brazil at the federal, 
state and municipal levels. In case of breach or non-compliance with such laws, regulations, licenses or authorizations, we 
may be subject to administrative sanctions, such as penalties, cancellation of authorizations and licenses, temporary or 
permanent intervention, or we and our managers may become subject to criminal sanctions, which, like the administrative 
sanctions, may be aggravated due to reincidence. In addition, we may be required, under civil law, to indemnify any damages 
caused to the environment and to any third parties. We also may be required to incur substantial costs in order to remediate 
any environmental damages. 
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If environmental legislation becomes more stringent in Brazil, the respective investments we will need to make to comply 
with such legislation may substantially increase and the timetable related to these investments may be changed, which may 
reduce the availability of our funds to other investments and other goals. 

We are party to certain legal proceedings, which, if decided against us, could adversely affect our business. 

In the ordinary course of business, we have been, and may from time to time in the future be, named as a party in legal 
proceedings, claims and disputes in connection with our business activities, which may include environmental claims, permit 
appeals, employment-related claims and contractual disputes or claims for personal injury or property damage that occur in 
connection with services performed, or actions by regulatory or tax authorities. If decided against us, any material proceeding 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, and we may not have adequate reserves for any potential losses 
associated with proceedings not otherwise covered by insurance. Additionally, any negative outcome with respect to any 
legal actions in which we are involved could adversely affect our reputation. 

For further details of the legal proceedings which we believe to be significant, see “Business — Legal Proceedings.” 

Risks Relating to Brazil 

The Brazilian government has exercised, and continues to exercise, significant influence over the Brazilian economy. 
This involvement, as well as Brazilian political and economic conditions, could adversely affect us. 

The Brazilian government frequently intervenes in the Brazilian economy and occasionally makes significant changes in 
policy and regulations. The Brazilian government’s actions to control inflation and implement macroeconomic policies have 
often involved increases in interest rates, changes in tax policies, wage and price controls, currency devaluations, capital 
controls and limits on imports, among other measures. We may be adversely affected by changes in policies or regulations, or 
by other factors such as: 

• economic and social stability; 

• interest rates; 

• currency fluctuations; 

• inflation; 

• liquidity of domestic financial and capital markets; 

• exchange controls and restrictions on remittances abroad; 

• changes to the regulatory framework governing our industry; 

• tax policies and laws; and 

• other political, diplomatic, social and economic developments in or affecting Brazil. 

In the past, the performance of the Brazilian economy has been adversely affected by periods of political turmoil in the 
country. Historically, political crisis and scandals affected the confidence of investors and of the general public and 
compromised the development of the country’s economy and the market price of securities issued or guaranteed by Brazilian 
companies. We cannot predict what policies will be adopted by the Brazilian government and whether such policies will 
adversely affect the Brazilian economy as a whole. 

In addition, uncertainty over the recently elected president, and whether the Brazilian government will implement changes in 
policies or rules affecting these or other factors, may contribute to economic uncertainties in Brazil and to heightened 
volatility in the Brazilian securities markets and securities issued abroad by Brazilian issuers. 
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Developments and the perception of risk in other countries, in particular the United States, Europe and emerging 
market countries, may adversely affect the market price of Brazilian securities, including the market value of the 
notes, and may restrict our access to international capital markets. 

The market value of securities of Brazilian companies is affected to varying degrees by economic and market conditions in 
other countries, including the United States, Europe and emerging market countries. Although economic conditions in these 
countries may differ significantly from economic conditions in Brazil, investors’ reactions to developments in these other 
countries may have an adverse effect on the market value of securities of Brazilian issuers. Crises in the United States, 
Europe and emerging market countries or economic policies of other countries may diminish investor interest in securities of 
Brazilian issuers. Any of these factors could adversely affect the market price of securities of Brazilian issuers and restrict 
our ability to access the international capital markets and finance our operations in the future on terms acceptable to us or at 
all. 

The global financial crisis has had significant consequences for Brazil, such as stock and credit market volatility, 
unavailability of credit, higher interest rates, a general slowdown of the world economy, volatile exchange rates and 
inflationary pressure, among others, which have adversely affected and may continue, directly or indirectly, to adversely 
affect the price of securities issued by Brazilian companies, including the market price of the notes. 

Government efforts to combat inflation may hinder the growth of the Brazilian economy and could harm our business 
and the market value of the notes. 

In the past, Brazil has experienced extremely high inflation rates and, consequently, adopted monetary policies that resulted 
in some of the highest interest rates in the world. Inflation rates in Brazil, as measured by the General Market Price Index 
(Índice Geral de Preços – Mercado) or IGP-M, were 12.4% in 2004, 1.2% in 2005, 3.8% in 2006, 7.4% in 2007, 9.8% in 
2008, −1.7% in 2009 and 11.3% in 2010. From the beginning of 2004 through December 2010, the Special System for 
Settlement and Custody (Sistema Especial de Liquidação e Custódia), or the SELIC rate, the most widely-measured interest 
rate, varied between 8.75% and 13.8% per year. As of the date of this offering circular, the SELIC rate was 12% per annum. 

Inflation and the measures adopted by the Brazilian government to control it, principally through the Brazilian Central Bank, 
have, and may in the future, significantly affect the Brazilian economy and our business. Strict monetary policies through 
correspondingly high interest rates may restrict economic growth and the availability of credit in Brazil. Conversely, more 
lenient government and monetary policies through corresponding decreased interest rates may lead to increases in inflation 
rates and, as a result, economic uncertainty and the need for additional government interventions and significant increases in 
interest rates, which may negatively affect our business. 

In addition, if Brazil experiences high inflation in the future, our costs may increase and our operating and net margins may 
decrease. Inflationary pressures may also curtail our ability to access foreign financial markets and may lead to further 
government intervention in the economy, including the introduction of government policies that may adversely affect the 
overall performance of the Brazilian economy, which in turn could materially and adversely affect our operations and the 
market value of the notes. 

Furthermore, our financial expenses are affected by changes in the interest rates. As of December 31, 2010, we had 
R$218.2 million of outstanding debt that was subject to the CDI rate, and R$26.9 million of outstanding debt that was subject 
to the Long Term Interest Rate (Taxa de Juros de Longo Prazo), or TJLP rate. The CDI rate has fluctuated significantly in 
the past in response to the expansion or contraction of the Brazilian economy, inflation and Brazilian government policies, 
among other factors. A significant increase in the CDI rate or in the TJLP rate could adversely affect our financial expenses 
and negatively affect our financial performance. 
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Exchange rate instability may adversely affect us. 

The Brazilian currency has during the last decades experienced frequent and substantial variations in relation to the U.S. 
dollar and other foreign currencies. Between 2000 and 2002, the real devalued significantly against the U.S. dollar, reaching 
an exchange rate of R$3.53 per U.S.$1.00 at the end of 2002. Between 2003 and mid-2008, the real appreciated significantly 
against the U.S. dollar due to the stabilization of the macro-economic environment and a strong increase in foreign 
investment in Brazil, with the exchange rate reaching R$1.56 per U.S.$1.00 in August 2008. In the context of the crisis in the 
global financial markets from mid-2008, the real devalued 31.9% against the U.S. dollar over the year 2008 and reached 
R$2.33 per U.S.$1.00 at year end 2008. As of December 31, 2010, the exchange rate was R$1.66 per U.S.$1.00. 

Devaluation of the real against the U.S. dollar could create inflationary pressures in Brazil and cause increases in interest 
rates, which could negatively affect the growth of the Brazilian economy as a whole. This may adversely affect us by 
curtailing access to foreign financial markets and prompting government intervention, including recessionary governmental 
policies. Devaluation of the real against the U.S. dollar can also lead to decreased consumer spending, deflationary pressures 
and reduced growth of the economy as a whole. On the other hand, appreciation of the real relative to the U.S. dollar and 
other foreign currencies could lead to a deterioration of the Brazilian foreign exchange current accounts, as well as dampen 
export-driven growth. Depending on the circumstances, either devaluation or appreciation of the real could materially and 
adversely affect the growth of the Brazilian economy and our business. 

Changes in Brazilian tax laws may have an adverse impact on the taxes applicable to a disposition of the notes and 
may materially and adversely affect us. 

Capital gains generated outside Brazil as a result of a transaction between two non-residents of Brazil involving assets 
located in Brazil are subject to income tax in Brazil, according to article 26 of Law No. 10,833, enacted on December 29, 
2003. As the notes are offered, sold and listed outside Brazil, we have been advised by our Brazilian counsel that they do not 
believe that the notes fall within the definition of assets located in Brazil for purposes of Law No. 10,833, and accordingly, 
gains on the sale or the disposition of the notes made outside Brazil are not subject to Brazilian taxes. However, given that 
this legislation is not entirely clear and the absence of judicial guidance in respect thereof, we cannot assure investors that 
this interpretation of the law will prevail in the courts of Brazil. If income tax is deemed to be due, any related gain may be 
subject to income tax in Brazil at a rate of 15.0%, or 25.0% if the seller of the notes is located in a low tax jurisdiction (as 
defined in “Taxation — Brazilian Taxation”). Investors should note that there is no existing tax treaty between Brazil and the 
United States. 

Furthermore, the Brazilian government frequently implements changes to tax regimes that affect us and our customers. These 
changes include changes in prevailing tax rates and, on occasion, enactment of temporary taxes based on the principles set 
forth by the Brazilian Federal Constitution. Some of these changes may result in increases in our tax payments, which can 
materially and adversely impact our profitability and increase the prices of our products, restrict our ability to do business in 
our existing and target markets and cause our financial results to suffer. We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
maintain our prices and projected cash flow and profitability following increases in Brazilian taxes applicable to us. 

Brazilian bankruptcy laws may be less favorable to investors than bankruptcy and insolvency laws in other 
jurisdictions. 

If we are unable to pay our indebtedness, including our obligations under the notes, then we may become subject to 
bankruptcy proceedings in Brazil. The bankruptcy laws of Brazil currently in effect are significantly different from, and may 
be less favorable to creditors than, those of certain other jurisdictions. In addition, in the event of our bankruptcy, all of our 
debt obligations, which are denominated in foreign currency, will be converted into reais at the prevailing exchange rate on 
the date of declaration of our  
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bankruptcy by the court. We cannot assure you that such rate of exchange will afford full compensation of the amount 
invested in the notes plus accrued interest. 

Payments under the notes are subject to the obtaining of certain governmental authorizations. 

The issuance of the notes is subject to certain registrations with the Central Bank, namely (i) registration of the main financial 
terms under the relevant Declaratory Registry of Financial Operations (Registro Declaratório de Operações Financeiras), or 
ROF, on the Information System of the Central Bank, which will be obtained prior to any such issuance, and (ii) registration 
of the schedule of payments in connection with any such issuance, which shall occur after the entry of the related proceeds 
into Brazil. In addition, further authorization from the Central Bank will be required to enable us to remit payments abroad in 
foreign currency under the notes other than scheduled payments of principal, interest, costs and expenses contemplated by the 
relevant ROF or to make any payment provided for in such ROF on a date after the 120th day from the payment dates 
scheduled therein. We cannot assure you that any such special Central Bank authorization would be obtained or that if such 
authorization is obtained, such authorization would be obtained on a timely basis. 

Risks Relating to the Notes 

Our controlling shareholder may have interests that differ from your interests as a noteholder. 

GBrasil owns 100.0% of our equity interests and 100.0% of our voting interests. As a result, GBrasil is and will be able to 
effectively control the election of our executive officers, determine the outcome of substantially all actions requiring 
shareholder approval and shape our corporate and management policies. So long as GBrasil continues to own a significant 
amount of the outstanding shares of our common stock, GBrasil will continue to be able to effectively control our decisions, 
including expansion plans, marketing strategies, product offerings and other significant corporate decisions and transactions. 

The interests of GBrasil may not coincide with yours as a holder of notes. For example, GBrasil may have an interest in 
undertaking expansions, acquisitions, divestitures, financings, investments in its affiliates (including by way of loans to these 
affiliates or guarantees of their indebtedness) and other actions that, in its judgment, could enhance its equity investments, 
even though those actions might involve risks to you as a holder of the notes. For more information, see “Principal 
Shareholder.” 

We may be unable to purchase the notes upon a change of control. 

Upon the occurrence of a change of control, we are required to offer to purchase all or a portion of the notes at 101% of their 
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and any additional amounts. If such a change of control were to occur, we 
may not have enough funds at the time to pay the purchase price for all tendered notes. Our future indebtedness may provide 
that a change of control constitutes an event of default which could result in the acceleration of maturity of such indebtedness 
and may prohibit the purchase of the notes upon a change of control. If a change of control occurs at a time when we are 
prohibited from purchasing the notes, we could seek the consent of our lenders to purchase the notes or could attempt to 
refinance this debt. If we do not obtain a consent, we could not purchase the notes. Our failure to purchase any tendered notes 
would constitute an event of default under the indenture. Our obligation to offer to purchase the notes upon a change of 
control would not necessarily afford your protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction, reorganization, merger or 
similar transaction involving us. The term “change of control” is defined in the “Description of the Notes — Certain 
Definitions.” 
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Any reduction in our credit ratings could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, liquidity, 
ability to raise capital and results of operations. 

It is possible that our current ratings could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in its judgment, 
circumstances so warrant. Specifically, if our long-term rating were to be downgraded, our borrowing costs would increase, 
which could adversely affect our ability to attract potential investors and our funding sources could decrease. 

Judgments by Brazilian courts enforcing our obligations under the notes are payable only in Brazilian reais. 

If proceedings were brought in the courts of Brazil seeking to enforce our obligations under the notes, we would not be 
required to discharge our obligations in a currency other than reais. Any judgment obtained against us in Brazilian courts in 
respect of any payment obligations under the notes will be expressed in reais equivalent to the U.S. dollar amount of such 
payment at the exchange rate (i) on the date of actual payment, (ii) the date on which such judgment is rendered or (iii) the 
actual due date of the obligations, as published by the Central Bank. There can be no assurance that such rate of exchange 
will afford you full compensation of the amount invested in the notes plus accrued interest. 

We cannot assure you that a judgment of a U.S. court for liabilities under U.S. securities laws would be enforceable in 
Brazil, or that an original action can be brought in Brazil against the issuer for liabilities under U.S. securities laws. 

We are a corporation organized under the laws of Brazil. All of our directors and officers, and some of the advisors named 
herein reside in Brazil or elsewhere outside the United States, and all or a significant portion of the assets of such persons 
may be located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within 
the United States or other jurisdictions outside Brazil upon such persons, or to enforce against such persons judgments 
predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or the laws of such other jurisdictions. In 
addition, it may not be possible to bring an original action in Brazil against us for liabilities under applicable securities laws. 
For more information, see “Enforceability of Civil Liabilities.” 

We cannot assure investors that an active trading market for the notes will develop. 

The notes constitute a new issue of securities, for which there is no existing market. No assurance can be provided regarding 
the future development of a market for the notes, the ability of holders of the notes to sell their notes, or the price at which 
such holders may be able to sell their notes. If an active trading market were to develop, the notes could trade at prices that 
may be higher or lower than the initial offering price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, our 
operating results and financial condition, prospects for other companies in our industry, political and economic developments 
in and affecting Brazil, the risk associated with Brazilian issuers of similar securities and the market for similar securities. If 
an active trading market for the notes does not develop or is interrupted, the market price and liquidity of the notes may be 
materially and adversely affected. 

The notes are subject to transfer restrictions. 

The notes have not been registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any U.S. state or any other jurisdiction, 
and, unless so registered, may not be offered, sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a 
transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. In addition, 
we have not authorized any offer of notes to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the applicable 
regulations. Accordingly, the notes may not lawfully be offered or sold to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons 
whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for 
the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which do not and will not result in an  
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offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 2000, or FSMA. For 
more information, see “Transfer Restrictions.” 

The notes may be issued with original issue discount for United States federal income tax purposes. 

The notes may be issued with OID for United States federal income tax purposes. In the event the notes are issued with OID, 
U.S. holders (as defined under Taxation — Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations) will generally be 
required to include such OID in gross income on a constant yield to maturity basis in advance of the receipt of cash payment 
thereof and regardless of such holders’ method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes. For more 
information, see “Taxation — Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations.” 

If the notes are secured by collateral, such collateral will be subordinated to certain statutory liabilities. 

Under Brazilian law, any collateral securing the notes will be subordinated to certain statutory preferences. In the event of our 
bankruptcy, these statutory preferences, including claims for salaries and labor accidents, and court fees and expenses, will 
have preference and priority over any other claims, including claims by any investor in respect of the collateral. 

Our obligations under the notes will be subordinated to certain statutory liabilities. 

Under Brazilian law, our obligations under the notes are subordinated to certain statutory preferences. In the event of our 
liquidation or bankruptcy, these statutory preferences, including claims for salaries, wages, social security, taxes, including 
any outstanding amounts under the tax amnesty refinancing program (Programa de Recuperação Fiscal – REFIS), and court 
fees and expenses, will have preference and priority over any other claims, including claims by any investor in respect of the 
notes. 

Collateral may not be enforceable. 

In the event of our reorganization proceeding or bankruptcy, any collateral securing the notes, as well as certain acts and 
agreements, may be rendered void, whether or not the contracting party was aware of our financial condition, and whether or 
not we intended to defraud creditors. These acts and agreements include: (i) payments by the bankrupt estate of unmatured 
debts within the “legal term” (defined as the 90-day period preceding the bankruptcy filing, the judicial recovery filing or the 
first protest (protesto) for lack of payment); (ii) payments made within the legal term of overdue debts by any means other 
than those provided for in the original agreement; (iii) creation of a security interest, within the legal term, in relation to a 
debt previously contracted; (iv) acts performed without consideration, e.g., on a gratuitous basis (a título gratuito), within the 
two preceding years as of the declaration of bankruptcy; (v) sale or transfer of a business establishment without the express 
consent of all existing creditors, with insufficient remaining assets to pay our liabilities (except if, within a 30-day period, no 
opposition has been claimed by creditors after notification in this regard); and (vi) registration of title transfer or a security 
interest after declaration of bankruptcy. In addition, certain acts may be revoked upon evidence of the intention of the 
bankrupt estate and the other relevant contracting parties to fraudulently convey assets from the bankrupt estate or the 
company in prejudice of other creditors. In addition, under Brazilian law, a security interest is considered accessory to the 
underlying or principal obligation and the nullity of the principal obligation causes the nullity of the accessory obligation. 
Therefore, in case our underlying obligation under the notes or the indenture is declared null, any security interest would, 
under Brazilian law, be deemed to be null as well. 
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Exchange Rates 

The Brazilian foreign exchange system allows the purchase and sale of foreign currency and the international transfer of reais 
by any person or legal entity, regardless of the amount, subject to certain regulatory procedures. 

Since 1999, the Central Bank has allowed the U.S. dollar-real exchange rate to float freely, and, since then, the U.S. 
dollar-real exchange rate has fluctuated considerably. 

In the past, the Central Bank has intervened occasionally to control unstable movements in foreign exchange rates. We 
cannot predict whether the Central Bank or the Brazilian government will continue to permit the real to float freely or will 
intervene in the exchange rate market through the return of a currency band system or otherwise. The real may depreciate or 
appreciate against the U.S. dollar substantially. Furthermore, Brazilian law provides that, whenever there is a serious threat to 
Brazil’s balance of payments or there are strong reasons to foresee a serious imbalance, temporary restrictions may be 
imposed on remittances of foreign capital abroad. We cannot assure you that such measures will not be taken by the Brazilian 
government in the future. See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Brazil.” 

The following table sets forth the period end, average, high and low foreign exchange market selling rates published by the 
Central Bank on its electronic information system (Sistema de Informações do Banco Central – SISBACEN), under 
transaction code PTAX 800 (Consultas de Câmbio), or Exchange Rate Enquiry, Option 5, Venda (Cotações para 
Contabilidade), or Rates for Accounting Purposes, expressed in reais per U.S. dollar for the periods and dates indicated. 

 Reais per U.S. Dollar 
Year Ended December 31, High Low Average(1) Period-end 
2006 ...................................................................................................  2.30 2.08 2.16 2.13 
2007 ...................................................................................................  2.12 1.74 1.93 1.77 
2008 ...................................................................................................  2.33 1.56 1.83 2.33 
2009 ...................................................................................................  2.37 1.74 1.99 1.74 
2010 ...................................................................................................  1.88 1.66 1.76 1.67 

Source: Central Bank 

(1) Represents the average of the exchange rates on the last day of each month during the periods presented. 

 Reais per U.S. Dollar 
Month High Low Average(1) Month-end 
October 2010 .......................................................................................  1.71 1.65 1.68 1.70 
November 2010 ...................................................................................  1.73 1.68 1.71 1.72 
December 2010....................................................................................  1.71 1.67 1.69 1.67 
January 2011........................................................................................  1.69 1.65 1.67 1.67 
February 2011......................................................................................  1.68 1.65 1.66 1.66 
March 2011..........................................................................................  1.68 1.65 1.66 1.65 
April 2011............................................................................................  1.61 1.56 1.59 1.58 

Source: Central Bank 

(1) Calculated as the daily average of exchange rates during the relevant period. 

As of May 10, 2011, the exchange rate for U.S. dollars was R$1.61 per U.S.$1.00. 
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Use of Proceeds 

The net proceeds from each Series of notes issued under the program will be used by the issuer as set forth in the applicable 
Final Terms. 
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Capitalization 

The following table sets forth our consolidated cash and cash equivalents and our short-term debt, long-term debt and 
shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2010, as derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the 
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 prepared in accordance with Brazilian GAAP. 

The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements contained 
elsewhere in this offering circular. Except as disclosed herein, as of the date of this offering circular, there has been no 
material change in our capitalization since December 31, 2010. 

 As of December 31, 2010 
 (in R$ thousands) (in U.S.$ thousands)(1) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents ...................................................  119,971 72,003 
Short-Term Debt   
Loans and financing..................................................................  211,996 127,233 

Real Estate Credit Notes – CCI ............................................  4,510 2,707 
Related companies ................................................................  10,348 6,211 
Total short-term debt ............................................................  226,854 136,151 

Long-Term Debt   
Loans and financing..................................................................  173,935 104,390 

Real Estate Credit Notes – CCI ............................................  46,790 28,082 
Total long-term debt .............................................................  220,725 132,472 

Shareholders’ Equity ..............................................................  196,231 117,772 
Total Capitalization(2) .............................................................  643,810 386,395 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 

(2) Total capitalization equals the total of short- and long-term debt and shareholders’ equity. 
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Selected Financial and Other Information 

The tables below present a summary of our consolidated financial and operating information as of and for the periods 
indicated. You should read this information in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related 
notes included elsewhere in this offering circular and with the sections entitled “Presentation of Financial and Other 
Information,” “Summary Financial and Operating Information” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.” 

The following selected consolidated financial information has been derived from our consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, which have been audited by our independent auditors. The data 
presented herein should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto contained 
elsewhere in this offering circular. Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Brazilian 
GAAP, which differs in certain significant aspects from U.S. GAAP. 

Income Statement Data 

 For the Years Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands)(1) 
Net Revenues ............................................................................................  777,334 434,171 466,531 

Cost of goods sold .................................................................................  (640,627) (366,819) (384,484) 
Gross Profit ..............................................................................................  136,707 67,352 82,047 

Operating Expenses:    
Selling................................................................................................  (14,623) (10,104) (8,776) 
General and administrative ................................................................  (44,617) (33,434) (26,778) 
Management fees ...............................................................................  (1,322) (1,353) (793) 
Other operating expenses...................................................................  (12,437) (68,568) (7,464) 

Operating Income (Loss) before Financial Results...............................  63,708 (46,107) 38,236 
Financial Results:    

Net financial expenses ...........................................................................  (32,780) (9,386) (19,673) 
Net exchange variation ..........................................................................  1,900 26,734 1,140 
Results with derivative    

financial instruments......................................................................  (4,503) 3,992 (2,703) 
Income before Taxes ................................................................................  28,325 (24,767) 17,000 

Income tax and social contribution ........................................................  (13,097) 77,209 (7,860) 
Net Income (Loss) ....................................................................................  15,228 52,442 9,140 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 
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Balance Sheet Data — Assets 

 As of December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 
 (in R$ thousands) (in U.S.$ thousands(1)) 

ASSETS    
Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents .........................................................................  119,971 85,727 72,003 
Trade accounts receivable..........................................................................  65,332 59,931 39,210 
Inventories .................................................................................................  77,515 65,947 46,522 
Related parties ...........................................................................................  86 403 52 
Recoverable taxes ......................................................................................  8,204 9,585 4,924 
Advances to suppliers ................................................................................  2,235 1,985 1,341 
Prepaid expenses........................................................................................  1,179 673 708 
Other assets ................................................................................................  1,469 1,680 882 

Total current assets ................................................................................  275,991 225,931 165,641 
Long-Term Assets    

Financial investments ................................................................................  2,113 0 1,268 
Recoverable taxes ......................................................................................  4,035 3,487 2,422 
Related parties ...........................................................................................  379,818 153,475 227,955 
Deferred taxes ............................................................................................  12,995 22,200 7,799 
Compulsory Deposits – Eletrobrás ............................................................  57,065 35,201 34,249 
Other assets ................................................................................................  2,731 4 1,639 

Total long-term assets............................................................................  458,757 214,367 275,331 
Investments ................................................................................................  861 993 517 
Property, plant and equipment ...................................................................  307,719 313,791 184,683 
Intangible assets.........................................................................................  2,712 3,262 1,628 

Total permanent assets...........................................................................  311,292 318,046 186,828 
Total Assets ..................................................................................................  1,046,040 758,344 627,800 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 
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Balance Sheet Data — Liabilities 

 As of December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands(1)) 
LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    

Loans and financing...................................................................................  211,996 87,321 127,233 
Real Estate Credit Note – CCI ...................................................................  4,510 0 2,707 
Suppliers ....................................................................................................  61,271 45,022 36,773 
Salaries and provisions for vacations.........................................................  18,626 12,753 11,179 
Taxes and payroll obligations ....................................................................  48,393 28,430 29,043 
Advances from customers..........................................................................  558 133 335 
Investment fund in credit rights-FIDC.......................................................  0 6,425 0 
Related parties ...........................................................................................  10,348 2,534 6,211 
Provision for derivative instruments..........................................................  3,069 2,072 1,842 
Dividends...................................................................................................  3,617 11,822 2,171 
Other liabilities ..........................................................................................  3,777 3,883 2,267 

Total current liabilities.......................................................................  366,165 200,395 219,761 
Long-Term Liabilities    

Loans and financing...................................................................................  173,935 176,454 104,390 
Real Estate Credit Note – CCI ...................................................................  46,790 0 28,082 
Taxes payable ............................................................................................  244,483 178,503 146,731 
Deferred taxes ............................................................................................  3,508 0 2,105 
Provision for contingencies .......................................................................  7,491 8,759 4,496 
Provision for derivative instruments..........................................................  979 1,331 588 
Other liabilities ..........................................................................................  6,458 7,087 3,876 

Total long-term liabilities ..................................................................  483,644 372,134 290,268 
Shareholders’ Equity    

Capital....................................................................................................  105,000 75,000 63,018 
Treasury shares ......................................................................................  (36,360) (36,360) (21,822) 
Other reserves ........................................................................................  71,322 76,061 42,805 
Revaluation reserve................................................................................  33,404 47,054 20,048 
Equity valuation adjustments.................................................................  30,364 30,364 18,224 
Accum. Conversion adjustment .............................................................  (7,499 (6,304) (4,501) 

Total shareholders’ equity..................................................................  196,231 185,815 117,772 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ...............................................  1,046,040 758,344 627,800 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 
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Other Data 

 For the Years Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 
(in R$ thousands, 

except percentages) 
(in U.S.$ thousands,(1) 
except percentages) 

Depreciation and Amortization....................................................................  21,180 20,597 12,712 
Adjusted EBITDA(2) ....................................................................................  97,325 43,058 58,411 
Adjusted EBITDA margin(3) ........................................................................  12.5% 9.9% 12.5% 
Capital expenditures ....................................................................................  13,690 17,366 8,216 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the selling exchange rate as per the Brazilian 
Central Bank at December 31, 2010. 

(2) Defined as net income before net financial expenses, income and social contribution taxes, depreciation and 
amortization and other operating income or expenses. Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure recognized 
by U.S. GAAP, IFRS or Brazilian GAAP and should not be considered as a substitute for net income, cash flow 
from operations or other measures of operating performance or liquidity determined under U.S. GAAP, IFRS or 
Brazilian GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standardized meaning, and our definition of Adjusted EBITDA 
may differ from those used by other companies. 

(3) Defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net revenues. 



35 
 

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010 

 (in R$ thousands) 
(in U.S.$ 

thousands)(1) 
Adjusted Ebitda .................................................................................................... 97,325 43,058 58,411 
Less:    
Other operating expenses........................................................................................ (12,437) (68,568) (7,464) 
Depreciation and Amortization............................................................................... (21,180) (20,597) (12,711) 
Net financial expenses ............................................................................................ (32,780) (9,386) (19,673) 
Net exchange variation ........................................................................................... 1,900 26,734 1,140 
Results with derivative    

financial instruments........................................................................................... (4,503) 3,992 (2,703) 
Income before taxes .............................................................................................. 28,325 (24,767) 17,000 
Income tax and social contribution ......................................................................... (13,097) 77,209 (7,860) 
Net income ............................................................................................................. 15,228 52,442 9,140 
 

(1) Solely for the convenience of the readers, the amounts in Brazilian reais above have been translated into U.S. dollars 
at the exchange rate of R$1.6662 to U.S.$1.00, which represents the commercial selling exchange rate as of 
December 31, 2010, as reported by the Central Bank. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our audited 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, which have been audited by 
our independent auditors, together with the notes related thereto, included elsewhere in this offering circular. Our 
consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Brazilian GAAP, which differs in certain significant 
respects from U.S. GAAP. 

The amounts presented in this section are stated in reais, except as otherwise indicated. Amounts presented in tabular 
information may reflect rounding effects. 

Overview 

Our net revenues are derived primarily from the manufacture and sale of forged and machined parts and, to a lesser extent, 
from the assembly of mechanical parts, in each case directed primarily to the automotive industry, particularly the heavy 
truck and bus segment. Our net revenues also include the sale of parts for heavy duty equipment, such as tractors, harvesters 
and earthwork machinery, for the construction, infrastructure and agricultural sectors, which have represented an increasing 
share of our revenue mix in recent years. In 2010, 88.0% of our sales was directed to the truck and bus segment, while 4.8% 
was directed to the light commercial vehicles segment and 7.3% was directed to other segments, such as equipment for the 
construction, infrastructure and agricultural sectors. 

Our principal market is the Brazilian domestic market, which accounted for 87.6% of our net revenues in 2010. We also sell 
parts for the global automotive industry, mainly to United States (81.9% of our total foreign sales, in terms of net revenues, 
for 2010) and Europe (12.8% of our total foreign sales, in terms of net revenues, for 2010) and primarily in the truck, bus and 
light commercial vehicles segment. The performance of our foreign sales during the periods discussed herein was negatively 
impacted by the international financial crisis, which was more accentuated in our main foreign markets than in other 
countries. In addition, our foreign sales were negatively affected by the appreciation of the real against the U.S. dollar of 
25.5% during 2009 and 4.3% during 2010. 

The following tables set forth our net revenues by product and market for the periods indicated: 

Net Revenues by Line of Product 

 2010 2009 

 Tons % Δ% 
(in R$ 

thousands) % Δ% Tons % 
(in R$ 

thousands) % 
Forged parts ..............................  32,243 50.0 57.1 199,589 25.7 55.0 20,530 52.5 128,740 29.7 
Machined parts..........................  32,185 50.0 73.5 555,973 71.5 94.5 18.551 47.5 285,835 65.8 
Assembly ..................................  — — — 21,772 2.8 11.1 — — 19,596 4.5 
Net Revenues ...........................  64,428 100.0 64.9 777,334 100.0 79.0 39,081 100.0 434,171 100.0 
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Net Revenues by Market 

 2010 2009 

 Tons % Δ% 
(in R$ 

thousands) % Δ% Tons % 
(in R$ 

thousands) % 
Domestic Sales..........................  54,454 84.5 58.5 680,977 87.6 92.5 34,362 87.9 353,728 81.5 
Foreign Sales.............................  9,974 15.5 111.4 96,356 12.4 19.8 4,719 12.1 80,443 18.5 
Net Revenues ...........................  64,428 100.0 64.9 777,334 100.0 79.0 39,081 100.0 434,171 100.0 

Net Revenues in the Domestic Market by Line of Product 

 2010 2009 

 Tons % Δ% 
(in R$ 

thousands) % Δ% Tons % 
(in R$ 

thousands) % 
Forged parts ..............................  29,146 53.5 49.8 186,355 27.4 51.3 19,461 56.6 123,203 34.8 
Machined parts..........................  25,308 46.5 69.8 494,622 72.6 114.6 14,901 43.4 230,525 65.2 
Domestic Sales .........................  54,454 100.0 58.5 680,977 100.0 92.5 34,362 100.0 353,728 100.0 

Net Revenues From Foreign Markets by Line of Product 

 2010 2009 

 Tons % Δ% 
(in R$ 

thousands) % Δ% Tons % 
(in R$ 

thousands) % 
Forged parts ..............................................3,097 31.1 189.7 13,234 13.7 139.0 1,069 22.7 5,537 6.9 
Machined parts...........................  6,877 68.9 88.4 61,351 63.7 10.9 3,650 77.3 55,310 68.8 
Assembly ...................................  — — — 21,772 22.6 11.1 — — 19,596 24.4 
Foreign Sales.............................  9,974 100.0 111.4 96,357 100.0 19.8 4,719 100.0 80,443 100.0 

Principal Factors Affecting Results of Operations 

Macroeconomic and Automotive Industry Conditions 

Our company’s performance is highly linked to the performance of the economy in general, not only in Brazil but also in the 
United States and Europe, which are our largest foreign markets. More specifically, our performance is directly affected by 
the performance of the automotive industry in these markets. The automotive industry is divided into two main segments, 
each with different characteristics: the passenger car segment; and the truck, bus and light commercial vehicles segments. 
The performance of the passenger car segment is mainly influenced by the availability of credit to consumers, while the 
performance of the truck, bus and light commercial vehicles segment is mainly linked to economic growth and the 
corresponding volume of investment as well as demand for equipment for the construction, infrastructure and agricultural 
industries. 
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The following table shows, for the periods indicated, annual rates of growth of Brazilian GDP overall and of GDP of the 
Brazilian industrial segment: 

 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 
Overall GDP .................................................................................................................  4.0% 6.1% 5.1% (0.2)% 7.5% 
Industrial Segment ........................................................................................................  2.3% 4.7% 4.4% (7.4)% 11.1% 

Source: IBGE – Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística 

The international financial crisis, which began in the second half of 2008, negatively affected the performance of the 
Brazilian economy, mainly in the last quarter of the year, thereby reducing the rate of growth of the economy with negative 
effects in the accumulated GDP growth rate and specifically in the accumulated growth rate of the industrial segment. The 
negative growth in the Brazilian economy in 2009 was relatively moderate compared to the negative growth in the European 
and North American economies, mainly due to the rapid response of the Brazilian government with a series of economic 
measures, such as a reduction in interest rates, incentives for financings and the reduction of excise taxes on certain products 
for final consumers, including vehicles, as described in further detail below. 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Brazilian economy continued to experience the negative effects of the international 
financial crisis, mainly due to the uncertainty surrounding the magnitude of the crisis. By the middle of the year, however, the 
economic measures implemented by the Brazilian government began to produce positive results on the performance of the 
Brazilian economy. Among the government measures taken to reduce the negative impact of the international financial crisis 
on the domestic economy were the following: the reduction of compulsory bank deposits, excise taxes for vehicles and white 
home products and the IOF (Tax on Financial Operations) over consumer financings; the use of international reserves to 
finance exports; and the implementation of the Programa Pro-Caminhoneiro (program to finance independent truck drivers), 
which provided financing for up to 100% of the truck price at reduced interest rates. Despite the negative performance of the 
Brazilian economy in the first half of 2009, its performance during the second half of the year practically offset the negative 
results of the first half of the year, except in the industrial segment of the economy, which closed the year with an 
accumulated negative growth rate of 7.4%, compared to an accumulated negative growth rate for overall GDP of 0.2%. In 
2010, the Brazilian economy not only maintained the recovery started in the second half of 2009, but even accelerated its 
growth rates in almost all segments. The accumulated GDP growth rate for 2010 was 7.5%, and the accumulated growth rate 
for the industrial segment was 11.1% for the year. 

From 2008 through 2010 the automotive industry, the participants in which represents the principal buyer of our products, 
performed similarly to the Brazilian and global economies. In the Brazilian domestic market, the performance of the 
automotive industry as a whole was less affected by the international financial crisis as compared to the export market which 
was more acutely affected. See “Industry.” 

Anticipated Impact of Our Transaction with Dana 

In February 2011, we entered into the Supply Agreement with Dana, an affiliate of Dana Holding Corporation. Under the 
Supply Agreement, we have agreed to become the exclusive provider of front axles, I-beams, arms and knuckles to Dana in 
the Brazilian market, and Dana has agreed to purchase these products exclusively from us in Brazil. The Supply Agreement 
does not affect our sales of loose arms and knuckles to our existing customer base in the international market, so long as such 
customers are not aftermarket customers of the products we sell to Dana. The Supply Agreement is renewable by Dana for an 
additional five-year period upon the payment of a renewal fee, among other conditions. See “Business —  
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Recent Developments — Strategic Transaction with Dana” and “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Operations — We 
cannot assure you that our strategic transaction with Dana or any other future associations or acquisitions will be successful. 
In addition, we are subject to a number of obligations in connection with our strategic transaction with Dana, which could 
adversely affect us.” 

In connection with our entering into the agreement, we received from Dana a payment of U.S.$150.0 million, which included 
U.S.$5.0 million for the purchase by Dana of certain of our assembly assets and a U.S.$58.0 million loan. We subsequently 
assigned the loan to one of our affiliates and remain a guarantor of such loan. In the event we are required to repay the loan at 
the end of the term, and provided that there is no default under the Supply Agreement, we may be able to effectively offset 
our payment obligations against the payment obligations of Dana under the Supply Agreement. For accounting purposes, in 
our consolidated financial statements, we expect to defer the recognition of U.S.$87.0 million paid by Dana in connection 
with our entering into the transaction over the 10-year term of the Supply Agreement. 

Also pursuant to the Supply Agreement, we committed to transferring our assembling operations related to the font axles 
business to Dana. As a result, in the near future we no longer expect to recognize income from those operations. We estimate 
that if the Supply Agreement had been in place during all of 2010, our revenues would have been lower by R$234.3 million, 
or 30.1%. 

During the first quarter of 2011, we used R$77.0 million of the proceeds paid to us by Dana to reduce our indebtedness. We 
still hold a substantial amount of the cash proceeds paid by Dana amounting R$95.5 million as of the date hereof, and we 
expect to use part of such proceeds to repay other outstanding indebtedness. 

Effects of Fluctuations in Exchange Rates between the Real and the U.S. Dollar 

Our results of operations and financial condition have been, and will continue to be, affected by the rate of depreciation or 
appreciation of the real against the U.S. dollar because: 

• a portion of our net sales revenue is linked to U.S. dollars; and 

• we have, and as a result of our anticipated offering of notes pursuant to the program, we will continue to have 
significant amounts of U.S. dollar- denominated liabilities that will require us to make principal and interest 
payments in U.S. dollars. 

The following table sets forth, for the periods and dates indicated, (1) the appreciation (depreciation) of the U.S. dollar 
against the real, (2) the selling rates for U.S. dollars as reported by the Central Bank and (3) the average selling rates for the 
U.S. dollar as reported by the Central Bank, which represents the average exchange rate on the last day of each month during 
the periods indicated. 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2008 

Fluctuation of the U.S. dollar against the real (at the end of the period)(1)............... (4.3)% (25.5)% 31.9% 
Fluctuation of the U.S. dollar against the real (average of the period)(2).................. (11.6)% 8.5% (5.0)% 
Exchange rate at the end of the period (reais per U.S. dollar).................................. R$1.6662 R$1.7412 R$2.3370 
Average exchange rate for the period (reais per U.S. dollar)(3) ................................ R$1.7589 R$1.9905 R$1.8335 

Source: Central Bank 

(1) Calculated as the percentage difference between the exchange rate at the end of the previous period and the exchange rate at the end of the 
applicable period. 

(2) Calculated as the percentage difference between the average exchange rate of the applicable period and the average exchange rate of the previous 
period. 

(3) Calculated as the average of the exchange rates on the last day of each month during the periods indicated. 



40 
 

A substantial portion of our foreign sales are expressed in U.S. dollars or another foreign currency. When the real depreciates 
against the U.S. dollar, assuming our costs and international market prices of our products remain constant, our net revenue 
from exports increases. Conversely, when the real appreciates against the U.S. dollar, assuming our costs and international 
market prices of our products remain constant, our net revenue from exports decreases. 

In addition, when the real depreciates against the U.S. dollar: 

• the interest costs on our U.S. dollar-denominated indebtedness increase in reais, which negatively affects our 
results of operations in reais; 

• the amount of our U.S. dollar-denominated indebtedness increases in reais, and our total liabilities and debt 
service obligations in reais increase; and 

• our financial expenses tend to increase as a result of foreign exchange losses that we must record. 

Conversely, when the real appreciates against the U.S. dollar: 

• the interest costs on our U.S. dollar-denominated indebtedness decrease in reais, which positively affects our 
results of operations in reais; 

• the amount of our U.S. dollar-denominated indebtedness decreases in reais, and our total liabilities and debt 
service obligations in reais decrease; and 

• our financial expenses tend to decrease as a result of foreign exchange gains that we must record. 

Any major devaluation of the real against the U.S. dollar would significantly increase our financial expenses and short-term 
and long-term indebtedness, as expressed in reais. Conversely, any major appreciation of the real against the U.S. dollar 
would significantly decrease our financial expenses and short-term and long-term indebtedness, as expressed in reais. 

Effect of our Level of Indebtedness and Interest Rates 

As of December 31, 2010, our total outstanding indebtedness was R$447.6 million. In addition, as of that date, we had 
guaranteed related party debt totaling R$130.1 million, and we had recorded provisions of R$1.7 million in respect of 
R$85.9 million of this amount. In 2010, we recorded financial expenses of R$93.8 million, of which R$50.4 million consisted 
of interest expenses and R$7.7 million consisted of bank fees and commissions. We also recorded net exchange variation, 
consisting of a gain of R$1.9 million relating to the effect of foreign exchange fluctuations on our outstanding dollar U.S. 
denominated indebtedness, and results with derivative financial instruments, consisting of a loss of R$4.5 million, relating to 
certain derivative financial instruments entered into by us in an effort to mitigate our exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 
The interest rates on our indebtedness depend on a variety of factors, including prevailing Brazilian and international interest 
rates and risk assessments of our company, the industries in which we operate and the Brazilian economy made by potential 
lenders, potential purchasers of our debt securities and any rating agencies that may assess our debt securities. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

The preparation of our financial statements is based on judgments and estimates made in accordance with our historical 
experience, as well as several other factors that our management believes are reasonable and material. The critical accounting 
policies are those policies considered important to providing an understanding about how we form our judgments and 
estimates about certain future events, including the variables and assumptions underlying the estimates and the sensitivity of 
those judgments to different variables and conditions. The adoption of critical accounting policies generally requires our 
management to make certain judgments and estimates that impact the carrying value of our assets and liabilities, as well as 
our results of operations. The settlement of the transactions involving such estimates can affect our shareholders’ equity and 
financial condition, as well as our results of operations, since the actual results  



41 
 

could differ from our estimates. We present below a summary of our critical accounting policies under Brazilian GAAP. 

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences between the amounts recorded in our financial 
statements and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, using the tax rates in effect. Our management regularly analyzes our 
deferred tax assets, and pursuant to the relevant tax laws, reduces the amount that can be realized based on projections of 
future taxable income and on the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences. Estimates of future 
income are subject to factors such as domestic and international economic conditions, exchange rates, sales volumes, selling 
prices for our products and tax rates, among others. 

Provisions 

Provisions for Legal Proceedings 

We and our subsidiaries are party to certain legal proceedings, including those relating to tax, labor, civil and other matters. 
We make provisions for contingencies that are deemed as probable. Each contingency is evaluated by external counsel and 
our management. Although our management believes that our current reserve for contingencies is adequate, the amounts 
necessary to settle these contingencies may differ from estimated amounts as a result of uncertainties inherent in the 
determination process. As of December 31, 2010, our provisions for probable losses in judicial and administrative lawsuits 
based on the opinion of our legal advisors amounted to R$14.4 million. 

Provisions for Guarantees 

As of December 31, 2010, we had recorded provisions of R$1.7 million in respect of R$85.9 million of guarantees granted in 
respect of loans and leasing and other financing transactions entered into by certain of our affiliates, which are subsidiaries of 
Brascom. The guarantees are initially recorded at fair value in our financial statements as of the date on which the guarantee 
is provided. The fair value is determined pursuant to management’s best estimate of the amount that may be required to 
satisfy the guarantee. No receivable or future premium is recognized. Subsequently, the obligations of the company in respect 
of the guarantees are measured by the greater of the initial value, less accumulated amortization during the period, and the 
amount determined in accordance with CPC 25 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Provisões, 
Passivos Contingentes e Ativos Contingentes). Amounts required to satisfy our obligations under these guarantees may differ 
significantly from our provisions as a result of various uncertainties, including the ability of the primary obligor to repay the 
loans and the ability of other co-guarantors to comply with their guarantee obligations. 

Derivative Instruments 

We may use derivative financial instruments, such as swap contracts, to manage risks relating to changes in interest rates. 
These instruments are recorded at fair value in accordance with Brazilian GAAP with corresponding changes in fair value 
recorded in net income. The determination of the fair value of these instruments is based on our management’s judgment and 
assumptions that, if changed, may negatively impact our results of operations. 

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 

Under Brazilian GAAP, depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight-line method based on 
the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets. Given the nature of our property, plant and equipment, the estimates of 
useful lives require considerable judgment and are inherently uncertain. If we materially change our assumptions of useful 
lives and if external market conditions require us to determine the possible obsolescence of our property, plant and 
equipment, our depreciation expense, obsolescence write-off and consequently net book value of our property, plant and 
equipment could be materially different. 
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Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009 

The following table sets forth our audited consolidated financial information for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009. 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 
 (in R$ thousands) 

Net Revenues .......................................................................  777,334 434,171 
Cost of goods sold ................................................................  (640,627) (366,819) 
Gross Profit .........................................................................  136,707 67,352 
Operating Expenses:   
Selling...................................................................................  (14,623) (10,104) 
General and administrative ...................................................  (44,617) (33,434) 
Management fees ..................................................................  (1,322) (1,353) 
Other operating expenses......................................................  (12,437) (68,568) 
Operating Income (Loss) before Financial Results..........  63,708 (46,107) 
Financial Results:   
Net financial expenses ..........................................................  (32,780) (9,386) 
Net exchange variations........................................................  1,900 26,734 
Results with derivative financial instruments .......................  (4,503) 3,992 
Income (Loss) before Taxes ...............................................  28,325 (24,767) 
Income tax and social contribution .......................................  (13,097) 77,209 
Net Income (Loss) ...............................................................  15,228 52,442 

Net Revenues 

Net revenues increased R$343.1 million, or 79.0%, to R$777.3 million for 2010 from R$434.2 million for 2009, due to a 
92.5% increase in domestic sales and a 19.8% increase in foreign sales. 

Domestic Sales 

Net revenues from domestic sales increased R$327.3 million, or 92.5%, to R$681.0 million in 2010 from R$353.7 million in 
2009, reflecting the recovery of the Brazilian economy, particularly the automotive industry, in 2010. The increase was 
principally due to an increase in revenues from machined parts, which are higher value-added products, as well as an increase 
in revenues from forged parts. In 2010, we strategically focused our efforts on increasing our sales of higher value-added 
products. Net revenues from sales of machined parts in the domestic market increased R$264.1 million, or 114.6%, to 
R$494.6 million in 2010 from R$230.5 million in 2009, as a result of a 69.8% increase in volume sold to 25,308 tons in 2010 
from 14,901 tons in 2009 and a recovery in domestic sales prices due to the recovery of the automotive industry in Brazil 
following the international financial crisis, particularly in the heavy truck segment. Net revenues from sales of forged parts in 
the domestic market increased R$63.2 million, or 51.3%, to R$186.4 million in 2010 from R$123.2 million in 2009, as a 
result of a 49.8% increase in volume sold to 29,146 tons in 2010 from 19,461 tons in 2009 also due to the above-mentioned 
recovery in the Brazilian automotive industry. 
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Foreign Sales 

Net revenues from foreign sales increased R$16.0 million, or 19.9%, to R$96.4 million in 2010 from R$80.4 million in 2009, 
reflecting the slight recovery in the sale of heavy commercial vehicles (trucks and buses) in the United States and Europe in 
2010, offset in part by the appreciation of the real against the U.S. dollar of 4.3% during 2010. The lower percentage 
increase, on a relative basis, in net revenue from foreign sales in 2010 (19.8%) compared to the increase in net revenue from 
domestic sales during the same period (92.5%), reflects also the deeper and more prolonged duration of the international 
financial crisis in the United States and in Europe, our main markets. The increase in net revenues foreign sales was 
principally due to an increase in revenues from forged parts and machined parts. Net revenues from sales of forged parts in 
foreign markets increased R$7.7 million, or 139.0%, to R$13.2 million in 2010 from R$5.5 million in 2009, as a result of a 
189.7% increase in volume sold to 3,097 tons in 2010 from 1,069 tons in 2009. This increase was a result of the recovery of 
the global automotive industry following the international financial crisis. Net revenues from sales of exported machined 
parts increased R$6.1 million, or 11.0%, to R$61.4 million in 2010 from R$55.3 million in 2009, as a result of an 88.4% 
increase in volume sold to 6,877 tons in 2010 from 3,650 tons in 2009. This increase was also due to the above-mentioned 
recovery in the global automotive industry. The lower percentage increase, on a relative basis, in net revenues from exports in 
2010 (19.8%) compared to the increase in the overall volume of export sales during the same period (111.4%) reflects the 
change in the company’s sales mix, with forged parts (which are lower value-added) comprising an increased share of total 
sales. 

Cost of Goods Sold 

Cost of goods sold increased R$273.8 million, or 74.6%, to R$640.6 million in 2010 from R$366.8 million in 2009 as a result 
of the increase in sales. Relative to net revenues, cost of goods sold decreased to 82.4% of net revenues in 2010 from 84.5% 
of net revenues in 2009. The decrease in cost of goods sold relative to net sales revenues reflects our program to improve 
efficiency and productivity. 

Gross Profit 

Gross profit increased R$69.4 million, or 103.0%, to R$136.7 million in 2010 from R$67.4 million in 2009. Relative to net 
revenues, gross profit increased to 17.6% of net revenues in 2010 from 15.5% in 2009. 

Operating Expenses 

Total operating expenses decreased R$40.5 million, or 35.7%, to R$73.0 million in 2010 from R$113.5 million in 2009, 
mainly due to a significant decrease in other operating expenses, offset in part by an increase in selling expenses and general 
and administrative expenses. Relative to net revenues, operating expenses decreased to 9.4% of net revenues in 2010 from 
26.1% of net revenues in 2009. 

Selling expenses consist mainly of personnel expenses, third-party services, export-related expenses and other expenses. 
Selling expenses increased R$4.5 million, or 44.6%, to R$14.6 million in 2010 from R$10.1 million in 2009. The increase in 
selling expenses was due to the market recovery (both domestic and foreign markets). Relative to net revenues, selling 
expenses decreased to 1.9% of net revenues in 2010 from 2.3% of net revenues in 2009. 

General and administrative expenses consist mainly of personnel expenses, third-party services, lease expenses and other 
expenses. General and administrative expenses increased R$11.2 million, or 33.5%, to R$44.6 million in 2010 from 
R$33.4 million in 2009. The increase in general and administrative expenses was due to the market recovery (both domestic 
and foreign markets). Relative to net revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased to 5.7% of net revenues from 
7.7% of net revenues in 2009. 
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Management fees consist of fees paid to members of our board of directors and salaries of members of our board of executive 
officers. Management fees remained practically unchanged between 2009 and 2010 at R$1.3 million in each year. 

Other operating results mainly relate to non-recurring expenses or revenues. Other operating results decreased 
R$56.2 million, or 81.9%, to R$12.4 million in 2010 from R$68.6 million in 2009. Other operating expenses in 2009 
principally consisted of an expense of R$62.6 million related to the recognition of tax contingencies as a result of our 
participation in the federal government’s tax recovery program, Refis IV (see “— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Taxes 
and Contributions Rescheduling”). In addition, R$7.7 million of other operating expenses in 2009 relates to our obligations to 
the government severance indemnity fund for employers (FGTS) for employees terminated by us in 2009. For 2010, our main 
other operating expenses were R$5.5 million in employee profit sharing, R$3.5 million relating to provisions for 
contingencies, R$2.7 million relating to our obligations to the FGTS for employees terminated in 2010 and R$1.3 million 
relating to tax contingencies under Refis IV. 

Operating Income (Loss) before Financial Results 

We recorded operating income before financial expenses of R$63.7 million in 2010 compared to operating loss before 
financial expenses of R$46.1 million in 2009. Operating income before financial expenses in 2010 reflected the recovery in 
net revenues accompanied by a lower percentage increase in cost of goods sold and operating expenses as a consequence of 
our increased productivity and efficiency during 2010 and the decrease in other operating expenses, as discussed above. 

Financial Results 

Financial results in 2010 were a net expense of R$35.4 million compared to a net gain of approximately R$21.3 million in 
2009. 

We recorded net financial expenses of R$32.8 million in 2010 compared to net financial expenses of R$9.4 million in 2009. 
The increase in financial expenses was mainly a result of the increase in our net debt to R$327.6 million at December 31, 
2010 from R$180.5 million at December 31, 2009, offset in part by the financial income of R$21.9 million in 2010 from the 
monetary restatement of compulsory deposits (Eletrobrás). 

Net exchange variation was a gain of R$1.9 million in 2010 compared to a gain of R$26.7 million in 2009. The gains in 
exchange variation were mainly due to the appreciation of the real against to the U.S. dollar of 4.3% in 2010 and 25.5% in 
2009. 

Results with derivative financial instruments reflect interest rate swap contracts we entered into to convert variable interest 
rates on foreign sales financing contracts (generally indexed to LIBOR) to fixed interest rates in an effort to mitigate negative 
effects on our results of operations arising from interest rate fluctuations. In 2010, results with derivative instruments 
represented a loss of R$4.5 million compared to a gain of R$4.0 million in 2009. 

Income Tax and Social Contribution 

Income tax and social contribution in 2010 amounted to an expense of R$13.1 million compared to a credit of R$77.2 million 
in 2009. The credit recognized in 2009 was mainly due to the effect of the partial recognition of deferred income tax and 
social contribution on accumulated losses from previous years. 

Net Income 

As a result of the foregoing, net income decreased 71.0% to R$15.2 million in 2010 from R$52.4 million in the 2009. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The Company’s primary liquidity and capital resources requirements arise from: 

• working capital requirements; 

• capital expenditures; 

• principal and interest payments on our indebtedness; and 

• intercompany loans made to related parties. 

In recent years, we have met our liquidity and capital resources requirements principally from: 

• cash generated from operations; 

• lines of credits and credit facilities with commercial banks; and 

• rescheduling of taxes and social contributions (see “— Taxes and Contributions Rescheduling”). 

Working Capital 

We define working capital as total operating assets (recorded in short-term assets) less total operating liabilities (recorded in 
short-term liabilities), considering only the balances of the accounts directly linked to our operations. 

The table below sets forth the calculation of our working capital as of the dates indicated: 

 As of December 31, 
 2010 2009 
 (in R$ thousands) 

Granted Operating Financings   
Trade accounts receivable..........................................................................  65,332 59,931 
Inventories .................................................................................................  77,515 65,947 
Recoverable taxes ......................................................................................  8,204 9,585 
Total I........................................................................................................  151,051 135,463 
Received Operating Financings   
Suppliers ....................................................................................................  61,271 45,022 
Taxes and payroll taxes..............................................................................  48,393 28,430 
Salaries and provisions ..............................................................................  18,626 12,753 
Total II ......................................................................................................  128,290 86,205 
Working Capital (I — II) ........................................................................  22,761 49,258 
Working Capital Increase (Decrease) ....................................................  (26,497) (25,708) 

As of December 31, 2010, we had working capital of R$22.8 million, representing a decrease (or a release of funds) of 
R$26.5 million compared to working capital of R$49.3 million as of December 31, 2009, primarily as a result of: 

• an increase in trade accounts receivable of R$5.4 million; 

• an increase of R$11.6 million in inventories as a result of higher sales volume in 2010; 

• an increase of R$16.2 million in accounts payable to suppliers as a result of the market recovery in 2010; 
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• an increase of R$20.0 million in taxes and payroll taxes resulting from the increase in sales volume and the 
expansion of our workforce to support the increase in our business activity, as well as administrative 
proceedings involving social contribution taxes; and 

• an increase of R$5.9 million, mainly attributable to the provision for payments under our employee profit 
sharing plan. 

As a result of the variations in the abovementioned accounts, the total of operating assets increased R$15.6 million compared 
to an increase in operating liabilities of R$42.1 million, resulting in a reduction of R$26.5 million in working capital in 2010. 

As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s investment in working capital amounted to R$49.3 million, representing a 
reduction (or a release of funds) of R$25.7 million from 2008 to 2009. 

Capital Expenditures 

Our capital expenditures were R$13.7 million and R$17.4 million during 2010 and 2009, respectively. Investments during 
this period related principally to investments in equipment and facilities aimed at improving our production capacity and 
expanding our product lines with higher value-added products. Investments were also made to improve productivity and the 
quality of our products, as well as to improve environmental controls. 

Sources of Funds 

Indebtedness 

As of December 31, 2010, we had total consolidated indebtedness outstanding of R$447.6 million, of which R$322.5 million 
consisted of bank debt and R$63.4 million consisted of debentures. At that date, we had cash on-hand of R$28.4 million, plus 
financial investments of R$91.6 million, totaling R$120.0 million in short-term liquidity, resulting in a net debt of 
R$327.6 million. Of our total indebtedness as of December 31, 2010, R$71.2 million was denominated in U.S. dollars, 
mainly consisting of export financing (R$51.9 million), while the remaining R$395.7 million was denominated in reais. Of 
the total R$447.6 million in indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2010, R$226.9 million consisted of short-term 
debt, while the remaining R$220.7 million represented long-term debt maturing up to June 2015, as follows: 

Up to 6 months 
Between 

6 and 12 months 
Between 

1 and 2 years 
Between 

2 and 5 years 
More than 

5 years 
Total 

Indebtedness 
(in R$ millions) 

135.6 80.7 113.1 81.2 36.7 447.6 

Some of the instruments governing our indebtedness contain financial covenants, and, in particular, maximum ratios of net 
debt to EBTIDA (as defined in such agreements). The ratios under certain of our indebtedness which is guaranteed by 
GBrasil are calculated with respect to the consolidated debt and EBITDA of the GBrasil Group. We are required to assess 
compliance with such covenants on a quarterly basis. At March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, as a result 
of the impact of the international financial crisis and its effect on the local market, we did not satisfy certain of the ratios in 
our financial covenants. We and our parent company, GBrasil, obtained jointly waivers in respect of such non-compliance. 
See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our Operations — We cannot assure you that we  



47 
 

will be able to comply with all of the financial and other obligations contained in our financial agreements and obtain all the 
necessary waivers related thereto from our respective lenders.” 

Our debt instruments also contain affirmative and negative covenants that restrict our operations covenants, including our 
ability to sell or pledge assets or to make investments in third parties. As of December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with 
these covenants. Breach of any of these covenants would give our lenders the right to accelerate our repayment obligations. 
For a discussion of the covenants applicable to the notes issued under the program, see “Description of the Notes.” 

In addition, as of December 31, 2010, we had guaranteed related party debt totaling R$130.1 million and we had recorded 
provisions of R$1.7 million in respect of R$85.9 million of this amount. See “— Critical Accounting Policies — Provisions 
for Contingencies — Provisions for Guarantees.” For purposes of determining the amount of guarantees in respect of which 
we have provisioned, we (i) did not take into account guarantees in respect of debt secured by property of the primary obligor 
or other assets of Brascom group entities and (ii) took into account only a portion of the guaranteed debt where other 
guarantors guaranteed the same indebtedness, based on the relative net revenues of the relevant guarantors (including us).  

Real Estate Credit Certificate (CCI) 

In May 2009, as part of the group’s corporate restructuring process, G Brasil Participações S. A., as the direct parent 
company of Sifco, executed a partial spin-off of the assets of Sifco, incorporating the spun-off portion (comprised 
substantially of the real estate and the facilities of our Jundiaí plant), in Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e 
Participações S.A., a direct subsidiary of Sifco S.A. Since then, this plant has been rented by Tubrasil Sifco to Sifco. 

On July 1, 2010, Tubrasil Sifco signed a real estate credit certificate (CCI) relating to the prepayment of receivables related to 
the rental agreement between Tubrasil Sifco and Sifco. This sum is subject to financial charges tied to the variation of the 
amplified consumer price index — IPCA. Shares of Tubrasil Sifco were pledged by us as collateral. This contract has a grace 
period of 12 months, with the first installment of the principal due on August 1, 2011. The other installments have monthly 
maturities, with the contract expiring in July 2015. Of the total outstanding as of December 31, 2010, R$4.5million was 
classified in short term liabilities and R$46.8 million was classified in long term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. 

Receivables Investment Fund (FIDC) 

In March 2006, G Brasil, our parent company, structured a FIDC (credit right investment fund), a type of closed-ended fund, 
used in connection with receivables financing transactions by the group, including us. In connection with two series of 
issuances of quotas by the FDIC in 2006 and 2008, we assigned certain trade notes receivable to the FDIC. See note 11 to our 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 for further information. 

Related Party Loans 

Our controlling shareholder is G Brasil, which in turn is controlled by Brascom. We and our subsidiaries and related parties 
(including G Brasil, Brascom and their respective subsidiaries) maintain a single cash management function, through which 
the group conducts daily financial transactions according to the liquidity requirements of each company. 

Loans made by us to the subsidiaries of G Brasil (other than our subsidiaries) are, since January 1, 2010, subject to interest 
equivalent to the CDI (Certificate of Interbank Deposits) rate. The other financial transactions with other affiliates, which are 
not subsidiaries of G Brasil, but subsidiaries of Brascom, are  
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subject to interest equivalent to the CDI (Certificate of Interbank Deposits) rate, plus 0.5% per month. These loans are 
governed by a global agreement among all the companies in the Brascom group and, as they constitute a current account 
between the companies, they do not have a stated final maturity. 

As at December 31, 2010, the balance of the loans granted by Sifco to related parties amounted to R$379.8 million and was 
composed as follows: 

Related Party 
Outstanding 

Amount 
 (in R$ millions) 

Metalúrgica Tubos de Precisão Ltda......................................................................................................  49.8 
BR Metals Fundições Ltda. ...................................................................................................................  132.0 
KG Estamparia, Ferramentaria, Usinagem e Montagem Ltda. ..............................................................  14.4 
G Brasil Participações S.A.....................................................................................................................  155.9 
Tubrasil Empreend., Particip., Com. de Mat Primas Plásticas e Tubos de Aço Ltda. ...........................  5.2 
Brascom Participações S.A....................................................................................................................  22.5 
Total Outstanding ................................................................................................................................  379.8 

Cash Flows 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 
 (in R$ thousands) 

Cash From Operating Activities ...........................................  100,800 89,723 
Cash Used in Investing Activities.........................................  220,021 117,058 
Cash From Financing Activities ...........................................  153,444 55,406 

Net Cash From Operating Activities 

Net cash from operating activities increased 12.4% to R$100.8 million in 2010 from R$89.7 million in 2009. The change in 
cash flows from operating activities reflects principally the recovery in the company’s business following the effects of the 
international financial crisis experienced in 2009. 

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities was R$220.0 million in 2010 compared to R$117.1 million in 2009. Net cash used in 
investing activities in 2009 and 2010 related mainly to loans made by us to related parties. See “— Related Party Loans”. 
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Cash Flows From Financing Activities 

Net cash from financing activities was R$153.4 million in 2010 compared to R$55.4 million in 2009. Net cash from 
financing activities in 2010 reflects new financings in the amount of R$485.6 million, including R$49.0 million from the 
issuance of real estate credit certificates, offset in part by repayment of loans in the amount of R$381.2 million. Net cash 
from financing activities in 2009 reflects new financings in the amount of R$292.0 million and the repurchase of ordinary 
shares in the amount of R$36.4 million, offset in part by repayment of loans in the amount of R$200.2 million. 

Contractual Commitments 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2010. 

 Payments due by period 

 Total 

Less 
than 

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years 
After 

5 years 
 (in R$ thousands) 

Loans and financing................................... 385,931 211,996 173,931 4 — 
Estimated interest payments(1) ................... 103,429 51,715 28,407 23,307 — 
Purchase of electric energy........................ 65,769 10,847 42,683 12,239 — 
Rental and lease obligations on property 

and equipment(2)..................................... 9,416 3,039 5,981 396 — 
PPI(3) .......................................................... 8,975 1,330 2,659 2,659 2,327 
Estimated Interest on PPI........................... 3,723 62 572 1,276 1,814 
Refis IV(4)................................................... 145,444 10,514 21,028 21,028 92,874 
Estimated Interest on Refis IV................... 163,748 490 4,520 4,520 148,489 
Total .......................................................... 886,435 289,993 277,626 73,153 245,664 

(1) Estimated interest payments on loans and financing were determined considering the interest rates as of 
December 31, 2010. However, a substantial portion of loans and financing are subject to variable interest indexation 
and/or foreign exchange fluctuations, and these estimated interest payments may differ significantly from payments 
actually made. 

(2) Includes capital and operating leases. 

(3) Refers to the Tax Installment Payment Program. See “— Taxes and Social Contribution Rescheduling — State 
ICMS Tax (Value-Added Sales Tax).” 

(4) Refers to the Tax Recovery Program — REFIS. See “— Taxes and Social Contribution Rescheduling — Federal 
Taxes.” 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

At December 31, 2010, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or, in our opinion, are reasonably likely to have a 
current or future effect on our financial condition. 

Seasonality 

Our operations are subject to slight seasonal variation. In particular, in the Brazilian automotive industry, domestic 
manufacturers customarily suspend their production around the Christmas and New Year’s holidays. We typically suspend 
our operations during such periods. Consequently, our results of operations in the last quarter and first quarter of each year 
are affected accordingly. 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

We are exposed to various market risks related to potential losses resulting from adverse changes in interest rates and 
exchange rates. We are subject to interest rate risk based upon changes in interest rates because a substantial portion of our 
indebtedness bears interest at variable rates. Similarly, we are exposed to foreign currency risk because a portion of our 
financial indebtedness is denominated in foreign currencies, primarily the U.S. dollar, while we generate a substantial 
majority of our net revenues in reais. In addition, we are exposed to market risk relating to adverse changes in the market 
price of hot rolled steel, the main raw material consumed in our manufacturing and forging processes. See “Business — Raw 
Materials and Suppliers.” 

We have established policies and procedures to manage our sensitivity to such risks. For further information on our market 
risks and policies to manage such risks, see note 5 to our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 included elsewhere in this offering circular. Historically, we have used derivative financial 
instruments in an effort to mitigate our exposure to changes in interest rates. We have, in the past, sought to hedge against 
fluctuations in exchange rates but did not engage in any such hedging transactions in 2010. 

Interest Rates 

As of December 31, 2010, 68.7% of our indebtedness bore interest at variable rates. A hypothetical, instantaneous adverse 
change of 100 basis points in the rates applicable to each category of financial assets and liabilities (including swaps), subject 
to floating rates as of December 31, 2010, would result in an increase in annual financial expenses of approximately 
R$3.1 million, after giving effect to our derivative financial instruments. This sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption 
of an unfavorable 100 basis point movement of the interest rates applicable to each homogeneous category of financial assets 
and liabilities. A homogeneous category is defined according to the currency in which financial assets and liabilities are 
denominated and assumes the same interest rate variation in each homogeneous category (e.g., U.S. dollars). 

Exchange Rates 

As of December 31, 2010, our foreign currency-denominated indebtedness amounted to R$57.1 million. A hypothetical, 
instantaneous adverse change of 10.0% in currency exchange rates would result in an increase in annual financial expenses of 
approximately R$5.7 million. This sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption of an unfavorable 10.0% movement in 
exchange rates effecting the foreign currencies in which our debt is denominated. 
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Industry 

Overview 

The Brazilian auto parts market measured approximately U.S.$50 billion in size in 2010, in terms of sales, and the industry 
grew at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 8.8% from 1981 to 2010 according to Sindipeças. The Brazilian auto 
parts industry serves passenger vehicle, light to heavy truck, bus and agricultural and construction machinery manufacturers 
domestically and abroad. These end markets have benefited from Brazil’s strong economic growth, which has generated local 
demand and attracted foreign capital. With 194 million people as of 2009 Brazil has the world’s fifth largest population to go 
along with the world’s eighth largest economy in terms of gross domestic product (“GDP”) for 2010. However, Brazil lags 
other economies in vehicle penetration, ranking only 18th among major countries with 6.9 people per vehicle as of 2008, 
according to ANFAVEA (the Brazilian Association of Automotive Vehicle Manufacturers — Associação Nacional dos 
Fabricantes de Veículos Automotores). This suggests that the market has the potential to exhibit continued outsized growth as 
the vehicle market is currently under-penetrated and additional investments in infrastructure are expected to be made. 

Brazilian Auto Parts Market 

Over the past 30 years, revenues in the Brazilian auto parts market have shown a distinct upward trajectory. Although in 2010 
the market was over eleven times the size it was in 1981, the distribution of revenues among the various automotive sub-
segments has remained relatively constant. Parts sold to OEMs dominate the customer base, accounting for approximately 
71% of sales in 2009. 

The following graphic shows the breakdown of sales of Brazilian auto parts by type of customer for 2009. 

 Destination of Brazilian Auto Parts 
U.S.$50bn in 2010  

 
 Source: Sindipeças 

OEM includes all auto parts to all 
vehicle types  

Brazil has historically been a net exporter of auto parts. However, Brazil became a net importer in 2007 and, according to 
Sindipeças, in 2009, the country was estimated to have imported 1.4 times the value of auto parts it exported. The net import 
balance highlights an opportunity for local suppliers to meet domestic demand by expanding current product lines and 
building new capacity. The Brazilian auto parts market is continuing to recover from the recent global economic downturn 
and is supported by major, national and ongoing infrastructure improvement projects. Additionally, efficiency improvements 
implemented during the downturn have allowed part manufacturers to generate higher margins compared with levels seen 
before the downturn. 
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End Markets: Global Vehicle Production 

At 3.6 million units in 2010, Brazil produced nearly 5% of the cars and commercial vehicles made worldwide and 82% of the 
vehicles made in South America. Partly due to the recent global economic downturn, global vehicle production only 
increased at a CAGR of 2.9% from 2000 to 2010. There have been, however, some distinct shifts in where vehicles are made. 
China has had the most dramatic gains in market share, growing from the 8th largest producer with 3.5% market share in 2000 
to the leader with 23.5% market share in 2010. The next largest gains in market share were by India and Brazil gaining 3.2% 
and 1.8%, respectively. Vehicles produced in Brazil have almost doubled since 2000 when the country’s share of world 
production was 2.9%. For the most part, these gains have come from market share previously enjoyed by Japan, the United 
States, France and Canada. 

The following graphic shows the geographic distribution of global vehicle production for 2010. The actual number of 
vehicles still in operation in these countries demonstrates the potential for growth in developing economies. At around 
250 million units as of 2008, the United States had the most vehicles on the road, totaling more than the next five countries 
(Japan, Germany, Italy, France and the United Kingdom) combined. At 27.5 million units as of 2008, Brazil lags behind in 
terms of total units and even more so on a per capita basis. However, the national fleet has averaged over 4.4% growth each 
year in the preceding two decades, which is above the international average. 

 Global Vehicle Production 
78mm units in 2010  

 
 Sources: ANFAVEA/OICA  

Within the larger global market, the market for trucks and buses in Brazil is growing rapidly. In particular, sales of heavy 
trucks grew over 90% from 2009 to 2010. Supported by the increasing demand from the Brazilian agricultural sector and 
growing logistics needs of the country, Brazilian truck sales increased from approximately 126,084 units in 2009 to 191,662 
units in 2010. 

End Markets: Brazilian Vehicle Production 

Over 90% of the units produced in Brazil in 2010 were passenger cars and light commercial vehicles. According to 
ANFAVEA, the number of units produced in Brazil is expected to grow at a CAGR of 8.1% from 2009 through 2015, with 
the truck and bus segment growing most significantly with an estimated CAGR of 10.9%. The agricultural and machinery 
segment is the smallest of the three on a total unit basis, with 78,000 units sold from Brazil in 2010, but, according to 
ANFAVEA, this number is expected to grow at a CAGR of 5.7% from 2009 through 2015. If current trends continue, the 
3.6 million units of trucks, buses, cars and light commercial vehicles produced in Brazil annually are expected to grow to 
4.8 million per year  
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by 2015. The following graphic shows actual and estimated vehicle production in Brazil, by type of vehicle, for the periods 
indicated: 

Brazilian Vehicle Production by Type with Forecasts 
Thousands of Units 

 
  ANFAVEA 

Trucks and Buses 

There are a few key overriding themes that continue to define the Brazilian truck market: 

• Rising Demands of Logistics Networks:  According to Dion Global Solutions, in 2010, road transportation 
accounted for more than 93% of the freight transportation in Brazil, making it the backbone of industrial 
development in the country. With increasing investment expected in the mining, real estate and consumer goods 
sectors, there is an anticipated surge in the demand for improved supply chain and logistics services. 

• Focus on Fuel Efficiency:  Brazil is a leader in the adoption of alternative fuels. As the largest producer of 
biodiesel, Brazil is actively involved in the development of fuel efficient vehicles. Currently, most of these 
efforts are focused on the small- and mid-sized truck segments but are expected to impact the heavy truck 
segment in the near future. The introduction of more fuel efficient heavy trucks is expected to increase sales in 
this segment of the market. 

• Foreign Entrants:  As Brazil’s infrastructure improves and the accessible market grows, it is expected to attract 
increasing levels of foreign investment, including new operations by Chinese and European truck 
manufacturers. The largest foreign based truck manufacturers in Brazil include MAN, Mercedes-Benz, Scania, 
Volvo and Ford. Each of these companies, among numerous others, has made substantial investment in their 
Brazil based production capacity and has publicly stated their intentions to continue to increase Brazilian 
capacity. 

• Increasing Sales of Heavy Trucks & Buses:  The heavy trucks segment was the best performing truck segment 
in 2010, posting over 90% growth in sales compared with 2009. The other segments of the truck market, as well 
as the bus market, are also projected to exhibit strong growth over the next five years. The table below shows 
actual and estimated truck and bus sales for the periods indicated. 

 Motor vehicles designed to carry cargo with gross weight > 3,5 tons 
Truck Sales 
(Units in 000s) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Semi-light (3.5 < GVW < 6.0)..........................................  4,426 6,190 5,101 4,121 4,391 4,301 4,403 
Light (6.0 < GVW < 10.0) ................................................  32,070 44,016 46,300 40,553 42,223 42,974 44,926 
Medium (10.0 < GVW < 15.0) .........................................  13,634 19,258 21,771 19,958 21,177 23,009 23,785 
Semi-heavy (GVW > 15, GCW < 45) ..............................  48,074 68,566 77,356 65,037 69,235 71,236 74,063 
Heavy (GVW > 15, GCW > 45) .......................................  27,880 53,632 64,875 72,078 85,552 91,737 95,831 

GVW Gross Vehicle Weight, GCW Gross Combined Weight (in tons) 
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 Transport vehicles with > 20 passenger capacity 

Bus Sales 
(Units in 000s) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Micro Bus .........................................................................  9,254 10,195 11,381 11,777 12,547 13,059 13,447 
Road..................................................................................  2,210 2,942 3,330 3,577 3,809 3,959 4,082 
Urban ................................................................................  23,726 33,131 34,579 35,146 37,429 38,922 40,086 

Source: ANFAVEA 

Industry Drivers 

The Brazilian auto parts industry is correlated to overall growth in the national and global economies. Brazil achieved GDP 
growth of 7.5% in 2010 with projected growth of 4.5% in 2011, according to the IMF. In addition to overall economic 
growth, demand in the truck and bus markets continues to be driven by growth of the logistics networks and infrastructure 
spending. As stated above, in 2010, road transportation accounted for more than 93% of the freight transportation in Brazil, 
making trucks and buses critical to the developing economy. Major initiatives surrounding the 2014 World Cup and 2016 
Olympics are examples of the many ongoing national and local infrastructure projects that are expected to drive spending on 
truck fleets nationwide. Finally, the focus on fuel efficiency and the replacement of aging vehicles with newer models should 
also support long-term market growth. 
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Business 

Overview 

We are a Brazilian producer of forged and precision machined parts for the automotive industry targeting predominantly the 
truck and bus manufacturing markets. We believe that we are the sole producer and supplier of front axle I-Beams for buses 
and trucks in South America and, based on our market knowledge, that we have an approximately 95% share of the market 
for the production and supply of fully-assembled front axles for buses and trucks in South America. According to Sindipeças, 
we are the world’s second largest producer of front axles for buses and trucks in terms of tons produced. In terms of gross 
operating revenues, we are the largest of the five companies comprising the GBrasil Group, a conglomerate controlled by 
GBrasil, operating principally in the auto parts market in Brazil and abroad. Our main products are forged and precision 
machined products used in the front suspension of buses and trucks, transmission components for trucks, buses, light 
commercial vehicles, cars and tractors, and engine components for the automotive industry. In 2010, our total production was 
67,414 tons and approximately 84.5% of our sales were to the Brazilian market, while the remaining 15.5% were to foreign 
customers mainly in the United States and Europe. 

We maintain a customer base that includes most of the leading participants in the global automotive and truck sectors, such 
as Dana, Mercedes Benz, ArvinMeritor, Volvo, Ford, Caterpillar, MAN Latin America (Volkswagen Trucks), General 
Motors, Scania and ZF. As we operate principally in the OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) and Tier 1 (or Systemist) 
market, the majority of our products are developed together with our customers. In addition, companies operating in the 
OEM and Systemist markets are required to obtain specific quality certifications from their customers. These certifications 
require continued investment in Research & Development (R&D) for our products. As a result of the combination of these 
factors, we typically have long-term relationships with our customers. In February 2011, we entered into a supply agreement 
with Dana under which we will become the sole supplier of front axles to Dana to the Brazilian market and will have an 
ongoing commercial relationship with Dana to market our products both domestically and abroad. See “— Recent 
Developments — Strategic Transaction with Dana.” 

The table below sets forth certain selected financial data for the periods indicated: 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 2010(1) 

 (R$ millions, except percentages) 
(U.S.$ millions, except 

percentages) 
Gross operating revenue .................  948.2 529.2 569.1 
Net operating revenue.....................  777.3 434.2 466.5 
Gross Profit.....................................  136.7 67.4 82.0 
Net income for the period ...............  15.2 52.4 9.1 
Other information:    
Adjusted EBITDA(2) .......................  97.3 43.1 58.4 
Adjusted EBITDA margin(3) ...........  12.5% 9.9% 12.5% 

(1) Translated for convenience only to U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of R$1.6662 per U.S.$1.00, which was the 
commercial selling rate for U.S. dollars in effect on December 31, 2010, as reported by the Central Bank. 

(2) Defined as net income before net financial expenses, income and social contribution taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization and other operating income or expenses. Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure recognized 
by U.S. GAAP, IFRS or Brazilian GAAP and should not be considered as a substitute for net income, cash flow 
from operations or other measures of operating performance or liquidity determined under U.S. GAAP, IFRS or 
Brazilian GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standardized meaning, and our definition of Adjusted EBITDA 
may differ from those used by other companies. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income. 

(3) Defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net operating revenue. 
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Recent Developments 

Strategic Transaction with Dana 

This section presents a summary of the terms and conditions of our strategic transaction with Dana and our assessment of 
the expected benefits to be derived therefrom. No assurance can be given that these benefits will be achieved. See 
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Operations — We 
cannot assure you that our strategic transaction with Dana or any other future associations or acquisitions will be 
successful. In addition, we are subject to a number of obligations in connection with our strategic transaction with Dana, 
which could adversely affect us” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations — Principal Factors Affecting Results of Operations — Anticipated Impact of Our Transaction with Dana.” 

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic 10-year supply agreement (the “Supply Agreement”), with Dana, an affiliate of 
Dana Holding Corporation, a U.S.-based company listed on the New York Stock Exchange with a market capitalization of 
over U.S.$2 billion as of December 31, 2010 and one of the world’s leading suppliers of drivelines, driveshafts, sealing and 
thermal products. Dana is also one of the largest suppliers of front axles on a worldwide basis. Under the Supply Agreement, 
we have agreed to become the exclusive provider of front axles, I-beams, arms and knuckles to Dana in the Brazilian market, 
and Dana has agreed to purchase these products exclusively from us in Brazil. The Supply Agreement does not affect our 
sales of loose arms and knuckles to our existing customer base in the international market, so long as such customers are not 
aftermarket customers of the products we sell to Dana. The Supply Agreement is renewable by Dana for an additional five-
year period upon the payment of a renewal fee, among other conditions. 

We expect the agreement with Dana to expand our sales and marketing capabilities in global markets. Given Dana’s first-in-
class sales team sales along with the prestige of our partnering with a world renowned supplier such as Dana, we believe our 
agreement with Dana will also provide us with a number of additional strategic benefits, including an increased presence of 
our products in the growing international market and the sharing of expertise and best practices. While we believe the Supply 
Agreement will provide us with long-term strategic benefits, in the near future we no longer expect to recognize revenue 
from assembling operations related to the front axles business, which for the year ended December 31, 2010 amounted to 
R$234.3 million. 

In connection with our entering into the Supply Agreement, Dana made payments to us in the amount of U.S.$150.0 million, 
which includes the purchase by Dana of certain of our assembly assets for U.S.$5.0 million. This amount was paid to us by 
Dana on the closing date, February 1, 2011, in the following manner: (i) the amount of U.S.$58.0 million was made in the 
form of a loan to Sifco, which was subsequently assigned to our parent company, Brascom Participações S.A., or Brascom; 
and (ii) the remaining amount was paid in cash to us. We remain as a guarantor of the loan to Brascom. In case Sifco is 
required to repay the loan, and provided that there is no default under the Supply Agreement, Sifco may be able to offset its 
payment obligations against the payment obligations of Dana under the Supply Agreements. The obligations under the loan 
agreement are secured by a pledge over certain of our production assets and certain real property owned by our affiliate, 
Tubrasil Indústria e Comércio de Matérias Primas e Tubos de Aço Ltda., on which a plant operated by our affiliate Vulcan 
Material Plásticos Ltda. is located. Under certain circumstances, including our material noncompliance with our obligations 
under the Supply Agreement, Dana may be able to exercise certain remedies in respect of the manufacturing assets necessary 
to supply products under the Supply Agreement. During the first quarter of 2011, we used R$77.0 million of the proceeds 
paid to us by Dana to reduce our indebtedness. We still hold a substantial amount of cash proceeds paid by Dana amounting 
R$95.5 million as of the date hereof, and we expect to use part of such proceeds to repay other outstanding indebtedness. 
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Dana will be responsible for all marketing, sales and price negotiations with OEM customers in Brazil and abroad, provided 
that Sifco may sell loose arms and knuckles through Dana in Brazil and directly to customers in other countries on a non-
exclusive basis. The Supply Agreement also provides for certain price adjustment mechanisms. 

Our Competitive Strengths 

We believe the following are our competitive strengths: 

• Strong and long-term relationships with our customers in markets with natural barriers to entry. In the 
OEM and Systemist markets, where we operate, the majority of our products are developed together with our 
customers and must comply with specific technical criteria adopted by each customer. During the development 
process, we seek not only to comply with these technical criteria, but also to participate proactively and 
creatively in the presentation of ideas and concepts for the products, designs and production processes under 
development. As a result of the combination of these factors, we typically have strong and long-term 
relationships with our customers. In addition, companies operating in the OEM and Systemist markets are 
required to obtain specific quality certifications from their customers, which demand continued investments in 
R&D and development of new products, production processes, technologies and materials adopted by the 
automotive industry. Our ability to meet the particular requirements of each customer, contribute proactively to 
the development process and exercise strict quality control at every stage of the production process, together 
with our capacity to invest in the development of new products, has allowed us to create and maintain strong 
and long-term relationships with our customers. See “— Certifications and Awards.” 

• Our Supply Agreement with Dana provides us access to additional export markets and potential cost 
synergies. As Dana’s export clientele is larger than ours, we believe this strategic transaction will allow for 
greater exposure and sale of our products in international markets, further diversifying our revenues. Our 
relationship with Dana will also result in the sharing of expertise and best practices, which we expect will 
contribute to further efficiencies in manufacturing and R&D, thereby reducing our costs. For more information, 
see “— Recent Developments — Strategic Transaction with Dana.” 

• Unique position in industry with strong growth potential.  We believe that we are the sole producer and 
supplier of front axle I-Beams for buses and trucks in South America and, based on our market knowledge, that 
we have an approximately 95% share of the market for the production and supply of fully-assembled front axles 
for buses and trucks in South America. As a result of our substantial market share and strong customer 
relationships, we believe we are uniquely positioned to benefit from the expected growth of both the Brazilian 
auto parts market in general and the truck and bus market in particular. We believe that our current and future 
target markets will continue to grow mainly as a result of (i) the continued growth of the Brazilian GDP, (ii) the 
expected growth of the automotive, agricultural and infrastructure industries and (iii) the expected continued 
expansion of credit in Brazil. The table below presents the expected growth of the Brazilian market for trucks 
and buses, passenger cars and agricultural equipment in the next five years in terms of thousands of vehicles 
and equipment sold, according to Sindipeças: 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Trucks & Buses..........................................................................................  234.0 250.4 245.4 267.5 278.2 
Growth .......................................................................................................  45.0% 7.0% (2.0)% 9.0% 4.0% 
Agricultural Equipment .............................................................................  80.0 77.6 83.0 88.0 92.4 
Growth .......................................................................................................  21.0% (3.0)% 7.0% 6.0% 5.0% 
Passenger Cars ...........................................................................................  3.6 3.5 3.8 4.0 4.2 
Growth .......................................................................................................  11.0% 4.0% 8.0% 5.0% 5.0% 
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• Integrated business model creates and facilitates synergies.  The synergistic relationship among the 
companies of the GBrasil Group allow for significant cross-selling and optimization of our business, supply 
chain and other operational, logistics and administrative resources. We are able to draw upon the full resources 
of the GBrasil Group to identify and originate new business and pricing opportunities both within our supplier 
and customer base and from other GBrasil Group suppliers and customers. In addition, we believe our mixed 
logistics platform, which relies on a combination of logistics services performed directly by our customers, 
Brasil Logística, a company created in 2006 by GBrasil and its related parties to coordinate operations and 
leverage synergies among the companies that comprise the GBrasil Group, and other companies of the GBrasil 
Group, reduces logistics expenses, maximizes economies of scale and allows for greater control over the 
delivery of our products. 

• Experienced, professional and motivated management team supported by trained and committed 
employees. Our directors and key managers have extensive experience and in-depth knowledge in the forged 
and machined auto parts industry. Our management team is comprised of seasoned professionals with an 
average experience of approximately 20 years in this industry. In addition, we have adopted a compensation 
system whereby each director and manager receives performance bonuses on an annual basis, if performance 
criteria are met. Performance targets are based upon certain objective criteria, such as projected income and 
Adjusted EBITDA, as set forth in the annual budget defined by our management, and compliance with the 
quality standards required by our customers. We continuously invest in our employees by providing periodic 
instruction courses and seminars to ensure that they are trained in our lines of business. Our employees also 
participate in our profit sharing plan, under which in 2008, 2009 and 2010 we paid approximately R$3,738,181, 
R$954,402 and R$4,993,041, respectively, to our employees. The commitment and experience of our 
employees is demonstrated by low turnover rates averaging 1.8% in the three-year period ended December 31, 
2010. See “Management” for additional information. 

Our Strategy 

The principal elements of our strategy include: 

• Strengthen our market position.  We will seek to strengthen our unique position in the Brazilian forged and 
machined truck, bus and passenger markets for OEM and Systemist suppliers by (i) deepening our relationships 
with our customers through investments in R&D and information technology, (ii) the expansion of our offering 
of higher value-added products, (iii) obtaining additional certifications from our customers and (iv) the general 
expansion of our production capacity. We will also seek to implement improvements in our production process 
with a view to increasing our competitiveness in the markets where we operate. 

• Expand our activities through sustained organic growth.  Based on our expected increase in sales derived 
from the Supply Agreement with Dana, we intend to increase our production capacity and scale of our existing 
operations through sustained organic growth in order to meet the expected demand for our products, particularly 
in the domestic market. Our expansion plans include investments in the expansion of our production facilities, 
acquisition of new machinery and updating of existing machinery and information technology. We believe these 
actions will enable us to meet the growing demand for our products and facilitate our diversification into higher 
value-added products. 

• Expand our offering of higher value-added products and increase our market share in the passenger car 
segment. In order to diversify our revenues and reap synergies from our production and logistics infrastructure 
and commercial relationships, we intend to expand our offering of higher value-added products, such as 
transmission and engine systems for buses and trucks. For the same reasons, we intend to target the passenger 
car segment through the offering of transmission and engine components. The production of these higher 
value-added products and additional products for  
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passenger cars are complementary to our current product offerings. We intend to pursue strategic investments, 
including substantial investments in R&D, production and machinery, to enhance our capacity to supply these 
products. We also intend to continue to take advantage of cross-selling opportunities among the companies of 
the GBrasil Group to offer higher value-added products and products for passenger cars to customers of the 
other companies within the GBrasil Group. 

• Consolidate our position as a significant player in the agricultural machines and construction equipment 
segments. We currently supply parts for heavy duty equipment, such as tractors, harvesters and earthwork 
machinery, for Caterpillar and other customers in the agricultural and construction segments. We intend to 
expand our offering of additional products to these customers and have already made significant inroads into the 
undercarriage product segment, including rough forged links, finished machined links, assembled chains and 
other machined products. Near-term R&D and capital expenditures will be allocated towards new methods of 
high technology production for these products. 

• Increase the diversity of our customer base.  During the past two years, a number of existing and potential 
customers have announced plans to either increase their production capacities or initiate activities in Brazil. We 
intend to benefit from our unique position in the Brazilian market and expertise in developing products in 
cooperation with our customers to increase our participation in the production process of existing customers and 
initiate relationships with new customers. In addition, we expect that the Supply Agreement with Dana will 
increase our access to major OEM customers. Dana will service our strong existing customer base and offers yet 
another avenue to reach new customers. 
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Our Corporate Structure 

The following is a chart of the corporate structure of Brascom (including our corporate structure) as of the date of this 
offering circular: 

 

  
(1) Shares of Tubrasil Sifico are pledged as collateral in connection with a Cédula de Crédito Imobiliário-CCI 

Our History 

We were founded on October 25, 1958 as a result of an association between Steel Improvement and Forge Company (Sifco 
Industries U.S.), Brake Shoe Co. and the Brazilian family Smith Vasconcellos. Our first exports occurred in 1971, when we 
began to sell truck parts to customers in the United States. In that same year, we conducted an initial public offering of our 
common and preferred shares, which were listed on the BM&FBOVESPA. 

In 1979, we opened our Campinas production facility for the production of heavy forged and machined parts. In 1986, we 
initiated a new production line for front axle parts in our Jundiaí production facility and created Westport with a view to 
supplying the needs of our customers in the United States. In 1994, Acesita S.A. (currently ArcelorMittall) acquired 100% of 
our shares from our original shareholders. 

In 2002, MTP – Metalúrgica de Tubos de Precisão Ltda., acquired 98.95% of our equity capital. In January 2004, we delisted 
our shares and cancelled our registration with the CVM as a publicly traded company. 

In April 2004, GBrasil became our controlling shareholder. 

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic 10-year supply agreement with Dana. See “— Recent Developments — 
Strategic transaction with Dana.” 
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Additional Information 

Our headquarters are located at Av. São Paulo, nº 479 – Vila Progresso, Jundiaí, State of São Paulo, Brazil. Our telephone 
number at this address is +55 11 4588 1520, and our facsimile number is +55 11 4526 1725. 

Our website address is www.sifco.com.br. Information on our website is not incorporated into this offering circular and 
should not be relied upon in determining whether to make an investment in the notes. 

Production Facilities 

We employ approximately 2,715 employees in our three production facilities, which have a combined production capacity of 
approximately 95,000 tons per year: 

Jundiaí.  Our largest production facility, operational since 1958, is located in Jundiaí, State of São Paulo, Brazil. Our Jundiaí 
facility includes approximately 59,000 m2 of manufacturing, warehouse and office facilities, and the property is 
approximately 137,000 m2 in total size. In our Jundiaí facility, we produce light and intermediate forged and machined parts. 
As of December 31, 2010, we employed 2,166 employees in this production facility, which has a production capacity of 
approximately 47,000 tons per year. This facility also has the capacity to assemble front axles, engine components and 
transmission components for buses and trucks. We expect to cease these assembly activities in the future in connection with 
our Supply Agreement with Dana, following a transition period, pursuant to which these activities will be transferred to 
Dana. 

Campinas.  Our production facility in Campinas, State of São Paulo, operational since 1979, has approximately 11,000 m2 of 
manufacturing, warehouse and office facilities, and the property is approximately 92,000 m2 in total size. We produce heavy 
forged parts in our Campinas facility. As of December 31, 2010, we employed 354 employees in this production facility, 
which has a production capacity of approximately 48,000 tons per year. 

Westport production facilities.  We operate three production facilities in the United States through our wholly-owned 
subsidiary Westport. In our production facility located in Louisville, Kentucky, we perform assembling, machining, 
sequencing and warehousing activities. In our assembly facility located in Roanoke, Virginia, we perform assembling 
activities, and, in our assembly facility located in Avon, Ohio, we develop sequencing activities. These production facilities 
have a combined constructed area of approximately 322,576 m2 and a total area of approximately the same size as their 
constructed area. As of December 31, 2010, we employed 195 employees in these production facilities, which have a 
combined sequencing capacity of approximately 1,986,195 auto parts per year. Our Louisville production facility has an 
annual production capacity of 79,200 knuckles and 29,160 I-beams. 

Logistics 

We, along with our customers, manage a sophisticated logistics platform in an effort to ensure timely delivery of (i) raw 
materials to our facilities, (ii) work-in-process inventory between our facilities and (iii) finished products to our customers. 
Our logistics services are performed directly by our customers and by our affiliate Brasil Logística. We believe this mixed 
logistics platform reduces our freight costs in Brazil as compared to the hiring of third-party transportation companies, allows 
us to meet the needs of our customers and deliver our products in a timely manner, and gives us greater control over the 
delivery of our products. 

The majority of our transportation needs are serviced by Brasil Logística. We rely on Brasil Logística for the transportation 
of parts and products between our two Brazilian production facilities, which are approximately 39 km apart. For example, 
certain heavy forged products we produce in our Campinas facility are machined in our Jundiaí facility. In certain cases, our 
customers in Brazil handle the storage, distribution and transportation of our products using their own logistics capabilities or 
third- party service providers hired by them to perform these logistics services. 

We rely on Westport for the storage and distribution of our products in the United States. Westport hires third-party 
transportation companies to deliver products to our customers in the United States. 

www.sifco.com.br
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Certifications and Awards 

In the past few years, we have received important certifications and awards in acknowledgement of our achievements, the 
quality of our products and the compliance of our products and production processes with our customers’ technical 
requirements, including: (i) QS 9000, (ii) ISO/TS 16949, (iii) ISO 9001 and 14001, (iv) Caterpillar’s Supplier Quality 
Excellence Process – Level Gold in 2010, which is awarded to suppliers who excel in quality management and punctuality in 
the delivery of products, (iv) Iveco’s Qualitas Award in 2009, which is awarded to suppliers who excel in quality and 
(v) awards for merit, performance and quality by Dana, ArvinMeritor, General Motors, Volvo and MAN. 

Products 

We produce forged and machined parts for the automotive industry. We classify as “heavy,” “intermediate” and “light” our 
products weighing more than 60 kg, between 20 kg and 60 kg and less than 20 kg, respectively. Our main products are parts 
used in the front suspension of buses and trucks, transmission components for trucks, buses, light commercial vehicles, cars 
and tractors, and engine components for the automotive industry. We also produce forged products for motorcycles and 
heavy duty machines, such as tractors, harvesters and earthwork machinery. All of these products are produced from steel and 
heat treated with machining processes that are under continuous development. We believe our products comply with the most 
stringent engineering and quality requirements of our domestic and export markets. 

Forged Parts 

Our forged parts consists of I-Beams, knuckles, steering and connection arms, crowns, pinions, axle shafts, rings, gears and 
transmission axles, crankshafts, camshafts and connecting rods. 

I-Beams 

An I-Beam is the basic steel structure used to manufacture front axles. We produce I-Beams for heavy and light commercial 
vehicles in our Jundiaí and Campinas production facilities. I-Beams are forged in 6,300 ton presses and 40 tons/m Beché 
hammers. Our I-Beams are produced in compliance with the technological characteristics required by our customers, which 
are driving factors in the manufacturing process of our I-Beams. We also apply stress tests to our finished I-Beams to 
determine whether these finished products comply with the resistance and endurance requirements of our customers. 

Knuckles 

Knuckles are the basic forging that allows the front wheels of a vehicle to pivot. We produce knuckles for commercial 
vehicles (such as pick-ups) and small, medium and heavy trucks in our Jundiaí production facility. Knuckles are forged in 
6,300 ton presses and subsequently machined in our machining centers. If required by our customers, we apply specific 
treatments during the production process of our forged knuckles, such as induction hardening and rolled burnish for 
increasing resistance to stress after the parts are machined. We also have the capacity to deliver knuckles as an integrated 
arm. 

Steering and connection arms 

Steering and connection arms transmit the steering motion from the driver to the drag link. We produce steering and 
connection arms for commercial vehicles (such as pick-ups) and small, medium and heavy trucks in our Jundiaí production 
facility. Steering and connection arms are forged in presses of 1,600, 2,500 and 4,000 tons and double acting hammers and 
subsequently machined in our machining centers. 
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Crowns 

Crowns transmit motion power generated in the driveshaft to the rear axle. We produce crowns for commercial vehicles (such 
as pick-ups) and small, medium and heavy trucks in our Jundiaí production facility. Crowns are forged in hammers of 4,000 
to 16,000 pounds and presses of 2,500 to 6,300 tons. In the production process of crowns, we take the necessary measures to 
comply with the dimensional, metallurgical and finishing requirements of our customers and apply the “Near Net Shape” 
production procedure, consisting of forging the crown teethes utilizing minimum raw materials for subsequent machining. 
The use of this procedure allows us to use raw materials more efficiently and make the forging and machining processes 
more efficient and competitive. 

Pinions 

The pinion is a gear that, along with the rack, transforms rotational motion to linear motion for the purpose of steering. We 
produce pinions for commercial vehicles (such as pick-ups) and small, medium and heavy trucks in our Jundiaí production 
facility. Pinions are forged in hammers of 2,500 to 8,000 pounds and presses of 1,600 to 4,000 tons. In the production process 
of pinions, we take the necessary measures to comply with the dimensional, metallurgical and finishing requirements of our 
customers. In the production of pinions, if required by our customers or if we deem necessary, we can apply a warm forging 
procedure to optimize the forging process. 

Axle Shafts 

An axle shaft connects the differential and the drive shaft. We produce axle shafts for commercial vehicles, such as pick-ups, 
and small, medium and heavy trucks in our Jundiaí production facility. Axle Shafts are forged in upsetters using a warming 
process with a view to complying with the dimensional, metallurgical and finishing requirements of our customers. 

Rings, gears and transmission axles 

We produce rings, gears and transmission axles for commercial vehicles, such as pick-ups, and small, medium and heavy 
trucks in our Jundiaí production facility. These products are forged in hammers of 2,500 to 16,000 pounds and presses of 600 
to 6,300 tons using a warming process. In the production process of these products, we take the necessary measures to 
comply with the dimensional, metallurgical and finishing requirements of our customers and apply the “Near Net Shape” 
production procedure. The use of this procedure allows us to use raw materials more efficiently and make the forging and 
machining processes more efficient. 

Crankshafts 

The crankshaft translates linear piston motion into rotational motion. We produce crankshafts for heavy and light commercial 
vehicles in our Jundiaí and Campinas production facilities. The crankshaft is a product with a complex geometry, whose 
production requires high levels of expertise in the forging and dynamic balance tooling processes. Our crankshafts are forged 
in hammers of 8,000 to 16,000 pounds and presses of 2,500 to 4,000 tons. We seek to produce crankshafts with a view to 
allowing for a regular distribution of the grain flow of materials and optimize the distribution of stress in each part. 
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Camshafts 

The camshaft drives the opening and closing of the valves, controlling the flow of fuel intake and exhaust. We produce faced 
and centered camshafts for heavy and light commercial vehicles in our Jundiaí and Campinas production facilities. Our 
camshafts are forged in double acting hammers of 8,000 to 16,000 pounds and in counter blow hammers with heights of 32 to 
40 meters and presses of 6,300 tons. 

Connecting rods 

A connecting rod is the device that connects the piston head to the crankshaft. We produce connecting rods for commercial 
vehicles, such as pick-ups, and small, medium and heavy trucks in our Jundiaí and Campinas production facilities. Our 
connecting rods are forged in presses of 4,000 tons. 

Machined Parts 

We produce fully-dressed front axles, which are composed of hub, drum, brake and tie rod with toe-in adjustment, for heavy 
and light commercial vehicles. We believe the painting process we apply to our front axles complies with the most stringent 
specifications of the automotive segment. 

Other Products 

We produce to a lesser extent other products, including hubs, flange bearings and links, at our Campinas and Jundiaí 
production facilities. 

Raw Materials and Suppliers 

The main raw material consumed in our manufacturing and forging processes is hot rolled steel that we purchase in the form 
of bars or rods at market prices. While steel prices fluctuate according to market forces and pricing policies of the major steel 
suppliers in Brazil, historically we have been able to pass nearly 100% of these price fluctuations on to our customers. Our 
management expects that we will continue to be able to pass fluctuations in steel prices on to all of our customers. 

We purchase the steel we use from Ações VillaresS.A., Aço Minas Gerais S.A. and Aços Finos Piratin, all of which are part 
of the Gerdau group, a leading global producer of steel and related products and the largest Brazilian producer of steel. Our 
purchases of steel from these companies accounted for 100% of our steel supply in the year ended December 31, 2010. 

We do not enter into long-term agreements with our suppliers. We do not enter into hedge agreements to protect us against 
the price of the commodities. In the past three years, we have not experienced any material difficulties in obtaining adequate 
supplies of necessary raw materials at satisfactory prices from our suppliers and we expect that we will be able to continue to 
do so in the foreseeable future. 

We also purchase products used in our machining activities, such as machining tools, from Secco Cutting Tools, Sandivk do 
Brasil S.A. and Iscar Brazil Cutting Tools. In addition, we purchase lubricants from Ipiranga, oil from Quaker and abrasive 
products from Saint-Gobain Abrasivos Ltda., Alcar Abrasivos Ltda. and Rei Indústria e Comércio de Abrasivos Ltda. 

In the event we are unable to purchase supplies from any of our current suppliers, we do not believe we will have any 
difficulty to find other sources of supplies at similar prices. 

Production Process 

Our production process begins with the cold shearing or cutting the rolling steel bars in billets. The billets are then 
transported to the furnace for heating. The heated billets are then transported by heat resistant conveyor belts to be forged in 
presses, double action hammers or counter blow hammers, or a combination of this equipment, into the intended design of 
each product. Subsequently, we apply a heat treatment to each forged part in order to harden the final forged products and 
make them more resistant to stress.  
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Following their heat treatment, we perform magnaflux inspections on the forged products for any cracks or discontinuities. If 
necessary, we subsequently machine the forged parts with drilling machines, shaping tools and other machining equipment in 
our machining centers in Jundiaí. Finally, samples of each batch of forged and machined parts are delivered to our quality 
management department for quality control prior to the distribution of those parts to our customers. 

Quality Control 

We adhere to a strict quality management system, or Quality Management System, to manage our raw materials and final 
products, as well as our production process, in an effort to ensure that we meet or exceed the quality standards required by 
our customers in the Brazilian and international automotive industries. Our Quality Management System, which is managed 
by our quality management department, is comprised of a series of quality monitoring procedures performed throughout the 
production chain, including quality tests we run on samples of each batch of our finished product prior to delivery to our 
customers. Our sales, product development, planning and production departments are all connected and coordinated in order 
to improve our production process and provide better services to our customers. The demands of our customers are 
communicated to each of these departments in order to be properly defined and agreed upon. After our product development 
department develops a product, the technical specifications of this product are communicated to the other departments in 
order to be responsive to the respective requirements and deadlines outlined by our customers. Also, any purchase request is 
relayed to each of these departments so as to seek to ensure that products are delivered on or prior to the respective deadlines. 

Additionally, as part of our post-sales activities and further to our products’ warranties, we render specialized technical 
assistance services and permanent technical advisory services to our customers. These services are included at no additional 
charge to our customers. 

Our production process and Quality Management System are regularly audited by our customers and independent quality 
measurement organizations, such as Det Norske Veritas Ltda. (DNV). The results of these audits are reviewed by our Senior 
Management for further implementation to the extent required. 

As a result of our Quality Management System, we obtained ISO 9001 certification in 1993 and ISO TS16949 certification in 
2007, as well as awards from our customers, including “Distinction Supplier” by Dana and ZF Sistemas de Direção and 
Caterpillar’s “Supplier Quality Excellence Process — Level Gold.” 

For additional information on our certificates and awards, see “ — Certifications and Awards.” 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Our headquarters and principal executive offices are located in Jundiaí, State of São Paulo, Brazil. We also have a production 
facility in Campinas. We are taking the necessary measures to regularize the ownership rights of the land where our 
Campinas facility is located. In accordance with the agreements entered into with respect to our strategic transaction with 
Dana, we have agreed to grant Dana a perfected mortgage over our Campinas facility in order to secure our obligations 
towards Dana once the regularization of the ownership rights of our Campinas facility has been concluded. 

Our Jundiaí production facility was acquired by us during the 1950s and 1980s and later transferred to our wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e Participacoes S.A., which was incorporated in 2007. 

Our Brazilian production facilities are equipped with industrial machinery and equipment necessary for the performance of 
our activities. We typically purchase industrial machinery and equipment by means of purchase-money financing and other 
financing transactions. As of December 31, 2010, the total amount of these financings was R$16.8 million. 
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We lease the properties where the Westport facilities in Louisville, Kentucky, Roanoke, Virginia and Avon, Ohio are located. 

We believe that all of our production facilities are in good operating condition. As of December 31, 2010, our consolidated 
net book value of our property, plant and equipment was R$307.7 million. 

As of December 31, 2010, R$78.3 million of our total outstanding indebtedness was secured by certain of our property, land 
and industrial equipment and machinery. 

For more information on our property, plant and equipment, see “Overview — Production Facilities” and note 14 to our 
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, included elsewhere in this offering circular. 

Sales and Distribution 

Sales to end customers of axles, I-beams, arms and knuckles subject to the Supply Agreement with Dana will be made 
directly by Dana’s sales team. Sales of our products outside of the scope of the Supply Agreement with Dana are made 
directly by our internal sales department. As we operate principally in the OEM and Systemist markets, the majority of our 
products are developed to meet our customers’ specific needs for their existing line of products as well as their products 
under development. Our invoices are payable in one installment within a certain period of time following the receipt of 
products by our customers. This period of time varies in accordance with each transaction. 

With respect to sales to our customers in the United States, in addition to Westport’s own products, Westport imports certain 
products from us and resells them to such customers. 

Our main customers for forged and machined parts and other products are MAN, Volvo, Mercedes Benz, Ford, Dana, 
General Motors, Scania, ZF, Caterpillar, Arvin Meritor, Iveco and Eatonn. In February 2011, we entered into a supply 
agreement with Dana under which we will become the sole supplier of front axles to Dana to the Brazilian market and will 
have an ongoing commercial relationship with Dana to market our products both domestically and abroad. See “ — Recent 
Developments — Strategic Transaction with Dana.” 

In Brazil, the transportation of our products sold is performed by Brasil Logística and, in certain cases, directly by our 
customers. Our products are transported on private and government owned highways and ports. See “ — Logistics.” 

Sales of Forged parts 

In 2009 and 2010, our total sales of forged parts were R$128.7 million and R$199.6 million, respectively, which represented 
29.7% and 25.7% of our net revenues, respectively. 

Sales of Machined parts 

In 2009 and 2010, our total sales of machined parts were R$285.8 million and R$556.0 million, respectively, which 
represented 65.8% and 71.5% of our net revenues, respectively. 

Assembly Sales 

In 2009 and 2010, our total assembly sales were R$19.6 million and R$21.8 million, respectively, which represented 4.5% 
and 2.8% of our net revenues, respectively. 
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Foreign Sales 

The table below sets forth the breakdown of our foreign sales by product during the periods indicated: 

 
(in tons except as 

otherwise indicated) 
(in tons except as 

otherwise indicated) 
Products 2009 2010 
Forged parts .......................................................................................  1,069 3,097 
Machined parts...................................................................................  3,650 6,877 
Other products ...................................................................................  — — 
Total (tons) .......................................................................................  4,719 9,974 
Percentage of total tons sold ..............................................................  12.1% 15.5% 
Percentage of total sales.....................................................................  18.5% 12.4% 
Total Foreign Sales (R$ millions) ...................................................  80.4 96.4 

Our main foreign markets are the United States and Europe, representing 69.7% and 21.4%, respectively, of our total foreign 
sales in 2010. 

Competition 

We believe that we are the sole producer and supplier of front axle I-Beams for buses and trucks in South America and, based 
on our market knowledge, that we have an approximately 95% share of the market for the production and supply of 
fully-assembled front axles for buses and trucks in South America. According to Sindipeças, we are the world’s second 
largest producer of front axles for buses and trucks in terms of tons produced. Our main competitors in the export market are 
Bharat Forge in India, Forja de Monterrey in Mexico and Rába Axle in Hungary. We are not aware of any competitors in the 
market for front axles for buses and trucks in South America. 

With respect to our forged and machined products, our main competitors in Brazil are ThyssenKrupp and Cinpal. Based on 
our knowledge of the market, we believe that the Brazilian market for machined and forged products is fragmented. We 
estimate that ThyssenKrupp holds a total market share of 23%, followed closely by us with a 20% market share, Cinpal with 
a 9% market share and other diversified companies with the remaining 48% market share. 

Research & Development 

Suppliers of auto parts operating in the OEM and Systemist markets, like us, are required to obtain specific quality 
certifications from their customers, thereby requiring continued investments in R&D and development of new products. In 
addition, we constantly develop processes and seek technological innovation. For example, we developed together with our 
clients forging tools that permit the production of forged products in a shorter time with the consumption of less steel as 
compared with the traditional forging process. 

As of December 31, 2010, our R&D department was comprised of 12 professionals with average work experience of 10 years 
in our sector. The department is equipped with fatigue test equipment, dimensional, metallurgical and chemical laboratories 
(which can be used for the construction of prototypes, sample approval and product validation according to customer 
specification), all developed and supported by computer-aided design, or CAD, systems. To the extent necessary, we hire 
Brazilian universities and other independent entities for the performance of dynamic tests and engineering analysis on 
products under development. 
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Product development and R&D 

Our R&D department develops forged and machined and assembled products in accordance with particular requests of our 
customers or by our own initiative. Generally, our customers provide us with the intended design and technical requirements 
of the product to be developed. We then present and discuss one or more technical proposals for the product and, if accepted 
by our customer, we initiate the development and production process. 

In addition, and irrespectively of any request by our customers, we often propose to our customers improvements on existing 
products and the creation of new products. Our marketing, sales, product engineering, forging and machining and engineering 
areas work together in the development process. For example, we constantly conduct research to identify alternative materials 
with a view of allowing us to produce products with increased stress resistance and cost savings. Our technicians and labs are 
equipped to develop and test new alternative materials. 

Intellectual Property 

As a company operating in the OEM and Systemist markets, the majority of our products are developed together with our 
customers for use exclusively by them. The development costs associated with these products are factored into the prices we 
charge our customers. If, however, a customer requests us to develop a product or process which requires substantial 
development costs, we enter into specific negotiations with this customers for the sharing of the related costs. 

Our only trademark is “Sifco,” which, as of the date of this offering circular, is in the process of registration with the INPI. 
We cannot assure when such registration will be granted nor whether it will be granted. We have no other registered 
trademarks or trademarks applications under review by the INPI. 

We do not own other trademarks, patents or licenses. 

Material Contracts 

Our principal financial agreements are described in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations — Indebtedness.” We are also a party to certain related party transactions with other companies of the 
GBrasil Group, as described in “Related Party Transactions.” 

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic 10-year supply agreement with Dana. See “ — Recent Developments — 
Strategic Transaction with Dana” for more information. 

Insurance 

We have a risk management program pursuant to which we seek to identify risks and obtain insurance coverage in the market 
compatible with our size and operations. As a result, we presently contract insurance coverage for civil liability and for 
damages resulting from fire, lightning and explosions of any nature. As of December 31, 2010, we had insurance coverage 
against civil liability in the amount of R$7.8 million and against damages resulting from fire, lightning and explosions of any 
nature in the amount of R$46.6 million for our Campinas and Jundiaí production facilities. With respect to Westport, as of 
December 31, 2010, we had insurance coverage for building and personal property in the amount of U.S.$35.8 million and 
for machinery in the amount of U.S.$25.8 million. 

The above coverage was contracted for an amount considered by our management and advised by our insurance consultants 
to be sufficient to cover any casualties, considering the nature of the activity and the risks involved in our operations. We 
believe the amounts covered in our insurance policies are sufficient for a corporation of our size, operating in our business 
and facing the risks associated with our operations. However, we cannot guarantee that the insurance amounts maintained 
will be sufficient to protect us against significant losses, or that our current insurance policies will be renewed upon 
expiration. 
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See note 28 to our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, included elsewhere in this offering 
circular for additional information regarding our insurance coverage. 

Human Resources 

The following table shows the total number of our employees, by production facility, as of December 31, 2010, excluding 
senior management: 

Production Facilities As of December 31, 2010 
Campinas facility ....................................................................................................................... 354 
Jundiaí facility ........................................................................................................................... 2,166 
Westport facilities(1) ................................................................................................................... 195 
Total .......................................................................................................................................... 2,715 

(1) Employees at the Westport facilities are employed directly by Westport. 

Our salary policy emphasizes variable compensation through a profit sharing plan and individual targets, with the objective 
of aligning compensation with our results and the performance of each employee. 

We provide extensive training opportunities to our employees, who have access to courses offered internally and through 
third-party training companies, such as leadership courses, technician courses, labor safety courses, language courses and 
quality control courses. In addition, occupational safety technicians assigned to each of our production facilities monitor 
health and safety conditions of each facility in an effort to comply with applicable labor laws and to seek continued 
improvement of our work environment. We provide medical, dental and life insurance for our employees, as well as meals, 
transportation to work and other benefits required by law. 

In 2009, we invested approximately R$136,000 in the training and development of our employees, R$808,000 in 
occupational safety and R$1,894 thousand in providing meals to our employees. 

As of December 31, 2010, approximately 30.3% of the employees in our Campinas facility were unionized and 
approximately 53.4% of the employees in our Jundiaí facility were unionized. Our Brazilian employees are represented by 
the Union of Metallurgical, Mechanical and Electric Workers of the areas where our industrial complexes are located. We 
have good relationships with the union and have not experienced any material work stoppages as a result of a strike since 
2004. The employees of Westport are not unionized. 

In Brazil, we are party to two collective bargaining agreements with terms of up to two years. These agreements are subject 
to annual review (including annual salary adjustments) typically in September of each year, with respect to our employees in 
our Campinas facility, and November of each year, with respect to our employees in our Jundiaí facility. 

Our employee turnover rate was 2.2%, 1.3% and 1.9% in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. We experienced a 19% increase 
in our total number of employees from December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2010. 

Environmental Matters 

Environmental Regulations 

Brazil has extensive environmental laws and regulations relating to air emissions, effluent discharges, solid wastes, odor and 
reforestation. The Brazilian federal constitution assigns to the Federal Government, the states, the federal district and the 
municipalities the responsibility for environmental protection and preservation of Brazilian fauna and flora. The authority to 
enact laws and issue regulations with respect to environmental protection is exercised concurrently by the Federal 
Government, the states and the  
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municipalities. The municipalities have authority to enact laws and issue regulations only with respect to matters of local 
interest or to supplement federal and state laws. 

Our operations are subject to a broad range of laws and regulations relating to air emissions, wastewater storage, treatment 
and discharges, the use and handling of hazardous or toxic materials, waste disposal practices, the remediation of 
environmental contamination and other aspects of the protection of the environment at our locations. As these laws and 
regulations continue to become more stringent, management expects that we will continue to expend sufficient amounts to 
achieve or maintain ongoing compliance. 

Violation of these laws and regulations can result in substantial fines, administrative sanctions, criminal penalties, 
revocations of operating permits and/or shutdowns of our facilities, not excluding the necessity to redress environmental 
damages. 

We may be required to repair or remediate environmental damage we cause, as well as damage caused by third-party 
subcontractors. Additionally, according to the National Environmental Policy (Law No. 6,938/1981), we could be held 
strictly liable for all of the costs relating to any contamination at our or our predecessors’ current and former facilities and at 
third-party waste disposal sites. Because liability is of a joint nature, the aggrieved party may sue any of the parties 
responsible for the damage to redress such damages. The indemnifying party has recourse against the other parties who 
caused the indemnified damage. 

Permits.  Brazilian law also requires us to obtain from governmental authorities permits, licenses and authorizations to 
construct, install, expand and operate any establishment or activity that may cause pollution, as well as those capable of 
causing any kind of environmental degradation. Violations of such laws and regulations can result in the revocation or 
modification of our licenses, permits and authorizations, as well as administrative sanctions, such as fines that range from 
R$500 to R$10,000,000, among other penalties that might be applied and injunctions for the individuals and entities 
involved. 

In issuing such environmental licenses, the competent governmental authority establishes conditions, restrictions and 
inspection measures applicable to the project, according to environmental laws and administrative regulations, including 
pollution control and environmental management requirements. The relevant state government has jurisdiction in licensing 
facilities to be built within its territory, unless the environmental impacts extend beyond its territory. In such cases, the 
Federal Government has jurisdiction over licensing of the facilities. In addition, municipalities have jurisdiction to license 
enterprises whose impact is only local. In addition to the general guidelines established by the Federal Government, each 
state has the authority to establish specific regulations relating to the environmental licensing procedures maintained under its 
jurisdiction. 

In issuing such environmental licenses, the competent governmental authority establishes conditions, restrictions and 
inspection measures applicable to the project, according to environmental laws and administrative regulations, including 
pollution control and environmental management requirements. The non-compliance with requirements and conditions set 
forth in the environmental licenses may subject the non-compliant entity to the same penalties mentioned above. 

In the state of São Paulo, the entity in charge of environmental licensing and monitoring our compliance with environmental 
regulations is the state of São Paulo Environmental Company (Companhia Ambiental do Estado de São Paulo), or CETESB. 

Disposal of Residues and Hazardous Substances.  Final disposal of residues directly affects both the environment and public 
health. Therefore, Brazilian legislation determines that transportation, management and final disposal of residues must 
neither cause any damage to the environment, nor disturb public health and welfare. Brazilian legislation regulates the 
segregation, collection, storage, transportation, treatment and final disposal of residues and also states that parties outsourcing 
such activities are jointly and severally liable with third party contractors. 
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Pursuant to Federal Decree No. 6,514/2008, non-compliance with administrative rules concerning final disposal of residues, 
which include the disposal at a facility that does not have an environmental license, may subject the non-compliant entity to a 
fine, ranging from to R$5,000 to R$50,000,000, among other types of penalties. The same penalties apply for the producers 
that do not comply with the legal obligation to properly dispose of the packages of the items they either commercialize or 
produce. Typically, the maximum fine is imposed when the improper disposal of residues results in a high environmental risk 
or may cause serious environmental damages. 

Environmental Liability.  Violation of or non-compliance with applicable environmental laws may result in administrative 
and/or criminal administrative liabilities, leading to the application of sanctions, including fines, interdictions and embargoes, 
among others. In addition to criminal and administrative liabilities, the occurrence of environmental damages may result in 
the non-compliant entity being held liable for civil liabilities and the responsibility for repairing the damage or paying 
compensation to the affected parties, irrespective of fault. 

Pursuant to Federal Law No. 6,938/81, civil liability for damages caused to the environment is determined objectively, 
irrespective of fault. Under this strict liability standard, demonstration of a cause and effect relationship between the damage 
caused and an action or inaction suffices to trigger an obligation to redress environmental damage. The fact that a party’s 
operations are supported by environmental licenses does not exclude it from such liability. As a result, our contracting of 
third parties to render services, including, for example, the treatment and final disposal of solid waste, does not release us 
from liability for environmental damages caused by such contractor. 

In addition to civil liability, the Environmental Crimes Act (Federal Law No. 9,605/98) applies to every person, whether an 
individual or legal entity, that commits certain acts deemed damaging to the environment. As a result, upon occurrence of an 
environmental violation, a legal entity’s officer, administrator, director, manager, agent or proxy will also be subject to 
criminal penalties. It should be noted that, with respect to judicial actions, a settlement with respect to civil and 
administrative claims, through redressing the damage, does not prevent prosecution in a criminal action if an environmental 
crime has actually occurred. 

The Environmental Crimes Act was regulated by Federal Decree No. 6,514/2008, with respect to administrative penalties. 
Every action or omission that infringes legal rules pertaining to usage, enjoyment, support, protection and restoration of the 
environment is deemed an administrative violation of an environmental nature, which may be punished by means of a single 
or daily fine, denunciation of work or activity, full or partial suspension of activities, right-restrictive penalty and damage 
redressing, among others. Fines will be applied based on the unit, hectare, cubic meter, kilogram or other applicable measure, 
depending on the damaged property and will vary between R$50 and R$50,000,000. Environmental protection and 
restoration of environmental degradation are the goals of the foregoing legal statutes. Therefore, enforceability of fines 
contemplated by Federal Decree No. 6,514/2008 may be suspended upon signature of a commitment statement approved by 
the appropriate environmental authority whereby the violator undertakes to take specific steps to redress the environmental 
damage. 

Our Environmental Policies 

We have implemented an integrated management system to align our activities with the good practices of environmental 
preservation and social responsibility. We are committed to accident prevention, work ethics, sustainable development and 
environmental preservation. In recognition of our successful environmental policies and procedures, we obtained the 
ISO 14001 Environmental Management certificate in 2003. 

From time to time, we contract third-party consultants to assess our compliance with environmental regulations and our 
environmental policies. 
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Legal Proceedings 

We are party to certain judicial and administrative proceedings related to civil, tax and labor claims arising during the normal 
course of our business. Our provisions for probable losses in judicial and administrative lawsuits based on the opinion of our 
legal advisors amounted to R$0.6 million in relation to civil claims and to R$7.0 million in relation to labor claims. As of 
December 31, 2010, our possible losses in respect to civil claims amounted to approximately R$0.2 million, labor claims 
amounted to approximately R$7.3 million and tax claims amounted to R$41.1 million. As of December 31, 2010, our remote 
losses in respect to civil claims amounted to approximately R$0.9 million, labor claims amounted to approximately 
R$11.3 million and tax claims amounted to R$4.1 million. There is a possibility that Brazilian tax authorities will impose an 
additional fine that may amount to approximately R$4.6 million in the event certain tax offsets we have taken in the past are 
denied. As of December 31, 2010, we had made an aggregate of R$1.8 million in judicial deposits. We believe that, if 
imposed, this fine would be undue and we would have solid grounds to maintain our position against the imposition of this 
fine. As a result, we have not made a provision with respect to these amounts and have not included them in our liabilities. As 
of the date of this offering circular, the tax authorities have not imposed a fine in relation to these offsets. 

We believe that our provisions for judicial and administrative lawsuits are sufficient to cover probable losses. We do not 
believe that any of the lawsuits or individual administrative proceedings currently pending would have any adverse effect on 
our financial position or results of operations if decided unfavorably. In addition, we do not believe that any such unfavorable 
decision would materially affect our activities. 

Tax and Social Security Proceedings 

As of December 31, 2010, we were a party to tax and social security proceedings representing potential liabilities of 
approximately R$68.3 million. There are no provisions for tax and social security lawsuits and proceedings since we treat tax 
contingencies as tax obligations (tax payable debt) in our balance sheets. 

As of December 31, 2010, our possible losses in respect to tax claims amounted to approximately R$41.1 million, and remote 
losses amounted to approximately R$4.1 million. 

Undue ICMS Crediting:  According to Brazilian tax authorities, we credited ourselves with undue ICMS on goods for 
consumption and use of establishment, in violation of applicable tax law. Consequently, we were charged in the amount of 
approximately R$24 million. The first administrative decision maintained the assessment in its entirety. We intend to file an 
appeal seeking to reverse the decision. According to our legal advisors, this liability represents a possible loss to us. 

Offsetting of PIS and COFINS Credits:  We have offset credits relating to the Contribution for the Financing of Social 
Security tax, or COFINS, and Social Integration Program tax, Programa de Integração Social, or PIS, arising out of the 
improper addition of payments of the Tax on the Circulation of Goods and Interstate and Inter-Municipal Transportation and 
Communication Services (Imposto sobre a Circulação de Mercadorias e Serviços), or ICMS, on the taxable basis of PIS and 
COFINS, against PIS and COFINS tax obligations. The administrative decisions ratifying the legitimacy of such offsetting 
are currently pending. These proceedings represent a potential liability of approximately R$11.6 million, which loss has been 
classified by our legal advisors as possible. We have not recorded provisions relating to this proceeding because, regardless 
of the offsetting, the offset amounts are recorded in our financial statements as tax obligations. 

CSLL Obligations:  Brazilian tax authorities are seeking to collect Social Contribution on Net Income tax (Contribuição 
Social Sobre o Lucro Líquido), or CSLL, in the amount of R$12.4 million due to our alleged excessive deductions from the 
taxable basis of this tax. The competent tax authorities issued a decision against us on January 5, 2010. We contested this 
decision as we believe these amounts are being collected twice, since these tax obligations were included in the tax 
installment payment program introduced by Law no. 11,941/2009, or Refis IV. Our legal advisors believe that this liability 
represents a remote loss to us.  



73 
 

Therefore, we have not recorded provisions related to this administrative proceeding. For additional information on Refis IV, 
see “ — Tax Installment Payment Programs — Refis IV” below. 

Additional Payment to SAT:  Brazilian tax authorities are seeking to collect an additional payment of Insurance against 
Accidents at Work (Seguro Contra Acidentes de Trabalho), or SAT, in the amount of R$11.5 million. However, a significant 
part of these tax obligations has already been paid, through an installment payment program. Our legal advisors believe that 
this liability represents a possible loss to us. Therefore, we have not recorded provisions related to this lawsuit. 

Tax and Social Security Credits:  We have also filed certain judicial and administrative proceedings requesting the 
reimbursement or offsetting of tax and social security credits due to overpayment of tax liabilities or credits available under 
certain tax benefits. These credits correspond to approximately R$327.7 million. Our legal advisors are of the opinion that, of 
the total amount of these credits, R$286.2 million represents remote credits, R$22.5 million represents possible credits and 
R$18.3 million represents probable credits. The proceedings involving credits higher than R$10 million are the following: 

Crédito-Prêmio de IPI:  We have filed an administrative proceeding requesting the reimbursement of Crédito-Prêmio de IPI 
(Tax on Industrialized Products) Premium Credits in the amount of R$265.8 million, as of March 2008. The IPI Premium 
Credit was a tax benefit granted to products manufactured in Brazil and destined to export transactions. Our advisors consider 
that the probabilities of such credits being reimbursed or available to offset against other taxes are remote. 

IPI Credits Related to the Acquisition of Raw Materials, Intermediate Products and Packaging Materials:  We also have 
filed certain administrative proceedings seeking the reimbursement of IPI credits arising out of the acquisitions of raw 
materials, intermediate products and packaging materials that were exempt from the IPI, subject to this tax at a zero percent 
rate or in respect of which IPI was suspended. All these proceedings represent potential credits and correspond to 
approximately R$19.6 million, which have been evaluated by our legal advisors as remote credits. 

Offsetting of Social Contributions paid in the period from January 1993 to December 1998:  We have filed a Writ of 
Mandamus aiming to offset social contribution credits derived from payments made to self-employed workers and managers 
during the above-mentioned period against social contributions required to be paid to the National Institute of Social 
Security. We believe that these payments were made based on an unconstitutional legislation. The matter is being reviewed 
by the Brazilian Superior Court of Justice. Our potential credits, corresponding to approximately R$15.4 million, were 
evaluated by our legal advisors as possible credits. 

Reimbursement of late payment fines related to obligations paid in installments:  We have paid ICMS obligations, increased 
by late payment fines and interest, through 60 installments, pursuant to an installment program established by São Paulo State 
legislation. Considering that these payments were made before any tax audit aiming to collect these debts, we understand that 
these payments could be classified as a “spontaneous admission” and, consequently, no late payments fines should be 
charged. Consequently, we have filed a lawsuit requesting the reimbursement of the fines paid. Our right was recognized by a 
final decision of the relevant courts and, currently, we are waiting for the final reimbursement. Our potential credits, 
corresponding to approximately R$10.9 million, were evaluated by our legal advisors as probable credits. 
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Installment Payment Programs 

Refis IV 

We opted for the inclusion of tax obligations amounting to approximately R$286.8 million in Refis IV, pursuant to which 
certain of our tax liabilities may be paid in up to 180 monthly installments with penalty and interest reductions. Currently, we 
are paying monthly installments corresponding to R$542,601.45. However, our tax liabilities may be updated by the 
Brazilian Federal Revenue Service and by the Office of the Attorney General of the National Treasury, whenever applicable, 
and the value of our monthly installments may be adjusted. We estimate that, after the application of all interest and penalty 
reductions stated by the Refis IV regulations, we will have an outstanding balance corresponding to approximately 
R$145 million. This amount is recorded as a provision in our consolidated balance sheet. In addition, we have assets 
corresponding to approximately R$95 million that were offered as guarantee for the payment of part of the tax obligations 
included in the Refis IV. 

Other Relevant Installment Payment Programs 

Besides the tax obligations included in Refis IV, we have an estimated outstanding balance of approximately R$29.6 million 
related to tax obligations that were included in other installment payment programs. The most relevant obligations are the 
following: 

ICMS Obligations:  We have outstanding balances corresponding to R$1.4 million and R$9.0 million to be paid, respectively, 
not later than December 2011 and September 2017. Currently, we are paying monthly installments in the total amount of 
approximately R$153,000. We also have requested the payment of ICMS obligations in the amount of R$1.4 million and 
R$2 million, respectively, in 60 and 24 monthly installments and are waiting for the approval of the competent tax 
authorities. The request regarding the obligation in the amount of R$2 million was approved and must be paid not later than 
January 2013. As for the obligation in the amount of R$1.4 million, this request was denied by tax authorities and we are 
analyzing the possibility of requesting the payment of the debt in 12 monthly installments. 

IRRF, PIS and COFINS Obligation:  We have an outstanding balance of IRRF, PIS and COFINS debts corresponding to 
approximately R$11.1 million to be paid not later than the last quarter of 2015. We are paying monthly installments of 
approximately R$0.2 million related to these obligations. 

Labor Proceedings 

As of December 31 2010, we were a defendant in 211 labor lawsuits, arising from claims for overtime payment, moral and 
physical damages related to labor related accidents and hazardous or unhealthy work environment among others. There are 
20 claims in which the parties have reached a settlement and we are in the process of processing the payments. The total 
amount involved in these 211 claims is approximately R$7.3 million, considered as possible losses, and R$11.3 million, 
considered as remote losses. As of December 31 2010, our provision for labor lawsuits amounted to approximately 
R$7.0 million. 

Civil Proceedings 

As of December 31, 2010, we were a defendant in 10 lawsuits involving civil issues. There are six claims in which the parties 
have reached a settlement and we are in the process of processing the payments. As of December 31, 2010, our provision for 
civil lawsuits amounted to approximately R$0.6 million. The main claims arising from the civil lawsuits are for 
indemnification for damages to workers’ health, such as loss of hearing. 

As of December 31, 2010, our possible losses in respect to civil claims amounted to approximately R$0.2 million and remote 
losses amounted to approximately R$0.9 million. 

Environmental Proceedings 

As of December 31, 2010, we were not party to any proceedings involving environmental issues that are considered to be 
relevant by us. 

See note 18 to our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, included elsewhere in this offering 
circular, for additional information regarding our contingencies. 
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Management 

We are managed by a board of directors and a board of executive officers. In addition, our by-laws also provide for the 
establishment of a non-permanent fiscal committee. 

Board of Directors 

In accordance with our by-laws, our board of directors is composed of a minimum of three and a maximum of five members, 
each of whom must be a shareholder and a resident of Brazil, although there is no minimum share ownership requirement for 
a person to be appointed to our board of directors. Members of our board of directors are elected at a general shareholders’ 
meeting for a three-year term and may be reelected. Currently, our board of directors consists of five members. 

Pursuant to the Brazilian Corporate Law, our board of directors is also in charge of appointing our independent auditors. 
Further, under the Brazilian Corporate Law, members of our board of directors may not vote on any matter or intervene in 
any transaction that presents a conflict of interest between us and that board member. 

We do not believe there exists any conflict of interest between the members of our board of directors and their private 
interests. 

The table set forth below presents the name, title, date of election and age of the current members of our board of directors. 

Name Title Date of Election Age 
Ozires Silva Chairman February 22, 2011 80 
Sebastião Luis Pereira de Lima Director February 22, 2011 53 
Eudes M. R. P. J. de Orleans e Bragança Director February 22, 2011 71 
Arnaldo Bueno Silva Director February 22, 2011 57 
Luiz Henrique Mascarenhas Corrêa Silva Director February 22, 2011 57 

The address of the members of our board of directors is the same as our address: Av. São Paulo, nº 479 – Vila Progresso, 
Jundiaí, State of São Paulo, Brazil. 

The following is a summary of the professional experience, areas of expertise and principal business interests of each of our 
current directors. 

Ozires Silva.  Mr. Silva is currently the chairman of Sifco’s board of directors. Mr. Silva has a bachelor’s degree in 
engineering from Instituto Tecnológico da Aeronáutica, São Paulo, and a graduate degree in aeronautics from the California 
Institute of Technology. His professional experience includes positions as chief executive officer of Petrobras – Petróleo 
Brasileiro S.A., one of the leaders in the founding of Embraer – Empresa Brasileira de Aeronáutica S.A., Minister of 
Infrastructure of Brazil and chief executive officer of Varig S.A. 

Sebastião Luis Pereira de Lima.  Mr. Lima is currently a director of Sifco. Mr. Lima has a bachelor’s degree in law from 
Universidade Presbiteriana Mackenzie, São Paulo. His professional experience includes positions as consultant, manager of 
Metalúrgica de Tubos de Precisão Ltda. and manager of GBrasil and Tubrasil. 

Eudes Maria Regnier Pedro José de Orleans e Bragança.  Mr. Bragança is currently a director of Sifco. Mr. Bragança has a 
bachelor’s degree from Escola de Submarinos para Oficiais, Rio de Janeiro. He also has a graduate degree in economics 
from Fundação Getúlio Vargas, Rio de Janeiro, and in economics/capital  
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markets from New York University. His professional experience includes positions as vice-president of the Foreign Chamber 
of Commerce Federation and the Thailand Chamber of Rio de Janeiro and member of the superior board of the Chinese 
Chamber of Rio de Janeiro, as well as consultant of GBrasil. 

Arnaldo Bueno Silva.  Mr. Silva is currently a director of Sifco. Mr. Silva has a bachelor’s degree in engineering from 
Faculdade de Engenharia São José dos Campos, São Paulo. His professional experience includes positions as commercial 
representative of Hills S.A., consultant and commercial representative of Construtora CEC Ltda., and manager of Tulipa 
Investimentos e Participações Ltda. and Arsel Empreendimentos e Construções Ltda. 

Luiz Henrique Mascarenhas Corrêa Silva.  Mr. Silva is currently a director of Sifco. Mr. Silva has a bachelor’s degree in 
economics from Universidade Cândido Mendes, Rio de Janeiro. He holds a masters of business administration from Centro 
de Estudos Empresariais – Universidade Candido Mendes, Rio de Janeiro and a masters of business administration from 
Fundação Getúlio Vargas , Rio de Janeiro. He also holds a masters in economics and finance from Université Catholique de 
Louvain, Belgium. His professional experience includes positions as chief financial officer of Banco Nordeste do Brasil S.A., 
member of the capital markets department, structuring products department, distribution department and projects department 
of Banco do Brasil S.A. and senior analyst of Previ – Caixa de Previdência dos Funcionários do Banco do Brasil. 

Board of Executive Officers 

Our executive officers are principally responsible for the day-to-day management of our business and for implementing the 
general policies and guidelines established by our board of directors. 

The Brazilian Corporate Law dictates that executive officers must reside in Brazil, and they may or may not be shareholders. 
Additionally, up to one-third of the members of a company’s board of directors may also serve as executive officers. 

Pursuant to our by-laws, our board of executive officers must be composed of at least two and at most five executive officers 
elected by our board of directors, who will serve for a three-year term and may be reelected for subsequent terms. Our board 
of executive officers is currently comprised of four members. 

We do not believe there exists any conflict of interest between the members of our board of executive officers and their 
private interests. 

The table set forth below presents the name, title, date of election and age of each of our executive officers. 

Name Title Date of Election Age 
Rubens Gomes Ribeiro Chief Executive Officer March 24, 2010 55 
Reinaldo F. de Campos Moreira Investor Relations Officer November 12, 2009 54 
Laércio Cavallari Sales and Engineering Officer March 24, 2010 51 
José Roberto Fiorante Bragato Administrative Officer January 24, 2011 56 

The address of the members of our board of executive officers is the same as our address: Av. São Paulo, nº 479 – Vila 
Progresso, Jundiaí, State of São Paulo, Brazil. 

The following is a summary of the professional experience, areas of expertises and principal business interests of each of our 
current executive officers. 
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Rubens Gomes Ribeiro.  Mr. Ribeiro is currently the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Ribeiro has a bachelor’s 
degree in business administration from Faculdade Padre Anchieta, São Paulo. He also has a graduate degree in materials 
management from Fundação Getúlio Vargas, São Paulo, and a specialization degree in financial administration from 
Universidade de São Paulo. His professional experience includes several positions at Sifco, such as chief commercial officer 
and sales manager. 

Reinaldo Ferraz de Campos Moreira.  Mr. Moreira is currently the investor relations officer of the Company. Mr. Moreira 
has a bachelor’s degree in economics and public relations from Faculdades Metropolitanas Unidas, São Paulo. His 
professional experience includes several positions at Sifco, such as financial manager and senior auditor. 

Laércio Cavallari.  Mr. Cavallari is currently the sales and engineering officer of the Company. Mr. Cavallari has a 
bachelor’s degree in public relations from Universidade Católica de Campinas, and holds a masters of business 
administration in marketing from Fundação Getúlio Vargas, Rio de Janeiro. His professional experience includes several 
positions at Sifco, such as chief commercial officer and specialist in domestic market sales. 

José Roberto Fiorante Bragato.  Mr. Bragato is currently the administrative officer of the Company. Mr. Bragato has a 
bachelor’s degree in systems analysis from Pontifícia Universidade Católica de Campinas. He also has a graduate degree in 
corporate administration from Faculdade Padre Anchieta, São Paulo, and holds a masters of business administration in 
financial management from Fundação Getúlio Vargas, São Paulo. His professional experience includes positions at Sifco, 
such as administrative superintendent and assistant of the presidency, and project manager of Sonda Procwork and 
technology manager of Krupp. 

Management Compensation 

Pursuant to the Brazilian Corporate Law, our shareholders must set annually the total compensation for the members of our 
board of directors and our executive officers. Our board of directors, in turn, must decide on the distribution of that amount 
among its members and the executive officers. 

As approved at the meeting of our shareholders held on November 30, 2009, the annual compensation agreed to be paid to 
the members of our board of executive officers and board of directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 was 
R$6.0 million. We currently do not have a stock option plan. 

Fiscal Committee 

Pursuant to the Brazilian Corporate Law, the fiscal committee is a body that is independent from our management and 
external auditors. The principal responsibility of the fiscal committee is to review the acts and records of management, 
analyze our financial statements and report their findings to the shareholders. 

Our fiscal committee is not a permanent body. Pursuant to our by-laws, when established, our fiscal committee will be 
composed of three to five members, and an equal number of alternates. Persons elected to the fiscal committee must be 
residents of Brazil, but do not have to be shareholders. 

Our fiscal committee may be established at a general shareholders’ meeting and will remain in office until the first general 
shareholders’ meeting following its establishment. The request for the establishment of the fiscal committee may be made at 
any general shareholders’ meeting. 

In addition, the Brazilian Corporate Law requires that the members of the fiscal committee receive compensation of at least 
10% of the average compensation paid to executive officers, excluding benefits, out-of-pocket expenses and profit sharing. 
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Principal Shareholder 

As of the date of this offering circular, our outstanding capital stock amounted to R$105.0 million, fully subscribed and paid-
in, represented by 50,000,000 common shares and 50,000,000 preferred shares. Our controlling shareholder is GBrasil, which 
holds 99.99% of our outstanding capital stock, or 50,000,000 common shares and 49,999,895 preferred shares. GBrasil is 
controlled by Brascom, which holds 77.0% of GBrasil’s outstanding capital stock, while the remaining shares issued by 
GBrasil are held by Sebastião Luis Pereira de Lima (17.25%) and Antonio Carlos Haddad (5.75%). Brascom’s capital stock, 
in turn, is held by Sebastião Luis Pereira de Lima (55.87%), Brascom Fiduciary Management Corp., or Brascom Corp. 
(25.50%), and Antonio Carlos Haddad (18.63%). 

Brascom Corp. is controlled by Sebastião Luis Pereira de Lima, who holds 73.71% of Brascom Corp’s outstanding capital 
stock, and Antônio Campello Haddad Filho, who holds 24.57% of Brascom Corp’s outstanding capital stock. 

Brazilian Corporate Law sets forth that shareholders, officers or directors must abstain from voting with respect to the 
following matters, as applicable: (1) appraisal reports related to assets contributed by a shareholder in exchange for an 
issuance of capital stock; (2) approval of our financial statements; and (3) any issues that may particularly benefit the 
shareholder, officer or director in question or that may create a conflict of interest with the company. 
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Related Party Transactions 

We have from time to time provided intercompany loans to GBrasil and other subsidiaries of GBrasil and Brascom. Loans to 
the subsidiaries of GBrasil currently accrue interest at the Certificate of Interbank Deposits, or CDI, rate. Loans to other 
affiliates that are not subsidiaries of GBrasil accrue interest at the CDI (Certificate of Interbank Deposits) rate plus 0.5% per 
month. As of December 31, 2010, the aggregate balance of loans provided by us to related parties amounted to 
R$379.8 million. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for more 
details concerning these loans. 

In addition, as of December 31, 2010, we had guaranteed related party debt totaling R$130.1 million and we had recorded 
provisions of R$1.7 million in respect of R$85.9 million of this amount. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources” for more information concerning these 
guarantees. 

Furthermore, we also contract consulting services from directors, officers and employees of certain of our affiliates, and we 
enter into transactions whereby certain of our affiliates provide logistics and logistics consulting services to us. 

We may engage in certain other related party transactions with GBrasil or other subsidiaries or affiliates of GBrasil on 
arms’-length terms from time to time. The terms and conditions of the notes limit the aggregate principal amount of loans we 
may extend to our affiliates. See “Description of the Notes.” 

For more information concerning our related party transactions, see note 20 to our financial statements as of and for the years 
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, included elsewhere in this offering circular. 
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Description of the Notes 

This description of notes is intended to be an overview of the material provisions of the Notes and the Indenture. This 
description of notes is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the provisions of the 
Indenture, the Notes and the applicable Final Terms. Copies of the Indenture and specimen Notes may be obtained upon 
request to the Trustee or the paying agents at the addresses set forth under “Listing and General Information.” We urge you 
to the read the Indenture because it, and not this description, defines your rights as Noteholders. You can find the definitions 
of certain terms used in this description under “ — Certain Definitions.” Certain defined terms used in this description but 
not defined in “ — Certain Definitions” have the meaning assigned to them in the Indenture. 

For purposes of this section of the offering circular, references to the “Issuer” refer only to Sifco S.A. and not to its 
Subsidiaries. 

General 

Sifco S.A. (the “Issuer”) has duly authorized the issuance from time to time of Notes (the “Notes”) under a medium term note 
program (the “Program”) in a maximum aggregate principal or face amount of U.S.$300 million or the equivalent thereof, 
calculated in accordance herewith, in other currencies or currency units, pursuant to an indenture to be dated as of May 27, 
2011 (the “Indenture”), among the Issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the “Trustee”), registrar (the 
“Registrar”), New York paying agent (the “New York Paying Agent”) and transfer agent (the “Transfer Agent”), The Bank 
of New York Mellon Trust (Japan), Ltd., as principal paying agent (the “Principal Paying Agent”), and The Bank of New 
York Mellon, acting through its London Branch, as London paying agent (the “London Paying Agent,” and, together with the 
New York Paying Agent, the Principal Paying Agent and any other paying agent appointed pursuant to the Indenture, the 
“Paying Agents”). 

The Notes shall be issued in one or more series (each a “Series”) on one or more dates. Each Note shall be dated the date of 
its authentication. The Notes shall be issued in a specified currency, including, without limitation, U.S. dollars, Canadian 
dollars, Euros, English pounds, Japanese yen, Swiss francs or such other currency or currencies as may be agreed among the 
Issuer, the relevant Dealer or Dealers of an issue and the Trustee, subject to compliance with all applicable legal or regulatory 
requirements, and indicated in the applicable Final Terms, as defined below (the “Specified Currency”). The Notes will be 
issued with maturities of one month or more from their date of issue, subject to all legal and regulatory requirements 
applicable to the Issuer or the Specified Currency, and in each case as specified in the final terms (the “Final Terms”) relating 
to such Series. 

Form of Notes 

Each Regulation S Global Note and Unrestricted Global Note of a Series to be issued under the Indenture shall be in fully 
registered form without coupons with such legends as may be applicable thereto, duly executed by the Issuer and 
authenticated by the Trustee in the manner set forth in the Indenture, for credit on the relevant Issue Date to the accounts of 
the Dealer(s) at the Depositary or such other account(s) as the Dealer(s) may direct. Until the expiration of 40 days after the 
completion of the distribution of all of the Notes of the relevant Series, as determined by the Dealer(s) (and notified in 
writing by the Lead Manager to the Trustee), (the “Restricted Period”), interests in a Regulation S Global Note that is a DTC 
Global Note may only be held by the agent members of Euroclear and Clearstream as participants in DTC, unless transfer 
and delivery of such interest is made for an interest in the Rule 144A Global Note in accordance with the certification 
requirements set forth in the Indenture. 

Each Rule 144A Global Note issued under the Indenture shall be in fully registered form without coupons, with such legends 
as may be applicable thereto, duly executed by the Issuer and authenticated by the  
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Trustee in the manner set forth in the Indenture, for credit on the relevant Issue Date to the account(s) of the Dealer(s) at DTC 
or such other account(s) as the Dealer(s) may direct. 

Interests in a Global Note will not be exchangeable for Definitive Notes except in the limited circumstances described in the 
Indenture. 

Title 

Title to the Notes shall pass only by registration in the Register. 

Transfer and Exchange 

A Noteholder may transfer or exchange the Notes in accordance with the Indenture. The Registrar, the Transfer Agent and 
the Trustee may require a Noteholder to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents in connection with a 
transfer of the Notes. Noteholders will be required to pay all taxes due on transfer. The Issuer will not be required to transfer 
or exchange any Note selected for redemption. For more information about restrictions on transfers of the Notes, see 
“Transfer Restrictions.” 

Further Issues 

If specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer reserves the right, with respect to any Series of Notes, from time to time 
without the consent of the Holders of such Notes, to issue additional Notes of a Series so that the same shall be consolidated 
with, form a single Series with, and increase the aggregate principal amount of, such Series of Notes. 

Ranking 

The Notes, to the extent not secured by any collateral, will constitute direct, unsecured and unconditional obligations of the 
Issuer and will rank at least pari passu in priority of payment with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated 
Indebtedness of the Issuer, save only for such obligations of the Issuer as may be preferred by mandatory provisions of 
applicable law. 

Payments 

In order to provide for the payment of principal of and interest (including Additional Amounts) on any Series of Notes as the 
same shall become due and payable, the Issuer has agreed to, and the Issuer shall, deposit with the Principal Paying Agent in 
immediately available funds a sum sufficient to pay such payment of principal of and interest (including Additional 
Amounts) by 10:00 a.m. in the relevant principal financial center of the country issuing the Specified Currency, on the 
Business Day immediately preceding each Fixed Interest Payment Date or Maturity Date of the Notes or any date fixed for 
redemption of the Notes or before each date on which a payment of any Additional Amounts or any other amounts on the 
Notes shall become due pursuant to the Conditions and the applicable Final Terms (each a “Payment Date”), an amount in 
immediately available funds in the Specified Currency in which such Notes are denominated, which (together with any 
amounts then held by the Principal Paying Agent and available for that purpose) shall be sufficient to pay the entire amount 
of principal of or interest (including any Additional Amounts) on or redemption amount becoming due on such Payment Date 
with respect to the Notes to such account with such bank as the Principal Paying Agent may, by notice to the Issuer, have 
specified for that purpose. 

If all amounts to be provided by the Issuer with respect to a Payment Date are not received by the Principal Paying Agent by 
12:00 a.m. in the principal financial center of the country issuing the Specified Currency, on the date (as specified herein) that 
such amounts are to be provided by the Issuer with respect to such Payment Date, the Principal Paying Agent shall not be 
bound to make any payments on such Payment Date. 
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The Issuer will cause the bank through which any payment on the Notes is made to deliver to the Principal Paying Agent by 
10:00 a.m. in the principal financial center of the country issuing the Specified Currency, two Business Days prior to the date 
(as specified herein) that amounts are to be provided by the Issuer with respect to any Payment Date, irrevocable 
confirmation (by authenticated Swift MT 103 Message) of its intention to make such payment. The Principal Paying Agent 
shall not be bound to make payment until it has confirmed that it has received immediately available funds from the Issuer. 

Payments of principal and of interest (including Additional Amounts) on the Notes shall be made in the manner set forth in 
the Indenture and in the Notes. 

If any Payment Date shall be a day which is not a Business Day, then the relevant payment need not be made on such date 
but may be made on the next Business Day, with the same force and effect as if made on the date for such payment, and no 
interest shall accrue for the period from and after such date. 

Interest 

Each Fixed Rate Note shall bear interest from and including the Issue Date or the Interest Commencement Date, if different 
from the Issue Date, at the Fixed Rate of Interest per annum specified in the applicable Final Terms, payable in arrears on the 
Fixed Interest Payment Date(s) in each year and on the Maturity Date so specified if such Maturity Date does not fall on a 
Fixed Interest Payment Date. The first payment of interest will be made on the Fixed Interest Payment Date next following 
the Issue Date or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, and, if the Issue Date or the Interest Commencement 
Date, as the case may be, is not a Fixed Interest Payment Date, the first payment of interest will amount to the Initial Interest 
Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms. If the Maturity Date is not a Fixed Interest Payment Date, interest from and 
including the immediately preceding Fixed Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be) 
to but excluding the Maturity Date will amount to the Final Interest Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms. If 
interest is required to be computed for a period of other than a full year, such interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360-
day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each (or such other basis as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) and, 
in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed but not more than 30 days in a month. 

Where a Zero Coupon Note becomes due and payable prior to the Maturity Date, the amount due and payable shall be the 
Amortized Face Amount of such Note as determined by the Issuer and notified to the Trustee in writing in accordance with 
the Conditions. 

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note (or, in the case of the redemption of only part of a Note, that part of such Note) on 
the due date for redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or 
refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue (to the extent permitted by law after as well as before any judgment) 
until whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on 
behalf of the Holder of such Note, and (b) the day on which the relevant Paying Agent has notified the Holder thereof of 
receipt of all sums due in respect thereof up to that date 

Additional Amounts 

All payments by the Issuer in respect of any Notes will be made free and clear of any present or future withholding for or an 
account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or 
levied by or on behalf of Brazil or by or within any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein having power to tax 
(“Taxes”). The Issuer will pay such additional amounts (“Additional Amounts”) in respect of Taxes as will result in the 
payment to Holders of the Notes of the amounts that would otherwise have been receivable by them in respect of payments 
on  
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such Notes in the absence of such withholding or deduction, except that no such Additional Amounts shall be payable: 

(a) to or on behalf of a Holder or beneficial owner of a Note that is liable for Taxes in respect of such Note reason of its 
having some present or former connection with a jurisdiction (or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or 
therein) otherwise than by the mere holding or owning of such Note or the receipt of any income or payments with respect 
thereto; 

(b) to or on behalf of a Holder of a Note in respect of Taxes that would not have been imposed but for the failure of 
such Holder to present a Note for payment (where presentation is required) more than 30 days after the relevant payment is 
first made available for payment to the Holder; or 

(c) to or on behalf of a Holder of a Note in respect of Taxes that would not have been imposed but for the failure of 
such Holder or beneficial owner to comply with any certification, identification or other reporting requirements concerning 
the nationality, residence, identity or connection with Brazil of the Holder if (i) such compliance is required or imposed by 
law as a precondition to exemption from all or a part of such tax, duty, assessment or other governmental charge and (ii) at 
least 30 days prior to the date on which the Issuer shall apply this clause (c), the Issuer shall have notified all Holders of 
Notes that some or all Holders of Notes shall be required to comply with such requirement. 

Additionally, the obligation of the Issuer to pay Additional Amounts shall not apply with respect to (i) any estate, inheritance, 
gift, sales, transfer or personal property tax or any similar taxes, duties, assessments or other charges; (ii) any taxes, duties, 
assessments or other governmental charges that are payable otherwise than by deduction or withholding from payments on 
the Notes; (iii) any withholding or deduction imposed on a payment to an individual and that is required to be made pursuant 
to any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, any European Union Directive on the 
taxation of savings or (iv) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which would have been avoided by a Holder 
presenting the relevant Note (if presentation is required) or requesting that such payment be made to another Paying Agent in 
a member state of the European Union. 

The Issuer will provide the Trustee with documentation evidencing the payment of Taxes. Copies of such documentation will 
be made available to any Holder of a Note or any Paying Agent, as applicable, upon written request therefor. 

Covenants 

Payment of Notes 

The Issuer shall deposit with the Principal Paying Agent in immediately available funds a sum sufficient to pay such payment 
of principal of and interest (including Additional Amounts) by 10:00 a.m. in the relevant principal financial center of the 
country issuing the Specified Currency, on the Business Day immediately preceding each Payment Date, an amount in 
immediately available funds in the currency in which such Notes are denominated, which (together with any amounts then 
held by the Principal Paying Agent and available for that purpose) shall be sufficient to pay the entire amount of principal of 
or interest (including any Additional Amounts) on or redemption amount becoming due on such Payment Date with respect 
to the Notes to such account with such bank as the Principal Paying Agent may, by notice to the Issuer, have specified for 
that purpose. Subject the Conditions, the Issuer may, to the extent it is required to do so by law, deduct or withhold income or 
other similar taxes imposed by Brazil from principal or interest payments hereunder. 
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Maintenance of Corporate Existence 

The Issuer will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain in effect its respective corporate existence (except for any 
discontinuance of corporate existence arising out of the merger of any Subsidiary of the Issuer into the Issuer or any other 
entity controlled by the Issuer) (subject to the Issuer’s ability to consummate certain transactions as described below under 
“ — Consolidation, Merger Conveyance, Sale or Lease”) and all registrations necessary therefor and take all actions to 
maintain all rights, privileges, titles to property, franchises and the like necessary for or required in connection with the 
normal conduct of the Issuer’s consolidated business, activities or operations, provided that neither the Issuer nor its 
Subsidiaries shall be prevented from dissolving one or more Subsidiaries, discontinuing those operations or suspending the 
maintenance of those properties which, in the reasonable judgment of the Issuer as evidenced by a Board Resolution, are no 
longer necessary or useful in the conduct of the Issuer’s business, or that of its Subsidiaries; and provided, further, that such 
dissolution or discontinuation of operations or maintenance shall not be materially disadvantageous to the Holders of the 
Notes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer’s obligation to maintain the corporate existence of a Subsidiary pursuant to 
this covenant will immediately cease when such entity is no longer a Subsidiary of the Issuer. 

Compliance with Laws 

The Issuer will use its best efforts, and will cause its Subsidiaries to use their respective best efforts, to comply at all times 
with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, orders and directives of any government authority having jurisdiction over it, its 
business or any of the transactions contemplated herein. 

Maintenance of Government Approvals 

The Issuer will use its best efforts, and will cause its Subsidiaries to use their respective best efforts, to obtain and maintain in 
full force and effect all governmental approvals, consents or licenses of any government authority or any third party under the 
laws of Brazil or any other jurisdiction having jurisdiction over the Issuer or its Subsidiaries, in all cases which are necessary 
for the Issuer to perform its obligations under the Notes or the Indenture entered into in connection with the issuance of the 
Notes (including, without limitation, any authorization required to obtain and transfer U.S. dollars or any other currency out 
of Brazil in connection with the Notes and the Indenture) or for the validity or enforceability thereof. 

Payments of Taxes and Other Claims 

The Issuer will use its best efforts, and will cause its Subsidiaries to use their respective best efforts, to pay or discharge or 
cause to be paid or discharged, before the same shall become delinquent, (i) all taxes, assessments and governmental charges 
levied or imposed upon the Issuer or any Subsidiary, as the case may be, and (ii) all lawful claims for labor which, if unpaid, 
would by law become a lien upon the property of the Issuer or any such Subsidiary, as the case may be; provided that neither 
the Issuer nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to pay or discharge or cause to be paid or discharged any such tax, 
assessment, charge or claim for which appropriate reserves as required by relevant and generally accepted accounting 
standards have been made and whose amount, applicability or validity is being contested in good faith and, if appropriate, by 
appropriate legal proceedings. 

Maintenance of Books and Records 

The Issuer shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain books, accounts and records in all material respects as 
required by applicable law. 

Maintenance of Process Agent 

The Issuer shall maintain an agent for service of process in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, where notices 
to and demands upon the Issuer in respect of the Indenture and the Notes may be served. Initially this agent will be 
Corporation Service Company, and the Issuer will agree not to change the designation of such agent without prior notice to 
the Trustee and designation of a replacement agent in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York. 
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Notice of Breach 

The Issuer will give notice to the Trustee as soon as is practicable, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, after any 
of its Authorized Officers becomes aware of the occurrence of any breach of the terms of the Indenture accompanied by an 
Authorized Officer’s Certificate setting forth the details of such breach and stating what action the Issuer proposes to take 
with respect thereto. 

Certificate of Compliance 

The Issuer will provide the Trustee, at the time the Issuer provides the Trustee with its annual financial statements, and in any 
event not later than one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of the Issuer’s fiscal year, which currently ends 
December 31, an Authorized Officer’s Certificate in English certifying that up to a specified date no earlier than seven 
(7) days prior to the date of such certificate, the Issuer has complied with its obligations under the Notes and the Indenture 
(or, if such is not the case, giving the details of the circumstances of such non-compliance) and that as of such date there did 
not exist any Default under the Notes or the Indenture. Such compliance shall be determined without regard to notice 
requirements or grace periods. The Issuer shall notify the Trustee in writing if it elects to change its fiscal year. 

Negative Pledge 

The Issuer will not and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, create, incur, assume or otherwise cause or suffer to exist or 
become effective any Lien of any kind (other than Permitted Liens) securing Indebtedness upon any of their property or 
assets, now owned or hereafter acquired, unless all payments due under the Indenture and the Notes are secured on an equal 
and ratable basis with the obligations so secured until such time as such obligations are no longer secured by a Lien. 

Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Subsidiaries 

The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create or permit to exist or become 
effective any consensual encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any Subsidiary to: 

(1) pay dividends or make any other distributions on its capital stock to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, or with 
respect to any other interest or participation in, or measured by, its profits, or pay any Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or any 
of its Subsidiaries; 

(2) make loans or advances to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; or 

(3) sell, lease or transfer any of its properties or assets to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the preceding restrictions will not apply to encumbrances or restrictions existing under or by 
reason of: 

(1) agreements governing existing Indebtedness or any other agreement as in effect on the date of the Indenture and any 
amendments, restatements, modifications, renewals, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings of those 
agreements; provided that the amendments, restatements, modifications, renewals, supplements, refundings, replacements or 
refinancings are not materially more restrictive, taken as a whole, with respect to such dividend and other payment 
restrictions than those contained in those agreements on the date of the Indenture; 

(2) the Indenture and the Notes; 

(3) customary restrictions on the assignment, subletting or transfer of any property or asset in leases and licenses 
entered into in the ordinary course of business; 
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(4) any agreement for the sale or other disposition of a Subsidiary that restricts distributions by that Subsidiary pending 
the sale or other disposition; 

(5) applicable law or governmental rule, regulation or order; 

(6) any transfer of, agreement to transfer, option or right with respect to, or Lien on, any property or assets of the Issuer 
or any Subsidiary not otherwise prohibited by the Indenture; 

(7) encumbrances or restrictions on cash or other deposits or net worth which are imposed by customers or suppliers or 
required by insurance, surety or bonding companies, in each case, under contracts entered into in the ordinary course of 
business; 

(8) customary provisions in joint venture agreements and other similar agreements entered into in the ordinary course of 
business and which the Board of Directors of the Issuer determines in good faith will not adversely affect the Issuer’s ability 
to duly and punctually perform its obligations under the Indenture and the Notes; 

(9) restrictions created in connection with any Receivables Transactions that, in the good faith determination of the 
Board of Directors of the Issuer, are necessary or advisable to effect such Receivables Transactions and will not adversely 
affect the Issuer’s ability to duly and punctually perform its obligations under the Indenture and the Notes; 

(10) existing with respect to any person, or to the property or assets of any person, at the time the person is acquired by 
the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, which encumbrances or restrictions (i) are not applicable to any other person or the 
property or assets of any other person and (ii) were not put in place in anticipation of such event, and any extensions, 
renewals, replacements or refinancings of any of the foregoing, provided that the encumbrances and restrictions in the 
extension, renewal, replacement or refinancing are, taken as a whole, no less favorable in any material respect to the Holders 
than the encumbrances or restrictions being extended, renewed, replaced or refinanced; 

(11) arising or agreed to in the ordinary course of business, not relating to any Indebtedness, and that, in the good faith 
determination of the Board of Directors, do not, individually or in the aggregate, detract from the value of property or assets 
in any manner material to the Issuer or any Subsidiary and will not adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to duly and punctually 
perform its obligations under the Indenture and the Notes; and 

(12) Capital Lease Obligations and Indebtedness incurred under clause (b)(iv) of the covenant “— Limitation on 
Indebtedness” that, in each case, impose restrictions on the property purchased or leased of the nature described in clause (3) 
above. 

Limitation on Transactions with Affiliates 

The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any transaction (or series of related transactions) 
with any Affiliates, including any Investment, either directly or indirectly (an “Affiliate Transaction”), unless (i) such 
transaction or series of related transactions are on terms no less favorable to the Issuer or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, 
than those that could have been obtained in a comparable arm’s-length transaction with an unrelated third party; and (ii) the 
Issuer delivers to the Trustee (a) with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving 
aggregate consideration in excess of U.S.$5 million, an Authorized Officer’s Certificate stating that such Affiliate 
Transaction complies with this covenant and that such Affiliate Transaction has been approved by the management of the 
Issuer; and (b) with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate 
consideration in excess of U.S.$15 million, an opinion as to the fairness to the Issuer or such Subsidiary of such Affiliate 
Transaction from a financial point of view issued by an accounting, appraisal or investment banking firm of recognized 
standing. 
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The preceding paragraph will not apply to: 

(1) transactions between or among the Issuer and any Subsidiary or between or among any Subsidiaries; 

(2) Permitted Investments and Restricted Payments that are permitted under paragraph (b) of the Covenant “— 
Limitation on Restricted Payments;” 

(3) any employment, consulting, service or termination agreement or arrangement, or reasonable and customary 
indemnification arrangements, entered into by the Issuer or any Subsidiary with directors, officers and employees of the 
Issuer or any Subsidiary thereof and the payment of compensation to directors, officers and employees of the Issuer or any 
Subsidiary thereof (including amounts paid pursuant to employee benefit plans, employee stock option or similar plans), so 
long as such agreement, arrangement or payment have been approved by the Board of Directors and the reimbursement of (or 
advance of funds to be used for) expenses incurred by directors, officers or employees in the performance of their duties in 
the ordinary course of business; 

(4) any issuance of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer to Affiliates of the Issuer; 

(5) transactions relating to the provision of logistics and logistics consulting services to the Issuer or its Subsidiaries by 
Affiliates of the Issuer; payments of reasonable advisory fees to executive officers of Affiliates of the Issuer in connection 
with corporate transactions or other corporate matters not exceeding at any time U.S.$2 million in the aggregate per annum; 
and the rental to or from Affiliates of the Issuer of real property, in each case in the ordinary course of business and 
consistent with past practice, and 

(6) the existence of, and the performance of obligations of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries under the terms of, any 
agreement to which the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is a party as of or on the date of the Indenture, as these agreements 
may be amended, modified, supplemented, extended or renewed from time to time; provided that any future amendment, 
modification, supplement, extension or renewal entered into after the date of the Indenture will be permitted to the extent that 
its terms are no less favorable in any material respect, taken as a whole, to the Issuer and its Subsidiaries than the terms of the 
agreements in effect on the date of the Indenture, as determined in good faith by the management of the Issuer as certified by 
an Authorized Officer’s Certificate. 

Provision of Financial Statements and Reports 

The Issuer will provide or cause to be provided to the Trustee any financial statements which the Issuer may file with the 
Comissão de Valores Mobiliários, with any other securities or regulatory authority in Brazil or otherwise make available to 
the public in such language or form as such financial statements are prepared. In addition to the foregoing (and without 
duplication), the Issuer will cause to be provided to the Trustee in English (i) as soon as available and in any case within sixty 
(60) calendar days after the end of each fiscal quarter (other than the first quarter of 2011 and the fourth quarter of each fiscal 
year), its unaudited consolidated balance sheet, statement of income, statement of changes in stockholders’ equity and 
statement of cash flows calculated in accordance with Brazilian GAAP or in accordance with such other accounting standards 
as may from time to time be required, (ii) as soon as available in the case of the first quarter of 2011, and (iii) as soon as 
available and in any case within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days after the end of each fiscal year, its audited and 
consolidated balance sheet, statement of income, statement of changes in stockholders’ equity and statement of cash flows 
calculated in accordance with Brazilian GAAP or such other accounting standards as may from time to time be required and 
accompanied by a report thereon by an independent public accountant of recognized international standing. 
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Business Activities 

The Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage in any business other than Permitted Businesses, 
except to such extent as would not be material to the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 

Further Actions 

The Issuer will, at its own cost and expense, satisfy any condition or take any action (including the obtaining or effecting of 
any necessary consent, approval, authorization, exemption, filing, license, order, recording or registration) at any time 
required, as may be necessary or as the Trustee may reasonably request, in accordance with applicable laws and/or 
regulations, to be taken, fulfilled or done in order to (i) enable the Issuer to lawfully enter into, exercise its rights and perform 
and comply with its obligations under the Notes and the Indenture, as the case may be, (ii) ensure that its obligations under 
the Notes and the Indenture are legally binding and enforceable, (iii) make the Notes and the Indenture admissible in 
evidence in the courts of the State of New York or Brazil following Default and (iv) preserve the enforceability of, and 
maintain the Trustee’s rights under, the Notes and the Indenture and (v) respond to any reasonable requests received from the 
Trustee to enable the Trustee to facilitate the Trustee’s exercise of its rights and performance of its obligations under the 
Notes and the Indenture, including exercising and enforcing its rights under and carrying out the terms, provisions and 
purposes of the Notes and the Indenture. 

Payment of Additional Amounts 

The Issuer will pay all Additional Amounts in respect of the Notes in accordance with the Conditions. 

Pari Passu Obligations 

The Issuer shall ensure at all times that the Notes, to the extent not secured by any collateral, will constitute direct, unsecured 
and unconditional obligations of the Issuer and will rank at least pari passu in priority of payment with all other present and 
future unsecured and unsubordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer, save only for such obligations of the Issuer as may be 
preferred by mandatory provisions of applicable law. 

Rating 

The Issuer shall use its commercially reasonable best efforts to maintain a rating with respect to any Series of Notes as to 
which a rating is required by the Final Terms applicable thereto for as long as such Series of Notes is Outstanding. 

Limitation on Restricted Payments 

(1) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary, directly or indirectly, to: 

(a) declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on or in respect of its Capital Stock (including 
any payment in connection with any merger or consolidation involving the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the 
Issuer) or similar payment to the direct or indirect holders of its Capital Stock except dividends or 
distributions payable solely in the form of its Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) and except 
dividends or distributions payable to the Issuer or any Subsidiary (and, if such Subsidiary has shareholders 
other than the Issuer or any other Subsidiary, to its other shareholders on a pro rata basis); 

(b) purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire for value any Capital Stock of the Issuer held by Persons 
other than the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer (other than a purchase, redemption, retirement or other 
acquisition for value that would constitute a Permitted Investment); 
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(c) purchase, repurchase, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value, prior to scheduled maturity, 
scheduled repayment or scheduled sinking fund payment, any Subordinated Obligations (other than 
Indebtedness of a Subsidiary owing to and held by the Issuer or Indebtedness of the Issuer owing to and 
held by a Subsidiary, as permitted under paragraph (2)(a) of the covenant “— Limitation on 
Indebtedness”); or 

(d) make any Investment (other than a Permitted Investment) in any Person; 

(the actions described in clauses (a) through (d) above being herein referred to as “Restricted Payments” and each, a 
“Restricted Payment”), if at the time the Issuer or such Subsidiary makes such Restricted Payment: 

(i) an Event of Default will have occurred and be continuing; or 

(ii) the Issuer could not incur at least U.S.$1.00 of Indebtedness under the Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio 
set forth in the first paragraph of the covenant described under the caption “— Limitation on 
Indebtedness” after giving effect, on a pro forma basis, to such Restricted Payments; or 

(iii) the aggregate amount of such Restricted Payment and all other Restricted Payments declared or 
made subsequent to the date of the Indenture would exceed the sum of, without duplication: 

(A) 50% of the aggregate amount of Consolidated Net Income accrued during the period (treated as 
one accounting period) beginning on the first day of the fiscal quarter commencing immediately 
prior to the end of the most recent fiscal quarter for which financial statements are available prior 
to the date of such Restricted Payment (or, in case such Consolidated Net Income is a loss, minus 
100% of such loss); plus 

(B) the aggregate Net Cash Proceeds, and the Fair Market Value of any property, received by the 
Issuer from the issue or sale of its Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) or other capital 
contributions subsequent to the date of the Indenture (other than Net Cash Proceeds received from 
an issuance or sale of such Capital Stock to a Subsidiary of the Issuer); plus 

(C) if the Issuer or any Subsidiary makes an Investment in a Person that, as a result of or in connection 
with such Investment, becomes a Subsidiary, an amount equal to the Issuer’s or such Subsidiary’s 
existing Investment in such Person; provided that any amount added pursuant to this clause (C) 
shall not exceed the amount of such Investment previously made and treated as a Restricted 
Payment; provided, further, that no amount will be included under this clause (C) to the extent it is 
already included in Consolidated Net Income; plus 

(D) the amount by which Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary is reduced on the Issuer’s 
balance sheet or the balance sheet of any Subsidiary, in each case, upon the conversion or 
exchange subsequent to the date of the Indenture of any such Indebtedness convertible or 
exchangeable for Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer (less the amount of 
any cash or the Fair Market Value of other property distributed by the Issuer or any Subsidiary 
upon such conversion or exchange); plus 

(E) the amount equal to the net reduction of Investments (other than Permitted Investments) made by 
the Issuer or any Subsidiary in any Person resulting from repurchases or redemptions of such 
Investment by such Person, proceeds realized upon the sale of such Investment, repayments of 
loans or advances or other transfers of assets (including by way of dividend or distribution) by 
such Person to the Issuer or any Subsidiary (valued as provided in the definition of “Investment”) 
not to exceed the amount of Investments  
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previously made by the Issuer or any Subsidiary in such Person; provided that any amount added 
pursuant to this clause (E) shall not exceed the amount of such Investment previously made and 
treated as a Restricted Payment; provided, further, that no amount will be included under this 
clause (E) to the extent it is already included in Consolidated Net Income. 

(2) The provisions of clause (1) above will not prohibit: 

(a) any purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or other acquisition or retirement for value of Capital 
Stock, including Disqualified Stock or Subordinated Obligations made by exchange for, or out of the 
proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale of, Capital Stock of the Issuer (other than Disqualified Stock 
and other than Capital Stock issued or sold to a Subsidiary of the Issuer); provided that the amount of such 
purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance, acquisition or retirement will be excluded in subsequent 
calculations of the Net Cash Proceeds under clause (1)(d)(iii)(B) of this covenant; 

(b) any purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or other acquisition or retirement for value of 
Subordinated Obligations made in exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale 
of, Subordinated Obligations that are permitted to be incurred pursuant to the covenant described under “— 
Limitation on Indebtedness” below; provided that such purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or 
other acquisition or retirement for value will be excluded from the calculation of the amount of Restricted 
Payments pursuant to clause (1)(d)(iii) above; 

(c) dividends paid within 60 days of the declaration thereof if at such date of declaration such dividend would 
have complied with this covenant; provided that the payment or declaration, but not both the payment and 
the declaration, of such dividend will be included in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments 
pursuant to clause (1)(d)(iii) above; 

(d) the declaration or payment of the Minimum Legally Required Dividends; provided that such payment shall 
be included in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments pursuant to clause (1)(d)(iii) above; 

(e) so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing: 

(i) the purchase, redemption or other acquisition, cancellation or retirement for value of Capital 
Stock, or options, warrants, equity appreciation rights or other rights to purchase or acquire 
Capital Stock of the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer held by any existing or former 
employees or management of the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or their assigns, estates or 
heirs; provided that such redemptions or repurchases pursuant to this clause will not exceed 
U.S.$5 million in the aggregate during any calendar year and any unused funds carried over to the 
next year; provided, further, that such payment shall be included in the calculation of the amount 
of Restricted Payments pursuant to clause (1)(d)(iii) above; and 

(ii) loans or advances to employees or directors of the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer the 
proceeds of which are used to purchase Capital Stock of the Issuer, in an aggregate amount not in 
excess of U.S.$2 million at any one time outstanding; provided that such payment shall be 
included in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments pursuant to clause (1)(d)(iii) 
above; 

(f) any purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or other acquisition or retirement for value of 
Subordinated Obligations at a purchase price not greater than (a) 101% of the principal amount or accreted 
value, as applicable, of such Subordinated Obligations and accrued and unpaid interest thereon in the event 
of a Change of Control or (b) 100% of the principal amount or accreted value, as applicable, of such 
Subordinated Obligations and accrued and  
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unpaid interest thereon in the event of an Asset Disposition, in connection with any change of control offer 
or asset sale offer required by the terms of such Subordinated Obligations, but only if: (i) in the case of a 
Change of Control, the Issuer has first complied with and fully satisfied its obligations under the covenant 
described under the caption “ — Mandatory Repurchase at Option of the Noteholders upon Change of 
Control”, including, without limitation, the making and the settlement of the offer to purchase the Notes; or 
(ii) in the case of an Asset Disposition, the Issuer has first complied with and fully satisfied its obligations 
under the covenant described above under the caption “ — Limitation on Sales of Assets”, including, 
without limitation, the making and the settlement of the offer to purchase the Notes; provided that such 
repurchases shall be included in subsequent calculations of the amount of Restricted Payments pursuant to 
clause (1)(d)(iii) above; and 

(g) Restricted Payments in an amount not to exceed U.S.$15 million; provided that such payments shall be 
excluded from the calculations of the amount of Restricted Payments pursuant to clause (1)(d)(iii) above. 

The amount of all Restricted Payments (other than cash) shall be the Fair Market Value on the date of such Restricted 
Payment of the asset(s) or securities proposed to be paid, transferred, issued, purchased, repurchased, redeemed, retired, 
defeased or otherwise acquired by the Issuer or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to such Restricted Payment. 

Limitation on Indebtedness 

(1) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, incur any Indebtedness; provided that the Issuer or any 
Subsidiary may incur Indebtedness if on the date of such incurrence and after giving effect thereto and the 
application of the proceeds therefrom, the Issuer’s Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio would not be greater than (i) 3.75 to 
1.0 if such incurrence occurs after the date of the Indenture and on or prior to March 31, 2012, (ii) 3.50 to 1.0 if such 
incurrence occurs after March 31, 2012 and on or prior to March 31, 2013 and (iii) 3.25 to 1.0 if such incurrence 
occurs after March 31, 2013. 

(2) Notwithstanding clause (1) above, the Issuer or any Subsidiary may incur the following Indebtedness: 

(a) Indebtedness between or among the Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries or among any of the Issuer’s 
Subsidiaries; provided that: 

(i) if the Issuer is the obligor on such Indebtedness incurred and such Indebtedness is in an aggregate 
principal amount in excess of U.S.$15 million, such Indebtedness must be expressly subordinated 
to the Notes in priority of payment; and 

(ii) any subsequent issuance or transfer of Capital Stock or any other event that results in any such 
Indebtedness being held by a Person other than the Issuer or a Subsidiary and any sale or other 
transfer of any such Indebtedness to a Person that is neither the Issuer nor a Subsidiary will be 
deemed, in each case, to constitute an incurrence of such Indebtedness by the Issuer or such 
Subsidiary, as the case may be, that was not permitted by this clause (a); 

(b) Indebtedness: 

(i) represented by the Notes; 

(ii) outstanding on the date of the Indenture (other than Indebtedness described in clause (j)); 

(iii) consisting of Refinancing Indebtedness incurred in respect of any Indebtedness described in this 
clause (b) or the foregoing paragraph (1), or clause (d) or (h) below; or 

(iv) consisting of guarantees of any Indebtedness permitted under this covenant; 
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(c) Indebtedness in respect of bankers’ acceptances, deposits, promissory notes, letters of credit, self-insurance 
obligations, performance, surety, appeal or similar bonds, completion guarantees and reimbursement 
obligations regarding workers’ compensation claims; 

(d) Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of real or personal property 
(whether incurred prior to or within 365 days after such acquisition, construction or improvement) and 
Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary incurred in connection with the acquisition of a Person by, or a 
consolidation or merger of a Person into, the Issuer or any Subsidiary, and any Refinancing thereof, in an 
aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed U.S.$15 million pursuant to this 
clause (d); 

(e) Hedging Obligations of the Issuer or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business or directly related to 
Indebtedness permitted to be incurred by the Issuer or any Subsidiary pursuant to the Indenture and, in any 
event, not entered into for speculative purposes; 

(f) Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary to the extent that the net proceeds thereof are promptly 
deposited to defease or to satisfy and discharge the Notes in accordance with the Indenture; 

(g) Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Subsidiary consisting of take-or-pay obligations contained in supply 
agreements in the ordinary course of business; 

(h) Indebtedness arising from agreements providing for indemnification, adjustment of purchase price or 
similar obligations, or letters of credit, surety bonds or performance bonds securing any obligations of the 
Issuer or any Subsidiary pursuant to such agreements, in each case, incurred or assumed in connection with 
the disposition of a business, assets or Capital Stock of a Subsidiary; provided that, in the case of a 
disposition, the maximum aggregate liability in respect of such Indebtedness will at no time exceed the 
gross proceeds actually received by the Issuer or such Subsidiary in connection with such disposition; 

(i) Indebtedness relating to Permitted Affiliate Guarantees in an aggregate amount outstanding at any time not 
to exceed the aggregate amount of Permitted Affiliate Guarantees outstanding as of the date of the 
Indenture plus U.S.$15 million, including any Refinancings thereof provided that such Refinancing shall 
not increase the aggregate principal amount then outstanding of the Indebtedness being Refinanced (plus 
premiums, interest and reasonable expenses incurred in connection therewith); and 

(j) in addition to Indebtedness incurred pursuant to clauses (a) through (j) above, Indebtedness of the Issuer 
and its Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount, including any Refinancings thereof, at any time 
outstanding not to exceed U.S.$25 million. 

(3) Neither the Issuer nor any Subsidiary may incur Indebtedness that is subordinate in right of payment to other 
Indebtedness of the Issuer or such Subsidiary unless such Indebtedness is also subordinate in right of payment to the 
Notes on substantially identical terms; provided that no Indebtedness will be deemed to be subordinated in right of 
payment to any other Indebtedness solely by virtue of being unsecured or by virtue of being secured on a senior or 
subordinated basis. 

(4) For purposes of determining compliance with this covenant, if an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more 
than one of the types of Indebtedness described above, the Issuer, in its sole discretion, may classify, and from time 
to time divide and/or reclassify, an item of Indebtedness in more than one of the types of Indebtedness described 
above. 

For purposes of determining compliance with any U.S. dollar-denominated restriction on the incurrence of Indebtedness, the 
U.S. dollar-equivalent principal amount of Indebtedness denominated in a non-U.S.  
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currency will be calculated based on the relevant currency exchange rate in effect on the date such Indebtedness was incurred 
or, in the case of revolving credit Indebtedness, first committed; provided that if such Indebtedness is incurred to refinance 
other Indebtedness denominated in a non-U.S. currency, and such refinancing would cause the applicable U.S. 
dollar-denominated restriction to be exceeded if calculated at the relevant currency exchange rate in effect on the date of such 
refinancing, such U.S. dollar-denominated restriction will be deemed not to have been exceeded so long as the principal 
amount of such Refinancing Indebtedness does not exceed the principal amount of such Indebtedness being refinanced. The 
principal amount of any Indebtedness incurred to refinance other Indebtedness, if incurred in a different currency from the 
Indebtedness being refinanced, will be calculated based on the currency exchange rate applicable to the currencies in which 
such Refinancing Indebtedness is denominated that is in effect on the date of such refinancing. 

Limitation on Sales of Assets 

(1) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, make any Asset Disposition unless the following 
conditions are met: 

(a) The Asset Disposition is for Fair Market Value; 

(b) At least 75% of the consideration consists of all or part of any of the following, received at closing, (1) cash 
and Temporary Cash Investments or (2) Additional Assets; 

(c) Within 365 days after the receipt of any Net Available Cash from an Asset Disposition, the Net Available 
Cash is used: 

• to permanently repay Indebtedness, other than Subordinated Obligations, of the Issuer or of any of its 
Subsidiaries, in each case owing to a Person other than the Issuer or any Subsidiary; 

• to acquire all or substantially all of the assets of a Permitted Business, or a majority of the Voting 
Stock of another Person that thereupon becomes a Subsidiary engaged in a Permitted Business, or to 
make capital expenditures or otherwise acquire long-term assets that are to be used in a Permitted 
Business; or 

• to acquire Additional Assets for the Issuer or its Subsidiaries; or 

• to make any Permitted Investment. 

(d) The Net Available Cash of an Asset Disposition not applied pursuant to paragraph (c) above within 
365 days of the Asset Disposition shall constitute “Excess Proceeds.” Excess Proceeds of less than 
U.S.$15 million (or the equivalent thereof at the time of determination) will be carried forward and 
accumulated. When accumulated Excess Proceeds equals or exceeds U.S.$15 million, the Issuer shall, 
within 30 days, apply such Excess Proceeds to make an Offer (as defined below). 

Upon completion of the Offer, the Issuer shall be entitled to use any remaining proceeds for any corporate purposes to the 
extent permitted under the Indenture. 

For the purposes of this clause: 

(1) The following shall be deemed to be cash: (a) the assumption by the transferee of Indebtedness (other than 
Subordinated Obligations) of the Issuer or a Subsidiary and the release of the Issuer or such Subsidiary from all liability on 
such Indebtedness in connection with such Asset Disposition and (b) instruments or securities received by the Issuer or any 
of its Subsidiaries from the transferee that are converted into cash within 90 days of the closing. 
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(2) (a) If the Asset Disposition that requires the purchase of the Notes pursuant to clause (d) above, the Issuer will make 
an offer (an “Offer”) to purchase Notes, at a purchase price, in U.S. dollars (or other Specified Currency), of 100% of their 
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest (including Additional Amounts, if any) thereon, to, but excluding, the date 
of purchase and (b) if the aggregate purchase price of the Notes tendered pursuant to the Offer exceeds the Net Available 
Cash allotted to their purchase, the Issuer shall select the Notes to be purchased on a pro rata basis (it being understood that 
no Noteholder shall, as a result of such purchase, hold less than the minimum authorized denomination applicable to such 
Note). 

(3) The Issuer will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Section 14(e)-1 of the Exchange Act and 
any other applicable securities laws or regulations and any relevant exchange or Depositary rules in connection with any 
repurchase of Notes pursuant to this covenant. To the extent that the provisions of any applicable (1) securities laws or 
regulations or (2) relevant exchange or Depositary rules conflict with provisions of this covenant, the Issuer will comply with 
the applicable laws, regulations and rules and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under this covenant by 
virtue thereof. 

Consolidation, Merger, Conveyance, Sale or Lease 

The Issuer will not, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, consolidate or merge with or into any person, or 
sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of (or cause or permit any Subsidiary to sell, assign, transfer, lease, 
convey or otherwise dispose of) all or substantially all of the Issuer’s assets (determined on a consolidated basis for the Issuer 
and its Subsidiaries) whether as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any person unless all of the following conditions 
are met: 

(1) if the Issuer is not the successor company, the successor company expressly agrees in a supplement to the Indenture 
to be legally responsible for the Notes and must be a Person organized and existing under the laws of Brazil or the United 
States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia or any other country that is a member of the European Union or the 
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development; 

(2) the merger, sale of assets or other transaction must not cause a Default on the Notes, and the Issuer must not already 
be in Default, unless the merger or other transaction would cure the Default; and 

(3) an Authorized Officer’s Certificate and Opinion of Counsel are delivered to the Trustee pursuant to the terms of the 
Indenture. 

For purposes of this covenant, the transfer (by lease, assignment, sale or otherwise, in a single transaction or series of 
transactions) of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of one or more Subsidiaries of the Issuer, the Capital Stock 
of which constitutes all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Issuer, shall be deemed to be the transfer of all 
or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Issuer. 

Upon any consolidation, combination or merger or any transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer in 
accordance with the terms of the Indenture, in which the Issuer is not surviving or the continuing corporation, the successor 
Person formed by such consolidation or into which the Issuer is merged or to which such conveyance, lease or transfer is 
made shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, the Issuer under the Indenture and 
the Notes with the same effect as if such surviving entity had been named as such. 
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Redemption at Maturity 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms and unless previously redeemed, or purchased and canceled as 
provided in the Indenture, each Note will be redeemed at its final redemption amount specified in the applicable Final Terms 
in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date. 

Redemption at the Election of the Holders or the Issuer 

Notes of any Series may, to the extent and in the manner provided in the applicable Final Terms, be redeemable by the Issuer 
or the Holders thereof, in whole or in part, at an amount equal to a percentage (to be specified in the relevant Final Terms) of 
the principal amount of the relevant Note plus accrued interest plus any Additional Amounts payable pursuant to the 
Conditions. 

In the event that the Issuer or a Noteholder elects to redeem a Note pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, the Issuer may, in 
lieu of redeeming the relevant Note, with written notice to the Trustee, identify a third party who will agree to purchase the 
Note on the redemption date under the same terms and conditions as if the Notes were purchased by the Issuer. 

Redemption for Taxation Purposes 

Each Series of Notes will also be subject to redemption, at the option of the Issuer, in whole, but not in part, at 100% of the 
principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest and any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto, if (i) the Issuer has 
or would become obligated to pay Additional Amounts payable with respect to such Notes in excess of the Additional 
Amounts that the Issuer would be obliged to pay if interest payments in respect of such Notes were subject to deduction or 
withholding at a rate of 15% or more (determined without regard to any interest, fees, penalties or other additions to tax), as a 
result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Brazil, or any change in the application, administration 
or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including administrative rulings or the holdings of a court of competent 
jurisdiction), which change or amendment occurs after the Issue Date of such Notes and (ii) such obligation cannot be 
avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it. Prior to the delivery of any notice of redemption of such 
Series of Notes to the Holders, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (x) an Authorized Officer’s Certificate to the effect that 
the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the condition or conditions 
precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred or been satisfied and (ii) an opinion of an independent legal 
counsel of recognized standing stating that the Issuer is or would be obligated to pay Additional Amounts due to changes in 
tax laws or regulations or application, administration or official interpretation thereof. The Trustee will accept such 
Authorized Officer’s Certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in 
clauses (i) and (ii) above, in which event it will be conclusive and binding on the Holders of such Notes. 

Notices to Redeem 

In the event the Issuer elects to redeem Notes at its option in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the Issuer shall 
notify the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent thereof in writing not more than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior to 
any date designated for the redemption of such Notes. Notices to Noteholders to redeem Notes shall be irrevocable and shall 
be sent in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and shall specify the date fixed for redemption, the applicable 
redemption price, the place or places of payment, that payment will be made upon presentation and surrender of the Notes to 
be redeemed and that on and after said date interest thereon will cease to accrue. 

The Trustee at the expense of, and pursuant to written instruction from, the Issuer, which notice shall contain all of the 
information to be included in the notice of redemption delivered to the Holders, shall  
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notify the Noteholders at least 15 days prior to the date fixed for any such redemption in accordance with the provisions set 
forth under “ — Notices to Noteholders” below. 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, Notes will be redeemed at an amount (the “Early Redemption 
Amount”) calculated in accordance with the Conditions. 

Mandatory Repurchase at Option of the Noteholders upon Change of Control 

If a Change of Control occurs, each Noteholder will have the right to require the Issuer to repurchase all or any part (it being 
understood that no Noteholder shall, as a result of such repurchase, hold less than the minimum authorized denomination of 
the relevant Series of Notes) of that Noteholder’s Notes pursuant to such Change of Control Offer (as defined below) on the 
terms set forth in the Indenture. In the Change of Control Offer, the Issuer will offer a “Change of Control Payment” in U.S. 
dollars (or other Specified Currency) equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes repurchased plus accrued and 
unpaid interest and Additional Amounts, if any, on the Notes repurchased, to, but excluding, the date of purchase (subject to 
the right of the Noteholders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest and Additional Amounts, if any, on the 
relevant Payment Date). 

No later than 30 days following any Change of Control, the Issuer will make a “Change of Control Offer” by notice to each 
Noteholder in accordance with the provision set out under “ — Notices to Noteholders” below, offering to repurchase the 
Notes on the date specified in the notice (the “Change of Control Payment Date”), which date will be no earlier than 30 days 
and no later than 60 days from the date such notice is delivered, pursuant to the procedures required by the Indenture and 
described in such notice. 

The Issuer will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act and any other 
applicable securities laws or regulations in connection with the repurchase of Notes pursuant to this covenant. To the extent 
that the provisions of any applicable securities laws or regulations or any exchange or Depositary rules conflict with 
provisions of this covenant, the Issuer will comply with such applicable laws, regulations and rules will not be deemed to 
have breached its obligations under this covenant by virtue of its compliance with such provisions. 

On the Business Day immediately preceding the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer shall, to the extent lawful, 
deposit with the Principal Paying Agent an amount equal to the Change of Control Payment in respect of all Notes or 
portions of Notes properly tendered. 

On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer will, to the extent lawful: 

(1) accept for payment all Notes or portions of Notes properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer; and 

(2) deliver or cause to be delivered, if applicable, to the Trustee for cancellation the Notes properly accepted together 
with an Authorized Officer’s Certificate stating the aggregate principal amount of Notes or portions of Notes being 
purchased. 

The Paying Agents will promptly deliver to each Noteholder of Notes properly tendered the Change of Control Payment for 
such Notes, and the Trustee will promptly authenticate and mail (or cause to be transferred by book entry) to each Noteholder 
a new Note equal in principal amount to any unpurchased portion of the Notes surrendered, if any. The Issuer will publicly 
announce the results of the Change of Control Offer on or as soon as practicable after the Change of Control Payment Date. 

Except as described above with respect to a Change of Control, the Indenture does not contain provisions that permit the 
Noteholders to require that the Issuer repurchase or redeem the Notes in the event of a takeover, recapitalization or similar 
transaction. 
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The Issuer shall not be required to make a Change of Control Offer upon a Change of Control if (i) a third party makes the 
Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements, set forth in the 
Indenture, that are applicable to a Change of Control Offer required to be made by the Issuer and such third party purchases 
all Notes properly tendered and not withdrawn under the Change of Control Offer; or (ii) a notice of redemption for all 
Outstanding Notes has been given pursuant to the Indenture unless and until there is a default in payment of the amount due 
on the relevant redemption date. 

Subject to applicable law, a Change of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control and conditioned upon 
the occurrence of such Change of Control if a definitive agreement is in place for the Change of Control at the time of 
making of the Change of Control Offer. 

Purchases of Notes by the Issuer 

The Issuer and its Subsidiaries may, to the extent permitted by applicable law, at any time purchase Notes in the open market. 
Any Note so purchased by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries may, at the option of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries, be surrendered to 
the Trustee for cancellation. 

Events of Default 

An “Event of Default” occurs with respect to any Series of Notes if: 

(1) default in any payment of the principal of any Note of such Series as and when the same shall become due and 
payable (whether at maturity, upon redemption, or otherwise); 

(2) default in the payment of any installment of interest or any required payment of Additional Amounts as described 
under “ — Additional Amounts” on any of the Notes of such Series as and when the same shall become due and payable and 
continuance of such default for a period of 15 days (with respect to interest) or 30 days (with respect to Additional Amounts); 

(3) the Issuer defaults in the performance of or breaches any other covenant or agreement of the Issuer either in the 
Indenture, the Notes of such Series, the Conditions or the applicable Final Terms and such default or breach continues for a 
period of 60 consecutive days after the date on which written notice of such failure requiring the Issuer to remedy the same 
shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee or to the Trustee and the Issuer by the Holders of 25% or more of the 
principal amount of Notes of such Series; 

(4) a court having jurisdiction over the Issuer shall enter a decree or order for relief in respect of the Issuer in an 
involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, suspension of payments, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter 
in effect, or appoint a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, fiscal agent or sequestrator (or similar official) of the Issuer or 
for any substantial part of the property of the Issuer or ordering the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of the Issuer, and 
such decree or order shall remain unstated and in effect for a period of 60 consecutive days; 

(5) the Issuer shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, suspension of payments, insolvency or 
other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such 
law, or consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, fiscal agent or 
sequestrator (or similar official) of the Issuer or for any substantial part of the property of the Issuer, or make any general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

(6) the Issuer defaults under any instrument under which there may be issued, or by which there may be secured or 
evidenced, any Indebtedness of the Issuer, whether such Indebtedness now exists or shall be created after the date of the 
Indenture, resulting in the acceleration of such Indebtedness, or any default occurs in the payment of such Indebtedness (and 
after the expiration of any applicable grace periods and as long as such default is not being contested in good faith by the 
Issuer), if the total of all such Indebtedness  
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which has been so accelerated or with respect to which there has been such a default in payment shall exceed U.S.$5,000,000 
(or the equivalent thereof in another currency); 

(7) a final judgment or final judgments for the payment of money shall have been entered by a court or courts of 
competent jurisdiction against the Issuer and remains undischarged for a period (during which execution shall not be 
effectively stayed) of 60 days, provided that the aggregate amount of all such judgments at any time outstanding (to the 
extent not paid or to be paid by insurance) exceeds U.S.$5,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof in another currency); 

(8) the Indenture or any Note of such Series shall fail to be in full force and effect (except as contemplated by the terms 
thereof), or the Issuer shall deny or repudiate any of its respective obligations under the Indenture or any Note of such Series, 
or does or causes to be done any act or thing evidencing an intention to deny or repudiate such obligations, and such default 
shall continue for 10 consecutive days; 

(9) all or substantially all of the assets and revenues of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, is condemned, 
seized or otherwise appropriated by any Person acting under the authority of any national, regional or local government or the 
Issuer or any Subsidiary is prevented by any such Person for a period of 30 consecutive days or longer from exercising 
normal control over all or substantially all of the assets and revenues of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; and  

(10) any event occurs which under the laws of any jurisdiction has a similar or analogous effect to any of these events 
mentioned in paragraphs (4) or (5) above. 

If an Event of Default described in clauses (1), (2), (3), (6), (7), (8) or (9) shall occur and be continuing in respect of any 
Series of Notes, any Holder of any Note of such Series may declare the principal of such of Note and the interest accrued 
thereon to be due and payable immediately by written notice to the Issuer and the Trustee, and unless such default shall have 
been cured by the Issuer prior to receipt of such written notice, the principal of such of Note and the interest thereon shall 
become and be immediately due and payable. If an Event of Default described in clauses (1), (2), (3), (6), (7), (8) or (9) shall 
occur and be continuing in respect of any Series of Notes, Holders of not less than 25% of the aggregate principal amount of 
the Notes of such Series Outstanding acting in concert for that purpose may declare the principal of all of the Notes of such 
Series Outstanding and the interest accrued thereon to be due and payable immediately by written notice to the Issuer and the 
Trustee, and unless all such defaults shall have been cured by the Issuer prior to receipt of such written notice, the principal 
of all the Notes of such Series Outstanding and the interest accrued thereon shall become and be immediately due and 
payable. If an Event of Default described in clause (4), (5) or (10) occurs and is continuing, then and in each and every such 
case, unless the principal of all the Notes Outstanding shall have already become due and payable, the entire principal of all 
the Notes then Outstanding and interest accrued (and any Additional Amounts) thereon shall be due and payable 
immediately. 

If an Event of Default with respect to a Series of Notes occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may proceed to protect and 
enforce its rights and the rights of the Holders of such Series of Notes, by such appropriate proceedings as the Holders of a 
majority in aggregate principal amount of all Notes of such Series Outstanding shall direct the Trustee in writing (after 
receiving such indemnification and advances for expenses from such Holders as the Trustee may require) in order to protect 
and enforce any such rights, whether for the specific enforcement of any covenant or agreement in the Indenture or in aid of 
the exercise of any power granted herein, or to enforce any other proper remedy or legal or equitable right vested in the 
Trustee by the Indenture or by law. The Trustee is entitled to require all Agents to act under its direction in order to protect 
and enforce any such rights. 

Anything to the contrary in the Indenture notwithstanding, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 
relevant Series of Notes then Outstanding shall have the right at any time to direct, pursuant to an Act of the Holders of such 
Series of Notes delivered to the Trustee, the method and place of  
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conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of the Indenture or any 
other proceedings thereunder; provided that (i) any direction shall not be other than in accordance with the provisions of law 
and the Indenture, (ii) the Trustee shall receive such indemnification as it shall reasonably request and (iii) the Trustee may 
take any other action which it deems to be proper and which is not inconsistent with the direction. 

A Holder shall not have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding for the enforcement of the Indenture, or for the 
exercise of any other remedy hereunder, unless (i) there has occurred and is continuing an Event of Default, (ii) the Holders 
of more than fifty percent (50%) in aggregate principal amount of Notes of the relevant Series then Outstanding shall have 
made written request to the Trustee and shall have afforded the Trustee reasonable opportunity to proceed to exercise the 
remedies, rights and powers granted thereunder or to institute the suit, action or proceeding in its own name and shall have 
offered such indemnity to the Trustee as shall be acceptable to it, and (iii) the Trustee thereafter shall have failed or refused to 
exercise the remedies, rights and powers granted herein or to institute the suit, action or proceeding in its own name. At the 
option of the Trustee, that request, opportunity and offer of indemnity are conditions precedent, in every case, to the 
institution of any suit, action or proceeding described in the Indenture. No one or more Holders of a Series of Notes shall 
have any right to affect, disturb or prejudice in any manner whatsoever the benefit of the Indenture afforded such Notes by its 
or their action, or to enforce, except in the manner provided herein, any remedy, right or power hereunder. Any suit, action or 
proceeding shall be instituted and maintained in the manner provided in the Indenture for the benefit of the Holders of the 
relevant Series of Notes then Outstanding. 

The Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Notes of any Series then Outstanding may, in 
respect of such Series, waive any Event of Default and rescind and annul a declaration of acceleration and its consequences; 
provided that there shall not be waived any Event of Default unless, prior to such waiver and rescission, all arrears of interest 
and all unpaid principal that has become due otherwise than by a declaration of acceleration, and the expenses of the Trustee 
and of the Holders of such Notes, including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees paid or incurred, shall have been 
paid or provided for (unless the receipt of such payment is waived by each person entitled thereto). In the case of any such 
waiver and rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any such Event of Default shall have 
been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and in every such case the Issuer, the Trustee and the Holders 
shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver and rescission shall extend to 
any subsequent or other default or impair any right consequent thereon. All waivers under the Indenture shall be in writing, 
and a copy thereof shall be delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee. 

Modification of the Indenture 

Changes Without the Consent of Noteholders 

Without the consent of the Holders of any Notes, the Issuer and the Trustee, at any time and from time to time, may enter into 
amendments or supplements to the Indenture or the Notes for the purpose of (i) curing any ambiguity or of correcting or 
supplementing any defective or inconsistent provisions contained herein or in the Notes (including any inconsistency 
between the text of the Indenture or the Notes and this description of the Indenture or the Notes contained in this offering 
circular) or (ii) adding any provisions to, or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of, the Indenture or 
the Notes; provided that such action shall not adversely affect in any material respect the interests of the Trustee, any Holder 
or Agent; provided, further, that, in the event such action affects the rights or duties of any Agent hereunder, such 
amendment shall also be required to be approved by such Agent, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. 
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Changes Requiring Approval 

With the consent of the Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes Outstanding of each 
Series affected thereby (or a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes Outstanding of such Series and duly 
represented at a meeting of the Holders in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture), by Act of said Holders delivered 
to the Issuer and the Trustee, the Issuer and the Trustee may enter into amendments or supplements to the Indenture or the 
Notes for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of the 
Indenture or the Notes or of modifying in any manner the rights of the Holders; provided that no such amendment or 
supplement shall, without the consent or the affirmative vote of the Holder of each Note of such Series affected thereby: 
(i) change the Stated Maturity of the principal of or any installment of interest on any Note; (ii) reduce the principal amount 
of, or interest on, any Note; (iii) change the obligation of the Issuer to pay Additional Amounts pursuant to the Conditions 
with respect to any Note; (iv) change the Specified Currency of payment of principal of or interest on any Note; (v) reduce 
the percentage of the principal amount of Notes of such Series at the time Outstanding necessary to modify or amend the 
Notes of such Series or waive any future compliance or past default by the Issuer with respect to the Notes or reduce the 
percentage of Notes of such Series required for the taking of action or the quorum required at any meeting of Holders of 
Notes of such Series at which a resolution is adopted; (vi) release any collateral securing any Series of Notes; or (vii) modify 
the Issuer’s obligation to maintain the Trustee or Agents in accordance with the Indenture; provided, further, that, in the 
event such amendment or supplement affects the rights or duties of any Agent hereunder, such amendment shall also be 
required to be approved by such Agent, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. 

It is not necessary for the Noteholders to approve the particular form of any proposed modification of the Indenture, but it is 
sufficient if that consent approves the substance of the proposed modification. After an amendment described in the 
preceding paragraph, the Issuer is required to give notice to the Noteholders of such Series of Notes briefly describing the 
amendment. However, the failure to give that notice to all the Noteholders of such Series, or any defect in the notice, will not 
affect the validity of the amendment. 

The Issuer, the Holders of Notes of a Series representing not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes of 
such Series of Notes then Outstanding, or the Trustee at the direction of the Holders of Notes of a Series representing not less 
than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series of Notes then Outstanding, may call a meeting of Holders 
of the Notes of such Series or of all the Notes, as the case may be, such meeting to be held at such time and at such place 
(such place being reasonably acceptable to the Trustee) as the Issuer shall determine for the purpose of taking any action 
authorized to be taken by the Issuer or Noteholders pursuant to the Indenture and the Notes. Not less than 30 and not more 
than 60 days prior to any meeting of the Noteholders, notice of such meeting, setting forth the time and place of such meeting 
and in general terms the action proposed to be taken at such meeting, shall be given by the Trustee, upon written request of 
the Issuer or the Holders, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. To be entitled to vote at any meeting 
of the Noteholders, a person must be (i) a Holder of one or more of the Notes of the relevant Series or (ii) a person appointed 
by an instrument in writing as proxy by a person referred to in (i) above. The only persons who shall be entitled to be present 
or to speak at any meeting of the Noteholders shall be the persons entitled to vote at such meeting and their counsel, any 
representatives of the Issuer and their counsel and any representatives of the Trustee and its counsel. 

At any initial meeting of Holders of such Series, or of Notes of a Series or of all the Notes, as applicable, the persons entitled 
to vote 50% or more in aggregate principal amount of such Series, or of all the Notes Outstanding shall constitute a quorum. 
No business shall be transacted unless a quorum is present when the meeting is called to order. In the absence of a quorum 
within 30 minutes of the time fixed for any such meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned for a period of not less than five 
days nor more than 10 days as determined by the chairman of the meeting. Notice of the reconvening of any adjourned 
meeting shall be given pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, except that such notice must be given not less than one day  
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prior to the date on which the meeting is scheduled to be reconvened. Subject to the foregoing, at the reconvening of any 
meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum, the persons entitled to vote 25% or more in aggregate principal amount of the Notes 
of such Series or all the Notes Outstanding, as applicable, shall constitute a quorum for the taking of any action set forth in 
the notice of the original meeting. Notice of the reconvening of an adjourned meeting shall state expressly the percentage of 
the aggregate principal amount of all the Notes Outstanding of the Series or of all the Notes Outstanding which shall 
constitute a quorum. Any Noteholder who has executed an instrument in writing appointing a person as proxy shall be 
deemed to be present for the purposes of determining a quorum and be deemed to have voted (provided such proxy is present 
at such meeting); provided that such Noteholder shall be considered as present or voting only with respect to the matters 
covered by such instrument in writing (which may include authorization to vote on any other matters as may come before the 
meeting). 

Notes owned by the Issuer or any Affiliate thereof, and in respect of which a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has Actual 
Knowledge that such Notes are so owned, will not be considered Outstanding for the purpose of determining whether the 
requisite aggregate principal amount of Notes has concurred in any request, demand, notice, consent or waiver under the 
Indenture. 

Satisfaction and Discharge 

The Indenture shall cease to be of further effect with respect to a Series of Notes except as to (i) substitution of mutilated, 
destroyed, lost or stolen Notes, (ii) rights of Holders of Notes of such Series to receive payments of the amounts owed 
thereunder and (iii) the rights, obligations, protections, indemnities and immunities of the Trustee thereunder, when: 

• all Notes of such Series theretofore authenticated and delivered (other than (x) Notes that have been destroyed, 
lost or stolen and that have been replaced or paid as provided in the Indenture and (y) Notes for whose payment 
money has theretofore been deposited with the Trustee or any Paying Agent and thereafter repaid to the Issuer 
have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation); and 

• the Issuer has paid or caused to be paid all other sums payable by it with respect to such Series of Notes and all 
other amounts owed pursuant to the Indenture. 

Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of the Notes and/or the Indenture, the Issuer’s obligations under specified 
provisions of the Indenture relating to the transfer and exchange of Notes, payment of Additional Amounts, maintenance of a 
Paying Agent and a Registrar and certain other matters specified in the Indenture will survive. 

Replacement of Notes 

If any Note shall become mutilated or defaced or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Trustee is authorized by the Indenture to 
authenticate and deliver a new Note on such terms as the Issuer and the Trustee may require, in exchange and substitution for 
the mutilated or defaced Note in lieu of and in substitution for the destroyed, lost or stolen Note. Each Note authenticated and 
each Note for or in lieu of any such Note shall carry all the rights to interest accrued and unpaid and to accrue which were 
carried by such Note before such mutilation or defacement, or destruction, loss or theft. 

The Trustee 

The Bank of New York Mellon is the Trustee under the Indenture. The address of the Trustee is care of The Bank of New 
York Mellon at 101 Barclay Street, Floor 4E, New York, New York 10286. 

The Indenture contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility. The obligations 
of the Trustee to any Noteholder are subject to the immunities and rights set forth in the Indenture. 
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The Issuer and its Affiliates may from time to time enter into banking, trust or other transactions with the Trustee and its 
Affiliates in the ordinary course of business. 

The Trustee and its Affiliates may hold Notes in their own names. 

Paying Agents; Transfer Agents; Registrar 

The Issuer has initially appointed the Trustee as New York Paying Agent, Transfer Agent and Registrar and has appointed 
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust (Japan) Ltd. as the Principal Paying Agent. The Issuer has further appointed The Bank 
of New York Mellon, acting through its London Branch, as London Paying Agent. The Issuer may at any time appoint other 
Paying Agents, Transfer Agents and Registrars. However, the Issuer will at all times maintain a Principal Paying Agent in a 
Japanese city and a London Paying Agent in London until the Notes are paid. 

The address of the Principal Paying Agent is Marunouchi Trust Tower, Main 1-8-3 Marunouchi Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-
8580, Japan. 

Notices to Noteholders 

So long as any Notes are held on behalf of or in the name of a Depositary, any notice required to be given to the Holders will 
be given by the delivery of the relevant notice to such Depositary for communication by it to the owners of the beneficial 
interests in such Notes. In addition, if the Notes are listed on any stock exchange, notice will be given by the Issuer in such 
manner as required by such stock exchange. For so long as the Notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange for trading on the 
Global Exchange Market and the rules of the exchange so require, the Issuer will cause notices of redemption to also be 
published as described herein. 

Any notice to Holders of Definitive Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register. 

Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer for the payment of principal or interest and Additional Amounts in respect of the Notes will be 
prescribed unless made within ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest and Additional 
Amounts) of the due date for payment of such principal or interest and Additional Amounts. 

Governing Law 

The Indenture and the Notes are governed by the laws of the State of New York. 

Jurisdiction 

The Issuer has submitted to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any United States federal or New York state court sitting in the 
Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, and of the courts of its domicile for the purpose of any proceeding arising out 
of or related to the Indenture or the Notes. The Issuer has irrevocably waived, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any 
objection which it may have to the laying of the venue of any such proceedings brought in such a court and any claim that 
any such proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. The Issuer agrees that final judgment in any proceedings 
brought in such a court shall be conclusive and binding and may be enforced in any court to the jurisdiction of which it is 
subject by a suit upon such judgment; provided, that service of process is effected upon the Issuer in the manner specified 
below or as otherwise permitted by law. 
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The Issuer shall at all times have authorized agents in New York City upon whom process may be served in connection with 
any proceedings arising out of or related to the Indenture and any Series of Notes. Service of process upon such agents and 
written notice of such service mailed or delivered to the Issuer shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, be 
deemed in every respect effective service of process upon the Issuer in any proceedings. The Issuer has appointed 
Corporation Service Company, with an office on the date of the Indenture at 1180 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 120, New 
York, New York, 10036, United States of America, as its agent in the United States for such purposes, and covenants and 
agrees that (i) service of process in any proceedings may be made upon it at such offices of such agent (or such other address 
in New York City, or at the office of any other authorized agent as it may designate by written notice to the Trustee) and 
(ii) prior to such termination of such agency for any reason, it will so appoint a successor thereto as agent. 

Currency Rate Indemnity 

If any sum due from any party to any other hereunder (including any Noteholder and any person entitled to compensation or 
indemnity pursuant to the terms of the Indenture) is (in order to effect payment of any judgment in any jurisdiction or in order 
to obtain any judgment in any jurisdiction) to be converted from the Specified Currency into another currency (the “Judgment 
Currency”), the Issuer has agreed, to the fullest extent that it may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be 
that at which, in accordance with normal banking procedures, the recipient can purchase the Specified Currency with such 
Judgment Currency, two Business Days preceding that on which the final judgment is given. The obligations of the Issuer 
under the Indenture and the Notes in respect of any sum due hereunder shall, notwithstanding any judgment in, or payable in, 
any currency other than the Specified Currency, be discharged only to the extent that on the Business Day following receipt 
by the recipient of any sum in such Judgment Currency, the recipient may, in accordance with normal banking procedures, 
purchase the Specified Currency with such Judgment Currency. If the amount of the Specified Currency so purchased is less 
than the sum originally due to the recipient in the Specified Currency, the Issuer agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively 
do so, as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to indemnify the recipient against such loss. If the 
amount of the Specified Currency so purchased is greater than the sum originally due to the recipient in the Specified 
Currency, the recipient agrees to pay to the Issuer an amount equal to the excess of the Specified Currency so purchased over 
the amount originally due hereunder. 

Certain Definitions 

Set out below is a summary of certain of the defined terms used in the Indenture. Reference is made to the Indenture for the 
full definition of all such terms as well as any other capitalized terms used herein for which no definition is provided. Unless 
the context otherwise requires, an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it under and in 
accordance with Brazilian GAAP. 

“Actual Knowledge” with respect to the Trustee, means the actual knowledge, information or belief of a Responsible Officer, 
and with respect to the Issuer, means the actual knowledge, information or belief of an Authorized Officer. 

“Additional Assets” means: 

(1) any property or assets (other than Indebtedness and Capital Stock) to be used by the Issuer or a Subsidiary in a 
Permitted Business; 

(2) the Capital Stock of a Person that becomes a Subsidiary as a result of the acquisition of such Capital Stock by the 
Issuer or another Subsidiary; or 

(3) Capital Stock constituting a minority interest in any Person that at such time is a Subsidiary; 
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provided that any such Subsidiary described in clause (2) or (3) above is primarily engaged in a Permitted Business. 

“Advance Transaction” means an advance from a Brazilian financial institution involving either (a) a foreign exchange 
contract (ACC — Adiantamento sobre Contrato de Câmbio) or (b) an export contract (ACE — Adiantamento sobre Contrato 
de Exportação). 

“Affiliate” of any specified person means any other person which, directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by or is 
under common control with such specified person. For purposes of this definition, control of a person means the power, 
direct or indirect, to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person whether by contract or 
otherwise and the terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative to the foregoing. 

“Affiliate Transaction” has the meaning given to it under “ — Covenants — Limitation on Transactions with Affiliates.” 

“Asset Disposition” means any sale, lease, transfer or other disposition (or series of related sales, leases, transfers or 
dispositions) by the Issuer or any Subsidiary, including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation, or similar 
transaction (each referred to for the purposes of this definition as a “disposition”), of: 

(1) any shares of Capital Stock of a Subsidiary (other than directors’ qualifying shares or shares required by applicable 
law to be held by a Person other than the Issuer or a Subsidiary); 

(2) all or substantially all the assets of any division or line of business of the Issuer or any Subsidiary; or 

(3) any other assets of the Issuer or any Subsidiary outside of the ordinary course of business of the Issuer or such 
Subsidiary, 

provided that Asset Disposition will not include: 

(a) a transaction or series of related transactions for which the Issuer or its Subsidiaries receive aggregate 
consideration of less than U.S.$5.0 million (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies) 

(b) a disposition by a Subsidiary to the Issuer or another Subsidiary or by the Issuer to a Subsidiary; 

(c) a Restricted Payment permitted under clause (2) of the covenant described under “ — Covenants — 
Limitation on Restricted Payments” or a Permitted Investment; 

(d) a disposition in the ordinary course of business of equipment or other assets or other property that is 
damaged, obsolete or uneconomical and no longer useful for the Issuer or any Subsidiary; 

(e) the sale or discount of accounts receivable arising in the ordinary course of business, including sales of 
accounts receivables, or participations therein, in connection with any Receivables Transaction; 

(f) the lease of assets in the ordinary course of business; 

(g) the disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer in a manner permitted under the covenant 
described under “ — Consolidation, Merger, Conveyance, Sale or Lease”; 

(h) any issuance of Disqualified Stock otherwise permitted under “ — Covenants — Limitation on 
Indebtedness”; or 

(i) the incurrence of any Permitted Lien. 
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For the avoidance of doubt, any sale of an asset or assets by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries prior to the date of the Indenture 
shall not be deemed an Asset Disposition notwithstanding the registration of transfer of the relevant asset or assets after the 
date of the Indenture; provided that such asset or assets do not appear as assets on the most recent consolidated balance sheet 
of the Issuer prior to the date of the Indenture. 

“Average Life” means, as of the date of determination, with respect to any Indebtedness or Preferred Stock, the quotient 
obtained by dividing: 

(1) the sum of the products of the numbers of years (rounding to the nearest one-twelfth of one year) from the date of 
determination to the dates of each remaining scheduled principal payment (including the payment at final maturity) of such 
Indebtedness or redemption or similar payment with respect to such Preferred Stock multiplied by the amount of such 
payment, by 

(2) the sum of all such payments. 

“Board of Directors” means, as the case may be, the Board of Directors of the Issuer (Conselho de Administação) or any 
committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such Board of Directors. 

“Board Resolution” means a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary or another person 
performing corporate secretarial functions of the Issuer to have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors and to be in full 
force and effect on the date of such certification and delivered to the Trustee. 

“Brazil” means the Federative Republic of Brazil and any ministry, department, authority or statutory corporation or other 
entity (including a trust), owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the Federative Republic of Brazil or any of the 
foregoing. 

“Brazilian GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in Brazil as in effect from time to time, except as 
otherwise set forth herein. All ratios and computations will be computed in conformity with Brazilian GAAP applied on a 
consistent basis. 

“Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, on which commercial banks and foreign 
exchange markets are open for business in São Paulo, Brazil, London, England and New York, New York and either (A) in 
relation to Notes denominated in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign 
exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial center of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other 
than London) or (B) in relation to Notes denominated in euro, a day on which banks are open for business in London and on 
which the TARGET System is open. 

“Capital Stock” of any Person means any and all quotas, shares, interests, rights to purchase, warrants, options, participations 
or other equivalents of or interests in (however designated) equity of such Person, including any Preferred Stock and 
partnership interests, but excluding any debt securities convertible into such equity. 

“Capitalized Lease Obligation” means an obligation that is required to be classified and accounted for as a capitalized lease 
for financial reporting purposes and the amount of Indebtedness represented by such obligation shall be the capitalized 
amount of such obligation; and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount 
due under such lease prior to the first date upon which such lease may be prepaid by the lessee without payment of a penalty. 

“Central Bank” means the Brazilian Central Bank (Banco Central do Brasil). 

“Change of Control” means the failure of G Brasil Participações S.A. or any of its Affiliates existing on the date of the 
Indenture to, directly or indirectly, beneficially own at least a majority of the total Capital Stock  
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of the Issuer or to have, directly or indirectly, the right or ability by voting power, contract or otherwise to elect or designate 
for election a majority of the directors (or the equivalent thereof) of the Issuer. 

“Change of Control Offer” has the meaning given to it under “ — Mandatory Repurchase at Option of the Noteholders Upon 
Change of Control.” 

“Change of Control Payment” has the meaning given to it under “ — Mandatory Repurchase at Option of the Noteholders 
Upon Change of Control.” 

“Change of Control Payment Date” has the meaning given to it under “ — Mandatory Repurchase at Option of the 
Noteholders Upon Change of Control.” 

“Clearstream” means Clearstream Banking, société anonyme. 

“Common Depository” means the common depository to Euroclear and Clearstream or their nominee, being initially The 
Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited, until a successor Common Depository, if any, shall have become such 
pursuant to the Indenture, and thereafter Common Depository shall mean or include each person who is then a Common 
Depository hereunder. 

“Conditions” means the terms and conditions of each Series of Notes as set forth on the reverse of each such Series of Notes. 

“Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA” means, with respect to any Person, for any period: 

(1) Consolidated Net Income; plus 

(2) consolidated income tax and social contribution taxes of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, if any; plus 

(3) consolidated financial expenses of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, if any; minus 

(4) consolidated financial income of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, if any; plus 

(5) any depreciation, depletion or amortization recorded by the Issuer and its consolidated Subsidiaries, if any; minus 

(6) (a) any net gain or loss (net of any tax effect) during such period from any extraordinary items, including, but not 
limited to, (a.1) those classified in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer related to such period as 
“Outras Receitas ou Despesas Operacionais” (“Other Operational Items”), except if those Other Operational Items are 
considered as ordinary items, and (a.2) any credits or any payments made or due pursuant to any administrative or judicial 
proceeding, except if considered as ordinary items; (b) gains or losses during such period on the sale of property or assets 
(other than the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of business), (c) any other extraordinary non-cash items deducted 
from or included in the calculation of Consolidated Net Income for such period (other than items that will require cash 
payments and for which an accrual or reserve has been, or is required by Brazilian GAAP to be, made), and (d) any net gain 
or loss on any foreign exchange transactions or net monetary positions. 

as each such item is reported for the most recent four full fiscal quarters for which the relevant financial information is 
required to be delivered by the Issuer pursuant to the Indenture; provided that: 

(a) if, since the beginning of such period, the Issuer or any Subsidiary shall have made any Asset Disposition, 
the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto as if 
such Asset Disposition occurred on the first day of such period; 

(b) if, since the beginning of such period, the Issuer or any Subsidiary (by merger or otherwise) shall have 
made an Investment in any Person that is merged with or into the Issuer or any Subsidiary (or any Person that 
becomes a Subsidiary) or an acquisition of assets, including any acquisition of assets  
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occurring in connection with a transaction causing a calculation to be made under the Indenture, which constitutes 
all or substantially all of an operating unit of a business of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, Consolidated Adjusted 
EBITDA for such period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto (including the incurrence of any 
Indebtedness) as if such Investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of such period; and 

(c) if, since the beginning of such period, any Person (that subsequently became a Subsidiary or was merged 
with or into the Issuer or any Subsidiary since the beginning of such period) shall have made any Asset Disposition 
or any Investment or acquisition of assets that would have required an adjustment pursuant to clause (a) or (b) above 
if made by the Issuer or a Subsidiary during such period, Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period shall be 
calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto as if such Asset Disposition, Investment or acquisition of assets 
occurred on the first day of such period. 

“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, the aggregate net income (or loss) for such period of the Issuer and its 
consolidated Subsidiaries, if any, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with Brazilian GAAP. 

“Consolidated Net Indebtedness” means consolidated Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as set forth on the most 
recent consolidated annual or quarterly balance sheet of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, minus the sum of Temporary Cash 
Investments, cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries recorded as current assets on 
such most recent consolidated annual or quarterly balance sheet, all as determined on a consolidated basis. 

“Consolidated Net Worth” means, as of any date, the total of the amounts shown on the balance sheet of the Issuer and its 
Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis, as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter of the Issuer completed prior 
to such date equal to (i) the par or stated value of all outstanding Capital Stock of the Issuer plus (ii) paid in capital or capital 
surplus relating to such Capital Stock plus (iii) any retained earnings or earned surplus less (A) any accumulated deficit and 
(B) any amounts attributable to Disqualified Stock. 

“Consolidated Total Assets” means the total amount of assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as set forth on the most recent 
consolidated annual or quarterly balance sheet of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries. 

“Default” means any event which is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of Default. 

“Depositary” means any of DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream or any other depositary institution hereafter appointed by the 
Issuer that is a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act or other applicable statute or legislation. 

“Disqualified Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock that by its terms (or by the terms of any security 
into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable or exercisable) or upon the happening of any event: 

(1) matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise; 

(2) is convertible or exchangeable for Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock (excluding Capital Stock that is convertible or 
exchangeable solely at the option of the Issuer or a Subsidiary); or 

(3) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part, 

in each case on or prior to the date that is 91 days after the date on which there are no Notes outstanding. 

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company. 
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“DTC Global Note” means a Global Note deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC. 

“Euroclear” means Euroclear Bank, S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear system. 

“Euroclear/Clearstream Global Note” means a Global Note deposited with a Common Depository for, and registered in the 
name of a nominee of, Euroclear and/or Clearstream. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning given to it under “ — Events of Default.” 

“Exchange Act” means the United States Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor statute or 
statutes thereto. 

“Fair Market Value” of any property, asset, share of Capital Stock, other security, Investment or other item means, on any 
date, the fair market value of such property, asset, share of Capital Stock, other security, Investment or other item on that date 
as determined in good faith by the management of the Issuer. 

“Fixed Rate Notes” means Notes bearing interest on a fixed rate basis. 

“Global Notes” means, collectively, any Rule 144A Global Note, Regulation S Global Note and Unrestricted Global Note 
(whether such Note is a DTC Global Note or a Euroclear/Clearstream Global Note) authenticated and delivered under the 
Indenture. 

“Hedging Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person under any agreement relating to any swap, option, 
forward sale, forward purchase, index transaction, cap transaction, floor transaction, collar transaction or any other similar 
transaction, in each case, for purposes of hedging or capping against (i) inflation, interest rates, or currency price fluctuations, 
(ii) commodity or raw materials prices or (iii) other risks in the ordinary course of business and not for speculative purposes. 

“Holder” or “Noteholder” means the registered holder of such Note set forth in the Register. 

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any person, any obligation (whether as a direct obligation or indirectly through a 
guarantee of an obligation of another person) for the payment or repayment of money borrowed or otherwise evidenced by 
debentures, notes, bonds, or similar instruments, in each case, if and to the extent such obligation would be recorded as a 
liability upon a balance sheet if such person prepared it in accordance with Brazilian GAAP; provided that the amount of any 
guarantee that constitutes Indebtedness shall be the amount of such guarantee that is or would be recorded as a liability on the 
balance sheet of such person in accordance with Brazilian GAAP as in effect on the date of the Indenture. The amount of the 
Indebtedness of any Person will be deemed to be: 

1. with respect to any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount, the face amount of such Indebtedness 
less the remaining unamortized portion of the original issue discount of such Indebtedness; 

2. with respect to any Hedging Obligation, the net amount payable if such Hedging Obligation terminated at 
that time due to default by such Person; and 

3. otherwise, the outstanding principal amount thereof; 

provided that neither the accrual of interest nor the accretion of original issue discount will be considered an incurrence of 
Indebtedness. 

“Indenture” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 
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“Investment” in any Person means any direct or indirect advance, loan (other than advances to customers or suppliers in the 
ordinary course of business that are recorded as accounts receivable, prepaid expenses or deposits on the balance sheet of the 
applicable lender) or other extension of credit (including by way of guarantee or similar arrangement) or capital contribution 
to (by means of any transfer of cash or other property to others or any payment for property or services for the account or use 
of others), or any purchase or acquisition of Capital Stock, Indebtedness or other similar instruments issued by, such Person; 
provided that none of the following will be deemed to be an Investment: (1) Hedging Obligations entered into in the ordinary 
course of business and in compliance with the Indenture, (2) endorsements of negotiable instruments and documents in the 
ordinary course of business, (3) an acquisition of assets, Capital Stock or other securities by the Issuer or a Subsidiary for 
consideration to the extent such consideration consists of ordinary shares of the Issuer and (4) obligations in respect of 
Receivables Transactions. 

“Issuer” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, lien, hypothecation, deed of trust, security interest or other charge or encumbrance on 
any property or asset, including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the 
nature thereof, any agreement to give any security interest and any equivalent created or arising under applicable law, 
provided that an operating lease shall not be deemed to constitute a Lien. 

“London Paying Agent” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Minimum Legally Required Dividend” means, for any Brazilian Person and any period, an amount equal to the sum of 
(a) the minimum dividend required to be distributed under applicable Brazilian law by such Person to holders of its Capital 
Stock during such period and (b) the minimum dividend required to be distributed to holders of Preferred Stock in such 
Person during such period so as to avoid such holders from acquiring or maintaining any voting rights under Brazilian law. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its successors. 

“Net Available Cash” from an Asset Disposition means cash payments received (including any cash payments received by 
way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or installment receivable or otherwise and proceeds from the sale or 
other disposition of any securities received as consideration, but only as and when received, but excluding any other 
consideration received in the form of assumption by the acquiring Person of Indebtedness or other obligations relating to the 
properties or assets that are the subject of such Asset Disposition or received in any other non-cash form) therefrom, in each 
case minus: 

(1) all legal fees and expenses, title and recording tax expenses, accounting expenses, investment banking expenses, 
commissions and other fees and expenses incurred, and all federal, state, provincial, foreign and local taxes required to be 
paid or accrued as a liability, as a consequence of such Asset Disposition; 

(2) all payments, including any prepayment premiums or penalties, made on any Indebtedness that is secured by any 
assets subject to such Asset Disposition, in accordance with the terms of any Lien upon or other security agreement of any 
kind with respect to such assets, or which must by its terms, or in order to obtain a necessary consent to such Asset 
Disposition, or by applicable law be repaid out of the proceeds from such Asset Disposition; 

(3) all distributions and other payments required to be made to minority interest holders in Subsidiaries or joint ventures 
as a result of such Asset Disposition; and 

(4) appropriate amounts to be provided by the seller as a reserve against any liabilities associated with the property or 
other assets disposed of in such Asset Disposition and retained by the Issuer or any Subsidiary after such Asset Disposition. 
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“Net Cash Proceeds” with respect to any issuance or sale of Capital Stock or sale or other disposition of any Investment, 
means the cash proceeds of such issuance or sale net of attorneys’ fees, accountants’ fees, underwriters’ or placement agents’ 
fees, listing fees, discounts or commissions and brokerage, consultant and other fees and expenses actually incurred in 
connection with such issuance or sale and net of taxes paid or payable in connection with such issuance, sale or disposition. 

“Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio” means at any date (i) Consolidated Net Indebtedness divided by (ii) Consolidated Adjusted 
EBITDA, for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending on or most recently prior to such date for which financial 
statements are available. 

“Notes” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Offer” has the meaning given to it under “ — Covenants — Limitation on Sales of Assets.” 

“offering circular” means this offering circular, dated May 11, 2011 relating to the offering of the Notes and prepared in 
connection with the Program as it may be amended from time to time pursuant to the Dealer Agreement. 

“Permitted Affiliate Guarantees” means guarantees by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries of Indebtedness of any Affiliate of 
the Issuer (other than a Subsidiary of the Issuer). 

“Permitted Affiliate Investments” means Investments by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries to or for the benefit of any of 
Affiliate of the Issuer (other than a Subsidiary of the Issuer). 

“Permitted Business” means a business in which the Issuer and its Affiliates were engaged on the date of the Indenture, as 
described in this offering circular, and any other business reasonably related, incidental, complimentary or ancillary thereto. 

“Permitted Investment” means: 

(1) an Investment by the Issuer or any Subsidiary in the Issuer or any Subsidiary; 

(2) an Investment by the Issuer or any Subsidiary in another Person if as a result of such Investment such other Person is 
merged or consolidated with or into, or transfers or conveys all or substantially all its assets to, the Issuer or a Subsidiary or 
becomes a Subsidiary; provided that such Person’s primary business is a Permitted Business; 

(3) Temporary Cash Investments; 

(4) any Investment acquired from a Person which is merged with or into the Issuer or any Subsidiary, or any Investment 
of any Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary and, in either such case, is not created in connection 
with or in anticipation of any such transaction; 

(5) stocks, obligations or securities received in settlement of (or foreclosure with respect to) debts created in the 
ordinary course of business and owing to the Issuer or any Subsidiary or in satisfaction of judgments or pursuant to any plan 
of reorganization or similar arrangement upon the bankruptcy or insolvency of a debtor; 

(6) any Investment (other than Investments described in clause (16)) existing on the date of the Indenture and any 
Refinancing thereof; provided that such Refinancing shall not increase the aggregate principal amount then outstanding of the 
Investment being Refinanced (plus premiums, interest and reasonable expenses incurred in connection therewith); 

(7) Hedging Obligations permitted under clause (2)(e) of the covenant described under “ — Covenants — Limitation on 
Indebtedness;” 
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(8) guarantees of Indebtedness permitted under the covenant described under “ — Covenants — Limitation on 
Indebtedness;” 

(9) Investments which are made exclusively with Capital Stock of the Issuer (other than Disqualified Stock); 

(10) any acquisition and holding of (a) Brazilian federal and state tax credits acquired solely to pay amounts owed by the 
Issuer or any Subsidiary to Brazilian tax authorities, when authorized by law and (b) discounted obligations of any Brazilian 
governmental authority acquired solely to pay tax amounts owed by the Issuer or any Subsidiary to such Brazilian 
governmental authority, when authorized by law; 

(11) Investments made as a result of the receipt of non-cash consideration from an Asset Disposition that was made in 
compliance with the covenant described in “ — Covenants — Limitation on Sales of Assets”; 

(12) receivables owing to the Issuer or any Subsidiary created or acquired in the ordinary course of business and payable 
or dischargeable in accordance with customary trade terms; provided that such trade terms may include such concessionary 
trade terms as the Issuer or any such Subsidiary deems reasonable under the circumstances; 

(13) payroll, travel and similar advances to cover matters that are expected at the time of such advances ultimately to be 
treated as expenses for accounting purposes and that are made in the ordinary course of business; 

(14) Investments in connection with pledges, deposits, payments or performance bonds made or given in the ordinary 
course of business in connection with or to secure statutory, regulatory or similar obligations, including obligations under 
health, safety or environmental obligations; 

(15) repurchases of the Notes; 

(16) Permitted Affiliate Investments in an aggregate amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the aggregate amount 
of Permitted Affiliate Investments outstanding as of the date of the Indenture plus U.S.$15 million; it being understood that, 
in respect of any Refinancing that is a Permitted Affiliate Investment (other than Permitted Affiliate Guarantees), the terms of 
such Refinancing Indebtedness are no less favorable to the Issuer than the Indebtedness being Refinanced; 

(17) Investments in joint ventures or partnerships or similar arrangements with non-Affiliates entered into by the Issuer 
or any of its Subsidiaries, including any Investments made in compliance with their respective obligations under the relevant 
joint venture, partnership or similar agreement, or for the acquisition of minority interests in such Persons, provided that 
(i) such non-Affiliate shall have recognized expertise in the business to be conducted by such joint venture, partnership or 
other Person, (ii) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall be the exclusive supplier of one or more products to be sold by 
such joint venture, partnership or other Person within Brazil and (iii) either (A) the Issuer or its Subsidiaries shall have the 
ability to elect a majority of the directors, managers or trustees of such joint venture, partnership or other Person by way of a 
shareholders’ or similar agreement or (B) the making of such Investment shall not reduce the Consolidated Net Worth of the 
Issuer; and 

(18) additional Investments having an aggregate Fair Market Value, taken together with all other Investments made 
pursuant to this clause (18) that are at the time outstanding, not to exceed U.S.$30 million at the time of such Investment 
(with the Fair Market Value of each Investment being measured at the time made and without giving effect to subsequent 
changes in value). 

“Permitted Liens” means: 

(1) Liens securing any Series of Notes; 

(2) Liens in favor of the Issuer; 
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(3) Liens on property of a person existing at the time such person is merged with or into or consolidated with the Issuer 
or any Subsidiary of the Issuer; provided that such Liens were in existence prior to the contemplation of such merger or 
consolidation and do not extend to any assets other than those of the person merged into or consolidated with the Issuer or the 
Subsidiary; 

(4) Liens on property (including capital stock) existing at the time of acquisition of the property by the Issuer or any 
Subsidiary of the Issuer; provided that such Liens were in existence prior to such acquisition, and not incurred in 
contemplation of such acquisition; 

(5) Any pledge or deposit made in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or other similar 
social security legislation or good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts or leases; 

(6) Any rights of set-off of any person with respect to any deposit account of the Issuer or any Subsidiary arising in the 
ordinary course of business and not constituting a financing transaction; 

(7) Any Lien granted to secure borrowings from, directly or indirectly, (A) Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento 
Econômico e Social-BNDES or any other Brazilian governmental development bank or credit agency or (B) any international 
or multilateral development bank, government-sponsored agency, export-import bank or agency, or official export-import 
credit insurer; 

(8) Liens to secure the performance of statutory obligations, surety or appeal bonds, performance bonds or other 
obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business; 

(9) Liens existing on the date of the Indenture; 

(10) Liens to secure Permitted Affiliate Guarantees permitted under clause (ix) under “ — Limitation on Indebtedness;” 

(11) Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or claims that are not yet delinquent or that are being 
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; provided that any reserve or other appropriate provision as is required in 
conformity with Brazilian GAAP has been made therefor; 

(12) Any Liens arising by operation of law (including a decision by a court), such as carriers’, warehousemen’s, 
landlord’s and mechanics’ Liens, in each case, incurred in the ordinary course of business; 

(13) survey exceptions, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights-of-way, sewers, electric lines, 
telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real property that 
were not incurred in connection with Indebtedness and that do not in the aggregate materially adversely affect the value of 
said properties or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such person; and 

(14) Liens arising under the terms of repurchase agreements and other derivatives transactions entered into in the 
ordinary course of business; 

(15) Liens created solely for the purpose of securing the payment of all or a part of the purchase price of assets or 
property acquired after the date of the Indenture, provided that the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness secured 
thereby shall not exceed the purchase price of the assets or property so acquired and such Liens shall not encumber any other 
assets or property other than the assets or property so acquired; 

(16) Liens (including the interest of a lessor under a Capitalized Lease Obligation) on property that secure Indebtedness 
incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of such property (whether incurred prior to or within 
365 days after such acquisition, construction or improvement); 

(17) any Liens on the inventory, receivables or property of the Issuer or any Subsidiary securing the obligations of such 
person under any lines of credit or working capital facility or in connection with any  
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structured export or import financing or other trade transaction; provided that the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness 
incurred that is secured by receivables that will fall due in any calendar year shall not exceed (a) with respect to transactions 
secured by receivables from export sales, 80% of the Issuer’s consolidated gross revenue from exports for the immediately 
preceding calendar year; or (b) with respect to transactions secured by receivables from domestic sales, 80% of the Issuer’s 
consolidated gross revenues from domestic sales for the immediately preceding calendar year; and provided, further, that 
Advance Transactions will not be deemed transactions secured by receivables for purpose of the above calculation; 

(18) Liens on accounts receivables incurred in connection with a Receivables Transaction; 

(19) Liens on specific items of inventory or other goods and proceeds of any Person securing such Person’s obligations 
in respect of bankers’ acceptances issued or created for the account of such Person to facilitate the purchase, shipment or 
storage of such inventory or other goods; 

(20) in addition to the Liens set forth in clauses (1) to (19) above, Liens created to guarantee or otherwise secure 
Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed at any time 10% of the Issuer’s Consolidated Total Assets; and 

(21) any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive extensions, renewals or replacements), in whole or in part, of 
any Lien referred to in the clauses (1), (3), (4), (9), (10) and (16) above; provided that the principal amount of Indebtedness 
secured thereby shall not exceed the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness being Refinanced (plus premiums, interest 
and reasonable expenses incurred in connection therewith). 

“Person” or “person” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, trust, joint venture, association, 
organization, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having a separate legal entity. 

“Preferred Stock” as applied to the Capital Stock of any Person, means Capital Stock of any class or classes (however 
designated) that is preferred as to the payment of dividends, or as to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or 
involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such Person, over shares of Capital Stock of any other class of such Person. 

“Principal Paying Agent” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Program” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Real,” “Reais” or “R$” means the lawful currency of Brazil. 

“Receivables Transaction” means any receivables financing transaction of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, the 
obligations in respect of which are non-recourse (except for customary representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities 
made in connection with such transactions) to the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, pursuant to which the Issuer or any of its 
Subsidiaries sells, assigns or transfers their accounts receivable on market terms and the proceeds of which are used in the 
core operations of the Issuer. 

“Refinance” means, in respect of any Indebtedness, to refinance, extend (including pursuant to any defeasance or discharge 
mechanism), renew, refund, repay, replace, prepay, redeem, defease or retire, or to issue other Indebtedness in exchange or 
replacement for, such Indebtedness. “Refinanced” and “Refinancing” shall have correlative meanings. 

“Refinancing Indebtedness” means Indebtedness that is incurred to Refinance any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any 
Subsidiary (including Indebtedness that Refinances Refinancing Indebtedness); provided that: 

(1) the Refinancing Indebtedness has a Stated Maturity no earlier than the Stated Maturity of the Indebtedness being 
Refinanced; 
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(2) the Refinancing Indebtedness has an Average Life at the time such Refinancing Indebtedness is incurred that is 
equal to or greater than the Average Life of the Indebtedness being Refinanced; 

(3) such Refinancing Indebtedness is incurred in an aggregate principal amount (or if issued with original issue 
discount, an aggregate issue price) that is equal to or less than the aggregate principal amount (or if issued with original issue 
discount, the aggregate accreted value) then outstanding of the Indebtedness being Refinanced (plus premiums and interest of 
the Indebtedness being Refinanced and the reasonable expenses incurred in connection with such Refinancing Indebtedness); 
and 

(4) if the Indebtedness being Refinanced is a Subordinated Obligation, such Refinancing Indebtedness is subordinated 
in right of payment to the Notes at least to the same extent as the Indebtedness being Refinanced. 

“Regulation S Global Note” means a Global Note initially sold in reliance in transactions outside the United States in reliance 
on Regulation S with respect to which the Restricted Period therefor has not terminated, deposited on behalf of the 
subscribers for the Notes represented thereby (a) in the case of a DTC Global Note, with the Trustee, as custodian for DTC, 
and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC and (b) in the case of an Euroclear/Clearstream Global Note, 
with the specified Common Depository of Euroclear and Clearstream, and registered in the name of Euroclear, Clearstream 
or their nominee. 

“Responsible Officer” means, with respect to the Trustee, any officer within the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee with 
direct responsibility for the administration of the Indenture and also, with respect to a particular matter, any other officer to 
whom such matter is referred because of such officer’s knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject. 

“Restricted Payment” has the meaning given to it under “ — Covenants — Limitation on Restricted Payments.” 

“Restricted Period” has the meaning given to it under “ — Form of Notes.” 

“Rule 144A Global Note” means a Global Note initially sold in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A, deposited on 
behalf of the subscribers for the Notes represented thereby with the Trustee, as custodian for DTC, and registered in the name 
of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and bearing the applicable restrictive legend. 

“S&P” means Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. and its successors. 

“Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated thereunder. 

“Series” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Specified Currency” has the meaning given to it in “ — General.” 

“Stated Maturity” means, with respect to any Indebtedness, the date specified in such Indebtedness as the fixed date on which 
the final payment of principal of such Indebtedness is due and payable, including, with respect to any principal amount which 
is then due and payable pursuant to any mandatory redemption provision, the date specified for the payment thereof (but 
excluding any provision providing for the repurchase of any such Indebtedness upon the happening of any contingency 
unless such contingency has occurred). 

“Subordinated Obligation” means any Indebtedness that is subordinate or junior to the Notes in right of payment pursuant to 
a written agreement. 
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“Subsidiary” means any corporation, association, partnership or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total 
voting power of shares of Capital Stock or other interests (including partnership interests) entitled (without regard to the 
occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Issuer or one or more Subsidiaries. 

“TARGET System” means the Trans European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer System and any 
successor thereto. 

“Taxes” has the meaning given to it under “ — Additional Amounts.” 

“Temporary Cash Investments” means any of the following: 

(1) Reais, United States dollars, or money in other currencies received in the ordinary course of business that are readily 
convertible into United States dollars; 

(2) any investment in direct obligations of the United States or any agency thereof or obligations guaranteed or insured 
by the United States or any agency thereof and any investment in direct obligations of the National Treasury of Brazil 
(Tesouro Nacional) or the Central Bank of Brazil (Banco Central do Brasil); 

(3) investments in demand deposits, time deposit accounts, certificates of deposit and money market deposits issued by 
a bank or trust company that is organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or any foreign country 
recognized by the United States (in all events not excluding Brazil) having capital, surplus and undivided profits aggregating 
in excess of U.S.$500 million (or the foreign currency equivalent thereof) and whose long-term debt is rated “A” (or such 
similar equivalent rating, including similar equivalent ratings in foreign countries) or higher by at least one nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization (as defined in Rule 436 under the Securities Act); 

(4) repurchase obligations with a term of not more than 30 days for underlying securities of the types described in 
clause (2) above entered into with a bank meeting the qualifications described in clause (3) above; 

(5) investments in commercial paper maturing not more than 365 days after the date of acquisition issued by a 
corporation (other than an Affiliate of the Issuer) organized and in existence under the laws of the United States, Brazil or 
any other foreign country recognized by the United States with a rating at the time as of which any investment therein is 
made of “P-1” (or higher) according to Moody’s or “A-1” (or higher) according to S&P (or such similar equivalent rating, 
including similar equivalent ratings in foreign countries); 

(6) investments in securities with maturities of twelve months or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully 
guaranteed by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States, or by any political subdivision or taxing authority 
thereof, and rated at least “A” by S&P or “A” by Moody’s (or such similar equivalent rating); 

(7) investments in securities with maturities of twelve months or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully 
guaranteed by the Federative Republic of Brazil; 

(8) certificates of deposit, banker’s acceptances, demand deposits and time deposits maturing within one year from the 
date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, 
any Brazilian bank or Brazilian branch or subsidiary of non-Brazilian Bank; provided that such Brazilian bank or Brazilian 
branch or subsidiary of a non-Brazilian bank has (i) an adjusted net worth (patrimônio liquid ajustado) of at least the 
Brazilian currency equivalent of U.S.$200 million, (ii) a local rating with respect to its certificates of deposit of not less than 
brA- by S&P (or its affiliates) or A3.br by Moody’s (or its affiliates) and (iii) in the case of a branch or subsidiary of a  
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non-Brazilian bank, a rating in respect of its short-term obligations of not less than brA- by S&P (or its affiliates) or A3.br by 
Moody’s (or its affiliates); and 

(9) investments in money market funds substantially all the assets of which are comprised of investments of the types 
described in clauses (1) through (8) above. 

“Trustee” has the meaning given to it “ — General.” 

“United States” has the meaning given to such term under Regulation S. 

“Unrestricted Global Note” means any Regulation S Global Note after the termination of the Restricted Period. 

“Voting Stock” of a Person means all classes of Capital Stock of such Person then outstanding that are entitled (without 
regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of management of such Person, but excluding such 
classes of Capital Stock or other interests that are entitled, as a group in a separate cast, to appoint one director of such Person 
as representative of the minority shareholders. 

“Zero Coupon Notes” means Notes issued on a non-interest bearing basis. 
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Subscription and Sale 

The following is subject to change in the applicable Final Terms. In addition, the Dealer(s) who have agreed to purchase 
notes of a Series from us will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Notes may be sold from time to time by us to or through the Dealer(s). The arrangements under which the notes may from 
time to time be agreed to be sold by us to and purchased by the Dealer(s) as principal or through the Dealer(s), as agents, are 
set out in the Dealer Agreement. Any such agreement for the sale of notes will, inter alia, make provision for the form and 
terms and conditions of the relevant notes, the price at which such notes will be purchased by the Dealer(s) and the 
commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by us in respect of such purchase. The Dealer 
Agreement makes provision for resignation of existing Dealer(s) and the appointment of additional Dealers either generally 
in respect of the Program or in relation only to a particular series of notes. 

United States of America 

(a) The notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold 
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with 
Regulation S under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act. Each Dealer will represent that it has offered and sold, and agrees that it will offer and sell, 
notes of any series (i) as part of their distribution at any time and (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the 
completion of the distribution of the series of which such notes are a part, as determined and certified to the 
Trustee by the relevant Dealer (or, in the case of a sale of a Series of notes to or through more than one 
relevant Dealer, by each of such relevant Dealers as to the notes of such Series purchased by or through it, 
in which case the Trustee shall notify each such relevant Dealer when all such relevant Dealers have so 
certified), only in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S or Rule 144A under the Securities Act as set 
forth below. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged 
or will engage in any directed selling efforts in the United States with respect to notes, and it and they have 
complied and will comply with the offering restrictions requirement of Regulation S. Each Dealer and its 
affiliates will also agree that, at or prior to confirmation of sale of notes (other than a sale pursuant to 
Rule 144A), it will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or 
other remuneration that purchases notes from it during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or 
notice to substantially the following effect: 

“THE SECURITIES COVERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR 
TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (I) AS PART OF THEIR 
DISTRIBUTION AT ANY TIME OR (II) OTHERWISE UNTIL 40 DAYS AFTER THE COMPLETION 
OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE SERIES OF WHICH SUCH NOTES ARE A PART, EXCEPT IN 
EITHER CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S OR RULE 144A UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT. TERMS USED ABOVE HAVE THE MEANINGS GIVEN TO THEM BY 
REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.” 

Terms used in this paragraph (a) have the meanings given to them by Regulation S. 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries in the United States or to U.S. 
persons, any Dealer in respect of sales pursuant to Rule 144A may offer, sell and deliver notes in registered 
form in the United States to qualified institutional buyers (as such term is defined in Rule 144A under the 
Securities Act), or QIBs, and in compliance with the requirements of Rule 144A under the Securities Act. 
In connection with each such sale of notes pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act, (i) neither the 
relevant Dealer nor any person acting on its behalf will engage in any form of general solicitation or 
general advertising (as those terms are used in Rule 502(c) under the Securities Act) and (ii) the relevant 
Dealer will deliver an offering circular to each qualified institutional buyer purchasing a note or notes from 
it pursuant to Rule 144A. 
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This Offering Circular has been prepared by us for use in connection with the offer and sale of the notes 
outside the United States to non-U.S. persons and for the resale of the notes in the United States and for the 
listing of the notes on the Irish Stock Exchange. We and the Dealers reserve the right to reject any offer to 
purchase, in whole or in part, and for any reason, the notes offered by each respective Final Terms, or to 
sell or place less than all of the notes of any particular Series under the program. This offering circular does 
not constitute an offer to any person in the United States or to any U.S. person other than any QIB within 
the meaning of Rule 144A to whom an offer has been made directly by the Dealers or an affiliate of one of 
the Dealers (as applicable). Distribution of this offering circular by any non-U.S. person outside the United 
States or by any QIB in the United States to any U.S. person or to any other person within the United 
States, other than any QIB and those persons, if any, retained to advise such non-U.S. person or QIB with 
respect thereto, is unauthorized and any disclosure without our prior written consent of any of its contents 
to any such U.S. person or other person within the United States, other than any QIB and those persons, if 
any, retained to advise such non-U.S. person or QIB, is prohibited. 

European Economic Area 

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a 
“Relevant Member State”), each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the 
program will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which the 
Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made 
and will not make an offer of notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by the offering circular, as completed 
by the final terms in relation thereto, to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and 
including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of such notes to the public in that Relevant Member State: 

(a) if the final terms in relation to the notes specify that an offer of those notes may be made other than 
pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a “Non-exempt Offer”), 
following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such notes which has been approved by the 
competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant 
Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any 
such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the final terms contemplating such Non-exempt 
Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period beginning and ending on the dates 
specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable; 

(b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; 

(c) at any time to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of 
the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in 
the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated 
by the issuer for any such offer; or 

(d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive; provided that 
no such offer of notes referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the issuer or any Dealer to publish a 
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression “an offer of notes to the public” in relation to any notes in any 
Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the 
terms of the offer and the notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the notes, 
as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that 
Member State and the expression “Prospectus  
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Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and any amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 
to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each 
Relevant Member State and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU. 

United Kingdom 

This offering circular is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons in the United Kingdom that are qualified 
investors within the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Directive (“Qualified Investors”) that are also (i) investment 
professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 
(the “Order”) or (ii) high net worth entities, and other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated, falling within 
Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together being referred to as “relevant persons”). This offering circular 
should not be distributed, published or reproduced (in whole or in part) or disclosed by recipients to any other persons in the 
United Kingdom. Any person in the United Kingdom that is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this document or 
any of its contents. 

Brazil 

The notes have not been and will not be issued nor publicly placed, distributed, offered or negotiated in the Brazilian capital 
markets. Neither we nor the issuance of the notes have been or will be registered with the CVM. Any public offering or 
distribution, as defined under Brazilian laws and regulations, of the notes in Brazil is not legal without prior registration 
under Law No. 6,385, of December 7, 1976, as amended, and Instruction No. 400, issued by the CVM on December 29, 
2003, as amended. Documents relating to the offering of the notes, as well as information contained therein, may not be 
supplied to the public in Brazil (as the offering of the notes is not a public offering of securities in Brazil), nor be used in 
connection with any offer for subscription or sale of the notes to the public in Brazil. Therefore, each of the Dealers has 
represented, warranted and agreed that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, the notes in Brazil, except in 
circumstances which do not constitute a public offering, placement, distribution or negotiation of securities in the Brazilian 
capital markets regulated by Brazilian legislation. 

Persons wishing to offer or acquire the notes within Brazil should consult with their own counsel as to the applicability of 
registration requirements or any exemption therefrom. 

General 

Other than with respect to the admission to listing, trading and/or quotation by such one or more listing authorities, stock 
exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, no action has been or will be taken in 
any jurisdiction by the Dealers or us that would permit a public offering of any of the notes, or possession or distribution of 
this offering circular, or any part thereof, including any Final Terms, or any other offering or publicity material relating to the 
notes, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer 
appointed under the program will be required to agree that it will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each 
jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers notes or has in its possession or distributes this offering circular, or 
any part thereof, including any Final Terms, or any such other material, in all cases at its own expense. Each Dealer has 
agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the program will be required to agree that it will also procure that no 
obligations are imposed on us in any such jurisdiction as a result of any of the foregoing actions (except to the extent that 
such actions are our actions). We will have no responsibility for, and each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer 
appointed under the program will be required to agree that it will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it 
for, the acquisition, offer, sale or delivery by it of notes under the laws  
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and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in or from which it may make any acquisition, offer, sale 
or delivery. 

No Dealer is authorized to make any representation or use any information in connection with the issue, offering and sale of 
the notes other than as contained in this offering circular, including the applicable Final Terms, and any other information or 
document supplied. 

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with our agreement and the agreement of the relevant Dealers. Any 
such supplement or modification will be set out in the applicable Final Terms (in the case of a supplement or modification 
relevant only to a particular series of notes) or (in any other case) in a supplement to this offering circular. 

Purchasers of the notes may be required to pay stamp taxes and other charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the 
country of purchase in addition to the purchase price. 
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Transfer Restrictions 

The notes have not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for 
the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with an applicable exemption from the registration requirements 
thereof. Accordingly, the notes are being offered and sold only (1) to “qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in 
Rule 144A under the Securities Act) in compliance with Rule 144A, or (2) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in 
reliance upon Regulation S under the Securities Act. As used in this section, the terms “United States,” “U.S. person” and 
“offshore transactions” have the meanings given to them in Regulation S. 

Each purchaser of notes, by its acceptance thereof, will be deemed to have acknowledged, represented to and agreed with us 
and the Dealers as follows: 

1. it is: 

• a qualified institutional buyer, is aware that the sale of the notes to it is being made in reliance on 
Rule 144A and is acquiring the notes for its own account or for the account of a qualified institutional 
buyer; or 

• not a U.S. person and is purchasing the notes outside the United States in compliance with 
Regulation S. 

2. it understands that the notes are being offered in a transaction not involving any public offering in the 
United States within the meaning of the Securities Act and that the notes have not been registered under the 
Securities Act. 

3. if it is acquiring the notes in a sale made in reliance upon Rule 144A, it will not offer, resell, pledge or 
otherwise transfer notes prior to the date that is one year after the later of the original issue date of the notes 
and the last date on which we or any of our affiliates was the owner of that security (or any predecessor of 
that security) except: 

• to us; 

• inside the United States to a qualified institutional buyer in compliance with Rule 144A; 

• outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in offshore transactions in accordance with Rule 903 or 
Rule 904 of Regulation S; 

• in a transaction complying with Rule 144 under the Securities Act (if available); or 

• pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, 

in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States and other 
jurisdictions. In addition, it will, and each subsequent holder is required to, notify any subsequent purchaser 
of those notes from it of the resale restrictions referred to above. 

4. if it is acquiring the notes in a sale being made in reliance upon Rule 144A, it understands that the notes 
will bear a legend substantially to the following effect: 

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT 
OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY OTHER SECURITIES LAWS. THE 
HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THIS NOTE, AGREES THAT THIS NOTE OR ANY 
INTEREST OR PARTICIPATION HEREIN MAY BE OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR 
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY (I) TO SIFCO S.A. OR A SUBSIDIARY OF SIFCO S.A., (II) SO 
LONG AS THIS NOTE IS ELIGIBLE FOR RESALE PURSUANT TO RULE 144A UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT (“RULE 144A”), TO A PERSON WHO THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES 
IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A) IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH RULE 144A, (III) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 
OR 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (IV) PURSUANT TO AN 
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AFFORDED BY RULE 144  
UNDER THE  
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SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) OR (VI) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION 
STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, AND IN EACH OF SUCH CASES IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR 
ANY OTHER APPLICABLE JURISDICTION. 

BY ACCEPTANCE OF THIS NOTE BEARING THE ABOVE LEGEND, WHETHER UPON 
ORIGINAL ISSUANCE OR SUBSEQUENT TRANSFER, EACH HOLDER OF THIS NOTE 
ACKNOWLEDGES THE RESTRICTIONS ON THE TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE SET FORTH 
ABOVE AND AGREES THAT IT SHALL TRANSFER THIS NOTE ONLY AS PROVIDED HEREIN 
AND IN THE INDENTURE. 

THE FOREGOING LEGEND MAY BE REMOVED FROM THIS NOTE ON SATISFACTION OF THE 
CONDITIONS SPECIFIED IN THE INDENTURE. 

5. If it is acquiring the notes in a sale being made in reliance upon Regulation S, it understands that the notes 
will bear a legend substantially to the following effect: 

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT 
OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, 
PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM 
REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER 
JURISDICTION. 

BY ACCEPTANCE OF THIS NOTE BEARING THE ABOVE LEGEND, WHETHER UPON 
ORIGINAL ISSUANCE OR SUBSEQUENT TRANSFER, EACH HOLDER OF THIS NOTE 
ACKNOWLEDGES THE RESTRICTIONS ON THE TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE SET FORTH 
ABOVE AND AGREES THAT IT SHALL TRANSFER THIS NOTE ONLY AS PROVIDED HEREIN 
AND IN THE INDENTURE. 

THE FOREGOING LEGEND MAY BE REMOVED FROM THIS NOTE ON SATISFACTION OF THE 
CONDITIONS SPECIFIED IN THE INDENTURE. 

6. if it is a purchaser in a sale that occurs outside the United States within the meaning of Regulation S, it 
agrees that until the expiration of a 40-day “distribution compliance period” within the meaning of 
Rule 903 of Regulation S under the Securities Act, no offer or sale of the notes shall be made by it to a U.S. 
person or for the account or benefit of a U.S. person within the meaning of Rule 902(o) of the Securities 
Act except to a qualified institutional buyer and in compliance with the applicable restrictions set forth in 
paragraph (5) above. 

7. it acknowledges that the trustee will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any notes acquired 
by it, except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to us that the restrictions set forth herein have been 
complied with. 

8. it acknowledges that we and the Dealers will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing 
acknowledgments, representations and agreements and agrees that, if any of the acknowledgments, 
representations or warranties deemed to have been made by its purchase of notes is no longer accurate, it 
will promptly notify us and the Dealers. If it is acquiring any notes as a fiduciary or agent for one or more 
investor accounts, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and 
that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgments, representations and agreements on behalf of 
each such account. 

9. it will be deemed to have made the representations and agreements described in “United States ERISA and 
Certain Other Considerations” below. 
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Taxation 

The following discussion contains a description of the material Brazilian, Japanese and United States federal income tax 
considerations that may be relevant to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of notes by a noteholder. This summary 
does not describe all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to you or your situation, particularly if you are subject to 
special tax rules. You should consult your own tax advisors about the tax consequences of investing in and holding the notes, 
including the relevance to your particular situation of the considerations discussed below, as well as of state, local and other 
tax laws. The following discussion summarizes the main Brazilian tax considerations relating to the acquisition, ownership 
and disposition of the notes by an individual, entity, trust or organization that is not resident or domiciled in Brazil for 
purposes of Brazilian taxation, or Non-Resident Holder. 

This summary is based upon tax laws of Brazil, the Japan and the United States as in effect on the date of this offering 
circular, which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect, and to differing interpretations. You should consult 
your own tax advisors as to the Brazilian, Japanese, the United States or other tax consequences of the purchase, ownership 
and disposition of notes. 

Brazilian Taxation 

The following discussion is a summary of the Brazilian tax considerations relating to an investment in the notes by an 
individual, entity, trust or organization considered to be non-resident of Brazil for tax purposes. The discussion is based on 
the tax laws of Brazil as in effect on the date hereof and is subject to any change in Brazilian law that may come into effect 
after such date. The information set forth below is intended to be a general discussion only and does not address all possible 
tax consequences relating to an investment in the notes. Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors as to the 
specific tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of the notes, in particular with regard to notes having special 
features such as notes denominated in a foreign currency as to the holder and notes subject to currency constraint, sovereign 
event or credit event provisions. 

This summary does not address any tax issues that may affect solely Sifco, such as the deductibility of expenses. 

Interest Payment under the Notes 

As a general rule, non-Brazilian residents are taxed in Brazil only when income is derived from Brazilian sources. The 
applicability of Brazilian taxes with respect to payments on the notes will depend on the origin the domicile or residence of 
the recipient of such payments. 

Interest (including original issue discount) payable by a Brazilian obligor to a Non-Resident Holder is generally subject to 
withholding income tax at the rate of 15%, unless: (i) some other lower rate is provided for in a tax treaty between Brazil and 
the country where the Non-Resident Holder is domiciled; or (ii) the Non-Resident Holder is domiciled in a low tax 
jurisdiction, in which case the applicable rate is 25% (the withholding income tax rate remains 15% in the event of interest 
income payable by a Brazilian obligor to an individual, company, trust or organization domiciled outside Brazil in respect of 
debt obligations resulting from the issuance by a Brazilian issuer of international debt securities previously registered with 
the Central Bank, including commercial paper, as provided for in Section 10 of Normative Instruction no. 252, dated 
December 3, 2002 issued by the Brazilian Revenue Service). 

A lower withholding rate may be applicable where there is a tax treaty between Brazil and the country where the beneficiary 
of the payment has its domicile. Brazil and Japan are signatories to a treaty (the “Japan Treaty”) for the avoidance of double 
taxation. Under the Japan Treaty, payments of interest to entities incorporated in Japan (or a branch thereof) or other types of 
income deemed similar to income from borrowed funds under Brazilian tax law will be subject to a Brazilian withholding tax 
rate of 12.5%. We believe and intend to take the position for tax purposes that, as long as such payments are made by the  
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issuer to a Principal Paying Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the notes of each series and provided further that 
such Principal Paying Agent is a tax resident of Japan and is qualified for the treaty benefits under the notes, interest 
(including any original issue discount) will likely be subject to Brazilian tax at a rate of 12.5% pursuant to the Brazil-Japan 
Treaty. For this purpose, the Principal Paying Agent must be granted discharge powers and be authorized to receive payments 
on behalf of the holders of the notes, which would release the Brazilian debtor from the payment obligations. If the issuer is 
not able to rely on the treaty to make the payments, or the payments are not made by us to the Principal Paying Agent any 
such payments will be subject to the Brazilian withholding income tax at the rates referred to in the preceding paragraph. 

A low tax jurisdiction is a jurisdiction which does not impose any tax on income or which imposes such tax at a maximum 
effective rate lower than 20%. In addition, on June 24, 2008, Law 11,727 was enacted with effect from January 1, 2009, 
establishing that a jurisdiction or country where local legislation imposes restrictions on disclosing the shareholding 
composition or the ownership of an investment is also considered a low tax jurisdiction. Law No. 11,727 also changed the 
scope of new transactions that would be subject to Brazilian transfer pricing rules, with the creation of the concept of a tax 
privileged regime. Pursuant to Law No. 11,727, a jurisdiction will be considered a privileged tax regime if it (i) does not tax 
income or that taxes it at a maximum rate lower than 20%; (ii) grants tax advantages to a non-resident entity or individual 
(a) without the need to carry out a substantial economic activity in the country or territory or (b) conditioned upon the non-
exercise of a substantial economic activity in the country or territory, (iii) does not tax proceeds generated abroad or taxes 
them at a maximum rate lower than 20%, or (iv) restricts the ownership disclosure of assets and ownership rights or restricts 
disclosure about economic transactions carried out. In addition, on June 7, 2010, the Brazilian tax authorities enacted 
Ordinance No. 1,037, as amended, listing (i) the countries and jurisdictions considered low tax jurisdiction, and (ii) the 
privileged tax regimes. 

Although the interpretation of the current Brazilian tax legislation could lead to the conclusion that such concept of 
“privileged tax regime” shall be solely applied for purposes of the observance of transfer pricing and thin capitalization rules, 
it is still not clear whether this “privileged tax regime” concept will also be applied to interest payments made to Non-
Resident Holders in respect of the notes, under this scenario reviewed above. 

Potential investors should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the consequences of the implementation of Law 
No. 11,727, Ordinance No. 1,037 and of any related Brazilian tax law or regulation concerning low tax jurisdiction and 
“privileged tax regimes”. 

Capital Gains 

According to Section 26 of Law No. 10,833 enacted on December 29, 2003, capital gains realized on the disposal of assets 
located in Brazil by a non-resident to another non-resident made outside Brazil are subject to taxation in Brazil. 

Nevertheless, on the basis that the notes will be issued outside Brazil by a non-resident entity, we believe that gains on the 
sale or other disposition of the Notes made outside Brazil by a Non-Resident Holder to another non-Brazilian resident will 
not be subject to Brazilian taxes, since the notes would not fall within the definition of assets located in Brazil for purposes of 
Law No. 10,833. However, considering the general scope of Law No. 10,833 and the absence of judicial guidance in respect 
thereof, we are unable to predict whether such interpretation will ultimately prevail in the Brazilian courts. 

In case the notes are deemed to be located in Brazil, gains recognized by Non-Resident Holder from the sale or other 
disposition of the notes to a resident or a non-resident in Brazil will be subject to income tax in Brazil at a rate of 15%, or 
25% if such non-resident is located in a low tax jurisdiction. 
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Other Brazilian Tax Considerations 

IOF/Câmbio may apply if payments are made from Brazil. Pursuant to Decree No. 6,306, of December 14, 2007, the 
conversion of foreign currency into Brazilian reais and the conversion of Brazilian reais into foreign currency are subject to 
the IOF/Câmbio. Currently, the IOF/Câmbio rate is 0.38% for most transfers of foreign currency into reais. The rate is 6% 
for foreign loans, including those obtained through the issuance of notes in the international market, with an average term not 
exceeding 720 days (the renewal, renegotiation or credit or debt assumption of a foreign loan with an average term not 
exceeding 720 days, as well as foreign loans with a put or call option of equivalent term are subject to IOF/Câmbio at the 
mentioned 6% rate and foreign loans with an average term of more than 360 days which are partially or fully settled before 
720 days are subject to IOF/Câmbio at the mentioned 6% rate, plus penalties and interest). In any event, the Brazilian 
Government may increase the current IOF/Câmbio rate at any time, up to a maximum rate of 25%. Any such new rate would 
only apply to future foreign exchange transactions. 

IOF also applies to credit transactions in general. IOF is not levied on foreign credit transactions in which the creditor is 
domiciled outside Brazil, in which case IOF/Exchange will apply. IOF levied on credit transactions is usually assessed at a 
daily rate of 0.0041%, up to a limit of 1.5%. Additionally, an IOF surtax of 0.38% is currently applicable to most of the credit 
transactions, regardless of the term for the transaction maturing. 

Generally, there are no stamp, transfer or other similar taxes in Brazil with respect to the transfer, assignment or sale of the 
notes outside Brazil. Under Brazilian law, the transfer of a note by gift made by a noteholder (whether or not a Non-Resident 
Holder) and involving a resident of Brazil may be subject to Gift Tax (Imposto Sobre Transmissão Causa Mortis e Doação 
de Quaisquer Bens ou Direitos) imposed on the donee by the state in which such Brazilian donee resides. 

Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations 

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CIRCULAR 230, HOLDERS ARE HEREBY 
NOTIFIED THAT: (A) ANY DISCUSSION OF FEDERAL TAX ISSUES IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS NOT 
INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE RELIED UPON, AND CANNOT BE RELIED UPON, BY HOLDERS FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF AVOIDING PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON HOLDERS UNDER THE INTERNAL 
REVENUE CODE; (B) SUCH DISCUSSION IS INCLUDED HEREIN BY THE ISSUER IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
PROMOTION OR MARKETING (WITHIN THE MEANING OF CIRCULAR 230) BY THE ISSUER OF THE NOTES; 
AND (C) HOLDERS SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN 
INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR. 

The following is a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and 
disposition of the notes by a “U.S. holder” (as defined below). This summary does not address the material U.S. federal 
income tax consequences of every type of note which may be issued under the program, and the relevant Final Terms may 
contain additional or modified disclosure concerning the material U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant to such 
type of note as appropriate. The summary deals only with notes that will be purchased by U.S. holders and held as capital 
assets. This summary is based upon United States laws, including the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”), U.S. Treasury Regulations (“Treasury Regulations”) (final, proposed and temporary) promulgated thereunder, 
rulings, judicial decisions and administrative pronouncements, all as currently in effect, and all of which are subject to 
change or changes in interpretation, possibly on a retroactive basis. The summary is included herein for general information 
only, and there can be no assurance that the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) will take a similar view of the U.S. 
federal income tax treatment of an investment in the notes as described herein. 

In particular, this summary does not purport to deal with persons in special tax situations, such as U.S. expatriates, persons 
subject to the alternative minimum tax, financial institutions, insurance companies,  
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regulated investment companies, dealers in securities or currencies, traders in securities electing to mark their investments to 
market, tax-exempt entities, banks, persons holding notes as a hedge against currency risks or as a position in a straddle for 
tax purposes, persons owning (directly, indirectly or by attribution) 10% or more of the outstanding share capital or voting 
power of the issuer, persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar or persons that purchase notes for a price other 
than the respective issue prices of the notes at their original issuance (except where otherwise specifically noted). Moreover, 
this summary deals only with notes with a term less than 30 years. This summary does not address any U.S. federal tax laws 
(such as the estate tax or gift tax) other than U.S. federal income tax laws. 

Prospective purchasers of notes should consult the relevant Final Terms for any additional discussion of tax consequences 
that may be relevant to that particular issue and are urged to consult their own tax advisors in determining the particular U.S. 
federal, state, local and any other tax consequences to them of the purchase, ownership and disposition of notes. 

As used herein, the term “U.S. holder” means a beneficial owner of a note that is (i) a citizen or individual resident of the 
United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (ii) a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of 
Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust, 
if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more 
U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or the income of which is otherwise subject to 
U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source. 

If a partnership (or an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds notes, the tax 
treatment of a partner generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A partner in a 
partnership that holds notes is urged to consult its tax advisor regarding the specific tax consequences of the purchase, 
ownership and disposition of the notes. 

For purposes of this summary, a “Foreign Currency Note” means a note on which all payments which a U.S. holder is 
entitled to receive are denominated in, or determined by reference to, a single Foreign Currency. For this purpose, “Foreign 
Currency” means a currency or currency unit other than U.S. dollars. 

U.S. Currency Notes 

Payments of Interest 

Except as described below under “ — Original Issue Discount,” payments of interest on a note (including additional amounts 
paid with respect to withholding tax on such note, if any, and withholding tax on payments of such additional amounts) 
generally will be taxable to a U.S. holder as ordinary interest income at the time such payments are received or are accrued in 
accordance with the U.S. holder’s method of tax accounting. 

Effect of Brazilian Withholding Taxes 

As discussed in “Taxation — Brazilian Taxation,” payments of interest in respect of the notes are subject to Brazilian 
withholding taxes. As discussed under “Description of the Notes — Taxation,” the issuer is liable for the payment of 
additional amounts to U.S. holders so that U.S. holders receive the same amounts they would have received had no Brazilian 
withholding taxes been imposed. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, U.S. holders will be treated as having actually 
received the amount of Brazilian taxes withheld by the issuer with respect to a note, and as then having actually paid over the 
withheld taxes to the Brazilian taxing authorities. As a result of this rule, the amount of interest income included in gross 
income for U.S. federal income tax purposes by a U.S. holder with respect to a payment of interest may be greater than the 
amount of cash actually received (or receivable) by the U.S. holder from the issuer with respect to the payment. 
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Subject to certain limitations, a U.S. holder will generally be entitled to a credit against its U.S. federal income tax liability, 
or a deduction in computing its U.S. federal taxable income, for Brazilian income taxes withheld by the issuer; provided that, 
if a U.S. holder elects to deduct Brazilian taxes for any taxable year, such U.S. holder must deduct, rather than credit, all 
foreign taxes for such taxable year. For purposes of the foreign tax credit limitation, foreign source income is classified in 
one of two “baskets,” and the credit for foreign taxes on income in any such basket is limited to U.S. federal income tax 
allocable to that income. Interest and original issue discount (“OID”) on the notes generally will be attributable to the 
“passive income” basket. In certain circumstances, a U.S. holder may be unable to claim foreign tax credits (and may instead 
be allowed deductions) for Brazilian taxes imposed on a payment of interest if the U.S. holder has not held the Notes for at 
least 16 days during the 31-day period beginning on the date that is 15 days before the date on which the right to receive the 
payment arises. Since a U.S. holder may be required to include OID on the notes in its gross income in advance of any 
withholding of Brazilian income taxes from payments attributable to the OID (which would generally occur only when the 
note is repaid or redeemed), a U.S. holder may not be entitled to a credit or deduction for these Brazilian income taxes in the 
year the OID is included in the U.S. holder’s gross income, and may be limited in its ability to credit or deduct in full the 
Brazilian taxes in the year those taxes are actually withheld by the issuer. The rules for foreign tax credits are complex, and 
prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors concerning the foreign tax credit implications to them of the payment 
of any Brazilian taxes. 

Original Issue Discount 

The following summary is a general discussion of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. holders of the 
ownership and disposition of notes issued with OID (“Discount Notes”) under applicable Treasury Regulations (the “OID 
Regulations”). Except as described below under “ — Contingent Payments,” this summary does not discuss notes that are 
characterized as “contingent payment debt instruments” for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which are subject to special 
provisions with respect to the U.S. federal income tax treatment of OID. 

A note, other than a note with a term of one year or less (a “Short-Term Note”), will be treated as issued with OID if the 
amount by which the note’s stated redemption price at maturity exceeds its issue price is more than a de minimis amount. 
Generally, a note’s “issue price” will be the first price at which a substantial amount of notes included in the issue of which 
the note is a part is sold to persons other than bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity 
of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers. The “stated redemption price at maturity” of a note is the sum of all 
payments provided by the note other than “qualified stated interest” payments. 

In general, under a de minimis exception, a note is not treated as issued with OID if the amount by which its stated 
redemption price at maturity exceeds its issue price is less than the de minimis amount of 1/4 of 1% of its stated redemption 
price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to its maturity date from its original issue date (or its weighted 
average maturity if the note is an installment obligation). 

The term “qualified stated interest” generally means stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other 
than debt instruments of the issuer) at least annually at a single fixed rate of interest or a variable rate. In addition, under the 
OID Regulations, if a note bears interest for one or more initial accrual periods at a rate below the rate applicable for the 
remaining term of such note (e.g., notes with teaser rates or interest holidays), and if the greater of either the resulting 
foregone interest on such note or any “true” discount on such note (i.e., the excess of the note’s stated principal amount over 
its issue price) equals or exceeds a specified de minimis amount as determined under the OID Regulations, then the stated 
interest on the note would be treated as OID rather than qualified stated interest. 

A U.S. holder of a Discount Note must include OID in income as ordinary interest income for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes as it accrues generally under a constant-yield method in advance of receipt of the cash payments attributable to such 
income, regardless of such U.S. holder’s regular method of tax accounting. In  
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general, the amount of OID included in income by the initial U.S. holder of a Discount Note is the sum of the daily portions 
of OID with respect to such Discount Note for each day during the taxable year (or portion of the taxable year) on which the 
U.S. holder held the Discount Note. The daily portion of OID on any Discount Note is determined by allocating to each day 
in any accrual period a ratable portion of the OID allocable to that accrual period. Accrual periods may be of any length and 
may vary in length over the term of the Discount Note, provided that each accrual period is no longer than one year and each 
scheduled payment of principal or interest occurs either on the final day or first day of an accrual period. The amount of OID 
allocable to each accrual period generally is equal to the difference between (i) the product of the Discount Note’s “adjusted 
issue price” at the beginning of the accrual period and the Discount Note’s yield to maturity (determined on the basis of 
compounding at the close of each accrual period and appropriately adjusted to take into account the length of the particular 
accrual period) and (ii) the amount of any qualified stated interest payments allocable to such accrual period. The “adjusted 
issue price” of a Discount Note at the beginning of any accrual period is the sum of the issue price of the Discount Note plus 
the amount of OID allocable to all prior accrual periods minus the amount of any prior payments on the Discount Note that 
were not qualified stated interest payments. Under these rules, U.S. holders generally will have to include in taxable income 
increasingly greater amounts of OID in successive accrual periods. 

Acquisition Premium 

A U.S. holder that purchases a Discount Note for an amount less than or equal to the sum of all amounts payable on the note 
after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified stated interest, but in excess of its adjusted issue price (any such 
excess being “acquisition premium”) and that does not make the election described below under “Election to Treat All 
Interest as Original Issue Discount,” is permitted to reduce the daily portions of OID by a fraction, the numerator of which is 
the excess of the U.S. holder’s adjusted basis in the note immediately after its purchase over the note’s adjusted issue price, 
and the denominator of which is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable on the note after the purchase date, other than 
payments of qualified stated interest, over the note’s adjusted issue price. 

Amortizable Bond Premium 

A U.S. holder that purchases a note for more than the sum of all amounts payable on the note after the purchase date, other 
than payments of qualified stated interest, may elect to amortize the bond premium. If a U.S. holder makes such an election, 
the amount of interest on the note otherwise required to be included in the U.S. holder’s income will be reduced each year by 
the amount of amortizable bond premium allocable to such year on a constant yield to maturity basis (except to the extent 
Treasury Regulations may provide otherwise). If a note is redeemable prior to maturity, the amount of amortizable bond 
premium will be determined with reference to the amount payable on the earlier redemption date if such determination results 
in a smaller premium attributable to the period ending on the earlier redemption date. The election to amortize bond premium 
cannot be revoked without the consent of the IRS. Amortized bond premium will reduce the U.S. holder’s tax basis in the 
note by the amount of the premium amortized in any year. An election to amortize bond premium will thereafter apply to 
bond premium on certain other debt instruments that the U.S. holder then owns or thereafter acquired at a premium, and the 
election may have different tax consequences depending on when the debt instruments were issued or acquired. Special rules 
apply to (a) certain notes payable in or by reference to a foreign currency, discussed below under “ — Foreign Currency 
Notes,” and (b) certain notes with contingent interest payments. A U.S. holder that does not elect to take bond premium 
(other than acquisition premium) into account currently will recognize a loss when the note matures as described below in 
“ — Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable Disposition of U.S. Currency Notes.” A U.S. holder should consult its tax advisor 
before making an election to amortize bond premium. 
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Market Discount 

A note, other than a Short-Term Note, generally will be treated as purchased at a market discount (a “Market Discount Note”) 
if the note’s stated redemption price at maturity or, in the case of a Discount Note, the Note’s “revised issue price,” exceeds 
the amount for which the U.S. holder purchased the note by at least 0.25% of the note’s stated redemption price at maturity or 
revised issue price, respectively, multiplied by the number of complete years to the note’s maturity (or, in the case of a note 
that is an installment obligation, the note’s weighted average maturity). If this excess is not sufficient to cause the note to be a 
Market Discount Note, then the excess constitutes “de minimis market discount.” For this purpose, the “revised issue price” 
of a note generally equals its issue price, increased by the amount of any OID that has accrued on the note and decreased by 
the amount of any payments previously made on the note that were not qualified stated interest payments. 

Any gain recognized on the maturity or disposition of a Market Discount Note (including any payment on a note that is not 
qualified stated interest) will be treated as ordinary income to the extent that the gain does not exceed the accrued market 
discount on the note. Alternatively, a U.S. holder of a Market Discount Note may elect to include market discount in income 
currently over the life of the note. This election shall apply to all debt instruments with market discount acquired by the 
electing U.S. holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies. This election may not be 
revoked without the consent of the IRS. A U.S. holder of a Market Discount Note that does not elect to include market 
discount in income currently will generally be required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings incurred to purchase or 
carry a Market Discount Note that is in excess of the interest and OID on the note includible in the U.S. holder’s income, to 
the extent that this excess interest expense does not exceed the portion of the market discount allocable to the days on which 
the Market Discount Note was held by the U.S. holder. 

Market discount will accrue on a straight-line basis unless the U.S. holder elects to accrue the market discount on a 
constant-interest method. This election applies only to the Market Discount Note with respect to which it is made and is 
irrevocable. 

Prospective purchasers are urged to consult their tax advisors if such purchasers purchase a note at a discount or premium 
from the note’s issue price. In this event, the notes so purchased may be subject to special U.S. federal income tax rules 
relating to the treatment of market discount or acquisition or bond premium. 

Election to Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount 

A U.S. holder may elect to include in gross income all interest that accrues on a note using the constant yield method 
discussed above under “ — Original Issue Discount,” with certain modifications. For purposes of this election, interest 
includes stated interest, OID, de minimis OID, market discount, de minimis market discount and unstated interest, as adjusted 
by any amortizable bond premium or acquisition premium. 

Generally, this election will apply only to the note with respect to which it is made and must be made for the taxable year in 
which the U.S. holder acquired the note. However, if a note subject to an election has amortizable bond premium, the U.S. 
holder will be deemed to have made an election to apply amortizable bond premium against interest for all debt instruments 
with amortizable bond premium, other than debt instruments the interest on which is excludible from gross income, that such 
U.S. holder holds as of the beginning of the taxable year to which the election applies or any taxable year thereafter. 
Additionally, if a U.S. holder makes the election for a Market Discount Note, such U.S. holder will be treated as having made 
the election discussed above under “ — Market Discount” to include market discount in income currently over the life of all 
debt instruments that such U.S. holder currently owns or later acquires. A U.S. holder may not revoke any election to apply 
the constant yield method to all interest on a note or the deemed elections with respect to amortizable bond premium or 
Market Discount Notes without the consent of the IRS. U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the 
advisability of making this election. 
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Short-Term Notes 

In general, an individual or other cash basis U.S. holder of a Short-Term Note is not required to accrue OID (as specially 
defined below for the purposes of this paragraph) for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless it elects to do so (but may be 
required to include any stated interest in income as the interest is received). Accrual basis U.S. holders and certain other U.S. 
holders are required to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes on a straight-line basis or, if the U.S. holder so elects, under the 
constant-yield method (based on daily compounding). In the case of a U.S. holder not required and not electing to include 
OID in income currently, any gain realized on the sale or retirement of the Short-Term Note will be ordinary income to the 
extent of the OID accrued on a straight-line basis (unless an election is made to accrue the OID under the constant-yield 
method) through the date of sale or retirement. U.S. holders who are not required and do not elect to accrue OID on Short-
Term Notes will be required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings allocable to Short-Term Notes in an amount not 
exceeding the deferred income until the deferred income is realized. 

For purposes of determining the amount of OID subject to these rules, all interest payments on a Short-Term Note are 
included in the Short-Term Note’s stated redemption price at maturity (i.e., all payments of interest are OID). A U.S. holder 
may elect to determine OID on a Short-Term Note as if the Short-Term Note had been originally issued to the U.S. holder at 
the U.S. holder’s purchase price for the Short-Term Note. This election shall apply to all obligations with a maturity of one 
year or less acquired by the U.S. holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies, and may 
not be revoked without the consent of the IRS. 

Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable Disposition of U.S. Currency Notes 

Generally, upon the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of a note, a U.S. holder will recognize taxable gain or loss 
equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition (other than amounts 
representing accrued and unpaid qualified stated interest, which is taxable as interest) and such U.S. holder’s adjusted tax 
basis in the note. A U.S. holder’s adjusted tax basis in a note generally equals the cost of the note, increased by the amount of 
any OID and de minimis OID (and market discount if an election has been made to include currently) included in the U.S. 
holder’s income with respect to the note and decreased by the amount of any payments that are not qualified stated interest. 
Except to the extent described under “ — Market Discount,” “ — Short Term Notes” or “Foreign Currency Notes,” any gain 
or loss recognized on a sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of a note, other than amounts attributable to accrued and 
unpaid interest, will be U.S. source gain or loss and generally will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if at the time of 
the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition, the note was held for more than one year. In the case of a U.S. holder who is 
an individual (or other non-corporate U.S. holder), long-term capital gains, if any, generally will be subject to U.S. federal 
income taxation at preferential rates. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to significant limitations. 

Gain realized by a U.S. holder on the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of a note generally will be treated as U.S. 
source income. Consequently, if Brazilian withholding tax is imposed on such gain, the U.S. holder will not be able to use the 
corresponding foreign tax credit, unless the holder has other foreign source income of the appropriate type in respect of 
which the credit may be used. The U.S. foreign tax credit rules are very complex, and your ability to credit foreign taxes may 
be subject to various limitations. Accordingly, prospective investors should consult their own advisors with respect to the 
application of these rules to their particular circumstances. 
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Optional Redemption 

In general, if a note provides for an alternative payment schedule or schedules applicable upon the occurrence of a 
contingency or contingencies and the timing and amounts of the payments that comprise each payment schedule are known 
as of the issue date of such note a U.S. holder must determine the yield and maturity of such note by assuming that the 
payments will be made according to the payment schedule, if any, that is significantly more likely than not to occur. 

Notwithstanding the general rules for determining yield and maturity, if either a U.S. holder or the issuer has an 
unconditional option or options that, if exercised, would require payments to be made on such note under an alternative 
payment schedule or schedules, then (i) in the case of an option or options that the issuer may exercise, the issuer will be 
deemed to exercise or not exercise an option or combination of options in the manner that minimizes the yield on such note 
and (ii) in the case of an option or options that a U.S. holder may exercise, it will be deemed to exercise or not exercise an 
option or combination of options in the manner that maximizes the yield on such note. If both a U.S. holder and the issuer 
hold options described in the preceding sentence, those rules will apply to each option in the order in which they may be 
exercised. 

If a contingency, including the exercise of an option, actually occurs or does not occur contrary to an assumption made 
according to the above rules, then except to the extent that a portion of a note is repaid as a result of this change in 
circumstances and solely to determine the amount and accrual of OID, a U.S. holder must redetermine the yield and maturity 
of such note by treating such note as having been retired and reissued on the date of the change in circumstances for an 
amount equal to such note’s adjusted issue price on that date. 

Contingent Payments 

In certain circumstances, the issuer may be obligated to pay holders amounts in excess of the stated interest and principal 
payable on the notes. The obligation to make such payments, including additional interest and redemption premiums payable 
in certain circumstances, may implicate the provisions of Treasury regulations relating to “contingent payment debt 
instruments.” If the notes were deemed to be contingent payment debt instruments, a U.S. holder might, among other things, 
be required to treat any gain recognized on the sale or other disposition of a note as ordinary income rather than as capital 
gain, and the timing and amount of income inclusion may be different from the consequences discussed herein. The issuer 
intends to take the position that the likelihood that such payments will be made is remote and/or incidental and therefore the 
notes are not subject to the rules governing contingent payment debt instruments. This determination will be binding on a 
U.S. holder unless such U.S. holder explicitly discloses on a statement attached to such U.S. holder’s timely filed U.S. federal 
income tax return for the taxable year that includes the acquisition date of the note that such U.S. holder’s determination is 
different. It is possible, however, that the IRS may take a contrary position from that described above, in which case the tax 
consequences to a U.S. holder could differ materially and adversely from those described herein. This disclosure assumes that 
the notes will not be treated as contingent payment debt instruments. 

Foreign Currency Notes 

The discussion below relates to the notes the payment of which is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a single 
Foreign Currency. 

Interest — Cash Method 

A U.S. holder who uses the cash method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes and who receives a payment of 
interest on a note (other than OID, the treatment of which is described below under “ — Interest — Accrual Method”) will be 
required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency payment, based on the spot exchange rate on the 
date of receipt, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted to U.S. dollars at that time. A cash method U.S. holder 
generally will not realize exchange gain or loss on the receipt of the interest payment but may have exchange gain or loss 
attributable to a subsequent disposition of the Foreign Currency so received which will be U.S. source ordinary income or 
loss. 



132 
 

Interest — Accrual Method 

A U.S. holder who uses the accrual method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or who otherwise is required 
to accrue interest prior to receipt, will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the amount of interest income 
that has accrued and is otherwise required to be taken into account with respect to a Foreign Currency Note during an accrual 
period. The U.S. dollar value of such accrued income will be determined by translating such income at the average rate of 
exchange in effect for the interest accrual period or, with respect to an accrual period that spans two taxable years, at the 
average rate for the partial period within the U.S. holder’s taxable year. The average rate of exchange for an interest accrual 
period (or partial period) is the simple average of the spot exchange rates for each business day of such period or other 
average rate for the period that is reasonably derived and consistently applied by the U.S. holder. A U.S. holder may elect, 
however, to translate such accrued interest income at the spot rate on the last day of the interest accrual period, or the last day 
of the accrual period in that taxable year in the case of a partial accrual period. If the last day of the interest accrual period is 
within five business days of the date of receipt of the accrued interest, a U.S. holder may translate such interest at the spot 
rate on the date of receipt. The above election will apply to all debt obligations held by the U.S. holder at the beginning of the 
first taxable year to which the election applies and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS. U.S. holders should 
consult their own tax advisors as to the advisability of making the above election. 

A U.S. holder will recognize exchange gain or loss (which will be treated as U.S. source ordinary income or loss) with 
respect to accrued interest on the date such interest is received, and which generally will not be treated as an adjustment to 
interest income or expense. The amount of ordinary income or loss so recognized will equal the difference, if any, between 
the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency payment received (determined on the basis of the spot rate on the date such 
payment is received) in respect of the accrual period and the U.S. dollar value of interest income that has accrued during such 
accrual period (as determined above), regardless of whether such U.S. holder actually converts the payment into U.S. dollars. 

Original Issue Discount 

In the case of a Discount Note that is also a Foreign Currency Note, a U.S. holder must determine OID allocable to each 
accrual period in units of the Foreign Currency using the constant yield method described in “ — U.S. Currency Notes — 
Original Issue Discount” above. Accrued OID is translated into U.S. dollars and the U.S. holder will recognize Foreign 
Currency gain or loss on the accrued OID in the same manner as described above in “ — Interest — Accrual Method.” Such 
U.S. holder may recognize U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) when it receives an amount 
attributable to OID in connection with a payment of interest or the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of such note. 
U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the interplay between the application of the OID and foreign 
currency exchange gain or loss rules. 

Amortizable Bond Premium (including Acquisition Premium) 

Bond premium (including acquisition premium) on a note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a Foreign 
Currency will be computed in units of the Foreign Currency, and any such bond premium that is taken into account currently 
will reduce interest income in units of the Foreign Currency. On the date bond premium offsets interest income, a U.S. holder 
may recognize U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) measured by the difference between the 
spot rate in effect on that date and on the date the notes were acquired by the U.S. holder. A U.S. holder that does not elect to 
take bond premium (other than acquisition premium) into account currently will recognize a market loss when the note 
matures, as described below in “ — Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable Disposition of Foreign Currency Notes.” 
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Market Discount 

Market Discount on a Note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a Foreign Currency, will be accrued in the 
foreign currency. If the U.S. holder elects to include market discount in income currently, the accrued market discount will be 
translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rate for the accrual period (or portion thereof within the U.S. holder’s 
taxable year). Upon the receipt of an amount attributable to accrued market discount, the U.S. holder may recognize U.S. 
source exchange gain or loss (which will be taxable as ordinary income or loss) determined in the same manner as for 
accrued interest or OID. A U.S. holder that does not elect to include market discount in income currently will recognize, upon 
the disposition or maturity of the note, the U.S. dollar value of the amount accrued, calculated at the spot rate on that date, 
and no part of this accrued market discount will be treated as exchange gain or loss. 

Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable Disposition of Foreign Currency Notes 

As discussed above under “ — U.S. Currency Notes — Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable Disposition of U.S. Currency 
Notes,” a U.S. holder will generally recognize gain or loss on the sale, retirement, or other taxable disposition of a note equal 
to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition and its adjusted tax basis in 
the note. 

A U.S. holder’s initial tax basis in a Foreign Currency Note will be the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency amount 
paid for such Foreign Currency Note, determined on the date of such purchase. If a Foreign Currency Note is traded on an 
established securities market, a cash basis U.S. holder (or, upon election, an accrual basis U.S. holder) will determine the 
U.S. dollar value of the amount paid by translating the Foreign Currency payment at the spot rate on the settlement date of 
the purchase. (If an accrual basis taxpayer makes such an election, the election must be applied consistently to all debt 
instruments from year to year and cannot be revoked without the consent of the IRS.) The amount of any subsequent 
adjustments to such holder’s tax basis will be the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency amount of the adjustment, 
determined as discussed herein. A U.S. holder’s adjusted tax basis in a Foreign Currency Note generally will equal the cost of 
the Foreign Currency Note to such holder, increased by the amount of any OID and de minimis OID (and market discount if 
an election has been made to include currently) previously included in income by the holder with respect to such Foreign 
Currency Note and reduced by any payments that are not qualified stated interest previously received by the holder. 

If a U.S. holder receives Foreign Currency on a sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Foreign Currency Note, the 
amount realized will be based on the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency on: 

• the date of disposition, if it is a cash basis taxpayer and the relevant Foreign Currency Notes are not traded on 
an established securities market, as defined in the applicable Treasury Regulations; 

• the date of disposition, if it is an accrual basis taxpayer that does not elect to use the settlement date; or 

• the settlement date for the sale, if it is a cash basis taxpayer, or an accrual basis taxpayer that so elects, and the 
relevant Foreign Currency Notes are traded on an established securities market, as defined in the applicable 
Treasury Regulations. (If an accrual basis taxpayer makes such an election, the election must be applied 
consistently to all debt instruments from year to year and cannot be revoked without the consent of the IRS.) 

Except as discussed below with respect to currency exchange gains or losses, any gain or loss recognized upon the sale, 
retirement or other taxable disposition of a Foreign Currency Note generally will be capital gain or loss, except to the extent 
attributable to accrued but unpaid interest and market discount or attributable to changes in the exchange rates as described 
below and will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if at the time of sale, retirement or other taxable disposition the 
Foreign Currency Note was held for more than one year. If the U.S. holder is an individual (or other non-corporate U.S. 
holder), any  
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long-term capital gain, if any, generally will be subject to U.S. federal income taxation at preferential rates. The deductibility 
of capital losses is subject to significant limitations. 

Gain realized by a U.S. holder on the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of a note generally will be treated as U.S. 
source income. Consequently, if Brazilian withholding tax is imposed on such gain, the U.S. holder will not be able to use the 
corresponding foreign tax credit, unless the holder has other foreign-source income of the appropriate type in respect of 
which the credit may be used. The U.S. foreign tax credit rules are very complex, and your ability to credit foreign taxes may 
be subject to various limitations. Accordingly, prospective investors should consult their own advisors with respect to the 
application of these rules to their particular circumstances. 

Gain or loss realized upon the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Foreign Currency Note that is attributable to 
fluctuations in currency exchange rates will constitute exchange gain or loss and will be taxable as U.S. source ordinary 
income or loss. Such foreign exchange gain or loss will be recognized only to the extent of the total gain or loss realized by 
the U.S. holder on the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition. 

A U.S. holder generally will have a tax basis in any Foreign Currency received as interest or on the sale, retirement or other 
taxable disposition of a Foreign Currency Note equal to the U.S. dollar value of such Foreign Currency on the dates described 
above in “ — Interest — Cash Method,” “ — Interest — Accrual Method” and “ — Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable 
Disposition of Foreign Currency Notes.” Any exchange gain or loss realized by a U.S. holder on a subsequent conversion or 
other disposition of Foreign Currency, generally, will be treated as ordinary income or loss. 

If a note is issued in circumstances where interest payments on the note are denominated in or determined by reference to one 
currency and the principal portion of the note may be denominated in or determined by reference to another currency (“Dual 
Currency Notes”), the applicable Final Terms will discuss the material U.S. federal income tax consequences in respect of 
these features to holders. 

Foreign Source Income 

For U.S. foreign tax credit purposes, qualified stated interest, OID and any additional amounts paid with respect to a note will 
be treated as foreign source income, subject to various classifications and other limitations. The rules relating to computing 
foreign tax credits or deducting foreign taxes are extremely complex, and U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax 
advisors regarding the availability of U.S. foreign tax credits with respect to any Brazilian taxes withheld from payment. 

Tax Return Disclosure Requirement 

A U.S. holder may be required to report a sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of its notes (or, in the case of an 
accrual basis U.S. holder, a payment of accrued interest) on IRS Form 8886 (Reportable Transaction Disclosure Statement) if 
it recognizes a foreign exchange loss that exceeds U.S.$50,000 in a single taxable year from a single transaction, if such U.S. 
holder is an individual or trust, or higher amounts for other non-individual U.S. holders. U.S. holders are urged to consult 
their own tax advisors in this regard. 

Recently enacted legislation significantly expands certain tax reporting obligations and related penalties and statutes of 
limitations. For example, under new section 6038D of the Code, which applies to taxable years beginning after March 18, 
2010, certain United States persons that own designated types of financial assets, which would include a Note, have an 
information reporting obligation when the aggregate value of all of those assets exceeds U.S.$50,000. The new reporting 
requirement applies to individuals and, if specified by the Service, domestic entities formed or availed of for the purpose of 
holding, directly or indirectly, specified types of foreign financial assets. The information required to be reported will include 
the name and address of the issuer and information regarding the financial asset. Persons required to report  
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will file an information return, to be prescribed by the Service, with their Federal income tax returns. Significant penalties 
and an extended statute of limitations apply with respect to the new reporting requirement. Each prospective investor that is a 
United States person should consult his tax advisor regarding the new information reporting obligation. 

Medicare Contribution Tax on Unearned Income 

Recently enacted legislation requires certain U.S. holders who are individuals, estates or trusts to pay an additional 3.8% tax 
on, among other things, interest on and capital gains from the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of notes for taxable 
years beginning after December 31, 2012. U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the effect, if any, of this 
new legislation on their investment in the notes. 

U.S. Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

Payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest (including OID) on, and proceeds from the sale, retirement or other 
taxable disposition of the notes may be subject to information reporting to the IRS and possibly backup withholding. Backup 
withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a current rate of 28% may apply to payments made in respect of the notes to 
holders who fail to make any required certification or who are not exempt recipients and who fail to provide certain 
identifying information (such as the holder’s taxpayer identification number). Payments made in respect of the notes to a U.S. 
holder must be reported to the IRS, unless the U.S. holder is an exempt recipient or otherwise establishes an exemption. U.S. 
persons who are required to establish their exempt status, generally, must provide an IRS Form W-9. 

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a U.S. holder would be allowed as a refund or 
a credit against such U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS in a 
timely manner. 

THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX DISCUSSION SET FORTH ABOVE IS INCLUDED FOR 
GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY AND MAY NOT BE APPLICABLE DEPENDING UPON A HOLDER’S 
PARTICULAR SITUATION. HOLDERS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS WITH RESPECT 
TO THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF THE NOTES, 
INCLUDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES UNDER STATE, LOCAL AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND THE 
POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME OR OTHER TAX LAWS. 
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United States ERISA and Certain Other Considerations 

The U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), imposes certain requirements on 
“employee benefit plans” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) subject to ERISA, including entities such as collective 
investment funds and separate accounts whose underlying assets include the assets of such plans (collectively, “ERISA 
Plans”) and on those persons who are fiduciaries with respect to ERISA Plans. Investments by ERISA Plans are subject to 
ERISA’s general fiduciary requirements, including, but not limited to, the requirement of investment prudence and 
diversification and the requirement that an ERISA Plan’s investments be made in accordance with the documents governing 
the ERISA Plan. Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of an 
ERISA Plan (as well as those plans that are not subject to ERISA but which are subject to Section 4975 of the Code, such as 
individual retirement accounts (together with ERISA Plans, “Plans”)) and certain persons (referred to as “parties in interest” 
or “disqualified persons”) having certain relationships to such Plans, unless a statutory or administrative exemption is 
applicable to the transaction. 

A party in interest or a disqualified person who engages in a prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other 
penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code, and the prohibited transaction itself may have to be rescinded. Prohibited 
transactions within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code may arise if any notes (or interests 
thereon) are acquired by a Plan with respect to which we or the Dealers or any of their respective affiliates are a party in 
interest or a disqualified person. Certain exemptions from the prohibited transaction provisions of Section 406 of ERISA and 
Section 4975 of the Code may be applicable, however, depending in part on the type of Plan fiduciary making the decision to 
cause the plan to acquire and hold notes and the circumstances under which such decision is made. There can be no assurance 
that any exemption will be available with respect to any particular transaction involving the notes, or that, if an exemption is 
available, it will cover all aspects of any particular transaction. By its acquisition of any notes, the acquirer thereof will be 
deemed to have represented and agreed either that: (i) it is not and for so long as it holds notes will not be (and is not 
acquiring the notes directly or indirectly with the assets of a person who is or while the notes are held will be) a Plan, an 
entity or account whose underlying assets include the assets of a Plan, or a governmental or other employee benefit plan 
which is subject to any U.S. federal, state or local law, or foreign law, that is substantially similar to the provisions of 
Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or (ii) its acquisition and holding of the notes will not result in a 
prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (or, in the case of such a governmental or 
other employee benefit plan, any such substantially similar U.S. federal, state or local law, or foreign law) for which an 
exemption is not available. 

Governmental plans and certain church and various other plans, while not subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of 
ERISA or the provisions of Section 4975 of the Code, may nevertheless be subject to state or other federal or foreign laws 
that are substantially similar to ERISA and the Code. Fiduciaries of any such plans should consult with their counsel before 
causing any such plans to acquire and hold any notes. 

The foregoing discussion is general in nature and not intended to be all-inclusive. Any Plan fiduciary who proposes to cause 
a Plan to acquire and hold any notes should consult with its counsel regarding the applicability of the fiduciary responsibility 
and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code to such an investment, and to confirm that such 
investment will not constitute or result in a prohibited transaction or any other violation of an applicable requirement of 
ERISA or the Code. 

The sale of notes to a Plan or other employee benefit plan is in no respect a representation by us or the Dealers that such an 
investment meets all relevant requirements with respect to investments by Plans or other plans generally or any particular 
Plan or other employee benefit plan, or that such an investment is appropriate for Plans or other plans generally or any 
particular Plan or other employee benefit plan. 
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Independent Auditors 

Our audited financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, included elsewhere in this 
offering circular, have been audited by KPMG Auditores Independentes, independent auditors registered with the CFC and 
the CVM, as stated in their report appearing herein which includes the following emphasis and other matter paragraphs 
stating that: 

Emphasis 

We maintain significant balances of current account receivables from related parties in the amount of R$379,818 thousand in 
our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010. The commercial conditions regarding these transactions are 
described in note 20 to our consolidated financial statements. The opinion from our independent auditors is not qualified 
regarding this matter. 

Other matters 

Corresponding amounts of the opening balance as of January 1, 2009 

As part of our independent auditors’ audit of the 2010 financial statements, our independent auditors also audited the 
adjustments described in note 29 which were applied to change the opening balances as of January 1, 2009 in connection 
with the adoption of the new accounting pronouncements issued by the CPC. In our independent auditors’ opinion, such 
adjustments are appropriate and were properly applied. Our independent auditors were not engaged to audit, review, or apply 
any procedures to the opening balances as of January 1, 2009, and, accordingly, our independent auditors do not express an 
opinion or any other form of assurance on these individual and consolidated opening balances taken as a whole. 

KPMG Auditores Independentes is located at Rua Dr. Renato Paes de Barros, 33 04530-904 São Paulo, State of São Paulo, 
Brazil. 
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Legal Matters 

The validity of the notes with respect to New York law will be passed upon for the issuer by Mayer Brown LLP and for the 
Dealers by Proskauer Rose LLP. Certain matters of Brazilian law relating to this offering circular will be passed upon for the 
issuer by Marcos Martins Advogados Associados and for the Dealers by Machado, Meyer, Sendacz e Opice Advogados. 
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Listing and General Information 

1. We have applied to the Irish Stock Exchange to have the notes admitted to the Official List and to trading on the 
Global Exchange Market, of the Irish Stock Exchange. We estimate that we will incur expenses of approximately 
€5,000 relating to the admission of the notes to the Official List and to trading on the Global Exchange Market, of 
the Irish Stock Exchange. 

2. Each Series of notes that will be eligible for trading in DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream will be assigned a CUSIP, 
Common Code and ISIN number as set forth in the applicable Final Terms. 

3. Except as disclosed in this offering circular, there has been no material adverse change in our prospects or financial 
position since our most recent audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010. 

 
4. The program and the issuance of notes thereunder were authorized by our shareholders on May 5, 2011. 

5. For so long as the notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, the following documents (or copies thereof), where 
applicable, may be inspected at our corporate headquarters in physical form: (a) the by-laws (contrato social) of the 
issuer; (b) all reports, letters, and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements 
prepared by any expert at the issuer’s request; and (c) the historical financial information of the issuer and its 
subsidiaries for each of the two financial years preceding such listing. 
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FINAL TERMS 

The Final Terms in respect of each Series of Notes will be substantially in the following form, duly supplemented (if 
necessary), amended (if necessary) and completed to reflect the particular terms of the relevant Notes and their issue.  Text 
in this section appearing in italics does not form part of the form of the Final Terms but denotes directions for completing the 
Final Terms. 

Final Terms dated [•] 

Sifco S.A. 
U.S.$300,000,000 Medium Term Note Program 

Series No. [•] 
[Title of Notes] due [•] 

This document constitutes the Final Terms relating to the issue of Notes of the Series described herein and shall form part of 
such Notes.  Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the 
Offering Circular dated June [•], 2011 [and the supplemental Offering Circular dated [•]].  These Final Terms must be read in 
conjunction with such Offering Circular [as so supplemented].  All references to Final Terms should also be read as 
references to pricing supplement. 

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, 
AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”).  SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, THE NOTES MAY NOT BE 
[OFFERED OR SOLD/OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED] WITHIN THE UNITED STATES [OR TO, OR FOR THE 
ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT 
(“REGULATION S”))].  THESE FINAL TERMS HAVE BEEN PREPARED BY THE ISSUER FOR USE IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER AND SALE OF THE NOTES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO NON-U.S. 
PERSONS IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S [AND WITHIN THE UNITED STATES TO “QUALIFIED 
INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS” IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (“RULE 144A)]. 
[PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT SELLERS OF THE NOTES MAY BE RELYING ON 
THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 
144A].  FOR A DESCRIPTION OF THESE AND CERTAIN FURTHER RESTRICTIONS ON OFFERS AND SALES OF 
THE NOTES AND DISTRIBUTION OF THESE FINAL TERMS AND THE REMAINDER OF THE LISTING 
PARTICULARS, SEE [“SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE” AND “TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS”] CONTAINED IN THE 
LISTING PARTICULARS. 

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER U.S. 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAVE ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR 
ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE ACCURACY OR THE ADEQUACY OF THESE 
FINAL TERMS OR THE LISTING PARTICULARS.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL 
OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES. 

[TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS:  NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN 
APPLICATION FOR A LICENSE HAS BEEN FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B OF THE NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED 
STATUTES WITH THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY 
REGISTERED OR A PERSON IS LICENSED IN THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE CONSTITUTES A FINDING BY 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED UNDER RSA 421-B IS TRUE, 
COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING.  NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE FACT THAT AN EXEMPTION OR 
EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF 
STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR RECOMMENDED OR 
GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSONS, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION.  IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR 
CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER, CUSTOMER OR CLIENT ANY REPRESENTATION 
INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.] 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A).  Note that the numbering should remain as 
set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub- paragraphs.  Italics denote directions 
for completing the Final Terms.] 
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1. Issuer: Sifco S.A. 

2. Series and Series Number (If fungible with Notes of 
such Series, the date on which the Notes become 
fungible, whether or not additional Notes of such Series 
are issuable): 

 
 
[•] 

3. Specified Currency or Currencies:  
[•] 

4. Interest Payment Basis: [Fixed Rate (Condition 5(a)] 
[Zero Coupon (Condition 5(b)] 
[Other (specify)] 
(further particulars specified below) 

4. Principal Amount: [•] 

5. (i) Issue Date: [•]  

6. (ii) Interest Commencement Date: [•] (If other than the Issue Date) 

7. (i) Issue Price: [•] per cent of the Principal Amount [plus accrued 
interest from [insert date] (in the case of fungible 
issues only, if applicable)] 

 (ii) Net proceeds: [•] (Required only for listed issues) 

8. Maturity Date: [specify date] 

9. Authorized Denominations: [•]  

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 
10. Fixed Rate Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining 
sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Fixed Rate(s) of Interest: [•] per cent, per annum payable 
[annually/semi-annually/ quarterly/monthly] in 
arrear 

 (ii) Fixed Interest Payment Date(s): [•] 

 (iii) Initial Interest Amount: [amount of first payment of interest] 

 (iv) Final Interest Amount: [amount of final payment of interest] 

 (v) Day Count Fraction: [30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / other] 

 (vi) Other terms relating to the method of 
calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes: 

 
 
[Not Applicable/give details] 

11. Zero Coupon Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph) 
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 (i) Accrual Yield: [•] per cent per annum 

 (ii) Reference Price: [•] 

 (iii) Any other formula/basis of determining amount 
payable: 

 
[•] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION (in addition to those set forth in the Indenture): 

12. Call Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s) (Call):  
[•] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) (Call) of each 
Note and method, if any, of calculation of such 
amount(s): 

 
 
 
[•] per Note of [•] specified denomination  

 (iii) If redeemable in part:  

 (a) Minimum Redemption Amount: [•] 

 (b) Maximum Redemption Amount: [•] 

13. Put Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (i) Optional Redemption Date(s)  
(Put): 

 
[•] 

 (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) (Put) and 
method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s): 

 
 
[•] 

14. Final Redemption Amount: 
(Condition 7(a)) 

 
[•] per cent per [•] in nominal amount 

15. Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on redemption for 
taxation reasons, at the election of the Noteholders, on 
event of default and/or the method for calculating the 
same (if required or if different from that set out in 
Condition 7(e)): 

 
 
 
 
 
[Not Applicable][[•] per cent per [•] in nominal 
amount] 

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 
16. Form of Notes: [[Rule 144A Global Note] [and] [Regulation S 

Global Note] exchangeable for Definitive Notes] 

17. Additional Financial Centre(s) or other special 
provisions relating to Payment Dates: 

 
 
[Not Applicable/give details] 
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18. Applicable “Business Day” definition, if different from 
that set out in Section 2.02(e) of the Indenture: 

 
 
[Not Applicable/give details] 

19. Listing: [None/(specify)] 

20. Other covenants, terms or special conditions (in addition 
to those contained in the Indenture) to be complied with 
by the Issuer for so long as any Note under the relevant 
Series remains Outstanding: 

[Not Applicable/give details] 

21. Other: [Not Applicable/give details] 

22. Any required rating applicable to the Notes: [Not Applicable/give details] 

DISTRIBUTION  

24. (i) If syndicated, names of Dealers and Lead 
Manager: 

[Not Applicable/give names] 

 (ii) Stabilising Manager (if any): [Not Applicable/give name] 

 (iii) Commissions and Concessions: [Not Applicable/give name] 

25. If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: [Not Applicable/give name] 

26. Additional selling restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details] 

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION  

27. (i) ISIN: [•] 

 (ii) CUSIP: [•] 

 (iii) CINS: [•] 

28. Euroclear and Clearstream Common Code: [•] 

29. Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear Bank 
S.A./N.V., Clearstream Banking, société anonyme and 
DTC and relevant identification number(s): 

 
 
 
[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

30. Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

31. Principal Paying Agent: [•] 

32. Additional Paying Agent(s) (if any): [•] 

33. Whether additional Notes are issuable in accordance 
with Section 2.01(c) of the Indenture: 

 
 
[Yes][No] 

[LISTING APPLICATION 
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These Final Terms comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the 
U.S.$300,000,000 Medium Term Note Program of Sifco S.A.] 

[STABILIZING 

In connection with the issue of Notes, [enter name of Stabilizing Manager] (the “Stabilizing Manager”) (or persons acting on 
behalf of any Stabilizing Manager) may overallot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of 
the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail.  However, there is no assurance that the Stabilizing 
Manager (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager) will undertake stabilization action.  Any stabilization 
action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, 
if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 
days after the date of the allotment of the Notes.  Any stabilization action or overallotment shall be conducted in accordance 
with applicable law.] 

[MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE STATEMENT 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) 
since [insert date of last audited accounts or interim accounts, if later] and no material adverse change in the financial 
position or prospects of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) since [insert date of last publish annual accounts].] 

GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

The Notes and all matters arising from or connected with the Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance 
with the law of the State of New York.  The Issuer has submitted to the jurisdiction of any federal or state court in the 
Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York for purposes of any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or related to 
the Notes.  The Issuer has also further submitted to the jurisdiction of the courts of its corporate domicile in any legal suit, 
action or proceeding arising out of or relating to the Notes. 

RESPONSIBILITY 

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Final Terms.  

Signed on behalf of the Issuer: 

By: ________________________ 
Duly authorized 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

[LEAD MANAGER] 

By: ________________________ 
Duly authorized 

cc: Trustee 
Principal Paying Agent 
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Independent auditors' report

To the directors and shareholders of
Sifco S.A.
Jundiaí - São Paulo

We have audited the individual and consolidated financial statements of Sifco S.A. ("Company"),
identified as Parent Company and Consolidated, respectively, which comprise the balance sheet
as at December 31, 2010 and the related statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity
and cash flows, for the year then ended, as well as the summary of the significant accounting
practices and other explanatory notes.

The Company's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
individual and consolidated financial statements in accordance with the accounting practices
adopted in Brazil, and for such internal controls as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free of material misstatements, whether
due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit,
conducted in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

and fair presentation of the financial statements, in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

appropriateness of accounting policies used and reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG Auditores Independentes
R. Dr. Renato Paes de Barros, 33
04530-904 - São Paulo, SP - Brasil
Caixa Postal 2467
01060-970 - São Paulo, SP - Brasil

Central Tel 55 (11) 2183-3000
Fax Nacional 55 (11) 2183-3001
Internacional 55 (11) 2183-3034
Internet www.kpmg.com.br

KPMG Auditores Independentes, uma sociedade simples brasileira e
firma-membro da rede KPMG de firmas-membro independentes e

uma entidade suíça.

KPMG Auditores Independentes, a Brazilian entity and a member
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated

Swiss entity.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Sifco S.A. as at December 31, 2010, the performance of its operations and
its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in
Brazil.

Emphasis

The Company maintains significant balances of current account receivables from related parties
in the amount of R$ 379,818 thousand in its consolidated financial statements as at December 31,
2010. The commercial conditions regarding these transactions are described in note 20. Our
opinion is not qualified regarding this matter.

Other matters

Corresponding amounts of the opening balance as of January 1, 2009

As part of our audit of the 2010 financial statements, we also audited the adjustments described
in note 29 which were applied to change the opening balances as of January 1, 2009 in the
adoption of the new accounting pronouncements issued by the Accounting Pronouncements
Committee (CPC). In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and were properly applied.
We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the opening balances as of
January 1, 2009, and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on these individual and consolidated opening balances taken as a whole.

São Paulo, April 27, 2011

KPMG Auditores Independentes
CRC 2SP014428/O-6

Rogério Hernandez Garcia
Accountant CRC 1SP213431/O-5
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Sifco S.A.

Statement of income

For the years ended December 31

In thousands of reais

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

Revenues 23 777,334 434,171 737,427 382,962
Cost of goods and services sold (640,627) (366,819) (614,198) (324,811)
Gross income 136,707 67,352 123,229 58,151

Selling expenses (14,623) (10,104) (13,409) (8,870)
Administrative expenses (44,617) (33,434) (37,743) (26,892)
Management compensation (1,322) (1,353) (1,322) (1,353)
Other operating expenses 24 (12,437) (68,568) (12,435) (68,568)

Income (loss) before net financial income (loss),
equity in net income of subsidiaries and taxes 63,708 (46,107) 58,320 (47,532)

Financial expenses 25 (93,796) (53,480) (92,176) (51,740)
Financial income 25 61,016 44,094 60,462 43,797
Gains with exchange rate variation 3,883 29,837 3,883 29,837
Losses with exchange rate variation (1,983) (3,103) (1,983) (3,103)
(Losses) Gains with derivative financial instruments 19 (4,503) 3,992 (4,503) 3,992

Net financial (expenses) income (35,383) 21,340 (34,317) 22,783

Share of net income (loss) of subsidiary 13 - - 2,248 (91)

Income (loss) before taxes 28,325 (24,767) 26,251 (24,840)

Current income tax 26 (385) 820 - 974
Deferred income tax 26 (12,712) 76,389 (11,023) 76,308

Income and social contribution taxes (13,097) 77,209 (11,023) 77,282

Net income of continued operations 15,228 52,442 15,228 52,442

Income for the year attributable to controlling shareholders 15,228 52,442 15,228 52,442

Income per share 0.296 0.524 0.296 0.524
Earnings per common share - basic and diluted (in R$) 0.141 0.250 0.141 0.250
Earnings per preferred share - basic and diluted (in R$) 0.155 0.275 0.155 0.275

Parent company - BR GAAPConsolidated - BR GAAP

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Sifco S.A.

Statement of cash flows

For the years ended December 31

In thousands of reais

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

Cash flow of operating activities
Income for the year 15,228 52,442 15,228 52,442
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 21,180 20,597 15,672 15,950
Allowance for doubtful accounts - (110) - -
Equity in net income of subsidiaries, net of dividends 13 - - (2,248) 91
Write-off of fixed assets 2,137 852 2,306 695
Financial charges and exchange variation on balances of related party
transactions, trade notes receivable, financing and taxes 17,196 11,103 19,075 16,222
Deferred income and social contribution taxes 10 12,712 16,899 11,023 17,496
Provision for contingencies (579) (1,125) (579) (1,125)
Provision for derivative financial instruments 19 1,143 (4,086) 995 (4,517)
Refis IV - Law 11.941/99 (except effects in financial income (loss)) - (31,207) - (31,207)

69,017 65,365 61,472 66,047
Variation in operating assets
Trade accounts receivable 2,028 1,119 3,496 7,458
Related party transactions - - - (9,290)
Inventories (12,286) 15,098 (10,032) 8,410
Recoverable taxes and contributions 1,424 (5,539) 893 (5,539)
Other assets (26,873) (2,173) (25,357) (4,095)

Variation in operating liabilities
Suppliers 17,220 32,237 14,822 31,184
Salaries payable 5,873 (693) 4,247 (693)
Fiscal, labor and social security obligations 71,888 634 70,854 658
Related party transactions - - 5,260 -
Interest paid (26,037) (16,130) (25,000) (15,762)
Other liabilities (1,454) (195) (1,082) (2,401)

Cash flow from operating activities 100,800 89,723 99,573 75,977

Cash flow of investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (13,690) (17,366) (12,874) (16,993)
Investments in subsidiaries - - (1,174) -
Current account to related parties (206,331) (93,447) (204,017) (92,279)
Payments of derivative financial instruments - (4,335) - (4,335)
Others - (1,910) - (476)

Cash flow used in investing activities (220,021) (117,058) (218,065) (114,083)

Cash flow of financing activities
Treasury shares - (36,360) - (36,360)
Current account from related parties - Transfer of real estate credit note - - 49,069 -
Funding - real estate credit note 49,007 - - -
New loans and financing 485,632 291,987 398,206 217,915
Payments of financing (381,195) (200,221) (296,218) (115,897)

Cash flow from financing activities 153,444 55,406 151,057 65,658

Effect of exchange rate fluctuation on cash held 21 (1,054) - -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 34,244 27,017 32,565 27,552

Cash and cash equivalents on January 1 85,727 58,710 85,618 58,066

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 119,971 85,727 118,183 85,618

Disclosure of non-cash transaction
Settlement of dividend payable with balance receivable from shareholder 11,822 - 11,822 -
Increase in subsidiary's capital (SF) with assets of property, plant and equipment - - 49,882 -

Consolidated - BR GAAP Parent company - BR GAAP

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

1 Operations

offices in Jundiaí, state of São Paulo. The Company is engaged in the forging and machining of
parts for the automotive industry, covering the local and foreign markets. The Company's
industrial park is composed of two plants in the state of São Paulo, one in Jundiaí (forging and
machining) and the other in Campinas (forging). Sifco indirectly controls, by means of Sifco
Intercontinental, Westport Axle Corporation ("Westport"), located in Louisville, United States of
America, engaged in the assembly of front suspension modules for commercial vehicles, as well
as in operations of storage and systems of sequential delivery of components to customers
established in that country.

The individual and consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2010 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (Sifco Intercontinental, Westport
- indirect subsidiary, Tubrasil Sifco and SF Sistemas Automotivos).

In May 2009, G Brasil Participações S.A., continuing with Grupo G Brasil corporate
restructuring process, as direct parent company of Sifco, executed the partial spin-off of the
assets of the Company, incorporating the spun-off portion (comprised substantially of the real
estate and facilities of the Jundiaí plant), in Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e Participações S/A,
a direct subsidiary of Sifco S.A., which did not represent any change in the consolidated financial
position

On October 27, 2010, Sifco S.A. organized SF Sistemas Automotivos S.A., a closely-held
company whose business purpose is the production and trading of forged and machined products,
rendering of busines consulting and advisory, technical services, as well as management,
monitoring, assembly, and development of production line and rental of own assets. The
Company is a direct subsidiary of Sifco S.A., which did not represent any change in the
consolidated financial position.
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Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

2 Basis of preparation

a. Statement of compliance regarding the Accountant Pronouncements Committee
(CPC) pronouncements

The individual and consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 were prepared in accordance with the accounting practices
adopted in Brazil (BR GAAP), comprising Corporation Law and the pronouncements,
guidance and interpretations issued by the Accountant Statements Committee (CPC).

The individual and consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2010 are the first financial statements prepared with full adoption of CPC
standards.

Due to the change in the accounting policy and initial adoption of CPCs, the individual and
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 include the
comparative financial statements as of December 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, date of
transition to the adoption of new CPC pronouncements.

Note 29, Main effects of the adoption of new accounting pronouncements- CPCs details the
main effects of initial adoption of new pronouncements and the main differences regarding
accounting practices adopted in Brazil for the individual and consolidated financial
statements of the Company as of January 1, 2009 and for the year ended December 31, 2009.
The issue of individual and consolidated financial statements was authorized by the
Executive Board on April 27, 2011.

b. Basis of measurement

The individual and consolidated financial statements were prepared based on the historical
cost, except for the following material items recognized in the balance sheets:

Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The Company and its subsidiaries, by means of an analysis of their assets and liabilities
taking into accounting their short operating cycle, verified that the effects of adjustments to
present value, determined by CPC 12 - Adjustment to present value, for such assets and
liabilities are irrelevant for the Company's business and, therefore, do not impact their
financial statements.
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Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

c. Functional currency and presentation currency

The individual and consolidated financial statements are being presented in Brazilian Real,
functional currency of the Company. Regarding the companies of the Group, only Sifco
Intercontinental Co. Ltd. and Westport Axle Corporation (indirect subsidiary) use the
American dollar as their functional currency.

d. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of individual and consolidated financial statements according to CPCs
requires the use of certain accounting estimates and the use of judgment by the management
of Sifco and its subsidiaries in the process of applying the accounting policies. Hence, actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed in a continuous manner and such reviews are
recognized in the year they are reviewed and in any future years affected.

Information about critical judgment referring to the accounting policies adopted by the
Company which impact the amounts recognized in the individual and consolidated financial
statements are described in note:

Note 23 - Revenue.

Information on uncertainties, assumptions and estimates that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following
notes:

Note 10 - use of tax losses carry-forward;
Note 18 - provisions and contingencies;
Note 14 - depreciation;
Note 19 - derivative financial instruments.
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Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

3 Main accounting policies

The accounting policies described in detail below have been consistently applied to all the
periods presented in these individual and consolidated financial statements and in the preparation
of the opening balance sheet drawn up on January 1, 2009, for the purpose of enabling the
transition to the technical pronouncements issued by CPC.

a. Consolidation basis

i. Business combinations

Acquisitions prior to January 1, 2009

As part of the transition to CPC, the Company opted not to restate the business
combinations carried out prior to January 1, 2009.

ii. Subsidiaries

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements as from the date they start to be controlled by the Company until the date such
control ceases. The accounting policies of the subsidiaries are aligned with the policies
adopted by the Company.

The financial information of subsidiaries is recognized under the equity method in the
individual financial statements of the parent company.

iii. Transactions eliminated in the consolidation

Intragroup and transaction balances, and any income or expenses derived from
intragroup transactions, are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealized gains originating from transactions with investee companies
recorded using the equity method, are eliminated against the investment in the proportion
of the Sifco's interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains, but only up to the point where there is no evidence of impairment loss.
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Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

A change in the ownership interest in a subsidiary which does not result in loss of control
is accounted for as a transaction between shareholders in equity.

iv. Companies comprising the consolidated financial statements:

Subsidiaries Main activity % of interest
2010 2009 January 1,

2009
Sifco Intercontinental Co. Ltd.

100% 100% 100%

Westport Axle Corporation

Sale of heavy axles for trucks, other
machined components and several
import and export activities, as well
storage and sequential systems of
delivery of components. It has its
own sufficient management team,
administrative autonomy, it
contracts its own operations,
including financial operations,
which characterize it as autonomous
entity. 100% 100% 100%

Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e

Management and lease of
proprietary assets, assets and
properties, business intermediation
and management of proprietary
assets. 100% 100% 100%

SF Automotivos S.A. ("SF")

Production and trading of forged
and machined products, rendering of
business consulting and advisory,
technical services, as well as
management, monitoring, assembly,
and development of production line
and rental of own assets. 100% - -

v. Foreign operations

The financial statements as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the balance sheet at
January 1, 2009 of subsidiaries abroad (Sifco Intercontinental e Westport - consolidated
into Sifco Intercontinental) have been adjusted to the accounting practices adopted in
Brazil, when applicable, and are translated into reais based on the following procedures:

F-12



Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

(a) Assets and liabilities are translated closing rate of the dollar against the real, on the
date of the respective balance sheets;

(b) The opening shareholders' equity of each balance sheet corresponds to the final
shareholders' equity of the prior period as translated at the time; the changes in the
initial shareholders' equity during the current period are translated at the rates of the
transactions, on the respective dates;

(c) Income, costs and expenses are translated at the monthly average exchange rate; and

(d) The exchange variations resulting from items (a), (b) and (c) above are recognized in
a specific shareholders' equity account under "Accumulated translation adjustments".
In the year 2010 the impacts referring to this adjustment were R$ 1,195 - debit
(R$ 9,011 debit in 2009), resulting in a debit balance in the final shareholders'
equity, of R$ 7,499 on December 31, 2010 (R$ 6,304 debit on December 31, 2009).

In the consolidation, the balances of investments, assets and liabilities, income and
expenses and unearned income resulting from transactions performed among the
companies.

b. Foreign currency transactions and balances

Pursuant to CPC 02 - Effects of Changes in Exchange Rates and Conversion of Accounting
Statements, foreign currency transactions, that is, all of those that are not carried out in
functional currency, are converted by the exchange rate of the dates of each transaction.

Assets and liabilities subject to exchange variation are restated based on the rates of the
respective currencies in effect on the last business day of each year presented. Gains and
losses resulting from variations of foreign investments are recognized directly in
shareholders' equity in the account of accumulated translation adjustments, and recognized in
the statement of income when these investments are fully or partially divested.

Non-monetary items measured at historical costs in foreign currencies are converted by the
exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date.
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Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

c. Financial instruments

i. Non-derivative financial assets

The Company initially recognizes the loans, receivables and deposits on the date that
they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss) are initially recognized on the date of the negotiation under which
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Company has the following non-derivative assets: cash and cash equivalents, trade
accounts receivable, related party transactions, other financial investments, and other
receivables.

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flow
of the asset expire, or when the Company transfers the rights to the reception of
contractual cash flows over a financial asset in a transaction in which essentially all the
risks and benefits of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a
separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet
only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and there is intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company has the following non-derivative assets: financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss, investments held to maturity and loans and receivables.

a. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

The instrument is stated at fair value through profit or loss when the Company
manages these investments and makes decisions on investment and redemption
based on its fair value. After the initial recognition, the attributable transaction costs
are recognized in income (loss) when incurred, as well as the fair value variations.
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b. Investments held to maturity

Instruments are classified as held to maturity when the Company has the positive
intention and capacity to hold its debt instruments until maturity, these are classified
as held to maturity. After the initial measurement, these financial assets are
accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, plus any
transaction costs directly assignable, reduced by any reductions in the recoverable
value.

c. Loans and receivables

Are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and not
quoted in an active market. After the initial measurement, these instruments are
accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, reduced by
any reductions in the recoverable value.

ii. Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Company recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date
that they are originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the negotiation date on which
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged or cancelled or expired.

Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off and there is intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and financing,
real estate credit note, investment funds in credit rights, suppliers, salaries and provision
for vacation, fiscal, and social security obligations, related party transactions and
dividends.
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Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus any transaction costs
directly assignable. After their initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

iii. Capital

Common and preferred shares are classified as shareholders' equity. Compulsory
minimum dividends as defined in the bylaws are recognized as liabilities.

The own equity instruments which are repurchased (treasury shares) are stated at cost
within equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of income regarding a
purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation of own capital instruments of the Company. Any
difference between the carrying value and the transaction value is recognized in other
profit reserves.

iv. Derivatives

The Company carries out currency swap operations in order to mitigate foreign exchange
and interest risks of loans and financing in foreign currency. In these operations, the
Company intends to hedge against adverse effects resulting from exchange variations.
These contracts are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting, whereas the gains or
losses earned or incurred by virtue of these contracts are recognized at their fair value as
adjustments in financial income or expenses. The Company does not maintain
transactions of speculative nature, i.e., transactions not directly linked to hedge against
adverse effects resulting from exchange variations, as mentioned in note 19, item b.

v. Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are established in contracts which oblige the Company to assume
specific payments under the guarantee of a loss incurred when a specific debtor fails to
pay a certain debt instrument. The Company is guarantor of certain debt instruments
contracted by related parties.
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Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value on
the date the guarantee is provided. Fair value is defined based on the best estimate to
settle the financial guarantee. No receivable or future premium is recognized.
Subsequently, the Company's obligation in relation to these guarantees is measured at the
higher of the initial amount, less accumulated amortizations in the period, and the
amount determined in accordance with CPC 25 - Provisions, Contingent Assets and
Contingent Liabilities.

d. Property, plant and equipment

i. Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical acquisition or construction cost, net
of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, when required. The cost of certain
PP&E items was calculated by reference to the revaluation previously carried out under
BR GAAP.

The Company and its subsidiaries chose to remeasure the fixed asset items for their
deemed cost on the opening date of year 2009. The effects of the deemed cost increased
the account of property, plant and equipment with a contra entry in shareholders' equity,
net of tax effects, as explained in note 14.

Although the adoption of the fair value as deemed cost leads to an increase in the
depreciation expenses in future years, the Company will not alter its dividend policy.

The cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of assets.
The cost of assets built by the Company includes materials and direct labor, as well as
any other costs attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition requires
for them to operate in the manner intended by management, costs for dismantling and
restoration of the site where they are located and loan costs on qualifying assets for
which their commencement capitalization date is January 1, 2009 or later.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of a piece of equipment is
capitalized as part of that equipment.
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Gains and losses on disposal of a property, plant and equipment item are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and

ii. Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of PP&E is recognized in the carrying amount of the item
when it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the component will
flow to the Company and its subsidiaries and cost can be reliably measured. The carrying
amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Costs of normal maintenance on
property, plant and equipment are charged to the income statement as incurred.

iii. Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or
other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss based on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this
is the method that best reflects the consumption pattern of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or
the estimated useful life of the asset, unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The useful estimated lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Buildings 36 years
Machinery and equipment 12 years
Molds and tools 3 - 10 years
Other 5 - 10 years

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date and potential adjustments are recognized as a change in accounting estimates.
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e. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at the cost of acquisition, less accumulated amortization and
impairment losses, when applicable, pursuant to CPC 04 - Intangible assets.

Intangible assets of the Company and its subsidiaries comprise:

i) software use rights, which are amortized over a period of five years;

ii) customer list acquired through a business combination prior to the date of adoption of
CPCs, which is amortized over a ten-year period; and

iii) of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, which are not amortizable, but have
their recoverable value annually tested.

Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures, including
expenditures on internally-generated goodwill and trademarks, are recognized in profit or
loss as incurred.

Amortization is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less
its residual value.

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the intangible assets, except goodwill, from the date they are available for use, since
this is the method that best reflects the consumption pattern of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asset.

f. Investments

Investments of the Company and its subsidiaries are valued by the equity method of
accounting based on financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting practices
adopted by the parent company, pursuant to CPC 18 - Investments in associated companies
and subsidiaries. The exchange variation of the investment in subsidiaries abroad is
recognized in the shareholders' equity under the caption accumulated translation adjustment,
according to the exchange rate variation, pursuant to CPC 02 - Effects of changes in
exchange rates and translation of financial statements. The other investments are valued at
historical cost, less a provision for impairment, when applicable.
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g. Leased assets

Leases on which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an
amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments. After initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to that asset.

The other leases are operating leases and, except for investment properties, the leased assets
are not recognized in the Company's balance sheet. An investment property under an
operational lease is recognized in the Company's balance sheet at its fair value.

h. Inventories

Inventory cost is based on average acquisition cost and includes costs relating to
transportation, storage, non-recoverable taxes, as well as other costs incurred to in bringing
them to their existing location and condition. In case of industrialized, in process and finished
products, inventories include production overheads based on the normal capacity of
production. Inventories are measured at the lower value between the cost and net realizable
value.

The net realizable value is the estimated price at which inventories can be realized in the
normal course of business, less the estimated completion costs and selling expenses.

i. Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable is recorded and maintained in the balance sheet at their carrying
value plus exchange variation, when applicable, and segregated between current and non-
current according to maturity. Allowance for doubtful accounts is formed with a basis on the
individual analysis of the trade notes and of the trade accounts receivable and in a sum

realization, represented basically by the individual analysis of accounts receivable
outstanding. For situations in which risks of realization are identified, the amounts of the
past-due debts are fully accrued.
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j. Cash and cash equivalents

Include cash, demand deposits in banks, short-term temporary investments, maturing in up to
90 days or considered highly liquid or promptly convertible into a known sum of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change of value, recorded at cost plus income accrued up to
the balance sheet dates which does not surpass the market or realizable value.

k. Other assets

Other current and non-current assets are presented by the net realization value.

l. Provision

A provision is recognized when the Company and its subsidiaries have a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made. When the
Company and its subsidiaries expect a portion of or the entire provision to be reimbursed, for
example, through an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset,
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense referring to any provision
is presented in the statement of income, net of any reimbursement.

m. Assets and liabilities denominated, subject to price-level restatement

The rights and obligations, legal or contractually subject to monetary variation, are restated
up to the balance sheet dates, whose contra-entries are directly reflected in the profit or loss
for the years presented.

n. Impairment

As determined by CPC 01, the Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets, mainly
PP&E and intangible assets. As of the closing date of the financial statements, the Company
analyses if there is evidence that the carrying value of an asset will not be recovered. Should
such evidences be identified, the Company estimates the recoverable value of the asset.
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The recoverable value of an asset is the higher of:

i. its fair value less costs that would be incurred to sell it;

ii. its value in use. Value in use is equivalent to the discounted cash flows (before taxes)
arising from the continuous use of the asset until the end of its useful life.

Regardless of the existence of impairment indications, balances of goodwill arising from
business combinations and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for
impairment at least once a year.

When the residual carrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable value, the Company
recognizes the impairment of this asset. Impairment is recorded in profit or loss for the year.

Except for the decrease in the amount of goodwill, the reversal of loss previously recognized
is permitted. Reversal under these circumstances is limited to the depreciated balance that the
asset would have presented at the reversal date, assuming that the reversal has not been
recorded.

o. Income and social contribution taxes

The income and social contribution taxes, both current and deferred, are calculated based on
the rates of 15% plus a surcharge of 10% on taxable income in excess of R$ 240 thousand for
income tax and 9% on taxable income for social contribution on net income, and take into
account the compensation of tax losses and the negative basis for social contribution, limited
to 30% of taxable income.

Deferred taxes are recognized in relation to the temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes and the related amounts used for
taxation purposes. A deferred income tax and social contribution asset is recognized for
unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable income will be available against which the unused tax losses and
credits can be utilized. Deferred income and social contribution tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced when their realization is no longer probable.

F-22



Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

The income tax and social contribution expense comprises current and deferred taxes on
income. Current taxes and deferred taxes are recognized in income unless they are related to
the business combination, or items directly recognized in Shareholders' equity or in Other
comprehensive income.

Current taxes are the taxes payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, at
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted on the date of presentation of the financial
statements, and any adjustments to taxes payable in relation to prior years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against tax liabilities, and the latter relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority on the same taxable entity.

A deferred income tax and social contribution asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax
credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable income will be available against which the unused tax losses and credits can be
utilized.

p. Revenue from the sale of goods

Income from the sale of goods is recognized in profit and loss when its value can be
measured reliably, all the risks and benefits inherent to the product are transferred to the
buyer, the Company no longer holds the control or responsibility over the good sold and it is
likely that the economic benefits attributed will flow to the Company. Revenue is not
recognized if there are significant uncertainties as to its realization.

q. Financial income and expenses

Financial income includes interest income on invested funds, gains from the sale of financial
assets available for sale, and changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Interest income is recognized in profit and loss under the effective
interest rate method.
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Financial expenses include loan interest expenses net of the discount to present value of the
provisions, changes in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through profit and
loss (including derivatives), losses arising from a reduction in the recoverable value
(impairment) recognized in financial assets, and losses in financial derivative instruments.
Borrowing costs which are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
production of a qualifying asset are accounted for in profit or loss using the effective interest
rate method.

r. Profit and loss

Profit and losses are recognized on the accrual basis. The revenue and the cost resulting from
the sale of products are recognized in profit and loss when all the risks and benefits inherent
to the product are transferred to the buyer. The revenue and cost resulting from services
provided, when applicable, are recognized in profit and loss based on their actual provision.
Expenses are recognized as they are effectively incurred; revenue is not recognized if there
are significant uncertainties as to its realization.

s. Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are calculated based on the result for the year attributable to the
Company's controlling and non-controlling shareholders and the weighted average of
outstanding common and preferred shares in the respective period. The diluted earnings per
share are calculated based on the mentioned average of outstanding shares, adjusted by
instruments that can potentially be converted into shares, with a dilution effect, in the periods
presented, pursuant to CPC 41 - Earnings per share.

4 Determination of the fair value

A number of accounting policies and disclosures of the Company and its subsidiaries require the
determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values
have been determined for the purposes of measurement and/or disclosure using available
information and appropriate methodologies, a procedure that requires considerable judgment and
reasonable estimates to produce the most adequate fair value. When applicable, additional
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes
specific to that asset or liability.
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a. Derivatives

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is based on brokers' quotations. These
quotations are tested for reasonability through estimated future cash flows discount based on
contract conditions and expiration and using market interest rates of a similar instrument on
measurement date. Fair values reflect the instrument credit risk and include adjustments to
consider the credit risk of the Company and the counterpart, if applicable.

b. Non-derivative financial liabilities

The fair value that is determined for disclosure purposes is calculated based on the present
value of principal and future cash flows, discounted at market interest rate on the date of
presentation of the financial statements. For liability convertible debt securities, the market
interest rate is calculated by referring to similar liabilities that do not have the conversion
option. For financial leases, the interest rate is calculated by referring to similar lease
agreements.

5 Risk management

Risk management structure

The Company and its subsidiaries map the main risks and their related controls, defining impact
and probability criteria and making a follow-up of the risks regarded as strategic and of the
actions to mitigate them. Accordingly, the Company monitors its risks by means of an
organizational multidisciplinary structure, which assigns the responsibility for risk management
to all areas, and assesses whether the actions are being taken in a manner which complies with
the policies adopted.

The Company's activities expose it to various financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including the risk of steel price, exchange rate and interest rate), as explained in Note 19 on
Financial Instruments.
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a. Credit risk

This risk arises from the possibility that the Company and its subsidiaries may not receive the
amounts resulting from sales which are not collateralized in general, or from credits with
financial institutions. To minimize this risk, the sales policies of the Company are governed
by the credit policies determined by its management, and are aimed at minimizing eventual
problems resulting from default by its clients. This objective is achieved by Management
through the thorough selection of a customer portfolio considering payment capacity (credit
analysis) and the setting of sales limits and short maturity periods for bills. The estimated
losses with these customers are fully provisioned.

In relation to the degree of exposure to risk, Management considers it to be low, since the
Company has a selected customer base, as described in Note19 (item a). The sales to the
largest customer accounted for 27% of the revenues for 2010.

In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries, based on the history of default, record a
provision for impairment of trade receivables in the consolidated amount of R$ 104 (R$ 64 in
2009 and R$ 234 at January 1, 2009), representing 2.13% (1.13% in 2009 and 1.6% at
January 1, 2099) of the consolidated outstanding balance of receivables, to cover credit risk.

The Company is studying a plan to realize the balance of receivables from related parties
within the next five years.

b. Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies in maintaining cash, enough marketable
securities, cash fund raising availability by means of bank credit facilities and capacity to
settle market positions. In view of the dynamic nature of its businesses, the Company has
flexibility in fundraising through the maintenance of banking credit facilities.

Management monitors the liquidity level of the Company and its subsidiaries, considering the
expected cash flows and cash and cash equivalents. Furthermore, the liquidity management
policy of the Company and its subsidiaries involves projections of cash flows and a reflection
on the net assets required to reach these projections, the monitoring of the liquidity ratios of
the balance sheet in relation to internal and external regulatory requirements and the
maintenance of debt financing plans.
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Restrictive covenants of borrowings:

Certain loan agreements are subject to restrictive clauses and include clauses, among others,
requiring that the Company and its subsidiaries should maintain certain financial ratios
within the pre-established parameters. The Company monitors compliance with these
financial ratios throughout the year.

c. Steel price risk

This risk arises from the volatility in the prices of the raw materials and inputs used in the
production processes of the Company and its subsidiaries. If a relevant variation occurs in the
prices of inputs and raw materials, the Company and its subsidiaries might not be capable of
transferring such increases to the prices of its products at the same rate of the cost increases,
which could produce an impact on the profit margin. As a policy for preventing short-term
fluctuations, the management of the Company and of its subsidiaries maintains constant
negotiations with the steel production plants. Steel purchases are concentrated at two steel
production plants.

Steel acquired for production of items earmarked for the foreign market has its price tied to
the quotation of the dollar, thus keeping abreast of the fluctuations pertaining to sales revenue
and bills of exchange receivable. In relation to steel acquired for use in the domestic market,
the price alterations equally affect the Company, its subsidiaries and their competitors, not
resulting in any competitive advantage or disadvantage.

d. Exchange rate risk

The results of the Company and its subsidiaries are susceptible to significant variations, due
to the effects of the volatility of the foreign exchange rate on its liabilities in foreign
currencies, specially the US dollar, arising from funding in the domestic market and sale of
products in foreign currency.

As a strategy to prevent and reduce the effects of fluctuations in exchange rate on profit and
loss, Management has adopted a policy of avoiding mismatches between assets and liabilities
indexed to foreign currencies, taking into consideration that the settlement of the contracts
mentioned above will be carried out through exports of products, representing transactions
with a natural hedge, and, therefore, the exchange rate changes will have temporary effects
on the results, with no equivalent effect on the cash flows of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
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In 2010, the Company presented a net liability exposure to exchange rate risk of R$ 45,593
(US$ 27,364). Of this net exposure, the sum of R$ 51,887 (US$ 31,141) refers to Advances
on Exchange Contract (ACC) and Export Prepayment operations, contracted in US dollars,
which are recorded in loans and financing in current and non-current liabilities, as described
in note 15.

In addition to temporary mismatches between asset and liability cash flows sensitive to a
certain risk factor, as well as, in the case of exchange rate variation, the expectations as to
fluctuations in the Brazilian real exchange rate, the Company periodically analyzes the
sensitivity of its financial liabilities to the US dollar variation, as mentioned in Note 19 (item
c).

e. Interest rate risk

The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to interest rate oscillation, which are applied
to their loans and financing. To minimize possible impacts originating from these
fluctuations, the Company and its subsidiaries adopt a diversification policy, alternating the
contracting of their debts, or contracting swaps, from variable to fixed rates, as explained
note 19, item d.

The Company is mainly exposed to CDI, TJLP and UMBNDES interest rate variations

The Company maintains derivative financial instrument for the Interest rate swap contract
used for hedging purposes, aiming at the exchange of interest rate of export prepayment
contracts, of LIBOR plus a percentage, by prefixed interest rates.

The gains or losses resulting from derivative financial instruments are recognized in profit
and loss under the title "Gains and losses with derivative instruments", and are recognized at
the fair value of these instruments in the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries.
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f. Capital management

The purpose of capital management of the Company and its subsidiaries (note 20 - Related
parties) is to ensure an efficient capital ratio, aiming to support businesses and maximize
shareholders value. The Company has restrictions regarding the payments of dividends above
the compulsory minimum dividends, capital reductions and purchase of treasury shares due

of the Company in the United States, has restrictions regarding payment of dividends and
loans payable to the parent company due to loan and financing contracts.

6 Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 January 1, 2010 2009 January 1,
2009 2009

Cash 31 12 28 31 12 28
Banks 28,371 4,994 8,297 28,161 4,885 7,653
Interest earning bank deposits 91,569 80,721 50,385 89,991 80,721 50,385

119,971 85,727 58,710 118,183 85,618 58,066

The balances of financial investments are represented by fixed-income securities, remunerated at
approximately 98% to 100% of the variation of the CDI - Certificate of Interbank Deposit, with
daily liquidity and possibility of immediate redemption, without fine or loss of profitability.
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7 Trade accounts receivable
Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 January 1, 2010 2009 January 1,
2009 2009

In local currency:
Trade notes receivable from third parties 27,570 22,594 17,596 27,571 22,594 17,596
Trade notes receivable sold to the FIDC 17,632 22,839 9,020 17,632 22,839 9,020

45,202 45,433 26,616 45,203 45,433 26,616
In foreign currency:
Trade notes receivable from third parties 20,234 14,562 26,295 6,130 2,891 13,702
Allowance for doubtful accounts ( 104) ( 64) ( 234) - - -

65,332 59,931 52,677 51,333 48,324 40,318

The amounts receivable in foreign currency are denominated, originally, in U.S. dollars. Maturity
of trade accounts receivable, including other loans and receivables, is presented in item a of note
19.

8 Inventories
Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 January 1, 2010 2009 January 1,
2009 2009

Finished goods 19,388 13,190 41,345 13,567 9,494 14,216
Work in process 14,985 17,010 16,935 14,985 17,010 16,935
Raw materials 26,724 21,958 15,616 18,422 13,180 15,616
Storeroom materials 1,926 1,080 2,070 1,925 1,080 2,070
Tools (short-term consumption) 12,033 11,450 11,886 12,033 11,450 11,886
Other inputs 2,459 1,259 1,565 2,461 1,259 1,565

77,515 65,947 89,417 63,393 53,473 62,288

Carrying value of inventories pledged as
collateral 29,644 17,420 25,282 15,251 4,700 -

Certain items considered obsolete or of low turnover have been subject to provisions for
adjustment to their realization value in the amount of R$ 2,350 on December 31, 2010 (R$ 2,883
in 2009 and R$ 3,132 on January 1, 2009).
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9 Taxes recoverable

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 January 1, 2010 2009 January 1,
2009 2009

ICMS 4,290 4,366 3,235 4,291 4,366 3,235
IPI 2,017 3,682 2,778 2,017 3,682 2,778
PIS 3 13 252 - 13 252
COFINS 15 105 940 - 105 940
IR & CSLL 5,914 4,906 328 5,914 4,906 328

12,239 13,072 7,533 12,222 13,072 7,533

Current 8,204 9,585 5,569 8,187 9,585 5,569

Noncurrent 4,035 3,487 1,964 4,035 3,487 1,964

Taxes and contributions recoverable result from prepayment of taxes, acquisitions of property,
plant and equipment and of commercial and financial operations carried out by the Company and
subsidiaries, and are considered realizable in the normal course of operations.

10 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

a. Unrecognized deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2009, deferred tax assets from tax losses carry-forward were not recognized in
the amount of R$ 89,977, because at that date, it was not probable there would be enough
future taxable profits to realize them. At 31 December 2010 and 2009, all deferred tax assets
were recognized.
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b. Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities were allocated as follows:

Consolidated

Assets Liabilities Net

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Property, plant and equipment - - - (20,935) (27,826) (38,700) (20,935) (27,826) (38,700)
Derivatives 1,384 1,157 - - - - 1,384 1,157 -
Inventories 1,062 1,428 1,740 - - - 1,062 1,428 1,740
Other receivables - - - ( 7,460) - - ( 7,460) - -
Provisions 2,129 18,782 3,081 - - - 2,129 18,782 3,081
Tax losses carry-forward 32,371 26,200 61,920 - - - 32,371 26,200 61,920
Tax losses carry-forward from
foreign subsidiary 936 2,459 1,909 - - - 936 2,459 1,909

Tax (assets) liabilities 37,882 50,026 68,650 (28,395) (27,826) (38,700) 9,487 22,200 29,950

Amount subject to offsetting (24,887) (27,826) (38,700) 24,887 27,826 38,700 - - -

Net tax assets (liabilities) 12,995 22,200 29,950 ( 3,508) - - 9,487 22,200 29,950

Parent Company

Assets Liabilities Net

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Property, plant and equipment - - - (16,008) (24,862) (36,106) (16,008) (24,862) (36,106)
Derivatives 1,326 1,157 - - - - 1,326 1,157 -
Inventories 799 980 1,065 - - - 799 980 1,065
Other receivables - - - ( 7,460) - - ( 7,460) - -
Provisions 1,966 18,455 3,071 - - - 1,966 18,455 3,071
Tax losses carry-forward 32,371 26,200 61,920 - - - 32,371 26,200 61,920

Tax (assets) liabilities 36,462 46,792 66,056 (23,468) (24,862) (36,106) 12,994 21,930 29,950

Amount subject to offsetting (23,468) (24,862) (36,106) 23,468 24,862 36,106 - - -

Net tax assets (liabilities) 12,994 21,930 29,950 - - - 12,994 21,930 29,950

The amount presented as offsettable refers to the amount of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities over which the entity has a legal right to offsetting and that it intends to realize on a
basis.
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Changes in timing differences and tax losses carry-forward during the year:

Consolidated

Balance at
January 1,

2009
Recognized in
income (loss)

Offsetting of
taxes (Refis

/IV)

Balance at
December

2009
Recognized in
income (loss)

Directly recognized
in shareholders'

equity

Balance at
December 31,

2010

Property, plant and equipment (38,700) 10,874 - (27,826) 6,891 - (20,935)
Derivatives - 1,157 - 1,157 227 - 1,384
Inventories 1,740 ( 313) - 1,427 ( 365) - 1,062
Other receivables - - - - ( 7,460) - ( 7,460)
Provisions 3,081 15,703 - 18,784 (16,655) - 2,129
Tax losses carry-forward 61,920 (35,720) - 26,200 6,171 - 32,371
Tax losses carry-forward from
foreign subsidiary 1,909 549 - 2,458 ( 1,522) - 936

Previously unrecognized tax losses - 93,805 (93,805) - - - -
Write-off of tax credits in the spin-off
and other impacts - Law 11196/05 - ( 9,666) - - - - -

29,950 76,389 (93,805) 22,200 (12,712) - 9,487

Parent Company

Balance at
January 1,

2009
Recognized in
income (loss)

Offsetting of
taxes (Refis

/IV)

Balance at
December

2009
Recognized in
income (loss)

Directly recognized
in shareholders'

equity

Balance at
December 31,

2010

Property, plant and equipment (36,106) 11,244 - (24,862) 6,765 2,089 (16,008)
Derivatives - 1,157 - 1,157 169 - 1,326
Inventories 1,065 (85) - 980 ( 181) - 799
Other receivables - - - - ( 7,460) - ( 7,460)
Provisions 3,071 15,384 - 18,455 (16,489) - 1,966
Tax losses carry-forward 61,920 35,720 - 26,200 6,171 - 32,371
Previously unrecognized tax losses - 93,805 (93,805) - - -
Write-off of tax credits in the spin-off
and other impacts - Law 11196/05 - ( 9,477) - - - - -

29,950 76,308 (93,805) 21,930 (11,025) 2,089 12,994

Future realization of deferred income and social contribution tax assets is supported by
projections of taxable income of period of up to 10 years, discounted at present value,
realized by the Company's management, in compliance with the tax legislation.

The projections of generation of future taxable income include various estimates referring to
the performance of the Brazilian and international economies, selection of exchange rates,
volume of sales, sales prices, tax rates and others, which may exhibit variations in relation to
the data and to the real values.
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Based on these projections of future taxable income, the Company estimates the recovery of
tax credits on the balances of tax loss, negative bases of social contribution and timing
differences in the following years:

Consolidated
Parent

company
2010 2010

2011 1,845 909
2012 1,625 1,625
2013 3,360 3,360
2014 4,479 4,479
2015 5,502 5,502
After 2015 16,496 16,496

Total 33,307 32,371

Since the result of income tax and social contribution tax on profit derives not only from the
taxable income, but also from the tax and corporate structure of the Company and its
subsidiaries abroad, the existence of nontaxable income, nondeductible expenses, exemptions
and from many other variables, there is no direct correlation between the net income of the
Company and its subsidiaries and the result of income tax and social contribution tax on
profit. Therefore the use of tax losses should not be considered an indication of future
earnings of the Company and its subsidiaries.

11 Other financial investments

G. Brasil, Sifco's parent company, launched, on March 28, 2006, FIDC of the Industrial
Segment, registered with the Brazilian Securities Commission ("CVM"), whose type of
assignment is "true-sale", in connection with the credit rights resulting from purchase and sale
operations in installments, of products traded by its subsidiaries, including Sifco.

The FIDC was organized in the form of a closed-ended fund, with a term of twenty (20) years.
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The first series of senior quotas mature in 36 months, with 12 months of grace period followed
by 24 months of monthly amortizations, and with yield of 110% of the CDI (Interbank Deposit
Certificate), which was fully amortized on February 6, 2009.

On March 7, 2008, G Brasil launched the second series of Senior Quotas of the FIDC. On March
15, 2008, the amount of R$ 51 million was obtained by the Fund. This second series has the
following characteristics: life term of 48 months; amortization as from the 25th month and
remuneration at DI rate plus spread of 1.10% per year.

The Company presents the balance of trade accounts receivable regarding the balances of trade

amount of R$ 17,632 (R$ 22,839 in 2009 and R$ 9,020 on January 1, 2009), as described in note
7, with a contra entry initially in "Investment fund in credit rights" in current liabilities. Also,
according to the characteristics of the FIDC's memorandum, the Company acquired 16,023
(16,023, in 2009) subordinated quotas of the Fund, whose balance is recorded under the caption
financial investments in noncurrent assets of the parent company, in the amount of R$ 19,745
(R$ 16,413 in 2009 and R$ 18,331 on January 1, 2009).

In the individual and consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010, because assets
are higher than liabilities, the remaining balance of the financial investment, net of the balance
payable, is recorded in noncurrent assets, under the caption "Financial investments", in the
amount of R$ 2,113 (R$ 9,331 on January 1, 2009). In 2009, these financial investments were
reclassified to current liabilities, reducing the balance of the caption "Credit Right Investment
Fund", in the amount of R$ 6,425.

12 Other receivables

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 January 1, 2010 2009 January 1,
2009 2009

Eletrobrás credits (a) 57,065 35,205 - 57,065 35,205 -
Other 2,731 - 4,757 2,731 - 28

59,796 35,205 4,757 59,796 35,205 28
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(a) Eletrobrás credits receivable updated up to December 31, 2010, as a result of decision
RESP 1028592 irrevocably judged by the Superior Court of Justice (STF) on August 28,
2010 (Note 24). Credits were restated based on UFIR-RJ (IPCA-E) rate plus interest on
arrears of 0.5% p.m., up to January 2003. After this date, credit restatement occurred
through the use of UFIR-RJ (IPCA-E) rate plus interest on arrears of 1% p.m.

13 Investments

Sifco recorded an equity gain of R$ 2,248 in 2010 (loss of R$ 91 in 2009) in net income of its
direct and indirect subsidiaries.

On October 27, 2010, Sifco S.A. organized SF Sistemas Automotivos S.A. by means of transfers
of assets and liabilities, in the net amount of R$ 53,946 (R$ 10 in cash, R$ 55,919 in property,
plant and equipment net, including an adjustment to deemed cost of R$ 6,143 and R$ 2,089 in
deferred taxes, and R$ 106 in intangible assets.

a. Breakdown of investments:

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Companies:
Sifco Intercontinental - - - 26,516 25,719 34,589
Tubrasil Sifco - - - 118,655 117,264 39,149
SF Automotivo - - - 53,975 - -

Other investments 861 993 393 - - -

861 993 393 199,146 142,983 73,738
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b. Changes in investments:

Sifco
Intercontinental Tubrasil Sifco SF Automotivo Total

Investment at January 1, 2009 34,589 39,149 - 73,738

Revaluation reserve adjustment - 5,892 - 5,892
Capital increase - 72,454 - 72,454
Equity evaluation adjustment ( 9,011) - ( 9,011)
Equity income (loss) 141 ( 232) - ( 91)

Investment on December 31, 2009 25,719 117,263 - 142,983

Capital transfer by means of assets - - 53,946 53,946
Capital increase 1,165 - - 1,165
Accumulated translation adjustment ( 1,195) - - ( 1,195)
Equity income (loss) 828 1,391 29 2,248

Investment on December 31, 2010 26,517 118,654 53,975 199,146

On June 23, 2010, through the General Shareholders' Meeting, it was approved the capital
increase of the subsidiary Sifco Intercontinental Co. Ltd., in the amount of R$ 1,165. On
June 1, 2009, it was approved the capital increase of the subsidiary Tubrasil Sifco, in the
amount of R$ 62,282, which was paid up by the Company, with amounts due by the
Company to the parent company, and then added R$ 10,172 regarding the deemed cost
adjustment in property, plant and equipment, totaling R$ 72,454.
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On May 27, 2009, Sifco performed the spin-off of land and buildings of the Jundiaí unit,
incorporating the spun-off portion into Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e Participações S/A.
According to the spin-off and merger report, Sifco's spun-off net assets incorporated into
Tubrasil Sifco amounted to R$ 71,044, but then increased by the deemed cost adjustment
regarding these assets in the amount of R$ 16,230.

a. Fixed assets offered as collateral

On December 31, 2010, the Company provided fixed assets with carrying value of R$ 78,258
(R$ 48,540 in 2009 and R$ 33,508 on January 1, 2009) to guarantee its bank loans.

b. Deemed cost

The Company opted for the adoption of the deemed cost, adjusting the opening balances on
the transition date on January 1, 2009 for comparative purposes.

The fair values used in the adoption of deemed cost were estimated by an experienced,
professionally competent outside specialized company with objectivity and technical
knowledge on the appraised assets.

To conduct the work, the experts took into account the information regarding the use of the
appraised assets, past or ongoing technological changes and the economic environment

classes of Machinery and equipment, and Land and buildings of property, plant and
equipment for the adoption of deemed cost at January 1, 2009.

experts dated August 31, 2010 and September 30, 2010.
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The effects in the main account groups arising from the adoption of the deemed cost on
January 1, 2009 were as follows:

Consolidated Land Buildings

Machinery
and

equipment
Computer
equipment Vehicles

Furniture and
fixtures

Molds and
tools Total

Balance at December 31, 2008 41,330 96,033 264,568 2,154 3,639 9,334 46,376 463,434
Adjustments in the adoption of deemed cost 6,430 5,311 28,602 - - - - 40,343

Balance at January 1, 2009 47,760 101,344 293,170 2,154 3,639 9,334 46,376 503,777

Parent company Land Buildings

Machinery
and

equipment
Computer
equipment Vehicles

Furniture and
fixtures

Molds and
tools Total

Balance at December 31, 2008 33,410 67,715 247,808 2,154 3,104 6,161 38,854 399,206
Adjustments in the adoption of deemed cost 4,789 5,273 28,602 - - - - 38,664

Balance at January 1, 2009 38,199 72,988 276,410 2,154 3,104 6,161 38,854 437,870

Shareholders' equity was increased by R$ 27,196 in the consolidated and in the parent

contribution tax liabilities were increased by R$ 13,146, due to the adoption of deemed cost.

Management estimated that the effects arising from the adoption of deemed cost in
depreciation expenses in the current and future years will be as follows:

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 After 2014
Consolidated
(Decrease) increase in depreciation expenses (737) (737) (737) (737) (737) 29.453

Parent company
(Decrease) increase in depreciation expenses (394) (394) (394) (394) (394) 31.631
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(**) On December 31, 2010, the Company has three contracts whose transaction costs are
deducted from the balances of respective loans and financing. The effective rate of these
contracts is: 168% of CDI (nominal of 139% of CDI), 209% of CDI (nominal of 150% of
CDI), and CDI + 12% p.a. (nominal of CDI + 7% p.a.).

Restrictive clauses:

Certain loan agreements are subject to restrictive clauses and include clauses, among others,
requiring that the Company and its subsidiaries should maintain certain financial ratios within the
pre-established parameters. As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, due to the impacts of the
global crisis on the local market, certain ratios did not reach the minimum levels required by
these clauses. The Company and G. Brasil Participações S.A. obtained from the credit
institutions, the respective waivers changing the minimum levels before the end of the years 2010
and 2009. On January 1, 2009, upon the adoption of new accounting standards, the amount of R$
79,638 was reclassified from noncurrent assets to current assets as described in note 29.

16 Fiscal and labor obligations

The tax and labor obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries are as follows:

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

ICMS 14,316 5,593 5,087 14,316 5,593 5,087
IPI 1,272 1,411 1,534 1,272 1,411 1,534
PIS 1,845 383 5,877 1,794 382 5,877
COFINS 18,757 1,999 17,442 18,522 1,996 17,439
IRPJ and CSLL 3,834 867 63,393 3,593 837 63,374
INSS 85,549 39,265 10,197 85,126 39,265 10,197
Labor 12,651 - - 12,533 - -
Conventional installment payment - - 1,283 - - 1,283
PPI - ICMS (a) 8,975 9,421 9,738 8,975 9,421 9,738
Refis - - 40,682 - - 40,682
Refis III - - 58,862 - - 58,862
Refis IV (b) 145,444 137,615 - 145,444 137,615 -
Other 233 10,379 2,745 233 10,379 2,745

292,876 206,933 216,840 291,808 206,899 216,818

Current 48,393 28,430 43,078 47,325 28,396 43,053
Noncurrent 244,483 178,503 173,762 244,483 178,503 173,765
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(a) PPI -Installment Incentive Program

The Company opted for the installment payment of its ICMS debts, by opting for the
Installment Payment Incentive Program - PPI, introduced by Decree No. 51,960, of July 4,
2007, amended by Decree No. 52,424, of November 29, 2007, under the terms authorized by
the ICMS Agreement No. 51, of April 18, 2007, whose validity was extended by ICMS
Agreement No. 114, of September 28, 2007, of the São Paulo State Government. Changes in
the balance are as follows:

Taxes
Balance on
12/31/2009 Interest Payments

Balance on
12/31/2010

Number of
installments

payable

Index for
monetary
correction

ICMS 9,738 851 (1,168) 9,421 93 SEFAZ

Current 1,113 1,216
Noncurrent 8,625 8,205

Taxes
Balance on
12/31/2009 Interest Payments

Balance on
12/31/2010

Number of
installments

payable

Index for
monetary
correction

ICMS 9,421 833 (1,279) 8,975 81 SEFAZ

Current 1,216 1,330
Noncurrent 8,205 7,645

(b) REFIS IV - Fiscal Recovery Program

The Company opted for adhesion to the scheduled payment of its federal tax debts, including
those originating from Refis, Paex and Ordinary Installment Payments, maturing up to
November 11, 2008 through adhesion to the Fiscal Recovery Program l - REFIS IV
established by Law Nº 11941/09, of May 27, 30, in up to 180 monthly installments. The
installment payment awaits the consolidation of the debts by the Brazilian Federal Revenue
Service - RFB.
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The installment payment is as follows in 2009:

Taxes
Debts

Date Adhesion
Recognition

Debts

Legal
Reduction PF/BNCSLL

Reduction

Balance of the
Installment

payment in 2009

Installments (i) 104,038 42,961 (33,303) (58,711) 54,985
RFB / INSS - Provisioned 96,024 ( 3,814) (13,210) (24,918) 54,082
RFB / INSS - Other processes(ii) - 47,559 ( 8,835) (10,176) 28,548

Total 200,062 86,706 (55,348) (93,805) 137,615

Current 6,511
Noncurrent 131.104

(i) Common installment payments as of December 31, 2008 which were included in the REFIS IV
installment payment;

(ii) Corresponds to the amounts of administrative and judicial proceedings included in the REFIS IV
for which there was no provision formed as of December 31, 2008;

(iii) Corresponds to recognition of debts to be included in the REFIS IV. Of which, R$ 90,520 were
recorded under other operating expenses and R$ 3,814 under financial income;

(iv) Corresponds to reduction of interest (from 25% to 40%) and a fine (from 20% to 100%)
established in Law Nº 11,941/09 for the debts adhered to Refis IV. From the effects of the legal
reduction, the amount of R$ 27,922, was recognized in other operating income and R$ 27,426
was recognized as financial income, both according to the line on which the debt was recorded;
and

(v) Corresponds to payment of debts included in the Refis IV regarding tax losses and negative basis,
observing the limits of 25% and 9% for income and social contribution taxes, respectively. Since
they refer to tax credits not recognized as of December 31, 2008 because they were above the
limits of projected realization, these tax credits were recognized in 2009 as deferred income and
social contribution taxes and immediately offset against the Refis IV balance payable.

The installment payment is as follows in 2010:

Taxes
Balance on
12/31/2009

New
inclusions/exclusi

ons (i)

Legal
reduction
(ii)

Decrease
PF/CSLL (iii) Interest Payments

Balance on
12/31/2010

Refis 137,615 4,555 (792) (2,447) 13,013 (6,500) 145,444

Current 6,511 6,511
Noncurrent 131,104 138,933
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(i) Corresponds to the recognition of debits included in REFIS IV in the amount of R$ 7,232
less excluded debits in the amount of R$ 2,677. These exclusions are due to an analysis
carried out by the Company's legal advisors since they understand that these debts can be
legally questioned;

(ii) Corresponds to reduction of interest (from 25% to 40%) and a fine (from 20% to 100%)
established in Law Nº 11941/09 for the debts adhered to Refis IV.

(iii) Corresponds to payment of debts included in the Refis IV regarding tax losses and tax
loss carryforwards, observing the limits of 25% and 9% for income and social
contribution taxes, respectively.

Under the applicable legislation, the Company is required to comply with the monthly
payments of the installment payment under analysis, as essential condition to the
maintenance of the installment payment. The non-compliance with this obligation will result
in the cancellation of the benefits granted and in the payment of debts in the original amount,
with legal surcharges up to the date of the exclusion.

17 Employee benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries do not have defined contribution plans or defined benefit
plans.

The Company and its subsidiaries only grant short-term benefits to their employees, which
measured on a non-discounted basis and incurred as expenses as the related service is rendered.

The liability is recognized at the amount expected to be paid under the cash bonus plans or short-
term profit sharing if the Company has a legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of prior service rendered by the employee, and the obligation can be reliably estimated.
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18 Provisions

2010 2009 01/01/09

Provision for contingencies (a) 5,774 6,353 5,825
Provision for financial guarantees (b) 1,717 2,406 4,059

7,491 8,759 9,884
(a) Provision for contingencies

The Company is a party in several lawsuits and administrative proceedings. Provisions are
formed for all contingencies regarding judicial proceedings representing likely losses and
assessed with a certain degree of assurance. The determination of loss probability includes
the assessment of available evidence, law hierarchy, available case law, the most recent
decisions in courts and its relevance to the legal system, and the assessment by legal advisors.
Management understands that such provisions for tax, civil and labor risks are correctly
presented in the financial statements. The balance of provision for contingencies is classified
as non-current, less the respective judicial deposits.

The Company and its subsidiaries are a party in other discussions, evaluated by their legal
advisors as having a possible or remote chance of loss, for which reason their Management
did not form reserves in their financial statements.

Movements of provision for contingencies for the year ended December 31, 2010 are stated
in the chart below:

January 1,
2009 Additions

Write-
offs 2009 Additions

Write-
offs 2010

Tax 677 - ( 677) - - - -
Civil 2,086 637 (1,155) 1,568 19 ( 992) 595
Labor 4,996 3,735 (2,036) 6,695 2,701 (2,404) 6,992

7,759 4,372 (3,868) 8,263 2,720 (3,396) 7,587

Judicial deposits (1,934) ( 292) 316 (1,910) ( 120) 217 (1,813)

5,825 4,080 (3,552) 6,353 2,600 (3,179) 5,774
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Pursuant to CPC 25 - Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, claims related to
possible losses, as well as other contingent liabilities, are not recorded in the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, being presented only for disclosure purposes,
as follows:

2010 2009 January 1,
2009

Tax 41,117 39,234 31,582
Civil 191 185 453
Labor 7,315 6,331 8,046

48,623 45,750 40,081

The management of the Company and its subsidiaries, based on the opinion of their legal
advisors, believes that the current provisions are sufficient to cover possible losses on the
lawsuits involving the Company and its subsidiaries.

(b) Provision for financial guarantees

The Company is the guarantor of some loan and financing and lease agreements and other
financial transactions entered into by related parties (subsidiaries of Brascom Group) with
financial institutions, maturing in 2011 and 2013, in a total amount of R$ 85,850 on
December 31, 2010 (R$ 74,039 on December 31, 2009 and R$ 108,137 on January 1, 2009).

The Company formed provision for financial guarantees in its noncurrent liabilities
amounting to R$ 1,717 on December 31, 2010 (R$ 2,406 in 2009 and R$ 4,059 on January 1,
2009).

19 Financial instruments

to cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, related party transactions, interest
earning bank deposits, other receivables, loans and financing, CCI, FIDC, provision for
derivative instruments, suppliers, salaries and provision for vacation, tax and labor liabilities, and
dividends payable.
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The management of these instruments is done through operating strategies, aimed at ensuring
liquidity, profitability and security. The control policy consists of permanent follow-up of the
rates engaged versus those in force in the market.

a. Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

Carrying amounts of financial assets represent the maximum exposure of the Company and
its subsidiaries to credit risk on financial statement dates are as follows:

Carrying value

Consolidated Parent Company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Cash and cash equivalents 119,971 85,727 58,710 118,183 85,618 58,066
Trade accounts receivable 65,332 59,931 52,677 51,333 48,324 40,318
Related party transactions 379,904 153,878 174,172 387,315 167,228 177,264
Other financial assets 2,113 - 9,311 2,113 - 9,311
Other receivables 59,796 35,205 4,757 59,796 35,205 28

Total 627,116 334,741 299,627 618,740 336,375 284,987

The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables on the date of
financial statements by type of counterparty was as follows:

Carrying value

Consolidated Parent Company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Customers - domestic market 45,202 45,433 26,616 45,203 45,433 26,616
Customers - foreign market 20,234 14,562 26,295 6,130 2,891 13,702
Other financial investments 2,113 - 9,311 2,113 - 9,311
Other receivables 59,796 35,205 4,757 59,796 35,205 28

Third parties 127,345 95,200 66,979 113,242 83,529 49,657

Trade accounts receivable 86 403 3,380 7,928 17,336 10,212
Current account 379,818 153,475 170,792 379,387 149,892 167,052
Related party transactions 379,904 153,878 174,172 387,315 167,228 177,264

Total 507,249 249,078 241,151 500,557 250,757 226,921

F-52



Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

i. Third parties

The maturity of loans and receivables granted to third parties on the date of the financial
statements was:

Consolidated Parent Company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Without maturity* 61,909 35,205 14,068 61,909 35,205 9,339
Balances falling due 60,550 54,370 38,298 47,146 44,297 28,588

122,459 89,575 52,366 109,055 79,502 37,927
Balances overdue:
From 1 to 30 days 3,149 4,120 9,727 2,730 3,179 7,804
From 31 to 60 days 1,162 513 1,127 1,013 313 869
From 61 to 90 days 178 327 656 175 198 414
From 91 to 180 days 340 365 2,918 212 37 2,526
From 181 to 360 days 57 239 58 57 239 32
Above 361 days - 61 127 - 61 85

Total overdue 4,886 5,625 14,613 4,187 4,027 11,730

Total 127,345 95,200 66,979 113,242 83,529 49,657

Allowance for doubtful accounts ( 104) ( 64) ( 234) - - -

Total 127,241 95,136 66,745 113,242 83,529 49,657

(*) Balances without maturity correspond mainly to other receivables (see note 12).

Movement in allowance for doubtful accounts in relation to loans and receivables on the
date of financial statements was as follows:

Consolidated

2010 2009

Balance on January 1 ( 64) (234)
Provision for impairment ( 40) 170

Balance at December 31 (104) ( 64)
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Sifco's customers are mostly automakers and "first-tier suppliers", with good reputation
in the market and conservative profile as to the stability and continuity of the relationship
with their suppliers. Accordingly, a significant part of Sifco's customer portfolio is
composed of long-time customers with high level of loyalty. Due to the profile of Sifco's
customer portfolio, the credit risk associated to these customers is considered low by
management, with low level of default, and delays, when they occur, usually refer to
negotiations of price or billing term. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009,
and January 1, 2009, it was considered unnecessary to recognize an allowance for
doubtful accounts in the parent company.

Most of the delays in the receivables portfolio refer to amounts past-due up to 30 days.
This is due to the characteristics of certain customers, large companies of the automotive
industry, which make their payments irrespective of the maturity dates of their invoices,
on a weekly and/or semi-monthly basis.

On December 31, 2010, Sifco and its subsidiaries have three major customers (four major
customers in 2009), which account for 10% or more of gross revenues, representing
approximately 60% (62% in 2009) of total revenue earned.

ii. Related party transactions

The maturity of loans and receivables granted to related parties on the date of the
financial statements was:

Consolidated Parent Company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Without maturity 379,818 153,475 170,792 379,387 149,892 167,052
Balances falling due 86 403 3,380 7,928 17,336 10,212

Total 379,904 153,878 174,172 387,315 167,228 177,264
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b. Liquidity risk

We present below the contractual maturities of financial liabilities excluding the impact of
the negotiation agreements of currencies by the net position.

Consolidated Carrying 6 months 6 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 Over Without
value or less months years years 5 years maturity

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and financing 385,931 135,561 76,435 102,858 71,077 - -
Real estate credit note 51,300 - 4,275 10,260 10,260 26,505 -
Suppliers 61,271 61,271 - - - - -
Salaries and provision for vacation 18,626 18,626 - - - - -
Fiscal and labor obligations 292,876 9,927 38,466 15,733 45,651 95,868 87,331
Related party transactions 10,348 - - - - - 10,348
Dividends 3,617 3,617 - - - - -

Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swap 889 260 363 118 148 - -
Exchange rate swap 3,159 1,528 917 705 9 - -

828,017 230,790 120,456 129,674 127,145 122,373 97,679

Parent Company Carrying 6 months 6 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 Over Without
value or less months years years 5 years maturity

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Loans and financing 371,826 130,849 72,906 101,699 66,372 - -
Suppliers 59,912 59,912 - - - - -
Salaries and provision for vacation 17,000 17,000 - - - - -
Fiscal and labor obligations 291,808 8,859 38,466 15,733 45,651 95,868 87,231
Related party transactions 70,241 - - - - - 70,241
Dividends 3,617 3,617 - - - - -

Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swap 741 260 363 118 - - -
Exchange rate swap 3,159 1,528 917 705 9 - -

818,304 222,025 112,652 118,255 112,032 95,868 157,472

No cash flow expected, included the Group's maturity analysis, may occur significantly
sooner or in amounts significantly different.

F-55



Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

c. Foreign exchange risk

Exposure to foreign currency

The Company's exposure to foreign currency risk on the date of financial statements, in
thousands of U.S. dollars, based on nominal values, was as follows:

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009
January 1,

2009 2010 2009
January 1,

2009

Cash and cash equivalents 3,342 554 3,545 3,342 554 3,545
Trade accounts receivable 3,678 1,660 5,863 8,386 9,753 9,232
Other amounts receivable 71 134 30 71 134 30
Loans and financing (34,278) (44,598) (57,579) (34,278) (44,598) (57,579)
Suppliers ( 177) ( 346) ( 127) ( 2,559) ( 4,192) ( 2,860)

Net exposure (27,364) (42,596) (48,268) (25,038) (38,349) (47,632)

The following exchange rates were applied during the year:

Balance sheet date

Average rate Spot rate

2010 2009 2010 2009 01/01/09

USD
Consolidated 1.7601 1.9976 1.6662 1.7412 2.337

Parent company 1.7601 1.9976 1.6662 1.7412 2.337

Foreign currency exposure sensitivity analysis

A devaluation of the Real, as shown below, against the US dollar on December 31, 2010
would have reduced the shareholders' equity and net income according to the following
amounts. This analysis is based on the foreign currency exchange rate variation that the
Company considered reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
considers that all the remaining variables, especially interest rates, are kept constant.
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Sensitivity analysis

Index Dollar -
Inception Dollar - End Variation Source Net exposure in

2010 Sensitivity

Consolidated Dollar 1.6662 1.8123 0.1461 BMF (27,364) (3,999)

Parent company Dollar 1.6662 1.8123 0.1461 BMF (25,038) (3,659)

An appreciation of the Real against the US dollar on December 31, 2010 would have the
same effect, but with the opposite result, considering that all the other variables are kept
constant.

d. Interest rate risk

On the balance sheet dates, the profile of financial instruments remunerated through
Company's interests was as follows:

Carrying value

Consolidated Parent Company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Related party transactions 86 403 3,380 7,928 17,336 10,212
Other receivables 59,796 35,205 4,757 59,796 35,205 28

59,882 35,608 8,137 67,724 52,541 10,240
Financial liabilities
Loans and financing 86,557 68,751 16,493 126,110 68,751 16,493

86,557 68,751 16,493 126,110 68,751 16,493

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Interest earnings bank deposits 91,569 80,721 50,385 89,991 80,721 50,385
Related party transactions 379,818 153,475 170,792 379,387 149,892 167,052

471,387 234,196 221,177 469,378 230,613 217,437
Financial liabilities
Loans and financing 245,716 195,024 192,447 245,716 182,690 161,501
Real estate credit note 51,300 - - - - -
Investment funds in credit rights - 6,425 - - 6,425 -
Fiscal and labor obligations 292,876 206,933 216,840 291,808 206,899 216,818
Related party transactions 10,348 2,534 11,660 70,241 8,055 22,524

600,240 410,916 420,947 607,765 404,069 400,843
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Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not record any fixed rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, and does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging
instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in the interest
rates on the reporting date would not change profit and loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The sensitivity analysis considered loans and financing restated by CDI, TJLP and
UMBNDES rates.

A change of 1.39% in CDI interest rates, 0.5% in TJLP, 0.5% in SELIC and 1% in IPCA on
the date of financial statements, would have increased (decreased) the shareholders' equity
and profit and loss for the year according to the amounts stated below. The analysis
considers that all the remaining variables, especially regarding foreign currency, are kept
constant.

Consolidated

Profit and loss

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

December 31, 2010
Variable rate instruments 823 (823) 823 (823)
Interest rate swap 10 ( 10) 10 ( 10)

Sensitivity of cash flow (net) 833 (833) 833 (833)

Parent Company

Profit and loss

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

December 31, 2010
Variable rate instruments 597 (597) 597 (597)
Interest rate swap 10 ( 10) 10 ( 10)

Sensitivity of cash flow (net) 607 (607) 607 (607)
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e. Fair value

Fair value vs. carrying value

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying values, are as
follows:

Consolidated 2010 2009 01/01/09

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value value value

Assets measured by the amortized cost
Cash and cash equivalents 119,971 119,971 85,727 85,727 58,710 58,710
Trade accounts receivable 65,332 65,332 59,931 59,931 52,677 52,677
Related party transactions 379,904 379,904 153,878 153,878 174,172 174,172
Other financial investments 2,113 2,113 - - 9,311 9,311
Other receivables 59,796 59,796 35,205 35,205 4,757 4,757

627,116 627,116 334,741 334,741 299,627 299,627
Liabilities measured at fair value
Interest rate swap used for coverage 889 889 3,403 3,403 12,254 12,254
Exchange rate swap used for coverage 3,159 3,159 - - - -

4,048 4,048 3,403 3,403 12,254 12,254

Liabilities measured by the amortized cost
Loans and financing 385,931 383,537 263,775 259,271 208,940 208,940
Real estate credit note 51,300 51,300 - - - -
Investment funds in credit rights - - 6,425 6,425 - -
Suppliers 61,271 61,271 45,022 45,022 16,173 16,173
Salaries and provision for vacation 18,626 18,626 12,753 12,753 13,446 13,446
Fiscal and labor obligations 292,876 292,876 206,933 206,933 216,840 216,840
Related party transactions 10,348 10,348 2,534 2,534 11,660 11,660
Dividends payable 3,617 3,617 11,822 11,822 - -

823,969 821,575 549,264 544,760 467,059 467,059
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Parent company 2010 2009 01/01/09

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value value value

Assets measured by the amortized cost
Cash and cash equivalents 118,183 118,183 85,618 85,618 58,066 58,066
Trade accounts receivable 51,333 51,333 48,324 48,324 40,318 40,318
Related party transactions 387,315 387,315 167,228 167,228 177,264 177,264
Other financial investments 2,113 2,113 - - 9,311 9,311
Other receivables 59,796 59,796 35,205 35,205 28 28

618,740 618,740 336,375 336,375 284,987 284,987

Liabilities measured at fair value
Interest rate swap used for coverage 741 741 3,403 3,403 12,254 12,254
Exchange rate swap used for coverage 3,159 3,159 - - - -

3,900 3,900 3,403 3,403 12,254 12,254

Liabilities measured by the amortized cost
Loans and financing 371,826 369,432 251,441 246,937 177,994 177,994
Investment funds in credit rights - - 6,425 6,425 - -
Suppliers 59,912 59,912 45,303 45,303 11,258 11,258
Salaries and provision for vacation 17,000 17,000 12,753 12,753 13,446 13,446
Fiscal and labor obligations 291,808 291,808 206,899 206,899 216,818 216,818
Related party transactions 70,241 70,241 8,055 8,055 22,524 22,524
Dividends payable 3,617 3,617 11,822 11,822 - -

814,404 812,010 542,698 538,194 442,040 442,040

Fair value hierarchy

The different fair value hierarchy levels were defined as follows:

Level 1: prices quoted (not adjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
Level 2: inputs, except for quoted prices, included in Level 1 which are observable for
assets or liabilities, directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices);
Level 3: assumptions, for assets or liabilities, which are not based on observable market
data (non-observable inputs).

All financial instruments recorded at fair value were measured using level 2 method.
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Interest rates used to determine the fair value

Interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, based on the CDI yield
curve disclosed by BM&F for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

20 Related party transactions

The Company's major shareholder is G Brasil Participações S.A. (G Brasil), which is controlled
by Brascom Participações S.A.

G Brasil Participações S.A. is engaged in the holding of interest in and management of
companies which, in turn, are primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of forged, machined
and cast items, steel pipes, light alloy wheels, tooling and stamping, among others, mainly for the
automotive industry. Its direct and indirect subsidiaries are: Sifco, Sifco Intercontinental,

Brascom Participações S.A. ("Brascom") is engaged in the holding of interest in and
management of companies which, in turn, operate mainly in the metal, mechanic and plastic
sectors, among others. Its direct and indirect subsidiaries are: G Brasil, ILP Participações

Pursuant to CPC 05 - Related party disclosures, controlling shareholders, subsidiaries and
affiliates, entities under common control, key management personnel, entities under common
control and which somehow have significant influence on the Company, specifically, entities in
which the controlling shareholders participate in the respective boards of directors, even when
the control is not exercised, were considered entities with significant influence.

The main balances of assets and liabilities on December 31, 2010 and 2009 and January 1, 2009,
as well as the transactions that influenced these years' profit figures, in connection with related
party transactions, result mainly from transactions between the direct and indirect subsidiaries,
key management personnel, and transactions with companies directly or indirectly related to the
controlling shareholder.
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We present below the nature of main transactions carried out between Sifco and other related
parties:

the balances recorded in current assets of the Company refer to sales and advances for
acquisition of products between Sifco and Westport;

noncurrent assets are represented by the balance of the current account among the related
parties;

the balances of current account and suppliers are recorded in current liabilities;

sales revenues of products and services to indirect subsidiary Westport resulting from the sale
of materials;

financial income resulting from the levy of interest equivalent to CDI plus 0.5% per month of
the balances of the current accounts between the Company, Vulcan and Brascom, and, as of
January 1, 2010, the levy of interest equivalent to CDI only with the entities comprising G
Brasil.

Conditions of transactions with main related parties:

The Company, its subsidiaries and the parent company G Brasil, adopt the procedure of
maintaining a "single cash management", through which they conduct daily financial transactions
according to the need of funds of each company.

The transactions between related parties are performed under similar market conditions, on the
date of each transaction, and prices may vary according to the type of product sold or acquired.

The balances resulting from the current accounts of the subsidiaries of G Brasil up to December
31, 2009 were not subject to financial charges. As of 2010, these transactions now have levy of
interest equivalent to CDI. The other financial transactions with affiliates, which are not
subsidiaries of G Brasil, are subject to interest equivalent to CDI plus 0.5% per month.

As mentioned in note 18.b., the Company figures as guarantor of some loan and financing
agreements, leases, and other financial transactions entered into by related parties (subsidiaries of
Brascom Group) with financial institutions.
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Remuneration of key management personnel

The Company considers its statutory officers as key management personnel, and they received
R$ 1,556 on December 31, 2010 (R$1,353 on December 31, 2009) as short-term benefits.

The balances and the transactions with related parties are as follows:

2010

Consolidated Parent company

Accounts Current Current Accounts Current Current
receivable and account account receivable and account account

advances receivable payable advances receivable Suppliers payable
Current:
Alujet - - 2,418 - - - 2,418
SF - - - - - 3,416 -
Tubrasil Sifco - - - - - 462 52,046
Westport - - - 10,009 - - -
Westport - discounted trade bills - - - ( 2,167) - 3,588 -
Sifco Intercontinental - - - - - 381 -
GB Logistica 86 - - 86 - - -
Vulcan - - 7,930 - - - 7,930

Total 86 - 10,348 7,928 - 7,847 62,394

Noncurrent
MTP - 49,837 - - 49,837 - -
G Brasil - 155,893 - - 155,893 - -
Tubrasil - 5,215 - - 2,898 - -
BR Metals - 131,981 - - 131,981 - -
Brascom - 22,460 - - 22,460 - -
Westport - - - - 1,886 - -
KG - 14,432 - - 14,432 - -

Total - 379,818 - - 379,387 - -
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2009

Consolidated Parent company

Accounts Current Current Accounts Current Current
receivable and account account receivable and account account

advances receivable payable advances receivable Suppliers payable

Current:
Alujet 123 - 1,325 - - - 1,325
SF 228 - - - - - -
Tubrasil Sifco 52 - - - - - -
Westport - - 1,209 - - - -
Westport - discounted trade bills - - - 19,077 - 6,158 34
Sifco Intercontinental - - - (1,741) - - -
GB Logistica - - - - - 538 -

Total 403 - 2,534 17,336 - 6,696 1,359

Noncurrent
G Brasil - 25,731 - - 25,731 - -
Tubrasil - 4,822 - - 3,418 - -
Alujet - 13,338 - - 12,156 - -
BR Metals - 71,883 - - 71,883 - -
MTP - 15,282 - - 15,282 - -
KG - 997 - - - - -
Vulcan - 2,141 - - 2,141 - -
Brascom - 19,281 - - 19,281 - -

Total - 153,475 - - 149,892 - -
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01/01/09

Consolidated Parent company

Accounts Current Current Accounts Current Current
receivable and account account receivable and account account

advances receivable payable advances receivable Suppliers payable

Current:
KG 1.655 - 11.660 - - - 11.660
Alujet 1.725 - - - - - -
Westport - - - 16.841 - 5.736 4.406
Westport discounted trade bills - - - ( 6.629) - - -
Sifco Intercontinental - - - - - 722 -

Total 3.380 - 11.660 10.212 - 6.458 16.066

Noncurrent
G Brasil - 116.104 - - 107.342 - -
Tubrasil - 3.425 - - 2.925 - -
Alujet - 14.612 - - 14.612 - -
BR Metals - 20.866 - - 20.866 - -
MTP - 6.594 - - 6.594 - -
Vulcan - 3.533 - - 3.533 - -
Brascom - 5.658 - - 5.658 - -
Westport - - - - 5.522 - -

Total - 170.792 - - 167.052 - -

Transactions - Parent company

2010 2009 01/01/09

Sales of goods, products and services to the indirect subsidiary Westport 38.497 22.479 41.250
Financial expenses with the indirect subsidiary Westport - - 4
Financial income from current accounts receivable 27.892 2.483 424
Financial expenses with current accounts payable 2.663 - -

Leasing expenses:
Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e Participações Ltda. 3.411 983 691
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21 Real estate credit note

On July 1, 2010 Tubrasil Sifco signed a real estate credit note relating to the prepayment of
receivables related to the rental agreement between the subsidiary Tubrasil Sifco and Sifco. This
amount is subject to financial charges tied to the variation of the amplified consumer price index
- IPCA. Shares of Tubrasil Sifco were offered as collateral. This contract has a grace period of
twelve (12) months, with the first installment of the principal maturing on August 1, 2011. The
other installments have monthly maturities with the contract expiring in July 2015. Of the total
R$ 51,300, on December 31, 2010, R$ 4,510 are classified in current liabilities and R$ 46,790 in
non-current liabilities.

22 Capital and reserves

a. Capital

On May 29, 2009, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved the reduction of capital
by R$ 37,353 from R$ 73,805 to R$ 36,452, and reduction of the revaluation reserve by
R$ 33,691, resulting from the partial spin-off of Sifco. This spun-off portion was basically
composed of property and facilities of Jundiaí unit, incorporated into Tubrasil Sifco
Empreendimentos e Participações S/A, direct subsidiary of Sifco S.A.

As of December 31, 2009, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved the capital
increase in the total amount of R$ 38,548, of which R$ 6,211upon capitalization of the legal
reserve and R$ 32,337 of profit reserve, without changes in the number of shares issued by
the Company.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company 's capital stock was R$ 75,000 (R$ 73,805 on
December 31, 2008), represented by 100,000,000 shares without par value, fully paid up, of
which 50,000,000 are common shares and 50,000,000 are preferred shares.

On June 30, 2010, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved the capital increase in
the total amount of R$ 30,000, from R$ 75,000 to R$ 105,000, with R$ 4,000 through
capital reserve and R$ 26,000 through profit retention reserve, without a change in the
quantity of shares issued by the Company.
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The following privileges are assured for preferred shares:

i. Priority in the receipt of dividends by preferred share, 10% higher than that allocated for
each common share;

ii. Participation in equal conditions of the common shares in capital increase, resulting from
capitalization of reserves, profits, or use of any other funds;

iii. Priority in the reimbursement of capital, in the event of any form of extinguishment of
the Company, with premium equal to that attributed to the common shares.

b. Treasury shares

As of December 31, 2009, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approved the acquisition,
by the Company, of 48,800,000 of its own shares at the cost of R$ 0.745 per share, held by
its parent company G Brasil Participações S.A, to be held in treasury, in the amount of R$
36,360.

The average number of shares used to calculate the result, dividend per share and total shares
at the end of the year is as follows:

2010 2009

Average number of common shares 25,760,000 50,000,000
Average number of preferred shares 25,760,000 50,000,000
Average number of shares 51,520,000 100,000,000
Total common shares at the end of the year 25,760,000 25,760,000
Total preferred shares at the end of the year 25,760,000 25,760,000
Total shares at the end of the year 51,520,000 51,520,000
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c. Revaluation reserves

The Company, based on appraisal report prepared by independent appraisers, performed the
revaluation of the fixed asset items, which in 2006 amounted to R$ 99,181, against the
caption revaluation reserve, in shareholders' equity, whose tax effects on said revaluations
were recorded in the caption deferred taxes on revaluation in current and long-term
liabilities, in the total amount of R$ 26,264. On December 31, 2010 the balance of tax
impacts is R$ 2,839 (R$ 18,232 in 2009). Revalued assets began to be depreciated based on
the estimated remaining economic useful life stated in the appraisal reports.

d. Equity evaluation adjustment

The Company recognizes in this account the increases or decreases the in deemed cost to
asset and liability elements as a result of their valuation at fair value until they are not
computed in income for the year on the accrual basis.

Due to the adoption of deemed cost, shareholders' equity increased by R$ 27,196 on January
1, 2009, net of deferred income tax in the consolidated and in the subsidiary, under the

amount are depreciated or written-off against profit and loss, said amounts are transferred
from the account Equity evaluation adjustment to Retained earnings (loss).

e. Accumulated translation adjustment

The exchange rate variation on foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency that differs
from the Company's reporting currency is directly recognized in shareholders' equity under

generated a negative effect in the amount of R$ 1,195 (R$ 9,011 in 2009). This accumulated
effect is reverted to profit and loss for the year as gain or loss only in the case of disposal or
write-off of investment.

f. Dividends

Sifco's by-laws provides for the distribution of dividends of up to 25% of net income.
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In 2010, the Company proposed payment of dividends in the amount of R$ 3,617 (R$ 11,822
in 2009), corresponding to 25% of net income after the allocation of the legal reserve.

g. Allocation of retained earnings

The remaining balance of retained earnings as of December 31, 2010 in the parent company,
in the amount of R$ 25,261 in the parent company, according to management's proposal, was

Meeting, with the financial statements for the year then ended.

23 Revenues

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Sale of goods 925,421 509,869 907,378 479,068
Rendering of services 25,015 22,397 3,151 2,611

Total gross revenues 950,436 532,266 910,529 481,679

Less:
Sales tax (170,892) ( 95,065) (170,892) ( 95,065)
Refunds and rebates ( 2,210) ( 3,030) ( 2,210) ( 3,652)

Total revenues 777,334 434,171 737,427 382,962

24 Other expenses

Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Contingencies ( 3,544) ( 4,372) ( 3,544) ( 4,372)
Refis IV (a) ( 1,317) (62,598) ( 1,317) (62,598)
Termination expenses (50% FGTS) (b) ( 2,688) ( 7,723) ( 2,688) ( 7,723)
Profit sharing ( 5,453) ( 728) ( 5,453) ( 728)
Tax Credits (c) 2,536 7,312 2,536 7,312
Disposal of fixed assets ( 1,072) ( 1,072)
Other ( 899) ( 459) ( 897) ( 459)

(12,437) (68,568) (12,435) (68,568)

F-69



Sifco S.A.

Notes to the financial statements
(In thousands of reais, unless otherwise indicated)

(a) Refers to the recognition of tax contingencies, in view of the abandonment of lawsuits that
were in progress, net of the effects relating to adhesion to Refis IV.

(b) Recognition of the indemnification of the contractual fine in the termination of employment
relating to 50% of the balance in the Government Severance Indemnity Fund for Employees,
upon the discharge of the employee without just cause.

(c) Recognition of federal tax credits arising from the adhesion to the Refis IV.

25 Financial income and expenses

Consolidated Parent company

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

Financial expenses
Interest on loans (50,424) (19,690) (46,366) (17,950)
Restatement of taxes in installments 16.a e b. (13,846) ( 3,706) (13,846) ( 3,706)
Restatement of provision for taxes (19,416) (18,786) (19,416) (18,786)
Interest with related parties ( 221) - ( 2,663) -
Bank expenses ( 7,659) ( 4,593) ( 7,655) ( 4,593)
Change in FIDC subordinated quota ( 951) ( 5,587) ( 951) ( 5,587)
Other ( 1,279) ( 1,118) ( 1,279) ( 1,118)

Total (93,796) (53,480) (92,176) (51,740)

Consolidated Parent company

Nota 2010 2009 2010 2009
Financial income
Income with related parties. 28,197 2,589 27,892 2,483
Price-level restatement - Eletrobrás 12 21,940 - 21,940 -
Income with interest earning bank deposit 5,698 4,080 5,698 4,080
Change in FIDC subordinated quota 4,283 3,669 4,283 3,669
Income from Refis IV - 32,001 - 32,001
Other 898 1,755 649 1,564

Total 61,016 44,094 60,462 43,797
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26 Income tax and social contribution tax on profit

Effective tax rate reconciliation Consolidated Parent company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Income (loss) before income and social contribution taxes 28,325 (24,767) 26,251 (24,840)
- - -

Official tax rate % 34% 34% 34% 34%
Income tax and social contribution using the rate of the parent
company (9,631) 8,421 (8,925) 8,446
Permanent differences (1,392) (8,862) (2,098) (8,814)
Write-off of tax credits - Spin-off

- (26,215) - (26,215)
Impact of income from subsidiaries at different tax rates (2,074)
Recognition of deferred income and social contribution taxes
from prior year recorded in REFIS IV - 93,805 - 93,805
Recognition of other deferred tax credits of prior years - 9,086 - 9,086
Effects of law 11196/05 - 974 - 974

Income and social contribution taxes (13,097) 77,209 (11,023) 77,282

Effective rate % 46.2% 311% 41.9% 311%

27 Operating leases

Consolidated Parent Company

2010 2009 01/01/09 2010 2009 01/01/09

Less than 1 year 3,039 2,854 4,751 12,824 1,217 954
From one to five years 6,377 9,312 14,869 53,370 4,868 4,868
More than five years - 1,273 - 7,699 608 1,217

Total 9,416 13,439 19,620 73,893 6,693 7,039

Westport, subsidiary of Sifco, leases offices and factory facilities under operating leases. The
leases run for a period of four years. During the year 2010, an amount of R$ 3,001 (US$ 1,801)
was recognized as an expense in profit and loss in respect of operating lease (R$ 3,759 (US$
2,159) in 2009).
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The Company leases offices and factory facilities under operating leases from its subsidiary
Tubrasil Sifco. The leases run for a period of six years. During the year 2010, an amount of R$
3,411 was recognized as an expense in profit and loss in respect of operating lease (R$ 983 in
2009).

28 Insurance coverage

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain an insurance policy that provides for the contracting
of insurance for assets and responsibilities in relevant amounts. The risk assumptions, due to
their nature, are excluded from the scope of an audit of the financial statements, and therefore
were not audited by our independent auditors. On December 31, 2010, the insurance plans
contracted were represented as shown below:

Coverage
Maturity

(*)
Amount of
coverage

Civil liability 01/05/2011 7,835
Loss of profit 01/05/2010 46,623
Fire, lightening, explosion, windstorms and electrical
damages 01/05/2010 66,315

Total 120,773

(*) The contracts have a maturity of one year.

29 Main effects of the adoption of new accounting pronouncements - CPCs

The individual and consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 are
the first ones presented considering the full application of accounting pronouncements issued by
the Accounting Pronouncements Committee (CPC).

Up to December 31, 2009, the individual and consolidated financial statements of the Company
were presented according to the accounting practices adopted in Brazil comprising the Corporate
Law and CPC's Pronouncements, Interpretations and Technical issued up to December 31, 2008.
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The Company prepared its opening balance sheet with transition date of January 1, 2009;
therefore, it exercised the relevant mandatory exceptions and certain optional exemptions of full
retrospective application pursuant to the Technical Pronouncements, Interpretations and
Guidance issued by CPC.

The Company and its subsidiaries adopted all the Pronouncements, Guidance and Interpretations,
and their respective reviews, when applicable, issued by CPC up to December 31, 2010; thus, the
current financial statements are in accordance with CPC standards.

The application of these standards impacted amounts previously presented in the Company's
individual and consolidated financial statements. The explanations about the differences in the
individual and consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with BR GAAP for the
year ended December 31, 2009 and January 1, 2009, and CPCs are presented in item f of this
note.

Reconciliation between the accounting practices previously adopted in Brazil and the
New CPCs - BR GAAP

We present below the reconciliation of the main differences between the accounting practices
previously adopted in Brazil and the New CPCs - BR GAAP
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(a) Discounted trade notes - Pursuant to CPC 38 - Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement, Discounted trade notes should be classified in liabilities, since they
characterize a liability financial instrument because the asset was transferred but the credit
risk remains with the company;

(b) Credit Receivable Investment Funds (FIDC) - Pursuant to CPC 38 - Financial instruments:

and liabilities to be settled by its net amount.

(c) Reclassification of deferred income and social contribution taxes - Based on CPC 32 -
Income taxes, all deferred taxes (assets or liabilities) in the current assets group were
reclassified to the noncurrent assets group in the individual and consolidated statements of
the Company;

(d) Deferred income and social contribution taxes - Deferred income and social contribution
taxes were recorded on temporary differences related to the differences between the
accounting practices previously adopted and the New CPCs - BR GAAP, as mentioned in
note 10;

(e) Deemed cost of fixed assets - For the purposes of the first adoption of the new CPC
Technical Pronouncements, the company and its subsidiaries opted for the remeasurement at
fair value of some items of their fixed assets, replacing the carrying value, with the use of the
deemed cost concept, as provided for in Technical Pronouncements CPC 27 and ICPC 10.
Such remeasurement generated effects on items: machinery and equipment, and property and
land, and in the respective accumulated depreciation accounts;

(f) Deemed cost of investments - Sifco's subsidiaries also opted for the adoption of
; therefore, the Company recognized the reflex investment arising from the deemed cost

in their individual financial statements;

(g) Provision for financial guarantees - The Company formed provision for guarantees in its
noncurrent liabilities, since it figures as guarantor of some loan and financing agreements,
leases, and other financial transactions entered into by its associated companies and other
related parties with institutions. The breakdown of amounts is described in note 18;
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(h) Elimination of profits in the inventories of subsidiaries - Results arising from downstream
transactions between the parent company and subsidiary are not recognized in the financial
statements of the seller according to CPC 18. This situation differs from that previously used
in Brazil since the parent company recognized the income on the sale to the parent company
and elimination only occurred in the consolidation.

(i) Reclassification of loans from noncurrent liabilities to current liabilities - On the
transition date, part of our loans were reclassified to current liabilities, in the amount of R$
79,638 in the individual and consolidated financial statements due to the breach of related
covenants, since the waiver allowing the breach of covenants on December 31, 2008 was
obtained after the balance sheet date on April 27, 2009;

(j) Transaction costs and premiums in the issuance of securities - Pursuant to CPC 08,
expenses with placing of debentures in the market were reclassified as accounts that offset
fair value initially recognized in current and noncurrent liabilities of issued financial
instrument to evidence the net amount received.

30 Subsequent events

Strategic partnership

In February 2011, Sifco S.A. and Dana Indústrias Ltda., indirect subsidiary of Dana Holding
Corporation, announced an strategic partnership through a contract entered into for a period of
10 years, in the amount of R$ 250.7 million, in which Sifco will be responsible for the
production of forged and machined products, such as beams, sleeves, and steering and
connection arms, and Dana will be responsible for trading and final assembly of these products.

Said partnership fully meets the strategic planning of the Company, which was looking for a
commercial partner with global presence, engineering and capital to meet the world automotive
demand growth. According to the strategic planning of the Company, Sifco will put extra efforts
into its other segments, regarding new technologies and valued added to the transmission,
agricultural machinery, infrastructure and steering components.
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To  
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Sifco S.A. 
Jundiaí - SP 
 
 
 
1. We have examined the balance sheet of Sifco S.A. and the consolidated balance sheet of the 

Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and the related statements of income, 

responsibility of its management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements. 

2. Our examinations were conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in Brazil and included: a) planning of the audit work, considering the materiality of the 
balances, the volume of transactions and the accounting systems and internal accounting 
controls of the Company and its subsidiaries; b) verification, on a test basis, of the evidence 
and records which support the amounts and accounting information disclosed; and  
c) evaluation of the most significant accounting policies and estimates adopted by Company 
management and its subsidiaries, as well as the presentation of the financial statements taken 
as a whole. 

3. In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Sifco S.A and the consolidated financial position of the Company 
and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009, and the results of its operations, changes in its 

the year then ended, in conformity with 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil. 

 

KPMG Auditores Independentes  
R. Dr. Renato Paes de Barros, 33 
04530-904 - São Paulo, SP - Brasil  
Caixa Postal 2467  
01060-970 - São Paulo, SP - Brasil 

Central Tel 55 (11) 2183-3000 
Fax Nacional  55 (11) 2183-3001 
Internacional  55 (11) 2183-3034 
Internet   www.kpmg.com.br 

KPMG Auditores Independentes, uma sociedade simples brasileira e 
firma-membro da rede KPMG de firmas-membro independentes e 
afiliadas à KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), 
uma entidade suíça. 

KPMG Auditores Independentes, a Brazilian entity and a member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. 

www.kpmg.com.br


 

 

4. The financial statements of Sifco S.A. (parent company and consolidated) for the year ended 
December 31, 2008, were examined by other independent auditors, who issued an 
unqualified report dated April 27, 2009, containing emphasis paragraphs of the following 
matters: (i) over the course of 2004, the Company was excluded from the REFIS - Tax 
Recovery Program introduced by Law 9,964,
counsel understands that this exclusion was undue, and the legal measures had already been 
taken. The Company is also questioning this matter at the administrative levels of the federal 
agencies, in order to solve it as quick as possible. In view of the foregoing, the Company 
maintained the balances related to this program, as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
classified in current and non-current liabilities, as per payment schedule established under the 
program, and did not recognize any interest and fines resulting from the possible non  
re-inclusion into said program; (ii) in view of the changes in the accounting practices adopted 
in Brazil in 2008, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007, presented 
for comparative purposes, were adjusted and are being restated, pursuant to Accounting Rule 
- NPC 12 - Accounting Practices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Correction of Errors. 

São Paulo, April 19, 2010 
 
 
KPMG Auditores Independentes 
CRC 2SP014428/O-6 
 
 
 
 
Carlos Augusto Pires Rogério Hernandez Garcia 
Accountant CRC 1SP184830/O-7 Accountant CRC 1SP213431/O-5 
  





Sifco S.A.

Statements of income

Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

(In thousands of Reais, except earnings per share, expressed in R$)

Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

Gross operating revenues
Sale of goods 480,166 714,754 532,266 757,169 
Returns and discounts  (3,652)  (1,539)  (3,030)  (1,539)

476,514 713,215 529,236 755,630 

Sales tax  (95,065)  (131,262)  (95,065)  (131,262)

Net operating revenue 381,449 581,953 434,171 624,368 

Cost of goods sold  (324,537)  (465,116)  (366,751)  (498,640)
                         

Gross profit 56,912 116,837 67,420 125,728 

Operating (expenses) income 
Selling expenses  (8,870)  (12,899)  (10,104)  (13,991)
General and administrative expenses  (26,892)  (28,944)  (33,434)  (35,432)
Management compensation  (1,353)  (1,503)  (1,353)  (1,503)
Other operating expenses 17  (68,568)  (4,786)  (68,568)  (4,786)
Equity in net income of subsidiaries 9  (297) 347  -  - 

Operating (loss) income before financial income, income 
and social contribution taxes  (49,068) 69,052  (46,039) 70,016 

Net financial income
Financial expenses  (53,393)  (42,438)  (55,133)  (43,693)
Financial income 43,797 7,327 44,094 7,404 
Gains with exchange rate changes 29,837 4,197 29,837 4,197 
Losses with exchange rate changes (3,103) (28,449)  (3,103)  (28,449)
Gains (losses) with derivative financial instruments 16 3,992 (18,296) 3,992  (18,296)

Operating loss before income  (27,938)  (8,607)  (26,352)  (8,821)

 Income and social contribution taxes
Current 8 974 (974) 820  (1,135)
Deferred 8 76,739 811 76,820 889 

Net income (loss) for the period 49,775  (8,770) 51,288  (9,067)

Net income (loss) per lot of a thousand shares - In Reais       497.75       (87.70)
  

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Parent company Consolidated





Sifco S.A.

Statements of cash flows

Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

(In thousands of Reais)

Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

Cash flow from operating activities 
Net income (loss) for the year 49,775    (8,770)     51,288    (9,067)     
Adjustments for

Depreciation / amortization 15,676    14,553    20,529    16,195    
Allowance for doubtful accounts -              -              (110)        234         
Equity in income of subsidiaries 9 297         (347)        -              -               
Write-off of fixed assets 695         1,582      852         10,092    
Financial charges and exchange variation over balances of transactions with related 
parties, trade notes receivable, suppliers, financing and taxes 460         60,413    (5,027)     62,085    
Provision for derivative financial instruments 16 (4,517)     18,296    (4,517)     18,296    
Deferred taxes 8 17,065    (811)        16,899    (889)        
Provision for contingencies 528         (197)        528         (197)        
Refis  IV  - Law 11941/09 (except effects on financial income) (31,207)   -              (31,207)   -               

Variation in operating assets
Trade accounts receivable 7,458      9,074      1,119      11,941    
Related parties (9,290)     (4,247)     -              -               
Inventories 8,410      (11,239)   15,098    (7,062)     
Recoverable taxes and contributions (5,539)     3,657      (5,539)     3,658      
Other assets (4,095)     (6,624)     (2,173)     (10,824)   

Variation in operating liabilities
Accounts payable to suppliers 31,184    (17,518)   32,237    (20,187)   
Salaries and pay vacation (693) (530)        (693)        (530)        
Taxes payable 658         3,407      634         3,429      
Other liabilities (888) 3,840      (195)        4,249      

Cash provided by from operational activities 75,977 64,539    89,723    81,423    

Cash flow from investment operations
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (16,993)   (38,527)   (17,366)   (52,330)   
Investments in subsidiaries -              (1,995)     -              -               
Other (476)        (1,396)     (1,910)     (1,396)     

Cash (used in) investment activities (17,469)   (41,918)   (19,276)   (53,726)   

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid -              (2,500)     -              (2,500)     
Treasury shares paid (36,360)   -              (36,360)   -               
Proceeds from issuance of loans and financing 217,915  109,058  291,987  250,123  
Principal payments of financing (115,897) (84,384)   (200,221) (222,507) 
Payments for derivative financial instruments (4,335)     (6,042)     (4,335)     (6,042)     
Cash pool account - Related parties (92,279) 5,404      (93,447)   (2,323)     

Cash provided by (used in) investment activities (30,956) 21,536    (42,376)   16,751    

Exchange rate variation over cash from foreign subsidiaries - -              (1,054)     -               

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,552 44,157    27,017    44,448    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 58,066 13,909    58,710    14,262    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 85,618    58,066    85,727    58,710    

Additional information to the cash flow
Income and social contribution taxes paid -              6,102      39           6,155      
Interests paid during the period 15,762    18,772    16,130    18,772    
Amounts payable to suppliers regarding the acquisition of property, plant and equipmen t 3,937      1,706      3,937      1,706      
Capitalization of subsidiary with current account balance of related parties 62,282    -              62,282    -               

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Parent company Consolidated
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Notes to the financial statements 
Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 
 
(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

1 Operations 
 

forging and machining of parts for the automotive market of automakers, covering the local and 
 composed of two facilities in the state of São 

Paulo, one in Jundiaí (forging and machining) and the other in Campinas (forging). Sifco 

of America, engaged in the assembly of front suspension modules for commercial vehicles, as 
well as in operations of storage and systems of sequential delivery of components to customers 
established in that country. 

In May 2009, G Brasil Participações S.A., continui
process, and being the parent company of Sifco, executed the partial spin-off of the assets of 
Sifco, incorporating the spun-off portion (comprised substantially of buildings and facilities of 
the Jundiaí plant), in Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e Participações S/A, a direct subsidiary of 
Sifco S.A. Accordingly, all the properties (Jundiaí and Campinas) belonging to Sifco are held by 
its direct subsidiary Tubrasil Sifco.  
 
The Company and its subsidiaries have four major customers, which account for 10% or more of 
gross revenues, representing approximately 62% of total revenue earned. 
 
 

2 Presentation of financial statements and summary of significant accounting 
policies 
 
The individual and consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
accounting practices generally accepted in Brazil, derived from the Brazilian Corporation Law, 
pronouncements, guidelines and interpretations of the Committee for Accounting 
pronouncements (CPC), and the rules of the Federal Accounting Council (CFC). 

The authorization for the conclusion of these financial statements was given by the Board of 
Directors on January 19, 2010. 
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2.1 Summary of significant accounting policies 

a. Statement of income 

It is determined on the accrual basis. The revenue and the cost resulting from the sale of 
products are recognized in net income when all the risks and benefits inherent to the product 
are transferred to the buyer. The revenue and cost resulting from services provided, when 
applicable, are recognized in the result based on their actual provision. Expenses are 
recognized as they are effectively incurred; revenue is not recognized if there are significant 
uncertainties as to its realization. 
 

b. Use of estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires that Management prepare estimates and 
adopt objective and subjective assumptions, in its best judgment, which affect the sums 
presented of certain assets, liabilities, income and expenses and other transactions, such as 
determination of depreciation rates of property, plant and equipment, allowance for doubtful 
accounts, allowance for loss in the realization of inventories, provisions for contingencies, 
allowance for deferred tax assets, among others. Upon the conclusion of the transactions 
involving estimates, the real amounts may differ from the balances recorded due to the 
subjectivity inherent to the process of their determination; the Company reviews the 
estimates and assumptions annually. 
 

c. Financial instruments 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments include interest earning bank deposits, investments in 
debt and equity instruments, accounts receivable and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, loans and financing, as well as other accounts payable and other debts. 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus, for 
instruments that are not stated at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable 
transaction costs. After the initial recognition, the non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured as described below. 
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i. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

An instrument is classified by fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading, i.e, 
designed as such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are stated at fair value 
through profit or loss if the Company manages these investments and makes decisions on 
investment and redemption based on fair value according the strategy of investment and 
risk management documented by the Company. After the initial recognition, the 
attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. Financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and their 
fluctuations are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

ii. Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables should be measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method, reduced by any reductions in the recoverable value. 
 

iii. Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Company carries out currency swap operations in order to reduce interest risks of 
loans and financing in foreign currency, and currency forward in order to reduce risks on 
foreign currency accounts receivable. In these operations, the Company intends to hedge 
against adverse effects resulting from exchange variations. These contracts are recorded 
on the accrual basis of accounting, whereas the gains or losses earned or incurred by 
virtue of these contracts are recognized at their fair value as adjustments in financial 
income or expenses. The Company does not maintain transactions of speculative nature, 
i.e., transactions not directly linked to hedge against adverse effects resulting from 
exchange variations. See comments in Note 16. 
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d. Foreign currency 

functional currency is the Real, in accordance 
with the rules established in the CPC 02 - Effects of Changes in Exchange Rates and 
Conversion of Financial Statements. Transactions in foreign currency, that is, all of those that 
are not carried out in functional currency, are converted by the exchange rate of the dates of 
each transaction. Assets and liabilities subject to exchange variation are restated based on the 
rates of the respective currencies in effect on the last business day of each year presented. 
Gains and losses resulting from variations of foreign investments are recognized directly in 

 valuation adjustments, and recognized in the 
statement of income when these investments are fully or partially divested. The financial 
statements of the foreign subsidiary were adjusted to the accounting practices adopted in 
Brazil, and, subsequently, translated into local currency at the exchange rate in effect at the 
balance sheet date. Income, costs and expenses were translated into Brazilian reais (R$) at the 
average foreign exchange rate. 
 

e. Net income per share 
 
Calculated based on the number of shares on the balance sheet dates.  
 

f. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Comprised of the sums of cash and funds maintained in bank accounts and in short-term 
financial investments. Financial investments are composed of certificates of short-term bank 
deposits and yield referenced to the CDI, which may be immediately redeemed by the 
Company without any discount or fine. 
 

g. Trade accounts receivable 
 
 Recorded and maintained in the balance sheet at their nominal value plus exchange 
variation, when applicable, and segregated between current and non-current according to 
maturity. Allowance for doubtful accounts is formed with a basis on the individual analysis 
of the trade notes and of the trade accounts receivable and in a sum considered sufficient by 
Company Management to cover probable losses upon their realization, represented basically 
by the individual analysis of accounts receivable outstanding. For situations in which risks of 
realization are identified, the amounts of the past-due debts are fully accrued.  
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h. Inventories 

Inventories are valued based on the historic average cost of purchase or of production, which 
does not exceed the market value or the replacement cost. The allowance for doubtful 
accounts was calculated at an amount considered adequate by management to cover any 
losses arising on collection of accounts receivable. 
 

i. Investments in subsidiaries 

Valued by the equity method of accounting based on financial statements prepared in 
accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil. The exchange variation of the 
investment in subsidiaries abroad is recognized
adjustment of asset appraisal, according to the exchange rate variation. The other investments 
are valued at historical cost, less a provision for devaluation, when applicable. 
 

j. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Recorded at the cost of acquisition, formation or construction, plus the partial revaluation 
recorded in the Note nº 10. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, 
according to the estimated useful life of the assets, estimated and reviewed periodically, 
pursuant to the annual rates described in Note 10. In compliance with technical 
pronouncement CPC 06 - Commercial Leasing Operations, assets destined to the operations 
acquired through Commercial Leasing Operations are recorded in fixed assets against loans 
and financing. Whenever events or changes in the circumstances indicate that the book value 
of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable based on future cash flows, the 
Company adopts the procedure of reviewing fixed assets so as to check possible losses. As of 
December 31, 2009, no events had been identified that would indicate the need to recognize 
allowance for losses. 
 

k. Intangible assets 
 
Recorded at formation cost, represented by i) right of use of software programs, which are 
amortized over five years, and trademarks and patents; ii) customer portfolio, which is 
amortized over a period of 10 years; and iii) intangible assets with indefinite useful life. 
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l. Other assets 

Current and noncurrent assets are presented at the net realizable value. 

m. Provision for contingencies 

classification in long-term, in amount considered sufficient to cover risks related to the 
lawsuits with probable chance of loss. The balance of the provision for contingencies is 
presented net of the respective judicial deposits. 
 

n. Assets and liabilities, subject to monetary variation 
 
The rights and obligations, legal or contractually subject to monetary variation, are restated 
up to the balance sheet dates, whose contra-entries are directly reflected in the result for the 
years presented. 
 

o. Income and social contribution taxes 

The income and social contribution taxes, both current and deferred, are calculated based on 
the rates of 15% plus a surcharge of 10% on taxable income in excess of R$ 240 thousand for 
income tax and 9% on taxable income for social contribution on net income, and consider the 
offsetting of tax loss carryforward and negative basis of social contribution, limited to 30% 
of the taxable income. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries recognize tax credits on tax losses and social contribution 
tax loss carryforwards, as well as on the main temporary differences between the result 
determined for tax purposes and the result determined in accordance with the Brazilian 
accounting practices, based on projections of future taxable income (for income and social 
contribution taxes), in a maximum period of 10 years, and stated at the expected realizable 
value, as shown in note 8. 
 
The Company records deferred income and social contribution taxes, required on the 
revaluation reserve, in current and non-current liabilities. 
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2.2 Correction of errors 
 
Management identified and corrected, in year 2009, misinterpretations that affected the balances 
at the closing of the year ended December 31, 2008, as described below: 

a. In the consolidated: reversal of deferred taxes liabilities at the subsidiary companies in the 
amount of R$ 3,364, against the own revaluation reserve, corresponding to a change of the 
tax regime from taxable income to deemed profit at these subsidiaries in the year 2008; and 

 
b. At the Parent Company: increase in the balance of investments in subsidiaries against the 

revaluation reserve of subsidiaries resulting from the adjustment described above. 

The adjustments mentioned above resulted in an increase in the revaluation reserves of 
subsidiaries in the amount of R$ 3,364 and no effect on retained earnings as of December 31, 
2008.  
 
For better comparison of the financial statements and, in conformity with CFC Resolution  
No. 1,087, the positions of the individual and consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 
2008 were adjusted in the individual and consolidated financial statements as if the adjustments 
had occurred on December 31, 2008, as shown below: 

Parent company 
Carrying 

position 
Adjustments for 
matching of the 

Adjusted 
position

 at 12/31/08 statements at12/31/08

Assets  
Noncurrent assets 

Investments in subsidiaries 68,696 3,364 72,060
 

 
  Revaluation reserve 74,746 3,364  78,110
 
Consolidated  
 
Liabilities   
Noncurrent liabilities 

Deferred taxes 24,705 3,364 21,341
 

 
  Revaluation reserve 74,746 3,364  78,110
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3 Consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
practices adopted in Brazil, as described in Note 2, and include the balances and transactions of 
the Company and of the following direct and indirect subsidiaries:  

% of interest

Subsidiary Main activity 2009 2008
   

   
Westport Axle Corporation Sale of heavy axles for trucks, other machined components 

and several import and export activities, as well storage and 
sequential systems of delivery of components. It has its own 
sufficient management team, administrative autonomy, it 
contracts its own operations, including financial operations, 
which characterize it as autonomous entity. 99.99% 99.99%

Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos  
e Participações S/A  

Management and lease of proprietary assets, assets and 
properties, business intermediation and management of 
proprietary assets. 100% 100%

 
The financial statements as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 of subsidiaries abroad (Westport and 
Sifco Intercontinental, consolidated into Sifco) have been adjusted to the Brazilian accounting 
practices, when applicable, and are translated into reais based on the following procedures:  
 
a. Assets and liabilities are translated closing rate of the dollar against the real, on the date of 

the respective balance sheets; 
 
b. 

equity of the prior period as translated at th
equity during the current period are translated at the rates of the transactions, on the 
respective dates; 

 
c. Revenues, costs and expenses are translated at the monthly average exchange rate; and 
 
d. The exchange variations resulting from items (a), (b) and (c) above, are recognized in a 

2009 the impacts referring to this adjustment were R$ 9,011 (R$ 7,782 credit in 2008), 
resulting in a debit balance in the final share
2009 (R$ 2,707 credit in December 31, 2008). 
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In consolidation, the balances of intercompany investments, assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses and unrealized profit have been eliminated.  
 
The reconciliation between the amounts presented by the parent company and the consolidated is 
as follows: 
 
 
      
 2009 2008 2009 2008
      
Parent company 49,775 ( 8,770) 156,967 229,537
Elimination of unrealized results in the inventories 
of the indirect subsidiary Westport, acquired by the 
parent company   1,513 (    297) (     245) (  1,757)

  
Consolidated 51,288 ( 9,067) 156,722 227,780
 
In addition to the above mentioned subsidiaries, the Company consolidated the balance of trade 

memorandum, the Company acquired 16,023 (16,023, in 2008) subordinated quotas of the Fund, 
whose balance is recorded under the caption financial investments in non-current assets of the 
parent company, in the amount of R$ 16,413 (R$ 18,331 in 2008). In the consolidated balance 
sheet of 2009, these financial investments were reclassified to current liabilities, reducing the 

because assets are higher than liabilities, the remaining balance of the financial investment, net of 
the balance payable, is recorded in non-current 
in the amount of R$ 9,311. 
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4 Cash and cash equivalents  
 

Parent company  Consolidated 

 2009 2008 2009 2008
      

Cash 12 28 12 28
Banks 4,885 7,653 4,994 8,297
Short-term interest-earning bank deposit 80,721 50,385 80,721 50,385
 

 85,618 58,066 85,727 58,710
 
The balances of financial investments are represented by fixed-income securities, remunerated at 
approximately 98% to 100% of the variation of the CDI - Certificate of Interbank Deposit, with 
daily liquidity and possibility of immediate redemption, without fine or loss of profitability.  
 
 

5 Trade accounts receivable 
 
 Parent company  Consolidated 
      

 2009 2008  2009 2008 
      

In local currency:      
Trade notes receivable  22,594 17,596  22,594 17,596
Trade notes receivable sold to the FIDC - -  22,839 9,020
Discounted receivables (21,808) (16,493) (21,808) (16,493)

     

 786 1,103 23,625 10,123

In foreign currency: 
Third parties 2,891 13,702  14,562 26,295

      

Allowance for doubtful accounts           -          -  (       64) (     234)
      

   3,677 14,805  38,123 36,184
 
The amounts receivable in foreign currency are denominated, originally, in U.S. dollars.  
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market and conservative profile as to the stability and continuity of the relationship with their 
s customer portfolio is composed of long-time 

customers with high level of loyalty. Due to the 
risk associated to these customers is considered low by management, with low level of default, 
and delays, when they occur, usually refer to negotiations of price or billing term. Accordingly, 
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, it was considered unnecessary to recognize an allowance for 
doubtful accounts in the parent company. 
 

d, on March 28, 2006, FIDC of the Industrial 
Segment, registered with the Brazilian Secu

operations in installments, of products traded by its subsidiaries, including Sifco. 
 
The FIDC was organized in the form of a closed-ended fund, with a term of twenty (20) years. 
 
The first series of senior quotas matures in 36 months, of which 12 months correspond to grace 
period and 24 months correspond to monthly amortizations, with profitability of 110% of CDI 
(Certificate of Interbank Deposit), which was fully amortized on February 6, 2009. 
 
On March 7, 2008, G Brasil launched the second series of Senior Quotas of the FIDC. On March 
15, 2008, the amount of R$ 51 million was obtained by the Fund. This second series has the 
following characteristics: duration of 48 months; amortization as from the 25th month and yield 
at DI (interbank deposit) rate plus spread of 1.10% per year. 
 
The trade notes receivable assigned to the FIDC are written off from the caption trade accounts 
receivable in the balance sheet of the parent company, considering that the assignment of credit 
rights between the Company and the Fund, as per regulation, is structured as a definitive sale, by 
the assignor, of the credit right to the Fund, without right of recovery. Following the accounting 
practices under the standards and instructions of the Brazilian Securities Commission - CVM, the 
Company recognized in its consolidated financial statements, the balance of trade notes 
receivable assigned to the FIDC as of December 31, 2009, against current liabilities, reducing the 

because assets are higher than liabilities, the remaining balance of the financial investment, net of 
the balance payable, is recorded in non-current 
in the amount of R$ 9,311. 
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The balance by age of trade accounts receivable in local and foreign currency as of December 31, 
2009, of the parent company and consolidated, is as follows:  
 
 Parent company Consolidated 
 
Trade notes receivable assigned to the FIDC - 22,839 
Current 21,458 31,531
  

Total 21,458 54,370 
  
Past-due:  

From 1 to 30 days 3,179 4,120 
From 31 to 60 days 313 513 
From 61 to 90 days 198 327 
From 91 to 180 days 37 365 
From 181 to 360 days 239 239 
Above 361 days         61          61

  
Total past-due   4,027    5,625

  
Total 25,485  59,995

  
Discounted receivables (21,808) (21,808)

Allowance for doubtful accounts            - (       64) 
 

Total   3,677 38,123
 
Most of the delays in the receivables portfolio refer to amounts past-due up to 30 days. This is 
due to the characteristics of certain customers, large companies of the automotive industry, which 
make their payments irrespective of the maturity dates of their invoices, on a weekly and/or  
semi-monthly basis.  
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6 Inventories 
 

Parent company  Consolidated 

 2009 2008 2009 2008
 

Finished goods 9,494 14,216 13,190 41,345
Work in process 17,010 16,935 17,010 16,935
Raw materials 13,180 15,616 21,958 15,616
Storeroom materials 1,080 2,070 1,080 2,070
Tools 11,450 11,886 11,450 11,886
Other inputs   1,259   1,565   1,259   1,565
 
 53,473 62,288 65,947 89,417
 
Certain items considered obsolete or of low turnover have been subject to provisions for 
adjustment of the realization value in the amount of R$ 2,883 on December 31, 2009 (R$ 3,132 
on December 31, 2008). 
 
 

7 Recoverable taxes 
 
 Parent company  Consolidated 
 
 2009 2008 2009 2008
  
State VAT (ICMS) 4,366 3,235 4,366 3,235
Federal VAT (IPI) 3,682 2,778 3,682 2,778
Tax on revenue (PIS) 13 252 13 252
Tax on revenue (COFINS) 105 940 105 940
Withholding income tax (IRRF)   4,906    328   4,906    328
 
 13,072 7,533 13,072 7,533
 
Current 9,585 5,569 9,585 5,569
Noncurrent 3,487 1,964 3,487 1,964
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Taxes and contributions recoverable result from prepayment of taxes, acquisitions of property, 
plant and equipment and of commercial and financial operations carried out by the Company and 
subsidiaries, and are considered realizable in the normal course of operations. 

8 Income tax and social contribution  

a. The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the tax effect on the consolidated income 
before income tax and social contribution, based on the rates in effect as of December 31, 
2009 and 2008. 
 
 2009 2008
  
Loss before income tax and social contribution (26,352) (8,821)
Official tax rate % 34% 34%
Effect of income tax and social contribution at the official 

rates 8,960 2,999
  
Permanent differences (  8,970) (1,135)
Recognition of other deferred tax credits of prior years 9,086 1,257
Tax credit not recognized on tax loss  - (3,367)
Write-off of tax credits - Spin-off (26,215) -
Recognition of deferred income and social contribution 

taxes of prior years included in the REFIS IV 93,805 -
Effect of Law 11,196/05      974          -
  
 77,640 (   246)
  
Composition of the effect of income tax and social 

contribution on the result:  
Current income tax and social contribution  820 (1,135)
Deferred income tax and social contribution  76,820    889
   
 77,640 (   246)
 



Sifco S.A. 
 
 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 
(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 
 

The tax credit not recognized in 2008 refers to the nonexistence of sufficient future taxable 
income for the realization of credits in that year, based on earnings - projections prepared by 
the Company and its subsidiaries. 

b. Tax credit of deferred income tax and social contribution  

The Company recognized tax credits of deferred income and social contribution tax assets, 
resulting from tax losses, social contribution tax loss carryforwards and temporarily 
nondeductible differences, as shown below: 
 
 Consolidated 
  
Deferred tax assets 2009 2008
  Adjusted
  
Income tax loss carry-forwards 13,880 55,020
Recoverable social contribution tax loss carryforwards  5,065 6,900
Deferred taxes of subsidiaries abroad 3,233 -
Temporarily nondeductible differences  27,029   2,756

Total tax credit on accumulated tax losses and social 
contribution tax loss carryforwards and temporary differences 49,207 64,676

  
Current assets 2,695 8,859
Non-current assets 46,512 55,817

 
Deferred tax liabilities 2009 2008
  Adjusted
Temporary differences in the accumulated depreciation of 

fixed assets:  
  From revaluations of proprietary assets 15,268 22,960
  Foreign subsidiaries   2,963           -
  

Total temporary differences 18,231 22,960
  
Current liabilities 1,365 1,619
Noncurrent liabilities 16,866 21,341
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Deferred income and social contribution tax assets are limited to the amounts whose future 
realization is supported by projections of taxable income of period of up to 10 years, 
discounted at present value, realized by the Co
tax legislation. 
 
Projections for future taxable profits include a number of estimates regarding the Brazilian 

ection of interest rates, sales volume and 
price, tax rates, among others, which are likely to show changes with regard to real data and 
values. 
 
Based on these projections of future taxable income, the Company estimates the recovery of 
tax credits on the balances of income tax loss, negative bases of social contribution and 
timing differences in the following years: 
 2009
 
2010 2,018
2011 7,670
2012 5,415
2013 6,181
2014 7,235
After 2014 17,455

 
Total 45,974

 
Since the result of income tax and social contribution tax on profit derives not only from the 
taxable income, but also from the tax and corporate structure of the Company and its 
subsidiaries abroad, the existence of nontaxable income, nondeductible expenses, exemptions 
and tax incentives and from many other variables, there is no direct correlation between the 
net income of the Company and its subsidiaries and the result of income tax and social 
contribution tax on profit. Therefore, the evolution of the use of tax losses should not be 
considered as an indication of future income of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
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9 Investments 
 
a. Investments are composed of 

 
 Parent company  Consolidated 

 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Adjusted   Adjusted 

  
Companies:  

Sifco Intercontinental 25,719 34,589 - -
Tubrasil Sifco 105,208 37,471      -      -

 

 130,927 72,060 - -
  

Other investments             -           - 993 393
 

 130,927 72,060 993 393
 

b. Significant information about investments 
 

 
Sifco 

Intercontinental 
Tubrasil 

Sifco

Paid-up quotas held in 2008 1,100,000 19,997,459
Paid-up quotas held in 2009 1,100,000 48,587,697
Interest in the total capital in 2008 99.99% 100%
Interest in the total capital in 2009 99.99% 100%
Capital in 2008 - R$ 37,329 19,997
Capital in 2009 - R$ 37,329 48,588

2008 - R$ (adjusted) 34,598 37,471
2009 - R$ 25,719 105,208

Net income for the year 2008 - R$ 145 202
Income (loss) for the year 2009 - R$ 141 (      437)
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c. Changes in investments 

Sifco 
Intercontinental 

Tubrasil  
Sifco Total 

Investment as of  December 31, 2007 24,523 15,905 40,428 

Prior year adjustments - 3,364 3,364 
Capital increase 1,995 18,000 19,995 
Equity valuation adjustment 7,782 - 7,782 
Other 144 - 144 
Equity in subsidiary:      145      202     347
    
Investment as of  December 31, 2008 (adjusted) 34,589 37,471 72,060
    
Revaluation reserve adjustment  5,892 5,892 
Capital increase - 62,282 62,282 
Equity valuation adjustment  ( 9,011) - (   9,011)
Equity in subsidiary    141 (      437) (      296)
    
Investment as of  December 31, 2009 25.719 105,208 130,927
 
On June 1, 2009, through Contractual Amendment, it was approved the capital increase of 
the subsidiary Tubrasil Sifco, in the amount of R$ 62,282, which was paid up by the 
Company, with amounts due by the Company to the parent company.  
 
 

  



Sifco S.A. 
 
 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 
(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 
 

10 Property, plant and equipment 
 
  Parent company 

 
 

2008 Addition Write-off Transfer 
 

Spin-off 2009
Cost    
Land  33,410  (  33,410) -
Buildings  67,715 132  (  67,847) -
Machinery, equipment and facilities   247,808 633 (2,315) 9,565 - 255,691
Computer equipment 2,154 120 (     11) 297 - 2,560
Vehicles  3,104 636 (   698) 396 - 3,438
Furniture and fixtures  6,161 15 (     78) 107 - 6,205
Dies and tools    38,854      127 (1,857)   1,057              -   38,181
    
  399,206   1,531 (4,959) 11,554 (101,257) 306,075
  
Constructions in progress:    

Works in progress    11,917 14,640 - (  6,103) - 20,454
Advance to supplier     3,049 2,184 - (  4,315) - 918
Other constructions in progress         777      869          -  (  1,136)             -       510

    
  15,743 17,693 - (11,554) - 21,882
    

Subtotal 414,949 19,224 (4,959)           -   (101,257) 327,957
  
    

 
Annual 

depreciation  
 rate % 2008 Depreciation Write-off Transfer Spin-off 2009
Accumulated depreciation  
Buildings 2 to 4 (  23,796) (     359) -  - 24,155 -
Machinery, equipment and facilities  5 to 15 (130,263) (11,813) 1,858 - - (140,218)
Computer equipment 20 (    1,575) (     273) 9 -  - (    1,839)
Vehicles 10 to 20 (    2,058) (     719) 485 (12) -  (    2,304)
Furniture and fixtures 10 (    4,766) (     266) 56 - - (    4,976)
Dies and tools 10 to 33 (  28,364) (  2,055)   1,857   12            - (  28,550)
    

Subtotal  (190,822) (15,485)   4,265     - 24,155 (177,887)
  

Property, plant and equipment 
total 

 
  224,127     3,739 (   694)     -  (77,102)   150,070
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  Consolidated 

 

 

2008 Addition Write-off Transfer 
Conversion 
adjustment 2009

Cost  
Land  41,330 - - - - 41,330
Buildings  96,033 - - (1,315) (1,818) 92,900
Machinery, equipment and facilities   264,568 3,601 (2,315) 11,135 (4,139) 272,850
Computer equipment  2,154 120 (     11) 297 2,560
Vehicles  3,639 636 (   698) 396 (   136) 3,837
Furniture and fixtures  9,334 53 (     78) 107 (   809) 8,607
Dies and tools    46,376      127 (2,014)   1,057 (1,915) 43,631
  
  463,434   4,537 (5,116) 11,677 (8,817) 465,715
Constructions in progress:  

Machinery and equipment  - 26 - - - 26
Works in progress  11,917 14,814 - (  6,104) - 20,627
Advance to supplier  3,049 2,184 - (  4,315) - 918
Other constructions in progress         777      359           - (  1,136)           -           -

  
    15,743 17,383           - (11,555)           - 21,571
  

Subtotal  479,177 21,920 (5,116)       122 (8,817) 487,286
  
 Annual  

 
depreciation 

rate % 2008 Depreciation Write-off Transfer 
Conversion 
adjustment 2009

Accumulated depreciation   
Buildings 2 to 4 (  31,242) (  1,967) - 4,557 1,657 (  26,995)
Machinery, equipment and facilities  5 to 15 (130,645) (13,579) 1,859 (3,283) 96 (145,552)
Computer equipment 20 (    1,575) (     273) 9 - - (    1,839)
Vehicles 10 to 20 (    2,061) (     726) 485 (     12) - (    2,314)
Furniture and fixtures 10 (    6,314) (     573) 56 (   160) 393 (    6,598)
Dies and tools 10 to 33 (  28,580) (  2,577) 1,855 (1,224)       55 (  30,471)
  

Subtotal  (200,417) (19,695) 4,264 (   122) 2,201 (213,769)
  

Property, plant and 
equipment total 

 
  278,760     2,225 (  852)           - (6,616)   273,517
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The Company, based on appraisal report prepared by independent appraisers, performed the 
revaluation of the fixed asset items, which in 2006 amounted to R$ 99,181, against the caption 

tax effects on said revaluations were recorded 
in the caption deferred taxes on revaluation in current and non-current liabilities, in the total 
amount of R$ 26,264. As of December 31, 2009, the balance of tax effects is R$ 15,268  
(R$ 22,960 in 2008 Adjusted). Revalued assets began to be depreciated based on the estimated 
remaining economic useful life stated in the appraisal reports.  
 
The revalued amount of the parent company, by fixed asset items, is composed as follows: 

 
Appraisal 

report 
Book 
value Increase Spin-off

Accumulated 
realization

of the 
revaluation 

Revaluation 
reserve 
net on 

12/31/2009 

Revaluation 
reserve
net on 

12/31/2008
    
Land 33,291 11,356 21,935 (21,935) - - 21,935
Buildings 43,506 24,381 19,125 (17,815) (  1,310) - 18,041
Machinery   91,431 33,308 58,121           - (13,215) 44,906 49,489

    
Total 168,228 69,045 99,181 (39,750) (14,525) 44,906 89,465

 
Through protocol of justification dated May 27, 2009, Sifco performed the spin-off of land and 
buildings of the Jundiaí unit, incorporating the spun-off portion into Tubrasil Sifco 
Empreendimentos e Participações S/A. According 
spun-off net assets incorporated into Tubrasil Sifco amounted to R$ 71,044, composed by the 
major accounts below: 

Assets Liabilities 
 
Non-current  Non-current 
Property, plant and equipment 77,102 Deferred taxes 6,058 

Spun-off net assets 71,044

In view of the tax regime applicable to this entity, the deferred taxes were reversed against the 
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11 Related parties 
 
The balances and transactions with related parties are as follows: 

2009 
    
 Parent company  Consolidated 
         

 

Accounts 
receivable 

and 
advances

Current  
account 

receivable Suppliers

Current 
account 
payable

Accounts 
receivable 

 

Current 
account  

receivable 

Current 
account 
payable

Current:     
KG  - - - 1,325 123 - 1,325
BR Metals  - - - - 228 - -
Alujet  - - - - 52 - -
MTP - - - - - - 1,209
Westport  19,077 - 6,158 34 - - -
Westport trade bills discounted (1,741) - - - - - -
Sifco Intercontinental          -           -   538        -      -           -        -

   
Total 17,336           - 6,696 1,359 403           - 2,534
   

   
Noncurrent   

G Brasil - 25,731 - - - 25,731 -
Tubrasil - 3,418 - - - 4,822 -
Alujet  - 12,156 - - - 13,338 -
BR Metals  - 71,883 - - - 71,883 -
MTP - 15,282 - - - 15,282 -
KG - - - - - 997 -
Vulcan  - 2,141 - - - 2,141 -
Brascom          -   19,281        -        -      -   19,281        -

   
Total          - 149,892        -        -      - 153,475        -
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2008 

 Parent company  Consolidated 
         

 

Accounts 
receivable 

and 
advances

Current 
account 

receivable Suppliers

Current 
account 
payable

Accounts 
receivable 

 

Current 
account  

receivable 

Current 
account 
payable

Current:     
KG - - - 11,660 1,655 - 11,660
Alujet  - - - - 1,725 - -
Westport  16,841 - 5,736 4,406  - -
Westport trade bills discounted ( 6,629) - - - - - -
Sifco Intercontinental           -           -    722           -         -           -           -

   
Total 10,212           - 6,458 16,066 3,380           - 11,660

   
Noncurrent   

G Brasil - 107,342 - - - 116,104 -
Tubrasil - 2,925 - - - 3,425 -
Alujet  - 14,612 - - - 14,612 -
BR Metals  - 20,866 - - - 20,866 -
MTP - 6,594 - - - 6,594 -
Vulcan  - 3,533 - - - 3,533 -
Brascom - 5,658 - - - 5,658 -
Westport            -   5,522        -           -         -           -           -

   
Total           - 167,052        -           - 3,380 170,792           -

 
 

 
Transactions - Parent 

company 
 

 2009 2008 
  

Sales of  goods, products and services to the parent company Westport 22,479 41,250 
Financial expenses with the indirect subsidiary Westport - 4 
Financial income 2,483 424 

  
Rent expenses:   

Tubrasil Sifco Empreendimentos e Participações Ltda. 983 691 
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Brascom Participações S.A. 
 
G Brasil Participações S.A. has as its business purpose the investment and management of 
companies which,, are primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of forged, machined and 
foundry items, steel tubes, light alloy wheels, tooling and stamping, among others, mainly for the 
automotive industry. Its direct and indirect subsidiaries are: Sifco, Sifco Intercontinental, 
Westport, Tubrasil Sifco, Alujet Industrial and Co

 

management of companies which,, operate mainly in the metal, mechanic and plastic sectors, 
among others. Its direct and indirect subsidiaries are: G Brasil, ILP Par

 
rests are described in the Note 3. 

 
Controlling shareholders, subsidiaries and affiliates, entities under common control, key 
management personnel, and entities under common control which somehow have significant 
influence on the Company were considered related parties. Entities in which the controlling 
shareholders participate in the respective boards of directors, even when the control is not 
exercised, were considered entities with significant influence. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries and the parent company G Brasil, adopt the procedure of 

uct daily financial transactions according to 
the need of funds of each company. The balances resulting from the current accounts of the 
subsidiaries of G Brasil are not subject to financial charges. The other financial transactions with 
affiliates, which are not subsidiaries of G Brasil, are subject to interest equivalent to CDI plus 
0.5% per month. 
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The nature of the principal transactions between Sifco and the other related parties is as follows: 

 The balances recorded in current assets refer to sales and advances for acquisition of products 
between Sifco and Westport. 

 
 Non-current assets are represented by the balance of the current cash accounts among the 

related parties. 
 
 The balances of current cash accounts and suppliers are recorded in current liabilities. 

 
 Sales of products and services to the indirect subsidiary Westport resulting from the sale of 

materials. 
 

 

 Financial income resulting from the levy of interest equivalent to CDI plus 0.5% per month 
of the balances of the current cash accounts between the Company, Vulcan and Brascom. 

 
The Company considers its statutory officers as key management personnel, and they received 
R$1,353 (R$1,503 in 2008) as short-term benefits. No other benefits are paid to the key 
management personnel. 
 
As of December 31, 2009, the Company and its subsidiaries guarantee loans and other financial 
operations to other related parties (nonconsolidated) in the amount of R$ 23,920 with collaterals 
and other assets. 
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12 Loans and financing 
 
 Annual Parent company Consolidated   Guarantees 
 financial
Type charges(%) Maturity 2009 2008 2009 2008  2009 
      
In local currency:      
      

Working capital 
4 + CDI to 14 

+ CDI 04/2014 25,742 10,329 25,742 10,329  
Surety 

 

Promissory Note (a) 4 + CDI 03/2010 62,330 - 62,330 -  

Surety, pledge of 
bank deposit 
certificates 

(CDB) 

FINEM 

5.8 + TJLP to 
9.8 

+ UMBNDES 10/2014 20,361 16,184 20,361 16,184  
Pledge of fixed 

assets 
EXIM - Pre-payment 4.5 08/2012 42,710 - 42,710 -  Surety 
Other 16.5 to 23.9 01/2016       843     427      843     427   

      
   151,986 26,940 151,986 26,940   

    

In foreign currency (according to the US dollar): 
   
   

      
Onlending - 
Resolution 2.770 6.1 03/2012 10,951 16,424 10,951 16,424  

Surety, pledge of 
fixed assets 

Advance on Exchange 
Contract 

2.8 + Libor to 
16 02/2013 64,637 117,830 65,779 124,459  

Delivered bill of 
exchange 

Revolving Credit and 
others (b) 

Prime (3,25) to 
Prime +2.25 06/2010 - - 7,980 21,900  

Commercial and 
fixed assets 

pledge 
Other 8.4 to 12.4 09/2013    2,059      307   5,448    3,058   

      
   77,647 134,561 90,158 165,841   
      

  Total   229,633 161,501 242,144 192,781   
      

Current    59,996 53,026 65,605 62,406   
Non-current   169,637 108,475 176,539 130,375   
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(a) Balance net of the financial investment in the amount of R$ 10,241, maintained as collateral 
for the operation. The settlement of this promissory note is provided for in the contractual 
agreement through the issue of a second series of promissory note with maturity in 180 days 
and a new long-term funding after the maturity of the second promissory note.  

 
(b) Balance net of the financial investment in the amount of R$ 1,712, maintained as collateral 

for the operation. 
 
As of December 31, 2009, the long-term portion matures are as follows: 
 

 
Parent 

company Consolidated
   
2011 116,325 117,826
2012 43,282 44,937
2013 6,551 9,301
2014     3,479     4,475
  
 169,637 176,539
 
Restrictive clauses 
 
Certain loan agreements are subject to restrictive clauses and include clauses, among others, 
requiring that the Company and its subsidiaries should maintain certain financial ratios within the 
preestablished parameters. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, due to the impacts of the global 
crisis on the local market, certain ratios did not reach the minimum levels required by these 
clauses. The Company and G. Brasil Participações S.A. obtained from the credit institutions, the 
respective waivers changing the minimum levels for a period of 12 months from the balance 
sheet date.  
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13 Fiscal, labor and social security obligations 
 
The fiscal, labor and social security obligations are as follows: 

Parent company  Consolidated 
  
 2009 2008 2009 2008
      
State VAT (ICMS) 5,593 5,087 5,593 5,087
Federal VAT (IPI)  1,411 1,534 1,411 1,534
Tax on revenue (PIS)  382 5,877 383 5,877
Tax on revenue (COFINS)  1,996 17,439 1,999 17,442
Income tax and social contribution  837 63,374 867 63,393
Social security contribution (INSS)  39,265 10,197 39,265 10,197
Conventional installment payment  - 1,283 - 1,283
PPI Program - ICMS (a) 9,421 9,738 9,421 9,738
Refis  - 40,682 - 40,682
Refis III  - 58,862 - 58,862
Refis IV (b) 137,615 - 137,615 -
Other    10,379    2,745   10,379    2,745
  
 206,899 216,818 206,933 216,840
  
Current 28,396 43,053 28,430 43,078
Non-current 178,503 173,765 178,503 173,762
 
(a) PPI - Tax Installment Payment Program 

 
The Company opted for the installment payment of its ICMS debts, by opting for the Tax 
Installment Payment Program - PPI, introduced by Decree No. 51,960, of July 4, 2007, 
amended by Decree No. 52,424, of November 29, 2007, under the terms authorized by the 
ICMS Agreement No. 51, of April 18, 2007, whose validity was extended by ICMS 
Agreement No. 114, of September 28, 2007, of the São Paulo State Government. The 
installments are as follows: 
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Taxes  
Balance at 
12/31/2008 Interest Payments

Balance at 
12/31/2009

Number of 
Installments 

 to be paid Updated
   
ICMS 9,738 851 (1,168) 9,421 93 SELIC
   
Current 1,113 1,216  -
Non-current 8,625 8,205  -
 
(b) REFIS IV - Tax Recovery Program  

The Company opted for the installment payment of its debts related to federal taxes, 
including those from the Refis, Paex and Common Installment Payments, past-due up to 
11/30/2008 by adhering to the Tax Recovery Program - REFIS introduced by Law 
11,941, of May 27, 2009, in up to 180 monthly installments. The installment payment 
awaits the consolidation of the debts by the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service - RFB.  

The balance of the REFIS consolidated debt as of December 31, 2009 totals R$ 137,615, 
of which R$ 6,511 is classified in current liabilities and R$ 131,104, in non-current 
liabilities. The installment payment is as follows: 

Taxes 
Debts Date 

Adhesion
Debts

Recognition
Legal 

Reduction
PF/BNCSLL 

Reduction 

Balance of the 
Installment 

in 2009
  (iii) (iv)  (v)

Installments (i)  104,038 42,961 (33,303)  (58,711) 54,985
RFB/INSS - Provisioned   96,024 (3,814) (13,210) (24,918) 54,082
RFB/INSS - Other processes (ii)             - 47,559 (  8,835)  (10,176)   28,548

    
Total  200,062 86,706 (55,348)  (93,805) 137,615

       
      Current 6,511
      Noncurrent 131,104

 
(i) Common installment payments as of December 31, 2008 which were included in the 

REFIS IV installment payment; 

(ii) Corresponds to administrative and judicial lawsuits included in the REFIS IV for 
which there was no provision recognized as of December 31, 2008; 
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(iii) Corresponds to recognition of debts to be included in the REFIS IV. Of which,  
R$ 90,520 were recorded under other operating expenses and R$ 3,814 under 
financial income; 

 
(iv) Corresponds to reduction of interest (from 25% to 40%) and fine (from 20% to 

100%) provided for by Law 11,941 for debts included in the Refis IV. From the 
effects of the legal reduction, the amount of R$ 27,922, was recognized in other 
operating income and the amount of R$ 27,426 was recognized as financial income, 
both according to the line on which the debt was recorded; and 

 
(v) Corresponds to payment of debts included in the Refis IV regarding tax losses and 

tax loss carryforwards, observing the limits of 25% and 9% for income and social 
contribution taxes, respectively. Since they refer to tax credits not recognized as of 
December 31, 2008 because they were above the limits of projected realization, 
these tax credits were recognized in 2009 as deferred income and social contribution 
taxes and immediately offset against the Refis IV balance payable. 

 
Under the applicable legislation, the Company is required to comply with the monthly 
payments of the installment payment under analysis, as essential condition to the 
maintenance of the installment payment. The non-compliance with this obligation will 
result in the cancellation of the benefits granted and in the payment of debts in the 
original amount, with legal surcharges up to the date of the exclusion.  

 
 

14 Provision for contingencies 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to a number of labor, tax and other lawsuits at the 
administrative and judicial levels, or at the initial stage. The Company and its subsidiaries adopt 
the procedure of questioning all the claims in court and, based on the opinion of their legal 
counsel, recognized provisions for those classified as probable risk. The Company and its 
subsidiaries are a party in other discussions, evaluated by their legal advisors as having a possible 
or remote chance of loss, for which reason their Management did not form reserves in their 
financial statements. 
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Changes in the balance of provisions for the year ended December 31, 2009 are as follows: 

2008 Additions Write-offs 2009
  
Tax 677 - (    677) -
Civil 2,086 637 (1,155) 1,568
Labor claims  4,996 3,735 (2,036) 6,695
 
 7,759 4,372 (3,868) 8,263
  
Judicial deposits (1,934) (   292)      316 (1,910)
 
  5,825 4,080 (3,552) 6,353
 
Claims related to possible losses and other contingent liabilities, as of December 31, 2009 were 
as follows: (i) R$ 39,234 tax claims (R$ 31,582 in 2008); (ii) R$ 185 civil claims (R$ 453 in 
2008) and (iii) R$ 6,331 labor claims (R$ 8,046 in 2008).  
 
The management of the Company and its subsidiaries, based on the opinion of their legal counsel, 
believes that the current provisions are sufficient to cover possible losses on the lawsuits 
involving the Companies.  
 
 

15 
 
a. Capital 

 
On May 29, 2009, the Extraordinary Shareholders
by R$ 37,353, from R$ 73,805 to R$ 36,452, and reduction of the revaluation reserve by  
R$ 33,691, resulting from the spin-off of Sifco. This spun-off portion was basically 
composed of property and plant of Jundiaí unit, incorporated into Tubrasil Sifco 
Empreendimentos e Participações S/A, direct subsidiary of Sifco S.A. 
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As of December 31, 2009, the Extraordinary 
increase in the total amount of R$ 38,548, of which R$ 6,211 upon capitalization of the legal 
reserve and R$ 32,337 of profit reserve, without changes in the number of shares issued by 
the Company. 
 

ital was R$ 75,000 (R$ 73,805 as of December 
31, 2008), represented by 100,000,000 shares without par value, fully paid up, of which 
50,000,000 are common shares and 50,000,000 are preferred shares. 
 
Preferred shares entail the following privileges: 
 
a.1. Priority in the reimbursement of capital, in the event of any form of extinguishment of 

the Company, with premium equal to that attributed to the common shares; and 

a.2. Participation in equal conditions of the common shares in capital increases, resulting 
from capitalization of reserves and profits. 

 
b. Treasury shares 

 
As of December 31, 2009, the Extraordinary pproved the acquisition, 
by the Company, of 48,480,000 of its own shares at the cost of R$ 0.75 per share, held by its 
parent company G Brasil Participações S.A., to be held in treasury, in the amount of  
R$ 36,360. 
 

c. Dividends 
 

 
In year 2008, the Company did not propose distribution of dividends due to the existence of 
losses in the year.  
 
In year 2009, it was proposed the distribution of dividends in the amount of R$ 11,822, 
which corresponds to 25% of net income after allocation of the reserve. 
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d. Allocation of accumulated earnings 

The remaining balance of retained earnings as of December 31, 2009, in the amount of  
R$ 38,721 in the parent company, is being r

 of R$ 34,721 (R$ 68,704 in 2008) and to 

l statements for the year then ended. 
 
 

16 Financial instruments and operational risks 

The Company and its subsidiaries take part in operations involving financial instruments with 
risks that are managed through strategies of financial positions and systems for controls over 
limits of exposure thereto. All the operations with financial instruments are recognized in the 
accounting and are designed to satisfy its operating needs, and to reduce exposure to financial 
risks, particularly those of credit, currency and interest rate. 
 
a. Risk factors  

The main market risk factors that may affect the businesses of the Company and of its 
subsidiaries can be enumerated as follows: 
 
 Credit risk - They are subject to credit risk in their trade accounts receivable, which in 

general do not have guarantees. The procedures adopted to minimize the commercial 
risks include customer selectivity, through an adequate credit analysis, the setting of sales 
limits and short maturity periods for bills. The estimated losses with these customers are 
fully provisioned. 

Steel price risk - Possibility of the Company and its subsidiaries incurring losses on 
account of steel price fluctuations, in the domestic and foreign markets, if they cannot be 
transferred to customers. To reduce this type of risk, the management of the Company 
and of its subsidiaries maintains constant negotiations with the steel production plants. 
Steel purchases are concentrated at two steel production plants. 
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In the case of steel acquired for production of items earmarked for the foreign market, 
this has its price tied to the quotation of the dollar, thus keeping abreast of the 
fluctuations pertaining to sales revenue and bills of exchange receivable. In relation to 
steel acquired for use in the domestic market, the price alterations equally affect the 
Company, subsidiaries and their competitors, not resulting in any competitive advantage 
or disadvantage.  
 

 Exchange rate risk - Possibility of the Company and of its subsidiaries incurring losses 
on account of exchange rate fluctuations, which increase amounts obtained in the market 
or reduce the amounts of notes receivable expressed in foreign currency.  
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency (United States dollars - US$) of 
the Company and of its subsidiaries, consigned in the balance sheet on December 31, 
2009 present net passive exposure in the amount of R$ 42,820 (US$ 24,592). Of this net 
exposure, the sum of R$ 65,778 in the consolidated statement (US$ 37,777), refers to 
Advances on Exchange Contract (ACC) and Export Prepayment operations, contracted in 
US dollars, which are recorded in loans and financing in current and non-current 
liabilities, see note 12. 
 
Since the settlement of the abovementioned contracts will occur through product exports, 
Company Management understands that these operations have a natural hedge and that 
therefore, the foreign exchange variations will produce timing impacts on the statements 
of income, without an equivalent impact on the cash flow of the Company and of its 
subsidiaries.  
 
The Company and its subsidiaries neither maintain nor contract operations with financial 
derivatives with speculative purposes. 
 
Aforesaid assets and liabilities were restated and recorded in the financial statements of 
December 31, 2009 at the exchange rate in force on that date, of R$ 1.7412 to US$ 1.00. 
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Interest rate risk - This risk stems from the possibility of the Company and its 
subsidiaries undergoing losses on account of fluctuations in the interest rates, which are 
applied to their loans and financing. To minimize possible impacts originating from these 
fluctuations, the Company and its subsidiaries adopt a diversification policy, alternating 
the contracting of their debts, or contracting swaps, from variable to fixed rates. See the 
item (c) below. 
 

b. Determination of the fair value 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries conduct a valuation of their assets and liabilities in relation 
to the market values using available information and appropriate methodologies, a procedure 
that requires considerable judgment and reasonable estimates to produce the most adequate 
fair value. 
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments was calculated by the transaction 
replacement price in the market, which produces the same economic effects as the original 
transaction. To determine the fair value the company used the volatility of the future 
exchange rate, obtained through the Futures and Commodities Exchange (BM&F), and as a 
method used for calculation, they considered the estimate of the future value through the 
future market curves, brought to present value. See the item (c) below. 
 

c. Derivatives 
 
All the gains or losses resulting from derivative financial instruments are recognized in net 

the fair value of these instruments in the consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries.  
 
On December 31, 2009 the total sum of gains with derivative instruments recorded in the net 
income of the Company and of its subsidiaries is R$ 3,992 (R$ 18,296 losses in 2008).  
 
It was recorded in the account of Provision for derivative instruments in current and non-
current liabilities, respectively, of R$ 2,072 and of R$ 1,331, pursuant to the following 
breakdown: 
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Description 

Reference value 
(notional) US$ 

thousand Maturity 

Fair value
2009

R$ thousand
 

Interest rate swap (i) 40,115 2013 3,403
 
(i) Interest rate swap - Aimed at the exchange of interest rate of the export prepayment 

contracts, of LIBOR plus a percentage, for prefixed interest rates. 
 
 

17 Other operating expenses 
 
  Parent company Consolidated 

  2009 2008 2009 2008
       

Contingencies  (  4,372) (1,458) (   4,372) (1,458)
Refis IV (a) (62,598) - ( 62,598) -
Termination fine (50% FGTS) (b) ( 7,723) - (   7,723) -
Profit sharing   (     728) (3,283) (      728) (3,283)
Federal Tax Credits (c) 7,312 - 7,312 -
Other  (     459) (      45) (      459) (      45)
   
  (68,568) (4,786) (68,568) (4,786)
 
(a) Refers to the recognition of tax contingencies, in view of the abandonment of lawsuits that 

were in progress, net of the effects relating to adhesion to Refis IV. See Note 13. 

(b) Recognition of the indemnification of the contractual fine in the termination of employment 
relating to 50% of the balance in the Government Severance Indemnity Fund for Employees, 
upon the discharge of the employee without just cause during the year 2009. 

(c) Recognition of federal tax credits arising from the adhesion to the Refis IV. 
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18 Insurance coverage (unaudited) 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries maintain an insurance policy that provides for the contracting 
of insurance for assets and responsibilities in relevant amounts. On December 31, 2008, the 
insurance plans contracted were represented as shown below: 

Coverage 
Due 

Date(*) 
Amount of 

coverage 

Civil Liability Apr/10 7,835
Loss of Profit Apr/10 37,304
Fire, lightening, explosion, windstorms and electrical 
damages Apr/10   65,825

  
Total  110,964

 
(*) The contracts have a maturity of one year. 
 
 

19 Subsequent events 
 
a. Renewals of loans 

 
On March 26, 2010 the subsidiary Westport renewed the facility in the sum of US$ 9,000, 
maturing on March 26, 2013. 
 

b. New statements, interpretations, and guidance issued and not adopted. 
 
Within the convergence process of accounting practices adopted in Brazil with international 
accounting rules (IFRS), several statements, interpretations and guidance were issued during 
2009, with compulsory application for the years ending as of December 2010 and for the 
2009 financial statements to be disclosed together with the 2010 statements for comparison 
purposes. 
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The Company is assessing the potential effects of these opinions, interpretations, and 
guidance, which may have a significant impact on the financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2009, to be comparatively presented to the financial statements for the year 
ending December 31, 2010 and the next years. 
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